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GIST LIMITED
Strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2019
The directors present their strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Review of the company's husiness

The company's principal activity is, and has been throughout the year, supply chain services for retailers and
manufacturers. Tt is envisaged that this will continue fo be the principal activity of the company for the foreseeable future.

The company contintues to provide supply chain scrvices to customers in the three market sectors of Contract Logistics,
Temperature Controtled [ogistics and International & Foed Services. The company's market proposition covers the broad
spectrum of supply chain solutions from design to operational execution, specificatly tailored to individual customer
needs.

Development and performance of the company's business during the financial year

The UK logistics industry remains challenging, with Brexit uncertainty impacting labour avaitability and business
investiment.

Within the food market place, retailers remain under pressure as they seck to satisfy consumer trends particularly in the
convenfence and on=line channels, this in turn adds pressore on logistics providers as they seek to drive more complex
supply chain efficicncies. Against this backdrop the company continued to perform solidly, growing in all its markel
segments with notable strong performance in the contract backed sectors. The key to success during these uncertain times
is to ensure the focus remains on a reliable, sustainable, cost eftective customer proposition.

Safety remains at the foretiont of the business' behaviour and the company continues to facus on developing a positive
health and safety culture across the organisation by involving and engaging with all employees.

Sakes in the year increased 2% (2018: 6%) to £471.1m (2018 £462.0m}, mainly as a result of growth in the Contract
Logistics market sector.

There was an operating loss for the year of £(13.9)m (2018 restated: profit of £4.2m} after taking into account £28.5m of
costs incurred duc to the closure of the defined benefit pension scheme to future accrual. Members of that scheme have
either moved into the defined contribution scheme or taken early retirement if they met certain criteria. The effect of
closure will be to reduce the overall pension charge by about £1.2m per annum and aveid escalating pension charges into
the future, improving the competitiveness of the company. Excluding these one-ofl’ costs, operating profit increased to
£14.6m, primarily duc to improved performance in the Temperature Controlted Logistics market sector.

The company is funded by way of share capital and group loans where necessary. The company’s balance sheet shows a
low cash position due to its participation in a cash pooling arrangement with another UK Group company. The company
also has a deposit with another group company. The combination of the cash pooling arrangement and the deposit means
that the company had an overall asset of £14.8m at the balance sheet date with other group companies (2018 restated:
£37.0m assct}. In addition, thc company has unpooled bank accounts of £0.9m (2018 restated: £1. 1me).

The results for the year are contained in the accompanying income statenent on page 15.

Gist Limited {Registered No: 00502669)



GIST LIMITED
Strategic report for the year ended 31 Iiccember 2019 (continued)
Section 172 Companies Act 2006

‘This report sets out how the statutory duectors (*Directors’) of the company (together the ‘Board’) comply with the
requirements of Section 172 Companies Act 2006 and how these requirements have impacted the Board’s decision
making throughout 2019.

The Board recognises the importance of stakeholder engapement in delivering the long-term and sustainable success of the
company. When making decisions, particularly of a strategic natuee, the directors have regard to the likely long-term
impact of iose decisions and also their responsibilities and duties to stakeholders.

Gist Limited’s stakeholders are its ultimate parent compauy, Linde ple, its employces, customers, suppliers, the
commurities in which it operates and the environment. Views of stakcholders inform the decisions made at Board
meetings. The stakeholders are impacted by, or henefit from, decisions made by the Board in different ways.

Directors receive training as part of their induction, which is refreshed on an ongoing basis as necessary,

The following section outlines how we engage with, and have regard to, cach of our stakcholder groups and the key
decisions made during 2019,

Linde Ple

The Board members and senior management maintain regular dialogue with Gist’s ultimate parent company, Linde plc,
through regular meetings and monthly reporting to ensure that Gist remains aligned with Linde strategy and to repart an
performance, delivery of strategy, material initiatives and company news,

Employees
People are our most important asset within Gist, They are key to our vision of working in long-term partnership with our
customers to develop and transform their suppiy chain and defivery of a consistent, high quality robust service.

The key strategic priority of the Board during 2019 was to ensure that it engaged, educated and communicated effectively
on the need and benefits of closing the Gist Limited Pension Scheme to future accrual and moving all employees,
including the Directors, to a “one pension scheme for all” defined contribution scheme.,

Employees received a comprehensive communication package before, duying and after the pension consultation period,
supported by access to pension briefings and videos, individual modeller sessions, help line and website support.
Feedback and questions from individuals, via the FAQ process and employee representatives, through the consultation
process, influenced the Board’s post consultation considerations and shaped the final pension scheme which was
implemented in July 20{9.

The Board’s ongoing prioritics across the workforce, including those pn permanent contracts, temporary countracts and
agency staff is to:

- Ensure the Gist workforce have the skills, knowledge and training to perform their roles safely and eftectively;

- Embed Gist’s ‘ways of working’ culture, standard and values thiroughout the organisation;

- Ensure all key positions are filled with 1he best person for the job.

Gist Limited (Registered No; 00502669)




GIST LIMITED

Strategic report for the year ended 31 December (continued)

Safety of Gist’s emplayees (and other stakeholders) are reviewed with senior management as a standing item on a monthly
basis, with a rolling safety program of targeted activities and initiatives. During 2019, the company commiitted to further
investment in our vehicie camera and warning system technology, with the primary aim of improving safety for drivers
and others.

Regular communications and ¢ngagement with employces is made through a monthly cascade of performance briefings,
internal company wide emails, regular newsletters, website updates, social media and circulation of printed material for
sitc notice boards.

An annual anpnymous employee survey is undertaken to allow employees to provide honest feedback and suggestions.
The survey resylts are reviewed by members of the Board with senior management and targeted local and companywide
action is taken where required,

Regutar visits from senior management, including Board directors are made to the company’s sites to meet and gain
feedback from employees.

Recruitment and performance management across Gist has been developed according to critical performance requirements
(‘CPR”) linked to the Gist's six key focus areas of “Living the Code of Ethics™, ‘Involve’, Safety, Winning People,
Differentiating Values and Transforming Supply Chains {*Standard*). All job descriptions, interview packs, periodic
performance reviews and key performance indications arc based upon these CPR to ensure a consistent approach to
recruitment and performanee makagement,

Customers

Our customers are primarily operating within the food industry and include major UK food retailers. They rely on Gist to
run all or part of their supply chain and our relationship with our customers, and our expeclise in this field, allows us to
meet these needs.

Directors and senior management are involved in regular meetings with key customers ta ensure their views and plans are
reflected in the planning and decision making processes.

Suppliers
Meetings are held with key suppliers on a regular basis to review perforniance and ensure a fair proposition for bath
parties.

Pension Sche”le rusreas
During 2019, meetings were held will trustees of both our pension schemes, as part of the pension scheme changes On

an angoing basis, directors annually brief the trustees on the company’s prospects and performance.

Community
Gist runs a corporate social responsibility programme and is committed to contributing to those communities local to cur
sites, with Gist’s national child road safety programme and community volunteering programne,

Gist’s national child road safety programme has been running since 2011 and continues to deliver road safety education to
local schools across the UK. Our community volunicering programme cncourages employees to get involved in a variety
of projects fram transforming gardens and outdoor spaces to visiting focal schools to provide reading support.

Gist Limited (Registered No: 00502669}



GIST LIMITED
Strategic report for the year ended 31 December (continued)

Sites are encouraged to arrange local community activities and these are frequently reported in the company wide Gist
World magazine.

Environment
The company’s angoing priority to pioneer leading environmental initiatives, such as the efficient use and design of its
vehicles, reducing fiel consumption and emissions, and improving recycling schemes for packaging and waste.

Cist was an early adopter of Euro 6 lower emission vehicles, double decker trailers and liquid nitrogen refrigerated units.

During 2019, the Board initiated an investment programme at some of its older sites to replace its warehouse refrigeration
systems giving high Global Warming Potential (GWP) gases with new zero GWP refrigeration systems. These zero GWP
refrigeration systems are more energy cfficient and have a lower carbon output, resulting in both electricity savings and a
reduction in our environmental impact.

Risks and uncertzinties

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the company include, but are not limited to, retention of customer contracts,
price and customer service levels, operational and safety performance, competition, integration of new contracts,
performance risks under long lerm fixed price contracts, loss of supply of commadities and service, changes in the
regulatory and legal environmen, and credit and interest rate risks as affected by the wider economy.

‘The company has implemented a coordinated set of risk management and int¢rnal management control processes to
manitor and, where possible, to mitigate these risks, inctuding for example, strategic planning and management reporting
and access to a dedicated risk management department within the Linde group. Key performance indicators on a contract
by contract basis are reviewed by the board regularly.

The company has continued to operate throughout the current outbreak of Covid-19 in 2020. To ensure the continuity of
operations and protect the safety, health and well-being of staff, suppliers and customers, the company has implemented
several protective measures. Thiese include inereased frequeney of cleaning and disinfecting of facilities, social distancing
practices, personal protective equipment, rentote working where possible, and restrictions on business travel and visitor
access to site,

The United Kingdom's exit from the European Union ("Brexit™), and the uncertainty it brings, poses potential financial
risks to our market and therefore to our business. However, any potential impact of Brexit will, to some extent, be
niitigated by the fact that a significant proportion of our service offering is in the UK for UK customers, For the customers
we have with International impaort/ export arrangements, to the extent possible, the company has put contingency plang in
place to mitigate 'Brexit' risks,

Gist Limited {Registered No: 00502663}




GIST LIMITED
Strategic report for the year ended 31 December (continued)
Going concern

The financial statements arc prepared on a going concern basis which the directors believe to be appropriate for the
following reasons.

At 31 December 2019, the company had net current assets of £38.9m (2018 restated: £74.2m) and net assets of £124.5m
(2018 restated: £136.5m). The majority of the company’s trading activitics are logistics services for food retailers and
manufacturers within the UK, a market area that has not been severely impacted by either COVID-19 or Brexit. As a
consequence turnover and underlying profits have nat been adversely impacted since the year end by either COVID-19 or
Brexit and positive cash flows have been maintained.

The directors have prepared a cash flow forecast for the period to June 2022 which shows that the company will be able to
meet its liabilities as they fall due and continue to trade over that period. The forecast takes into account the expected
impact of COVID-19 and Brexit, however neither of these external factors are considered to be of a material adverse
nature to the company. In addition te the main forecast a sensitivity analysis has been carried out to assess the impact of
a severe reduction in trading. The downside considered was that trading continues at the level experienced during 2020, a
period that incfuded a lengthy period of lockdown, and the Directors note that the business generated positive cash flows
throughout that time.

‘The company does not hold significant cash balances and therefore the forecasts are dependent on the company’s abitity
to draw funds from two fellow subsidiaries of the Linde plc group via a cash pooling arrangement with The BOC Group
Ltd and a cash deposit held with Praxair International Finance UC. Under the cash pooling agreement the company is
able to withdraw funds from The BOC Group Ltd without restriction and on demand.

The Directors do not have clear visibility into the financials of The BOC Group Ltd or Praxair International Finance UC
and their abitity to repay the company's cash balances on demand. However, the Directors have confirmed with Linde
plc that it intends to provide loan finance or procure satisfactory slternative funding for the company for the twelve
months from the date of approval of these financial statements, should such funding be necessary to enable the company
to meet its debts as they fall due. Whilst the directors acknowledge that there can be no certainty that this support will
continue, they have formed the opinion that Linde plc has both the intention and the abitity to do so.

Consequently, the directors are confident that the company will have sufficient funds to continue to meet its liabilities as
they fall due for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements and therefore have prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis.

By order of the board,
Mr K Russell \b\/\ QQM leL M
Director Ao LMy o

The Priestley Centre, 10 Priestley Road, Surrey Research Park, Guildford, Surrey, GU2 7XY, England
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Directors' report for the year ended 31 December 2019

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the company for the year ended 31 December
2015,

Directors

The directors of the company during the vear and, where relevant, subsequent to the year end were:
Mr M I Chambers

Mr M K Flynn (resigned 3 Ist August 2019}

Mre M A Gwynn (resigned Ist July 2020)

Mr M Sweeney (resigned 30th Scptember 2020)

Mr I Panikar (appointed 16th June 2020, resigned 31st December 2020)
Mr K Rassell (appointed 1st October 2020)

The directars are not subject to retirement by rotation.
Political and charitable donations

The company made no political denations (2018: £nil) and did not ineur any political expenditure (2018; £nil) during the
year. Charitable donations of £8,547 (2018: £1,250) were made during the year,

Dividends
No dividends were paid during 2019 (2018: £uil).

The directars do not currently recommend the payumient of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
£nil).

Disabled persons

The company's employee recruitment practices give full consideration to job applications from disabled persons.
Candidates are selected and appointed on the basis of their ability lo perform the duties of the job. Encouragement is
given in the training, career development and promotion of all employees according to the opportunitics available,
organisational requirements and individual aptitudes and abilities. This policy includes disabled employees for whom any
further necessary training is arranged taking account of their particular needs, any reasonable adjusiments and the

resources required to meet them,

The company continues to support employees wlho have become disabled during employment with the company. The aim
is to maintain their pre-disability position.

Engagement with suppliers, customers and others in a business relationship with the company

A statement on how the company has engaged with suppliers, customers and others in a business relationship is included
in the Strategic Report.

Gist Limited (Registered No: 00502669)




Directors' report for the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)
Employee involvement

Company poiicy follows that of the ultimate holding contpany, Linde ple, in encouraging consultation with employees on
matters of concern to them.

Communication with individual employees is achieved through briefings and personal appraisal sessions and collectively,
through company newspapers, videos, information bulletins and other such publications, as well as representatives
attending briefing meetings with senior management and participating on consultation forums, safety commitiees and
trade union negotiating committees. The Linde Group has a Furopean Works Council comprising representatives from the
workforce of {the Group’s businesses in its European countries,

Corporate gavernance disclosure

For the year ended 31 December 2019, under The Companies (Miscellancous Reporting) Regulations 2019, Gist Limited
broadly complics with the Wates Corporate Reporting Principles for Large Private Companies, published by the Financial
Reporiing Council in December 2018 and available on the FRC website. Gist Limited, is a subsidiary of Linde plc
Group, and as such, elements of its corporate governance framework are set and managed by Linde plc.

During 2020, Gist Limited applied the Wates Corparate Reporting Principles for Large Private Companies as its corporate
cade.

Each entity witiin the Gist group, including Gist Limited, has statutory board members in place to camply with each
entities required statutory duties.

The Gist group, including Gist Lintited, is overseen by a Management Board (the “Board'). Gist’s corporate governance
arrangements are managed by the Board and these apply collectively across all the entities within the Gist Group.

Gist Group corporate governance

We have set out below how the Board has broadly complied with the principles aver the past financial year and
highlighted where we foflow the Linde ple Group corporate governance framework.

Principle I - Purpose and leadership
Our purpose and vision is to be our customer’s tirst choice for logistics, innovation, excellence and partnership,

The Board believes that the “tone at the top’ drives the supporting culture throughout the organisation. The Gist group
operates under a clear standard, which defines our vision, purpose and expected behaviours, Qur standard sets out six key
focus areas of, “Living the Code of Ethics”, *Involve’, Safety, Winning People, Differentiating Values and Transforming
Supply Chains (‘Standard').

Our Standard is embedded in the way we do business, from selection, management and reward of our people, through to

our regular top down communication and bottom—up feedback channels. The Standard is operated and managed across
the Gist group

Gist Limited (Registered No: 00502669)




GIST LIMITED
Directors' report for the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

A code of ethics, an anti-corruption policy and a progranune of compliance training has been put in place by Linde ple
and cascaded across all its entities and all employees are trained as part of their initial induction and reccive refresher
training.

The Board has regular dialogue and receive feedback from senior management of its ultimate parent company, Linde plc.
Employee engagement occurs through the ‘Involve’ clement of our Standard and includes regular communicarion
cascades, group briefings, trade union engagement, emplayee engagement surveys and a subsequent review of feedback
helps to ensure that the Board monitors the levels of visibility and understanding across the business of its purpose,
direction and cultuze.

Principle 2 - Board composition
During 2019, the Gist Limited statutory board consists of the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Operating Officer and the
Finance Director.

The Board is responsible for setting and managing the strategy for the Gist Group. The Board is supported by functional
directors and operational directors. The size and composition of the Board is considered appropriate given the nature of
the company and its position within the Linde plc Group.

Board mectings are chaired by the CEO and provide a constructive forum to provide an update on business issues and
risks, oversight across eperational matters and make informed decisions,

There is a lack of independent non-exceutive directors within the Board and statutory board, However, given that Gist
Limited is a non-core business and a subsidiary within the Linde plc Group, we belicve there is a sufticient level of
independent challenge and rigorous review by the parent company over the strategy, approach and decision making
process within Gist Limited.

The Board remains committed to making Gist Limited au ever-more inclusive environment which shoufd increasc
diversity over time at the most senior [evels.

For all statutory board meetings, a chair is elected at the beginning of each meeting and formal procedures followed with
respect Lo supporting papers and approvals in line with best practice and Companies Act requirements.

Directors update their skills, knowledge and familiarity with all operational, legat and regulatory requirements through
briefings from fimctiona! hieads and subject matter experts, and attend trajning as required

Principle 3 - Directors responsbilities
Each member of the Board has a clear understanding of their accountabilitics and responsibilities, New dircetors
appointed to the Board are briefed on their specific responsibilities as a Board member, and are mentored and supported

by existing Board members.
The statutory board meetings are held as required to meet statutory and [egal obligations.

The Board has scheduled regular monthly meetings, plus ad-loc additional days for strategic planning and other focus
dreas.

Gist Limited {Registered No: 00502669)




GIST LIMITED

Directors' report for the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

The Board receives a monthly report, as part of the monthly standing agenda which is reviewed, which includes key
commercial and operational performance reporting, financiaf, safety information and KPIs. As part of the monthly
meeting, the Board reviews all key aspects of the business including safety, business and operational performance, people
and areas of strategic impartance.

Principle 4 - Opportunity and risk
The Board seeks new business apportunities whilst mitigating risk.

COpporiunity
Long term strategic opportunities are captured as pari of an annual Gist group strategic planning process which is
presented to Linde ple senior management and covers a three year period.

Short term opportunities are considered through quarterly Board business reviews, and monthly performance reviews
which are attended by the senior team from each business.

Risk

Support is cureently provided to the Board by the risk management department within the Linde plc Group. Principle
risks, impact and associated mitigating actions are reviewed on a quarterly basis and submitted through the Linde risk
management system.

Tie company’s principal risk and mitigations are outlined in the strategic report. A list of emerging risks are managed by
the Chief Operating Officer. An emerging risk is included on the principal risk register once its likelihood and impact of
oceurrence hecomes malerial to the Gist group.

An intemal control framework is embedded throughout Gist's operations and includes the delegation of anthorities,
processes, procedures and structures within Gist. These assist management and ultimately, the Board of Gist to achieve
its objectives and that its business conduct is ethical and the company’s assets, including its people and brand, are
safeguarded. The framewark also ensures that Gist's financial reporting is reliable and the company remains compliant
with applicable laws and regulations,

Our intenal audit team carries out a series of audits against our information management system protocol, to ensure a
level of compliance over key safety and operational legal standards.

Comprehensive and detailed financial reporting and operational and financial KP1 variance analysis is carried out, with
weekly reviews at Board Fevel.

Principle 5 - Remuneration
The remuneration framework is sei by Linde plc’s compensation committes and the comumittees charter can be viewed
under:

https://www linde.com/-/mediaflinde/merger/documents/corporate- gavemnance/compensation-committee- charter. pdf

Remuneration of company's CEQ is set in linc with Linde ple Group’s compensation policy. Remuneration of the
campaity’s statutory directors is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

All statutory dircctors have employment contracts which are terminated within six or three months by cither party.

Gist Limited {Registered No: 00502669)




GIST LIMITED
Directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

Gist group operates an equitable and consistent approach to director and emiployee remuneration, witltin the parameters
established by the remuneration framework set by Linde ple Group.

Pay rates are competitive for our industry and benefits are broadly consistent across the Gist group.
Management grades (including directors) are banded according to Linde policy, with benchmarking carried out on an
annual basis across management grades and roles 1o ensure Gist is able to make competitive offerings to attract new, and

to retain existing, employees. Employees in non-management roles are largely employed on contracts with standardised
rates in line with our industry.

The Board reviews and secks to approve pay awards for management and non-management grades on an annual basis.

Details of our annual gender pay gap report are published on our website under wwiw.gistworld.com

Principle 6 - Stakeholder relationships and engagement
The Board recognises the impact its decisions can have on its internal and extemal stakeholders and understands the
importance of engagement with its stakeholders.

Further information on the company’s stakeholders and its engagement methods can be found under the S172 section in
the Strategic Report.

Disclosure of information to auditor
The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that so far as they are aware, there is
no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditor is unaware, and each director has taken all steps that ought

to have been taken by them as directors to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the company’s auditor is aware of that information,

Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (Savannah House, 3 Ocean Way, Southampton, SC14 3TJ, United Kingdom) will be
appointed as the company's auditors in order to replace KPMG LLP.

By Order of the Board

Mr K Russell L'S/\/\" I—:}H' Maj 2021

Director

The Priestiey Centre, 10 Priestley Road, Surrey Research Park, Guildford, Surrey, GU2 7XY, England

Glst Limited {Reglstered No: 00502669)
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GIST LAMITED

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the financiat
statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the financial statemenlts in
aceordance with applicable law and regulations.

Comypany law requires the directors to prepare financial statencitts for cach financial ycar. Under that law they have
elected to prepare the financial stalements in aceordance with UK accounting standards and applicable law (UK Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 Redueed Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must aot approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a truc
and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that periad. In preparing
these financial statements, the directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistentiy;
- make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

- state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any naterial departures disclosed and
explained in the financial stalements;

- assess the company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern;
and

- use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liguidate the company or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but te do so.

The dircctors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
conwpany’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such
internal control as they determing is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due {o fraud or esror, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open
to them to safeguard the assets of the company and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Gist Limited (Registered No: 00502669)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OI' GIST LIMITED

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Gist Limited {“the company™) for the year ended 31 December 2019 which

comprise the Income Statement, Other Comprehensive Income, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity and
refated notes, including the accounting policies in note 1.

In our opinion the financial statements:

- give a true and fair view of the state of the company's atfairs as at 31 December 2019 and of its loss for the year then
ended |

- have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework ; and

- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (JK)”) and applicable law.
Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilfed our ethical responsibilitics under, and are independent of the
company in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC FEthical Standard. We believe that the audit

evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our apinion.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidaie the
company or to cease its operations, and as they have concluded that the company’s financial position means that this is
tealistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over its
ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going

concern period”),

We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concem basis of accounting is
inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubit over the use of that basis for a
period of at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements. In our evaluation of the directors’
conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the company’s business model and analysed how those risks niight affcet
the company’s financial resources or ability to continue operations over the going concern period. We have nothing 10

report in these respects.

Gist Limited (Registered No: 00502669)
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However, as we camnot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are
inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of reference to a material
unceriainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the company will continue in operation.

Strategic report and directors' report

The directors arc responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report. Our opinion ou the financial statements
does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon,

Our responsibility is Lo read the strategic repoit and the directors’ report and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our
financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial
statemenis ar our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

- we lave not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the dircctors' report;

- in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial statements;
and

- in our opinion those reporls have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006,
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2806 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

- adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have noi been reccived from branches
not visited by us; or

- the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
- certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 11, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine s
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error; assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern; and using the going concem basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Gist Limited {Registered No: 00502669)
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Auditor’s responsihilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statemenis as a whaole are free from material
misstatement, whether doe to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is &
high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit condicted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonsbly be expected to influcnce the coonomic decisions of users taken on the
basis of the financiel statements,

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at wwv. frc.org.uk/auditorsrespoasibilities.
The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006, Ouar audit work has been undertaken so that we might staic 1o the company’s members those
matters we are required (o stete ta them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accepl or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members, as a body,
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

(o D

Simon Baxter (Senior Statutory Aunditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

2 Focbury Place

33 Forbury Road

Reading RG1 3AD

(Q\N‘Uzozl

Glst Limited {Registered No: 00502669}
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GIST LIMITED
INCOME STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Notes
Tumover 2
Cosl of sales (including £28.5m (2018: £nil) of costs (net) inourred due to
closure of the defined benefit penion scheme to future accrual)
Gross (loss)/ profit
Administrative expenses
Other operating income
Operating (Lloss)/ profit 1
Profit on disposal of fixed assets
Iitcome from shares in group undertakings
Other interest receivable and similar inconte 4
Interest payable and similar cliarges 5
(Loss)/ profit before taxation
Tax on (loss)/ profit &

(Loss)/ profit for the financial year

All the company's aperations are classed as continuing.

* See note (23).

Gist Limited (Registered No: 00502669)

Restated*

2019 2018
£000 £000
471,145 462,035
(475,009 (446,674)
(3,864) 15,361
(10,146) (11,221)
120 26
(13,890) 4,166
156 155

229 241
(682) {495)
(14,187} 4,067
(651) (1,542
(14,838) 2,525

15




GIST LIMITED
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

(Loss)/ profit for the financial year
Ttems that will not he reclassified to profit or lass
Actuarial gain / (loss) recognised on the pension scheme

Movement on deferred tax relating to actuarial loss / (gain) on pensions

Total other comprehensive (loss) income for the financia! year

* See note (23).

Gist Limited {Registered No: 00502669)

Restated*

201 2018
£000 £000
(14,338 2,525
3,090 (3,170%
{525) 538
(12,273) (107)




GIST LIMITED
BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DPECEMBER 2019

Restated*
Note 2019 2018
E£00C £000
Fixed Assets
Other intangibles 9 3,789 4,423
Property, plant, and equipment 10 82,063 8,177
Right-of-use assets ] 31,777 -
Investinents 12 2,813 2,813
120,442 85413
Current Assets
Stocks 13 2,626 2,343
Debtors (including £16,816K (2018: £19,550K} 4 141,438 164,345
due after more than one year
Cash at bank and in hand 901 1,137
144,965 167,825
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 15 (106,020) (93,646)
Net current assets 38,545 179
Total assets less current lizbilities 159,387 135,592
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 16 (23,439) (30}
Provisions for liabilities and charges
Pension liability 18 (11,448) (23,020}
Net assets 124,500 136,542
Capital and Reserves
Called up share capital 20 1,300 1,300
Share premium account 74,621 74,621
Capital contribution reserve 2,304 1,710
Profit and loss account 46,275 58911
Shareholder’s funds 124,500 136,542

The financial statements on pages 15 to 56 were approved by the Board of Directors on “}HM“’J 1‘ and are

signed on its behalf by:

MR. K RUSSELL Director

* See note (23).

Gist Limited {Reglstered No: 00502669)




“GIST LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY ‘
FOR THE. YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019.

Restated
Sharg Capital Total
Called up Premium  Contribution Profit& Loss Sharcholder's
share capital Account Reserve Account Funds
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balance at 1 January 2018 (as previously
reported) 1,300 74,621 4,941 58,349 139,211
Prior period adjustment - - {968) 968 -
Balance at I January 2018 (restated) 1,300 74,621 3,973 59,317 139,211
Total comprehensive (loss)/ income for the period
Profit or (loss) {restated*) - - - 2,525 2,525
Other comprehensive
(loss)/ income (restated*) - - - (2,632) {2,632}
Total comprehensive (loss)/ income for the
period (restated*) - - - (107) (107
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Equity-settied share based payment
transactions (restated*) - - (2,263) - {2,263)
Movement on deferred tax relating to
share-bascd payments (restated*) - - - (299) (299)
Total contribuitions by and distributions to
awlers (restated®) - - (2,263) {299) (2,562)
Batance at 31 December 2018 (restated) 1,300 74,621 1,710 58,911 136,542
Balance at 1 January 2019 (restated) 1,300 74,621 1,710 58,911 136,542
Effect of adoplion of [FRS16 Leascs - - - (773) (773)
Adjusted balance at | January 2019 1,300 74,621 1,710 58,138 135,769
Total compreheasive (loss)/ income for the period
Prafit ar {lass) - - - (14,838) {14,838}
Otler comprehensive income - - - 2,565 2,565
Total comprehensive (toss)/ income for the
period - - - (12,273) (12,273)
Transactions with owrters, recorded directly in equity
Equity-settled share based payment
transactions - - 594 - 594
Movement on carrent tax relating to share-
based paymients - - - 237 237
Movement on deferred tax relating to
share-based payments - - - 173 173
Tota! contributions by and disteibutions to
ovwners - - 594 410 1,604
Balance at 31 December 2019 1,300 74,621 2,304 46,275 124,500

* See nole (23)

Gist Limited (Registered No: 00502669}



GIST LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

L. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Gist Limited is a campany incarporated in England and Wales and domiciled in the UK. The company is limited by
shares.

The company is exempt by virtue of section 400 of the Companics Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare group
financial statements. These financial statements present information about the company as an individual undertaking and
uot ahout its group.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework ("FRS 101"). In preparing these financial statements, the company applies the recognition, measurement and
disclosure requireinents of internationaf accounting standards in confornity with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006 ("Adopted JFRSs"), but makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with Companies Act 2006 and hag
set oul below where advantage of the FRS [0} disclosure exemptions has been taken.

The company's ultimatc parent undertaking, Linde plc, includes the company in its consolidated financial statements. The
consolidated financial statements of Linde plc are prepared in accordance with International Financial Rcporting
Standards and are available to the public and may be obtained from its principal trading address, at The Priestley Centre,
10 Priestley Road, The Surrey Research Park, Guildford, Surrey GU2 7XY, England.

In these financial statements, the company lias applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respect of the following
disclosures:
- Paragraph 38 of IAS 1, 'Presentation of financial statements’ - comparative inforination requirements in respect oft
i, Paragraph 7%(a)(iv) of [AS I;
iv. Paragrapl 73{e) of 1AS16, 'Property, plant and equipment’; and
v. Paragraph 118(c) of IAS 38, 'Intangible assets' (reconciliations betwecen the carrying amount at the beginning and
end of the period).
* The following paragraphs of [AS |, 'Presentation of financial statements’;
- 10{q) {statement of cash ffows);
- 16 (statement of compliance with all IFRS);
- 38B-D (additional comparative infarmation};
- L1 (statement of cash flows information); and
- 134-136 {capital management disclosures).

- [AS 7, 'Statement of cash flows".

- Paragraph 17 of TAS 24, ‘Relaled party disclosurcs' (key management compensation).

- The requirements in 1AS 24, 'Related party disciosures', to disclose related parly transactions entered into between two
or mare members of a group.

- [FRS 7, 'Financial instruments: Disclosures',

- Paragraphs 30 and 3} of IAS 8, "Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors' (requiretent for the
disclosure of information when an entity has not applied a new LFRS that has been issued but is not yet effective).

The accounting policies set out in this note have been applied consistently in preparing the financial statements for the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 apart from those new in the year, ie IFRS 16 Leases.

Gist Limited (Registered No: 00502669)
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GIST LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINULD)

a) Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the histarical cost basis. Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are
stated at the lower of previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

b) Functional Currency

Items included in the financial statements of the company are measured using the currency of the primary economic
enviroument in which tlie company operates (‘the functional currency'). The financial statements are presented in 'GBP'
(£), which is also the company's functional currency.

¢} Going corcern

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis which the dircctors believe to be appropriate for the
following reasans.

At 31 December 2019, the company had net current assets of £38.9m (2018 restated: £74.2m) and net asseis of £124.5m
(2018 restated: £136.5m). The majority of the company’s trading activities arc logistics services for food retailers and
manufacturers within the UK, a market area that has not been severely iimpacted by either COVID-19 or Brexit, Asa
consequence turnover and underlying profits have not been adversely impacted since the year end by cither COVID-19 or
Brexit and positive cash flows have been maintained.

The directors have prepared a cash flow forecast for the peried to June 2022 which shows that the company will be able to
meet its liabilities as they fall duc and continue to trade over that period. The forecast takes into account the expected
impact of COVID-19 and Brexit, however neither of these extemal factors are cansidered to be of a material adverse
natuce to the company. In eddition to the main forecast a sensitivity analysis lias been carried out to assess the inpact of
a severe reduction in trading. The downside considered was that trading continues at the Jevel experienced during 2020, a
period that included a lengthy period of lockdown, and the Directors note that the business gencrated positive cash flows
throughout that time.

The company does not hold significant cash balances and therefore the forecasts are dependent on the company’s ability
to draw funds from two Ffellow subsidiaries of the Linde ple group via & cash pooling arrangement with The BOC Group
Ltd and a cash deposit held with Praxair International Finance UC. Under the cash poaling agreement the company is
able to withdraw funds from The BOC Group Ltd without restriction and on demand.

The Directors do not have clear visibility into the financials of The BOC Group Ltd or Praxair Interpational inance UC
and their ability 1o repay the company's cash balances on demand. However, the Directors have confirmed with Linde
ple that it intends to provide loan finance or procure satisfactory alternative funding for the company for the twelve
months from the date of approval of these financial statements, should such funding be necessary to enable the company
to meet its debts as they fall due. Whilst the directors acknowledge that there can be no certainty that this support will
continve, they have formed the opinion that [.inde plc has both the intention and the ability to do so.

Consequently, the dizectors are canfident that the company will have sufficient funds to continue to meet its liabilities as
they fall due for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements and therefore have prepared the
financial statements on a going concem basis.

Gist Limited {Registered No: 00502669)
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GIST LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

d) Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the company's functional currencies at the foreign exchange rate ruling
at the date of the transaction. Monetary asscts and Habilitics deneminated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date
are retranslated to the fmnctional currency at the forcign exchange rate ruling at that date. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the
date of the transaction. Non-moneiary zsseis and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value
are retranslated to the functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.
Foreign exchange differences arising on (ranslation are recognised in the income statement.

¢} Classification of financial instruments issued by the company

Following the adoption of TAS 32, financial instruments issued by the company are treated as equity only ta the extent that
they meet the foHowing two conditions:

{(a) they include no contractual obligations upon the company to deliver cash or other financial assels or to exchange
financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the

company; and

{b) where the instrument wili or may be settled in the company's own equity insiruments, it is either a non-derivative that
includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the company's own equity instruments or is a derivative that will be
settled by the company exchanging a fived amount of cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity

instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a (inancial liability. Where the
instrument so classified takes the legal form of the company's own shares, the amounts presented in these financial
statements for called up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to those shares.

f) Adoption of new and revised standards

IFRS 16 requires leases to be recognised on the balance sheet which will reflect the right to use an asset for a period of
tiine and the associated tiability for payments.

The company has applied |FRS 16 "Leases’ for the first tine for its annual reporting period commencing 1 January 2019,
This has been adopted using the modified retrospective method and as & result the comparatives have not been restated
and are reported under [AS 17. The adaption has had a material impact on the company - please see note 22.

There were no amendments to ather accounting standards or IFRS Interpretations Committee interpretations that are
effcetive for the year ended 31 December 2019 which have had a material impact on the company's financial statements.

Gist Limited {Registered No: 00502669}
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GIST LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

g) Non-derivative financial instruments

Nan-derivative financial instrumnemts comprise trade and other debtors, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings,
and trade and other crediiors.

Trade and other debiors

Trade and other debtors are recoguised initielly at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. An expected credit loss model has been
used to calculate the provision which is small because of the low historic credit loss.

Trade and other creditors
Trade and other creditors are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they arc measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-hearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recogiition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment losses.

h) Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in profit or loss. However, where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any resultant gain
or loss depends on the nature of the item being hedged.

i) Intra-group financial instruments
Where the company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other companies within its
group, the campany considers these to be insurance arrangements and accounts for them as such. In this respect, the

compaiy treats the guarantee contract as a contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that the company
will be required to make a payment under the guarantee.

i) Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assels are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Where parts of an item of tangible fixed assets have dilferent useful lives, they are accounted for as separale items of
tangible fixed assets.

Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-fine basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an
item of tangible fixed assets. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Per Annum

Freehold buildings 2-10%
Leasehold land and buildings 0.83-33%
Plant and equipment 10-33%
Fixtures and fittings 10-33%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each balance sheet date.

Gist Limited (Registered No: 00502669}
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GIST LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTI

k) Intangible assets
Qther intangible assels
Other intangible assets that are acquired by the company are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and less

accomulated impairnient losses.

Amortisation
Amartisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-fine basis over the estimated uscful lives of intangible assets

uhless such lives are indefinite.

Intangible assets with an indefinite usefu! life and goodwill are systematically tested for impairment at each balance sheet
date. Other intangible ussets are amortised from the date they are available for use.

The estimated usefi! lives are as follows:

Per Annum
Sofiware ready to use 12.5-33%

1) Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is based on the first-in first-out principle and includes
expenditure incurred in acquiring the stocks, production or conversion cests and other costs in bringing them to their
existing location and condition. In the case of manufactured stocks and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate
share of overheads based on normal operating capacity.

m) Impairment excluding stocks and deferred (ax assels

Financial assels (including irade and other debiors)

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether
there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss cvent
has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future

cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset's original effective
interest rate. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss.

An expeeted credit loss model is used to calculate the provision which is small because of the [ow historic credit loss.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the company's non-financial assets, other than stocks and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at
cach reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the
asset's recoverable amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair vatuc less costs to sell. In assessing value
in usg, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
cyrrent market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific fo the asset.

Gist Limited {Registered No: 00502669)
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GiST LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED

) Inipairntent excluding stocks and defeived tax assets (continued)

For the purpose of impainment testing, asscts that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest
group of assets that generates eash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other
asgsels,

An impairment loss is recagnised if the catrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment
losses arg recognised in profit or loss,

[n respect of other assets other than goodwill, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting
date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
change in the estimates used Lo detenming the recoverable amount. An impairment loss s reversed ouly to the extent that
the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been detenmined, net of depreciation or
anortisation, if no impairinent loss had been recognised.

1) Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the company pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity and will have ne legal or censtructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to
defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in (he income statement in the periods during which
services are rendered by employees.

Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The company's net
obljgation in respect of the defined benefit pension plan is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine
its present value, and the fair value of any plan assets {at bid price) are deducted. The campany determines the net interest
oft the net defined benefit liability/(asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit
obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit liability/(asset).

The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date an bonds that have a credit rating of at least AA that have maturity
dates approximating the terms of the company's obligations and that are denominated it the currency in which the benefits
are expected to be paid.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit plans comprise actuarial pains and losses, the return on plan assets
{excluding interest) and the cffcct of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest). The compaay recognises them
immediately in other comprehensive income and all other expenses related to defined benefit plans in employee benefit
expenses in profit or loss.

When the benefits of a plan are changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the portion of the changed benefit related to past
service by employses, or the gain or loss on curtailment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss when the plan
amendment or curtailment accurs.

The calculation of the defined benefit obligations is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
migthod, When the calculation results in a benefit to the company, the recognised asset is limited to the present value of
benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in fiture contributions and takes into
account the adverse effect of any minimum funding requirements.

Gist Limited (Registered No: 00502669}
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GIST LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {CONTINUED)

n) Employee benefits {continued)

Shori-term benefits

Shott-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is
pravided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans
if the company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably,

Termination benefits
Termination benefifs are recognised as an expense when the company is demonstrably committed, without realistic

possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate entploymient before the normal retirement date, or to
provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for
voluntary redundancies are recognised as an expense if the company has made an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is
probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances ¢an be estimated reliably. I benefits are payable
more than 12 months after the reporting date, then they are discounted to their present value.

Share-based paynient transactions
Sharc-based payment arranpgements in which the company receives goods or services as consideration for its own equity

instruments are accounted for as cquity-settled share-based payment transactions, regardless of how the equity instruments
are abtained by the company.

The grant date fair value of share-based payments awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense,
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the
awards. The fair valve of the awards granted is measured using an option valuation medel, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the awards were granted. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual
number of awards for which the related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the
amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number of awards that do meet the related service and non-
market performance conditions at the vesting date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant
date fair value of the share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditiens and there is no true-up for differences
between expected and actual outcomes.

Share-based payment transactions in which the company receives goods or services by incurring 4 [iabilily to transfer cash
or other assets that is based an the price of the company’s cquity instruments are accounted for as cash-settied share-based
payments. The fair value of the amount payable to employees is recognised as an expense, with a corresponding increase
in liahilities, over the period in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to payment. The liabifity is rc-
measured at each balance sheet date and at settlement date. Any changes in the fair value of the liability are recognised as
personnel expense in profit or loss.

Where the company’s parent grants rights to its equity instruments to the group’s or the company’s employecs, which are
accounted for as equity-settled in the consolidated accounts of the parent, the group or the company as the case may be
account for these share-based payments as equity-settled. Amounts recharged by the parent are recognised as a recharge
liability with a corresponding debit to equity.

Where a ntember of the group grants cash settled awards to the company's employees, and the company has no obligation

to settle the award, the company accounts for these share based payments as equity scttled, Amounts recharged by the
parent are recognised as a recharge liability with a corresponding debit to equity.

Gist Limited (Registered No: 00502669}
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NOTES TO TIE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

o) Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balaice sheet when the company has a present kegal or constructive obligation as a result
of a past cveant, that can be reliably measured and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash tlows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
risks specific to the [1ability.

p} Turnover

Turnover is based on the invoiced value of sales, excluding VAT, and mecludcs sales te other companies within The Linde
Group. The company recognises revenne for the transfer of goods or services to a customer for an amount that reflects the
consideration to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or scrvices. To recognise revenue the
following five steps are applied:

- The contract with the customer (s identified;

- The performance obligations in the contract are identified;

- The transaction price is determined;

- Fhe transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation;

- Revenue is recognised when a performance obligation is satisfied.

q) Expenses

Interest receivable and Iterest payable

Interest payable and similar charges include interest payable, finance charges on sharcs classified as liabilities and leases
recognised i profit or loss using the effective interest method, unwinding of the discount on provisions, and net foreign
exchange losses thal are recoguised in the income statement (see foreign currency accounting policy). Borrowing costs
that are directly attributabic to the acquisition, canstruction or production of an asset that takes a substantial tinte to be
prepared for use, are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other interest receivable and similar income include
interest receivable on funds invested and net foreigh exchange gains,

Interest income and interest payable is recognised in profit or loss as it acerucs, using the effective interest method.
Dividend income is recognised in the income statement on the date the entity's right to receive payments is established.
Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

r) Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income, in which case it is
recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferrad tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabifities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounds used for taxation purposes, The following temporary differences are not provided for:
the initial recognition of goadwil!; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit other than in a business combination, and differences relating to investments in subsidigries to the extent that they
will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amouat of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner
of realisation or settiement of the carrying amount of assets and labilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date.
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GIST LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

r) Taxation (continued)

A deferred tax assel is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the temporary difference can be utilised.

s} Leases (policy applicable from I January 2019)

The conypany has applied [FRS 16 using the modified rctrospective approach and therefore the comparative information
has not been restated and continues to be reperted under [AS 17.

Al the inception of a contract, the company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideralion.

As a lessee

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, along with one or more other lease or
non-lease components, the company accounts for ¢ach lease component separately. The company allocates the
cansideration in the coutract to each fease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone price.

The company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments
nrade at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the end
of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the undeilying asset to the company by the end of the lease term
or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the company will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use
asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those of
property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date, discounted using the company's incremental borrowing rate.

I.ease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:
- fixed payments, including in-substance fixed paymeuts;
- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or ratc as at the

cammencemertt date

The lease kiability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, there is a change in the company's estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the company changes its assessment of whether it
will exercise a purchase, extension or terination aption or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustnent is made to the carrying amount of the right-

of-usc assel, ta the extent that the right-of-use asset is reduced to nil, with any further adjustment required from the
remeastrement being recorded in profit or loss.
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NOTES 10O THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED

s) Leases (policy applicable from 1 January 2019) (continued)

The company presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property ity 'Property, plant and
equipment' and lease [iabilities in 'Creditors: amounts falling due within one year' and 'Creditars: amounts falling due afier
more than one year' in the statement of financial position.

Information aboul critical accounting estimnates and judgements in the application of lease accounting is disclosed in note
1)

Shore-ternm leases and leases of lovw-vale assels

The company has elected not to recognise right-ofiuse assets and lease liabilities for lease of low-value assels and short-
term: feases. The company recogniscs the lease payments associated with these [eases as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease tenm,

Paolicy applicable before 1 January 2019 (14817 - Leases)

Under IAS 17, the company had leases which were classified as finance feases as the company had assumed substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset. Prior to 1 January 2019, these leased assets acquired by way of
finance lease are stated at an amount ¢qual to the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum [ease
payments al inceplion of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and Jess accumulated impairment losses.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The
finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability. Contingent rents are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. As
of | January 2019 the accounting treatment for these leases, and leases entered into after that date, is in accordance with

IFRS16,

Payments (excluding costs for services and insurance) made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the income statement as an

integral part of the total lease expensc.

t) Accounting estimates and judgements

Below are the key assumptions concerning the future and key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date
that may cause material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets or liabilities within the next financial year.

Pensions
The company's net obligation in respect of the defined bencfit pension plan is calculated by estimating the amount of

future benefit that employees have eamed in retum for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is
discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any plan assets (at bid price) arc deducted

The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on bonds that liave a credil rating of at least AA that have maturity

dates approximating the terms of the company's obligations and that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits
are expected to he paid. Any change to the discount rate will change the company's net obligation.
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NOTES TO TIIE FINANCIAL STA ENTS (CONTINUED

f) Accounting estimates and judgements {continued)
JFRSI6 'Leases’

For the purposcs of IFRS16 'Leases’, an incremental borrowing rate 1s used which is considered to be a key accounting
estimate. Incremental borrowing rates are provided by [.inde ple and vary depending on the length of the lease and the
point in time that the lease is taken out. Incremental borrowing rales are specific to cach lease based on lease term
therefore the rates range betiveen 0%-1.43%. A 200-basis point increase in the rate would cause the lease liabilities to
reduce by approximately £2,042k and a corresponding decrcase in the right-of-use assets by the same amount.

There are no key assumptions concerning the future and key sources of estimation uncerteinty at the balance sheet date
that may cause material adjustinent to the carrying amounts of assets or liabilities within the next finaneial year.
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NOTES T TIIE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED

2. TURNOVER

Disaggregation of revenue 20i9 2018
£000 £000
Rendering of supply chain services 471,145 462,035
Total turnover 471,145 462,035
2019 2018
£000 £000

By geagraphical market
K 449,280 433,211
Other Europe 7.284 12,288
North America 2,094 2,060
South America 495 499
Asia 3,965 5,154
Africa 1,467 1,203
Australasia 6,560 7,620
471,145 462,033

Alt supply chain services are transferred to customers at a point in time. All receivables arise from contracts with
customiers, sce note (4,

3. OPERATING (LOSS)/ PROFIT

2019 2018
£000 £000
Included in profit / loss are the following:
Amortisation of intangible assets
Owned assets 1,533 1,357
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
Ohwned assets 11,386 11,281
Leased assets 9,035 214
Hire of plant and machinery 2,668 6,835
Property rental 361 3,446
2019 2018
£000 £000

Auditor's remuneration :
Audit 312 106

Additional audit work for group reporting following
merger of parent company
Non audit services

286
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4. OTHER INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME

Interest receivable from group companies
Net foreign exchange gain

31

Total interest receivable and similar income

5. INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES

Other interest payable

Interest payable to group comparics

Preference share dividends

Lease interest

Net forcign exchange loss

Net interest on net defined benefit pension plan liability

Total olher interest payable and similar charges

2019 2018
£000 £000
229 (47
- 94
226 241
2019 2018
£000 £000
30 -

3 3

2 2
274 -
53 -
320 490
682 495

The company initially applied IFRS 16 Leases at 1 January 2019, using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, comparative information is not restated. Lease interest in 2019 arises following the adoption of IFRS 16.

6. TAX

1) Analysis of tax charge in the year

Current fax:
Overseas lax
UK corporation tax on profits of the year
Adjustment in respect of previous years

Total current tax

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of temparary differences
Effect of changes in tax rate
Adjustment for under / {over) provision in prior years

Total deferred tax

Tax on profit

Restated*

2019 2018
£000 £000
- 19
884 -
884 19
343 384
(36) (20)
(540} 1,159
(233) 1,523
651 1,542

* See note (23).
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NOTES TO THLE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

6. TAX (continued)

b) Tax (income) included in other comprehensive income

Current tax

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences

Tolal tax (income) included in other comprehensive income

¢) Tax (income) included in equily

Current tax - adjustment in respect of previous ycars

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary diffcrences

Total tax (income) included in cquity

2019 2018
£000 £000
525 {338)
525 {538)
Restated*

2019 2018
£000 £000
237 -
(173) 299
{410} 299

&) Factors affecting tax charge for the year

The tax assessed for the period is different to the rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19.0% (2018: 19.0%). The

differences are explained below:

(Loss)/ Profit before taxation

{Loss)/ Profit multiplied by the standard
rate of corpuration tax in the UK of 19.0% (2018: 19.0%)

Effects of:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes

Adjustments to tax charge in respect of previous periods

Other temporary difference for which no deferred tax recognised
Effect of changes in tax rate

Effects of group relief/ other relicfs

Restated*

2019 2018
£000 £000
{14,187) 4,067
(2,696) 773
535 515
344 1,159
(147 -
(36) (20)
2,631 (885)
651 1,542

* See note {23).
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6. TAX (centinued)
¢) Factors that may affect future tax charges

No provision has been made for deferred tax on gains recognised on revaluing property 1o its market value or on the sale
of propertics where poteatially taxable gains have been rolled over into replacement assets. Such tax would beconie
payable only if the property was sold without it being possible to claim rollover relief. The tatal amount unprovided is
£815,357 (2018 - £815,357). At present it is not envisaged that any such tax witl become payable in the foreseeable
future.

A reduction in the UK corporation tax rate from [9% to 17% (effective from | April 2020) was substantively enacted on 6
September 2016, The deferred tax assets and liabilities have been calculated using the rate of 17% as at the current
balance shicet date (2018: 17%).

To the 11 March 2020 budget it was announced that the UK tax rate will remain at the current 19% and not reduce to [7%
from 1 April 2020. This will have a consequential effect on the company's future tax charge, If this rate change had been
substantively enacted a( the current bajance sheet date the deferred tax assef would have increased by £498k.

In the 3 March 2021 Budget it was announced that the UK tax rate will increase to 25% from 1 April 2023, This will have
a copsequential effect on the company's future tax charge. 1f this rate change had been substantively enacted at the current
balance sheet date the deferred tax asset would have increased by £1,990k to £6,219k.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {CONTINUED)

7. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

(a) The emoluments of the directors of the company were:

Directors' remuneration
Amounts received under long term incentive schemes
Pension contributions

Retirement benefits are aceruing to 4 dircctors (2018 - four)

{b) Emoluments payable to the highest paid dircctor were as tollows:

Highest paid director
Remuneration
Amounts received under long term incentive schemes
Pension contributions

Deferred pension
Defined benefit scheme:
Accrued pension at year end

Retirement benefits are accruing to the following number of directors under:

Defined benefit schemes

The number of directors whe exercised share options was
The number of directors in respect of whose qualifying scrvices shares
were received or receivable under long term incentive schemes was

The highest paid director exercised share options in both 2019 and 2018,

Gist Limited {Registered No: 00502669)

2019 2018
£000 £000
2,568 3497
666 707
11 21
3,245 4,225
2019 2018
£000 £000
975 1,404
307 413

1 [
[,283 1,818
- 166
2019 2018
numbers numbers
4 4

4 4
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GIST LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {CONTINUED)

8. STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

(a) Average number of employees during the peried:

a5

2019 2018

numbers numbers

Management and administration 1,112 I,123
Warehousing and distribution 3,859 3,647
4,971 4,770

(b) Employment casts: Restated*
2019 2018

£000 £600

Wages and salaries 192,411 169,613
Social security costs 20,603 18,008
Contributions to defined contribution plans 17,166 5,885
Expenses related to defined benefit plans 16,969 15,500
Expense recognised for share based payments 593 881
247,742 209,887

Wages and salaries for 2019 cludes £18.8m (2018: £nil) of compensation payments relaied to the closure (o future
accrual of the defined benefit pension scheme. Expenses related to defined benefit plans for 2019 includes £14.2m (2018:
£nil} liability for early retirement and £(5.7)m {2018: £il) curtailment gain related to the closure to future acerual of the
defined benefit pension scheme in addition to the current service cost {including adeinistration costs) of £8.5m (20[8:

£E5.5m),

9, INTANGIBLF, FIXED ASSETS

The ameortisation charge is recognised in the following line itenis in the income statement.

2019 2018
£000 £000
Cost of sales 712 644
Administration expenses 821 713
1,533 1,357

* See note (23).

Gist Limited {Registered No: 00502669}



GIST LIMITED
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9. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS {continued)

Software
ready to use Totat
£000 £000

CcosT
Balance at | January 2019 14,922 14,922
Acquisitions 899 899
Disposals (1,735) {1,735)
Balance at 31 December 2019 14,086 14,086
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
Balance at 1 January 2019 10,499 10,499
Amortisation charge for the year 1,533 1,533
Disposals (1,735) {1,735)
Balance at 31 December 2019 10,297 10,297
NET BOOK VALUE
At 1 January 2019 4423 4423
At 31 December 2019 3,739 3,789
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NOTES TQO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {CONTINUED)

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

a) Tangible Assets

COST

Balance at 1 January 2019
Acquisitions

Disposals

Balance at 31 December 2019
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
Batance at | January 2019

Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals

Balance at 31 Decemiber 2019

NET BOOK VALUE

At ] January 2019

At 31 December 2019

b) Land and buildings

The net book value of land and buildings comprises:

Freehold
Long leaschold
Short leasehold

¢) Capital commitments

Future capital expenditure contracted but not
provided for

Land & Plant & Fixtures &
Buildings equipment Fittings Total
£000 £000 £0600 £000
105,929 96,656 16,425 219,010
2385 12,148 894 15,427
(92) (5,511) (1,333) (6,936)
108,222 103,293 15,986 227,501
63,370 65,235 12,228 140,833
2,714 6,446 2,226 11,386
(48) (5,407 (1,326) 6,780
66,036 66,274 13,128 145,438
42,559 31,421 4,197 78,177
42,186 37,019 2,858 82,063
2019 018
£00¢ £000
41,545 40,588
- 1,227
641 744
42,186 42,559
2019 018
£000 £000
4,280 §,421
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11. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

COST
Balance at | fanuary
IFR316 adjustment (note 22)

Adjusted balance at | January
Acquisitions

Disposals

Balance at 31 December
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
Ralance at 1 January

IFRS[6 adjustment (note 22}

Adjusted balance at | January
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals

Balance at 31 December

NET BOOK VALUE

At | January

At 31 December

GIST LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED

38

Land & Plaut & Fixtures &
Buildings equipment Fittings Total
£000 £000 £000 £000
18,806 31,347 183 50,336
18,806 31,347 183 50,336
2,429 5,089 473 7,991
(2,727) (2,627) - (5,354)
18,508 33,809 656 52,973
6,414 11,003 45 17,462
6,414 11,003 435 17,462
2,969 5,937 129 9,035
(2,727 (2,574) - (5,301)
6,656 14,366 174 21,196
11,852 19,443 482 31,777
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

12, INVESTMENTS

a) Cost

At | January 2018
Additions

At 31 December 2019

b) Group undertakings

The company has the following investments in subsidiaries

Gist Distribution Limited, Temple
Chambers, 3 Burlington Road, Dublin 4,
{refand

Gist USA LLC, 2711 Centerville Road,
Suite 400, City of Wilmington, County of
New Castle, Delaware 19808, USA.

13. STOCKS

Raw materials and consumables

Country of
incorporation

Republic of
Ireland

Delaware,
USA

Shares in group undeitakings

£000

2813

2,813

Class of

shares held %6 Ownership % Owaership
2019 2018

Ordinary €1 100 100
Ordinary 31 100 100
2019 2018

£000 £000

2,626 2,343

Raw materials and consumables recognised as cost of sales in the year amonnted to £42,171k (2018: £42,638k).
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14. DEBTORS

Restated*

2019 2018

£000 £000

Trade debtors 82,168 89,223

Amounts owed by group undertakings 34,195 48,855
Amounts owed by group undertakings it which the company

has a parlicipaling interest 258 274

Deferred tax assets 4,229 4,348

Prepayments and accrued income 20,588 21,645

141,438 164,345

Due within one year 124,622 144,795

Due after more than one year 16,816 19,550

141,438 164,345

Amounis owed by group undertakings comprises £2.6m of trading balances, a deposit of £25.1m with a matucity date of
13th January 2020 and interest received of 1% above base rate with a UK group company, £0.4i of interest duc on the
cash pooling arrangement, and a £6.4m payroll deposit. All amounts are due within one year,

15. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

Restated*

2019 2018

£000 £000

Lease liabilities 9,124 -

Trade creditors 32,296 27,940

Amounts owed to group undertakings 18,364 18,885
Amounts owed to undertakings in which the campany

has a participating interest 40 140

Taxation and social security 22,126 20,143

Accruals and deferred income 24,070 26,538

106,020 93,646

The company initially applied iFRS 6 at 1 January 2019, using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach
comparative information is not restated and the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 16 is rccognised in retained
eamings at the date of initial application. Thus, the comparative liabilities presented are based on IAS 17 while for the

current year they are based on IFRS 16,

Amounts owed to group undertakings comprises £4.0m of trading balances, £10.3m of unsccured cash pooling which is
interest bearing and repayable on demand, and £4. Im of non trade liabilities.

* See note (23).
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16. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

2019 2018

£000 £000

I easc liabilities 23,409 -
Other financial liabilities

1,000 5% cumulative preference sharcs i 1

29,000 5% cumulative B preference shares 29 29

23,435 30

The company initially applied [FRS 16 at | January 2019, using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach
comparative information is nat restated and the cumulative effect of initially applying TFRS 16 is recognised in retained
earnings at the date of initial application. Thus, the comparative liabilities presented are based on TAS 17 while for the

current year they are based on [FRS [6.

The 1,000 5% cumulative preference shares of £1 cach and the 29,000 5% cumulative B prefercnce shares of £1 each
carry a fixed preferential dividend at the rate of 5% per annum, payable annually in arrears on the last working day in
November, The shares have no redemption entitlement. On winding up the holders have priority before all otlier classes of
shares to receive repayment of capital plus any arrears of dividend. The holders of the cumulative preference shares take
priority over the holders of the cumulative B preference shares, Each class of preference share carries votes amounting to
ten percent { 10%) of the total voles able to be cast at all general meetings of the company.

17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

2019 2018
£000 £060
Deferrcd tax assets due withéin 12 months 434 27
Deferred tax assets due after more than 12 months 3,795 4132}
4,229 4,348
Deferred tax liabilities due within 12 months - -
Deferred tax liabilities due after more than 12 months - -
Net deferred tax assets 47229 4348
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GIST LIMITED

17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

The provision of deferred tax consists of the following deferred tax assets and {fiabilities)

At | January 2018

(Charged)/credited Lo the income statement
(restated*)

(Charged)/credited directly o other
comprehensive income (restated*)

{Charged)/credited directly to equity
{restated*)
At 31 December 2018

{Charged)/credited (o the income statcment

(Charged)/credited directly to other
comprehensive income

(Charged)/credited directly to equity

At 31 December 2019

* See note (23).

Tangible fixed  Provisions  Share-based Densions Total
assets payments

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

1,720 26 492 3,394 5632

(1,312 - (193) (18) (1,523)

- 538 538

- - (299) - (299)

408 26 3,94 4,348

289 2,104 102 (2,262 233

. - . (525) (525)

) . 173 - 173

697 2,130 275 1.127 4229

Gist Limited (Registered No: 00502669)

42



GIST LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

18. PENSION COST
Defined coniribution pension scheme

Contributions made to the BOC Retirement Savings Plan {defined contribution pension fund) during the ycar amounted to
£17.2m (2018: £5.9m}. There were no accrued contributions payable after year end (2018: £nil). Membership of the
scheme expanded significantly during the year 2s a result of the closure of the defined benefit pension scheme to future
accrual on 30 Junc 2019,

Defined benefit pension scheme

Gist operates a defined benefit scheme in the UK with assets lield in a separately administered fund. The scheme provides
carnings-related pension benefils and is wholly funded by Gist. The scheme was established for employees of Gist
Limited with the signing of the Definitive Trust Deed and Rules on 30 March 2011. The scheme conmmenced in April
2011 and the latest actuarial valuation was during 2017. This scheme was closed to new entrants on 1 April 2011 and
closed to future accrual on 30 June 2019, The company has a defined contribution scheme which can provide henefits for
all employees.

The Scheme provides a lump sum benefit in the event of death-in-service and earnings-related pension benefits for
Schenie members. In addition the Scheme may be liable to pravide pension benefits in respect of Active Members with
prior service in the BOC Pension Scheme, for exawple in the event of redundancy or early retirement with company
consent. Active Members are also able to contribute to the AVC Section of the BOC Retirement Savings Plan as it
provides facilities for the investment of additional voluntary contributions and transfer payments received prior to April
1997 1t is also used for the investment of any pensions-related additional contributions made by the company in respect
of Scheme members.

Gist Limited Pension Scheme (GLPS) Trustees Ltd was the trustee for the Gist Limited pension scheme throughout the
year. The trustee has appointed a number of advisors to assist in the management of the scheme. The trustee has developed
its own investment and governance strategies and processes and continues to work with its advisors to continue to manage
the Scheme in accordance with the objectives of the Scheme.

The Scheme Actuary completed the third actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2017 and confirmed that the Scheme is
currently in deficit. Following the Actuarial Valuation, the Schedule of Contributions was signed by the Trustee and
agreed by the company on 19 July 2018, with a subsequent onc on 18 December 2018. The Schedule of Contributions
applied from 1 April 2008, The next actuarial valuation is duc to take place as at 31 March 2020. No additional fiability
has been recognised in relation to IFRIC4.

As part of the arrangement to close the scheme to future accrual, the company made a compensation payment to members
or alternatively if the citployee met certain conditions around age and service, the company oftered early retirement at a
reduced discount. Eligible employees could opt to take early retirement at any time between 1 July 2019 and 30 June
2020. For those employees who took the option of early retirement, the company has incurred a liability in relation to both
the Gist Pension Scheme and the ROC Pension Scheme, payable scon after the date of carly retirement started.

Gist Limited {Registered No: 00502663)
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18. PENSION COST {continued)

The one-off impact of the closure on the income statement has been as follows:

2019

£000
Compensalion payments to members of the scheme (18,807
Curtailment gain - Gist Ltd Pension Scheme 5,700
Liability for early retirement - Gist Ltd Pension Scheme (4,350)
Liability for early retirement - BOC Penston Scheme (5.879)
Implementation costs (1,197)
Net cost impact (28.533)

As a result of the one year time window for early retirement, part of the liability to the BOC Pension Scheme remains
unpaid at 31 December 2019. The net pension liabitity is therefore made up of two elements:

2019 2018
£000 £000
Gist Ltd Pension Scheme - Net liability for defined benefit obligations 6,630 23,020
BOC Pension Scheme - remaining liability for early retirement 4818 -
Total Pension Liability 11,448 23,020

The information disclased below is in respect of the Gist Limited Pension Scheme for which the company is either the
sponsoring employer or has been allocated a share of cost under an agreed group policy throughout the periods showar,

2019 2018
£000 £000

(145460) (107,910

Detined benefil asset
152,090 130,930

Defined benefit liability

Net fability / (asset) for defined benefit obligations (see following table} 6,630 23,020
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18. PENSION COSF (continued)

Movements in nel defined benefit Liabilily/{asser)

Balance at | January
Included in profit or loss
Current service cost

Past service cost
Administration costs
Interest cost/(ircome)

Included in OCI

Renicasurements

loss/{(gain):

Actuariat loss (gain) arising

from

- Changes in demographic

assuniptions

- Change in financial

assumptions

- Experience adjustment

Return on plan assets
excluding interest income

Othicr
Contributions paid by the

employer

Contributions paid by the
employee

Beitefits paid

Balance at 31 December

Defined Benefit Obligation

Fair value of plan assets

Net defined benefit 1iability /

(asset)
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
136,930 120,140 (107,910) {100,100} 23,020 20,040
7310 14,460 - - 7310 4,460
{1,350) 100 - - (1,350) £00
I,130 1,020 - - 1,130 1,020
3,380 3,170 (3,060 (2,680} 320 490
10,470 18,750 (3,060) (2,680) 7,410 16,070
16,250 (3,740) - - 16,290 (5,740)
- (19.380) 8,910 (19,380} 8,910
16,290 (5,740) (19,380) 8,910 (3,090} 3,170
- - (20,710} {16,26M (20,710} (16,260)
80 180 (80) {180) -
{5,680) (2,400) 5,680 2,400 - -
152,090 130,930 {143,460) (107,913 6,630 23,020

Gist Limited {Registered No: 00502669)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

18, PENSION COST (continued)

Plen assels

45

2018
£000

10,540
31,820
62,800

2,750

107,910

2019
£000
Cash and cash equivalents 33,770
Equities 33,300
Bonds 46,470
Other 31,920
145,460
All investments are held in pooled funds which are tradeable based on their respective unit prices.
Actuarial assumptions
2019
Rate of increase in salaries N/A
Rate of increase in pensions in payment 2.4%
Discount rate as at 31 December 2.1%
3.0%

Inflation assumption

2018
2.5%
2.5%
2.7%
34%

The assumptions relating to fongevily underlying the pension [iabilities at the balance sheet date are based on standard
actuarial mortality tables and include an allowance for future improvements in longevity. The assumptions are equivalent

to expecting a §5-year old to live for a number of years as follows:

Males
Life expectancies as at 31 December 2019
Average tuture life expectancy (in years) for a pensioner
aged 65 at 31 December 2019 22.7
Average future life expectancy (in years) at age 65 fora
non-pensioner aged 40 at 31 December 2019 2.2

Gist Limited {Registered No: 00502669)
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GIST LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

18, PENSION COST (confinved)

Sensitivity analysis

The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the assumptions set out above, The following table
summarises how the impact on the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period would have increased
(decreased) as a result of a change in the respective assumptions:

019 018

(18,450) {15,700)
{6,090) (5,240)

0.5% decrease in discount rate

| year increase in life expectancy

-(.25% change in inflation underlying salacy increases
-0.25% change in inflation

Funding

The company paid £12.6m in deticit contributions to its defined benefit plan in 2020, £8m of this was paid as part of an
arrangement related to the Gist Litd Pension Scheme being merged with the BOC Pension Scheme on 1 October 2020.
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period is 23 years (2018: 23

years).

Gist Limited (Registered No: 00502669)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUE)

19. EMPI.OYEE SHARE SCHEMES
Share hased payments - Linde GmbH (formerly Linde AG) - LTIP 2012

A Long Term Investment Plan (1 TIP 2012) was implemented during 2012 by Linde GmbH. Under this plan share options
were awarded to certain employees, however these could only be exercised if and to the extent that performance targets
and service conditions were reached.

The share options were originally designed to be equity settled, however in the second quarter of 2017 a resolution passed
by the Linde GmbH Executive Board and the Supervisory Beard modified the regulations of the LTIP 2012 in respect of
the subscription rights granted. Fram that date share aptions under the LTIP 2012 plan were to be cash-settled by Linde
GmbH. However as Gist Limited has no obligation te settle the L'T1P 2012 shars option awards in cash, the company has
continted to account for these share based payments as equity settled.

Share option expenses for LTIP 2012 bave therefore continued to be calculated taking tito account the number of
outstanding options on the reporting date, the likelihood of those options vesting based on relevant performance
conditions, the fair value of share options at the date of grant, and the pro-rala service rendered by the employee in
question on the reporting date.

‘The plan also included a share matching arrangement that required self-investment and was subject o a service condition.

The share matching arrangement was designed to be equity scttled, however in the secand quarter of 2017, a resolution
passed by the Linde GmbH Executive Board and the Supervisory Board also modified the regulations of the Linde [LTIP
in respect of this arrangement. From that date the matching share arrangement wvas to be cash-settled by Linde GmbH.
However as Gist Limited has 1o obligation to settle the LTIP 2012 matching share awards in cash, the company has

cotitinued to account for these share based payments as equity settled.

Matching share expenses for LTIP 2012 have therefore continved to be calculated taking into account the number of
eutstanding, matching shares on the reporting date, the fair value of matching shares at the date of grant, and the pro-rata
service rendered by the employee in question on the reporting date.

On completion of the merger between Linde GmbH and Linde Inc. (formerly Praxair Inc.) on 31 October 2018, Linde
GmbH closed the 2012 LTIP Plan. The termination of the plan established an cntitlement to compensation in cash for
those beneficiaries of the LTIP 2012 who were affected. Compensation of £3,144k was calculated on a pro-rata basis in
accordance with achievements to date against the relevant performance cenditions. This compensation was paid directly to

relevant employees by Gist Limited with a corresponding debit to equity.

2019 2018
Number of options

MNumber as at 1 January - 50,423
Granted - -
Cash Settled - (35.445)
Forfeited - (860)
Expired - (10,118)
Transfers - -

Number as at 31 December -

Of which exercisable at 31 December -

Gist Limited {Reglstered No: 00502669)
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GIST LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED

19. EMPLOYEE SHARE SCHEMES (continued)

2019 2018
Number of matching shares

Number as at 1 Janpary . 4,049
Granted . -
Cash Settled - (4,095}
Forfeited - 46
Expired - -
Transfers - -

Nuntber as at 31 December

Share based payments - Linde ple - LTIP 2018

In connection with the merger of Linde GmbH and Linde Inc. (formerly Praxair Inc.), on 31 October 2018 the Linde plc
Board of Directors adopted the Long Term Incentive Plan (“the LTIP 2018™), the purpose of which is to replace
outstanding Linde GmbH cquily bascd awards that were terminated m connection with the Exchange ofter. These awards
were communicated to relevant employecs in March 2019,

LTIP 2018 Shayve Options

Each replacement option right granted uader the LTIP 2018 will be subject to vesting based on continued service until the
end of the four-year waiting period applicable to the relevant Linde Gmbl award that had been granted before the

business combination. After vesting, each option right will be exercisable for one year.

The LTIP 2018 awards are a direct replacement for the unvested portion of the TTIP 2012 options. No incremental value
is considered to have been provided to beneficiaries and therefore the original LTIP 2012 grant date valuation basis
remains applicable for calenlation of the share based expense.

During the year 13,131 aptions were granted (2018: nil). The average remaining period in the L'1TP 2018 is 11 months
(2018: not applicable).

2019 2018

Numiber of options
Number as at 1 January . .
Granted 13,131 -
Exercised {884) .
Forfeited (356) -
Expired . N
Transfers - -
Number as at 31 December 11,891 -
Of which exercisable at 31 December 788 -

Gist Limited [Registered No: 00502669)




GIST LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

19. EMPLOYEE SHARE SCHEMES (continued)
Restricted Stock Units

Upon completion of the merger, outstanding performance hased share matching awards granted prior to 2018 were
convested into Linde ple Restricted Stock Units (RSU) based on performance achieved as of immediately prior to the
closing of the merger. These awards were communicated to relevant emplayees in March 2019

Each replacement RSU granted under the L'TIP 2018 is subject to vesting based on continued service until the end of the
four-year waiting period applicable to the rclevant Linde GmbH award that had been granted before the merger.

The LTIP 2018 awards are a direct replacement for the unvested portion of the LTI 2¢12 options. No incremental value
is considered to have been provided to beneficiarics and therefore the original [.TIP 2012 grant date valuation basis
remains applicable for calculation of the share based expense.

During the year 1,686 RSUs were granted (2018 : nil). The average remaining period for RSU in the LTIP 2018 s (]
months (2018 nat applicable).

2019 2018
Number of matching shares

Number as at | January - .
Granted 1,686 -
Exercised (185) -
Forfeited (45) .
Expired - .
Transfers i )
1,456 R

Number as at 31 December

The expense recognised for share based payments in the year was £0.6m (2018 Restated *: £0.9m).

* Sec note (23).

Gist Limited {Registered No;: 00502669}
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GIST LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUEDY)

20. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Shere Capiral 2019 2018
£000 £000

Ordinary Shares of £1 each:
2,000,000 shares Authorised 2,000 2,000
1,300,000 shares Issued and Fully Paid 1,300 1,300

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote

per share at general meetings of the company.

Please refer to note 16 for disclosures in respect of preference shares classified as liabilities.

Gist Limited (Registered No: 00502669)




GIST LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

21. LEASES

Right-af-use assets

Right-of-use assets related to lease properties that do not meet the definition of investment propertics are presented as

property, plant and equipment:

Land & Plant & Fixtures &
Buildings equipment Fittings Total
£000 £000 £000 £000
Dalance at | January 2019 12,392 20,344 138 32,874
Additions to right-of-use assets 2,429 5,089 473 7.991
Depreciation charge for the year {2,969 (5,937) (129) (9,035)
Derccognition of right-of-usc asscts - (33) - (33)
Balance at 31 December 2019 11,852 19,443 432 31,777
Future minimum lease payments

Future minimum lease payments at 3| December 2019 are as follows:
£000
Nat later than one year 9,124
Later than one year and not 21,202
Later than five years 2,207
Balance at 31 December 373533
£000

2019 - L.cases under IFRS 16
Depreciation 9,035
Interest expense on lease liabilities 274
Expenses selating to short-term leases and leases of low value assets 3,029
£000
2018 - Operating leases under 1AS 17

[.ease expensc 10,281

Gist Limited (Registered No: 00502669)
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GIST LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

22. EFFECT OF ADOPTION OF IFRS16 - LEASES

As indicated in notes | and 21, the company has adopted IFRS 16 'Leases' retraspectively from | January 2019 but has
not restated comparatives for the 2018 reporting period, as permitted under the specific transition provisions in the
standard. ‘The reclassifications and the adjustments arising from (he new leasing rules are therefore recognised in the
opening balance sheet on 1 January 2019. The new accounting policies are disclosed in note L.

On adoption of IFRS 16 the company recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been classified
as ‘operating teascs' under the principles of FAS17-Leasces. These liabilities were recognised at the present value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate as of | January 2019.

Praciical expedients applied

In applying IFRS 16 for the first time, the company has used the following practical expedients permitted by the standard:
- applying a single discount rate 1o leases with reasonably similar characteristics;
- excluding initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application.

The company has also elected not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease at the date of initial application.
Instead, for contracts cntered into before the transition date the company relied an its assessment made applying I1AS17
and IFRIC4 ‘Determining whether an Arrangement contains a |.ease’,

Measurement of lease liabilities

£000's
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 31 December 2018 (as previously reported) 38,075
Prior period restaterneatt (3,631)
Operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 (restated) 34,444
Property break clause recognised (793}
Exemption for short term lease/ low value items (2)
Lcasc liability recognised at 1 January 2019 33,649
Of which are:
Current |ease [abilities 8,071
Non-current lease liabilities 25,578

33,649

Measurement of righi-of-use assels
The assaciated right-of-use assets were measured on a retrospective basis as if the new rules had always been applied.

Gist Limited {Registered No: 00502669}
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GIST LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT \NUED}

22, EFFECT OF ADOPTION OF IFR316 - LEASES (continued)

The following table sunumarises the quantitative impact of adopting IFRS 16 on the company's financial statements for the
year cnded 31 December 2019:

Impact of adoption of IFRS 16

Balances

without

adoption of

Asreported  Adjustments IFRS 16

£000's £000's £000°s

Right-of-use assets 31,777 (3777 -
Creditors: amounats falling due within one year (106,020) 9,124 (96,896}
Creditors: amounts falling due afler more than one year (23,439) 23,409 (30)
Profit and loss account 46,275 756 47,031

23. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTBMENTS

LTIP 2012

a) In 2017, following a decision made by the campany's then ultimate parent, linde GmbH (formerty Linde AG), to settle
the LTIP 2012 in cash the valuation of the LTIP 2012 share options and matching shares were valued on a cash settled
basis as opposed (o continuing to reflect an equity settled valuation basis. This has led to an adjustment to increase
opening retained earnings as of 1 January 2018 of £968k, with the offset being to capital contribution reserve.

b} In November 2018, the LTIP 2012 scheme was cancelled following tite merger between Linde GmbH (formerly Linde
AG) and Linde Inc. (formerly Praxair Inc.). On cancellation of the plan the company paid compeusation of £3,144k in
cash to the beneficiaries which was previousty recognised as an expense in the Income Statement rather than being offset
against the capital contribution reserve. This has led to an adjustment to increase profits in the year ended 31 December
2018 by £3, 144k, with the offset being to capital contribution reserve.

¢) Further, no expense was recogniscd for share options and matching shares from | January 2018 to 1 November 2013.
This has led to an adjustment to decrease profits in the year ended 31 December 2018 by £881k, with the offset being to

capital contribution reserve.

d) In 2018 a deferred tax asset on share based payments of £299% that reversed in the year was charged to the income
statemient rather than to equity. [n addition a current tax charge on items recorded in equity of £167k has been recognised.

Ronus accrual
e) In 2018 management bonuses were under-accrued by £4.4m. An adjustment was made in the 2018 accounts to

recognise this under accrual. The tax impact has been offset by a movement on group relief.

Cash at bank
f) In 2018 certain foreign currency bank accounts were included in Amounts owed by group undertakings rather than

cash.

Gist Limited {Registered No: 00502658}
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GIST LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED})

23. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS (continued)

The impact of these adjustments on the prior period financial statements is summarised in the table below:

Income statcment for the
year ended 31 December
2018

Cost of Sales

Gross (loss)/profit
Operating (loss)/profit
(Loss)/profit before
taxation

Tax on (loss)/ profit
(Loss)/profit for the
financial year

Total comprehensive
income/ (loss) for the
financial year

Balance shect at 31
December 2018

Debtors

Cash at bank and in hand
Creditors: amounts falling
due within year

Capital Contribution
Reserve
Profit and Loss Account

2018 (as Adiust for Adjust for tax Adjust for
previously 2012 LTIiP on share Bonus accrual  Cash at bank

reported) (), (bY and (¢} gptions {d) Adj (&) (i 2018 Restated

£000's £000's £000%s £000's £000's £000's
(444,551) 2,263 - (4,386} - {446,674
17,484 2,263 - {4,386) - 15,361
6,289 2,263 - (4,386) - 4,166
6,190 2,263 - (4,386) - 4,067
(1,841) - 299 - - {1,542)
4,349 2263 299 {4,386) - 2,525
1,717 2,263 295 (4,386) - (107)
165,482 - - - (1,137) 164,345
- - - - 1,137 1,137
{89,260} - - (4,386) - (93,644)
4,941 (3,231) - - - 1,710
60,066 3,231 - (4,380) - 58,911

The impact of these adjustments on the opening balance of the prior period is summarised in the table below:

Balance sheet at 1
January 2018

Capital Contribution
Reserve
Profit and Loss Account

1 January
2018 (as

previously Adjust for 1 January
reported) 2012 LTIP (a) 2018 Restated

£000s £000's £000's
4,941 {968) 3,973
58,349 968 59,317

Gist Limited (Registered No: 00502669}
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GIST LIMITED
MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

24, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The company is, in the ordinary course of business, subject to claims and circumstances giving rise to potential claims
from customers. While the outcome of some of these matters cannot readily be forescetl, the directors believe that they
will be disposed of without material effect on the net asset position as shown in these financial statemenats.

23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In accordance with FRS 101 the company is exempt from disclosing transactions with entities that are wholly owned
subsidiarics of an ultimate parent publishing consolidated financial statements, The aggregate value of the transactions
and outstanding balances related to entities that are not swholly owned subsidiarics of an ultimate parent publishing
consolidated financial statements were as follows:

Receivables  Receivables

Sales to Salesto  outstanding  owstanding

2019 2018 restated 2019 2018 restated

£000's £000%s £000's £000's
Linde France 8. A. 47 4 7 -
African Oxygen Limitcd 5 - . -
Linde Tndia Limited - - 15 -
CIGC Corporation 39 16 14 7
Asia Union Electronic Chemical Corporation 172 205 61 [0
P.T. Gresik Gases Indonesia - - - 23
P.1". Gresik Power Indonesia 144 254 - 218
Linde {Thailand) Public Company Limited 370 430 61 132
Linde HyCO Limited 2 4 (6) 1
BOC Papua New Guinea Limited 128 14 107 26

907 927 259 417

26. ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING

The immediate parent of the company is Storeshicld Limited, which is registered in England and Wales. The ultimate
parent undertaking and cantrolling party of the company is Linde ple, which is registered in Ireland at Ten Earlsfort
Terrace, Dublin 2, D02 T380, Iretand. Linde plc is the smallest and largest group to consolidate these financial
statements. Copies of Linde pic's consolidated financial statements can be obtained from that company at its principal
trading address, The Priestley Centre, 10 Pricstley Road, The Surrey Research Park, Guildford, Surrey, GU2 7XY,
England.

Gist Limited {Registered No: 005026689)
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Financial Highlights

Year ended December 31 2019 2018
Collar amounts in millions, except per share data 5 S
Reported

Sales 28,228 14,836
Operating Profit 2,933 5,247
Income from Continuing Operations 2,183 4,273
Giluted Earnings Per Share from Continuing Operations 4.00 12.79
Adjusted Pro Forma’

Sales 28,163 28,084
Operating Profit 5,272 4,796
tncome from Centinuing Operations 4,003 3,433
Diluted £arnings Per Share from Continuing Operations 7.34 6.19
After-Tax Return on Capital® 11.6% 10.3%
Other Information

Cash Flow from Operations 6,119

Capital Expenditures 3,682

2019 Sales

End Markets®

m Manufacturing Electronics
m Chemicals & Energy ¥ Food & Beverage
W Healthcare W Cthers
 Metals
1%

8%‘
9oy

18 %

Business Segments

M Americas M APAC (Asia, Padific)
EEMEA (Eurape, W Linde Engineering
Middle East & Africa) M Global Gther

&%
g

&°

10
21%‘

39%

Distribution Mode’

= Packaged mOn-Site
| Merchant W Other

8%

24%

28%

"Proforma sales and adjusted operating profit and carmings per share are non GAAP measures prepared on a basis consistent with Article 11 and inchude certain nan-GAAP

adjustments. Amounts are reconcaled to reported amounts in the “Non-Gaap Fnancial Measures” Section inttem 7

P After-tax return on caprtal is a non-GAAP measure For defimtion and recanailiation please sce Appendix 1o the Invester Teleconference Presentation Fourth Quarter 2619,

*Totak sales excluding Linde Engineering




Letter to Shareholders

Dear
Shareholders,

As 1 write this fetter, the world is navigating an unprecedented
qlobal health crisis, one that will shape our world for many
months if not years to come. In this challenging time, 1t is more
important than ever to remain vigilant on safequarding the
health and well-being of our employees and communitics while
reliably supplying producls and services to our customers.

Currently, one of Linde's key priorities is the continuous supply
of oxygen and essential medical gases to support hospitals,
doctors, nurses and other medical professionals as they care
for COVID-19 patients. We are increasing the amount of oxygen
produced at our air separation plants and are working very
closely with local healthcare providers to anticipate demand
and adjust deliveries as required. Qur teams around the world
are working tirelessky to install new liquid oxygen tanks and
optimize cylinder filling plants to meet the suiging demand
for vital medical gases. They are helping to increase critical
fespiratory care capadity by setting up emergency sites ang
transitioning palients to in-home care. | could not be prouder
of the resilience and resourcefuiness demonstrated by Linde's
employees in the face of this crisis.




Letter to Shareholders

This determination and commitment has been evident not just
in recent weeks but over the past year, 2019 marked our first
year as a merged company and the team executed beautifully.
Excluding the effects of cusrency, sales and EPS grew 4% and
23 % respectively. ROC, the single most important metric for a
capital-intensive business, rose 130 basis points to 11.6 % and we
closed the year with an industry leading backlog of $10 billion,

With respect to integration - it's largely done. We conducled
our first employee survey and | am pleased with the results.
This is a good indication of how well we integrated two high-
quality companies in a relatively short period of time. we have
implemented strong processes and best practices at every
level of the new organization, making huge strides in building
a productivity-orieated culture. The focus on operational
excellence will help ensure success now and well into the
future. In particular, the angoing expansion of our digital
toois and capabilities is invaluable and will drive continuous
improvement for many years to come.

Predictions on how the current crisis will affect giobal
economies in the long term are difficult to make, but | have
confidence in our ability to outperform given our resilient
business model and productivity opportunities to mitigate
any macroeconomic headwinds. As an example, during the
financial crisis of 2009 we nearly doubled our free cash flow
and continued to increase the annual dividend.

As a high-quality business with a team that knows how

to execule In both good and challenging times, we have
an opportunity to dramatically differentiate tinde in the
months and years ahead. For exainple, our commercial
contract terms and condilions ensure a steady stream of
cash flow irrespective of velumes. Furthermore, our products
are sourced, produced and sold locally, and are therefore
not directly subject to global supply chain or trade risks.
Additionally, our weli-diversified partfelio has a significant
propertion of sales from resilient industries such as healthcare,
food, beverage and electronics. This combination of
contractual revenues, a well-diversified and resilient porttolio
and localized markets enables us to better align our cost
structure with each market reality.

our record backlog of more than $10 bitlion in projects
provides a strong growth loundation for the next several
years. Many of these projects will supply blue chip companies
such as Samsung, TSMC, Sinopec, ExxonMobil, Phillips6a and
BASF and are all supported by long-term contracts Lo protect
expected returns.

02

All of these business traits result in a resilient business modet
supported by a very robust and high-quality balance sheet.
Our track record of expanding free cash flow through the mest
challenging economic cycles has enabted 27 straight years

of annual dividend growth and instills confidence that we'll
continue that trend qoing forward.

Qur mission statement meking our world more productive
includes resource efficiency - making more with less - and
being a good steward of the environment in the places we
five and waork around the world. To that end, we announced
ambitious new climate change goals, including a commitment
to lower our GHG emissions intensily by 35% by 2028, which
marks 10 years from the date of the merger. As the world drives
towards a low carbon future, we anticipate a new wave of
oppertunities from decarbonization, including green hydrogen
for mehifity, hydrogen for renewable fuels, and carbon capture
utilization and sequestration.

When you combine our resilient business model with a record
project backlog, strong balance sheet, growth opportunities
from decarbonization and a successful track record through
many cycles - you can see why ! remain confident in our
ability to deliver outstanding value for stakeholders regardless
of the challenges we face.

Stay safe!

Dl Hop

Chief Executive Officer




Highlights

S LR R E RS B R 8 B T il SRR 0 Y e e et it e S

Singapore -
ExxonMobil Project

Single largest investment ($1.4bn)
for Linde

Linde has signed a long-term agreement with
exxonMobil Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. to support

the latest multi-billion dollar expansion of the
company’s integrated manufacturing complex
in Singapore. With an investment of $1.4 bilhon
. this will be the single fargest sale of gas

i contract in the history of the newly merged
Linde and of its legacy companies,

A .

The project will include building and operating
four additional gasifiers, 3 1,200 metric ton

per day air separation plant, as well as Linde's
proprietary downstieam gas processing units
and sulphur recovery plants. Upon completion,
the nvestment will supply hydrogen, carbon
monoxide and synthesis gas to Exxonmobil and
other customers on Jurong tsland and quadruple
Linde's present capacity.

Linde Participates
in Swiss H, Joint
Venture

10 % stake in Hydrospider AG
acquired

3
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The investment offers the opportunity to shape
one of the most attractive projects for green
hydrogen and emission-free mability in Europe.
Hydrospider will be producing and marketing
green hydrogen from renewable electricity.
tinde will contribute its experience in the
construction and operation of electrolysis plants.

Sustainability -
Dow Jones World
Index

Included for 17 consecutive years

Linde has been included in the Dow Jones
Sustainability World Index in its first year as a
new company. To be listed, the companies
must demonstrate continuous improvement in
a variety of economic, ecological and sacial
criteria. Linde was rated as the third highest
company in the chemical sector.

i
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Investment in
Electrolysis Technology

ITM Linde Electrolysis: Investment
of $50mm in the development of
electrolysis technology as part of
our H, strategy

The transaction provides Linde with a strategic
investment in a world leading manufacturer

of integrated hydrogen energy salutions.

In addition to its investment, Linde has formed a
joint venture {JV} with ITM Power to implement
projects based on T Power's technology.
The |V will open new commerdial opportunities,
create capacity to deliver a higher volume of
projects, shorten lead times, improve execution
and reduce costs.

a3




Linde Leadership

From left to right:

Eduardo Menezes executive Vice President EMEA

Matt White Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

jurgen Nowicki Executive Vice President and CEO Linde Engineering
Steve Angel Chief Executive Officer and Member of the Board of Directors
Anne Roby Executive Vice President

Sanjiv Lamba Executive Vice President APAC

Andreas Opfermann £xecutive Vice President Americas
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Board of Directors

Wolfgang Reitzle

Chairman,
Executive {ommittee
{Chairman)

Clemens Borsig

Audit Cemmittee
{Chairman),
Nommnation and
Governance Commiltee

Franz Fehrenbach

{ompensation Committee,
Nemination and
Governance Committee

Victoria Ossadnik

Audit Committee,
Compensation Committee

Steve Angel

Executive Committee

Nance Dicciani

Audit Commitiee,

Compensation Committee

Edward Galante

Compensation Commitiee
{Chairman),
Audit Commitiee

Martin Richenhagen

Compensaticn Committee,
Nomination and
Governance Committee

For more information about Linde’s corporate governance,
please visit our website at www.linde.com/abeut-linde /torporate-governance

Ann-Kristin Achleitner

Compensation Committee,
Nominatton and
Governance Committee

Thomas Enders

Executive Committee,
Audit Committee

Larry McVay

Audit Committee,
Momination and
Governance (ommitiee

Robert Wood

Nomination and
Governance Committee
(Chairman},

Executive Committee
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Sustainable Development

Best-in-class

safety performance

4x better than U.S. Occupational
Health and Safety Administration
industrial average for lost
workday case rate

Several applications enabled
2X more
GHG emissions

to be avoided
than were emitted in all of the
company’s operations

Building
world’s first

hydrogen station
for fuel cell-powered
passendger trains

MEMBER GF
Dow Jones e
Sustainabhility Indices

In Caltabaration with RobecaSAM @

EXCELLENCE
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Our Mission, Vision and Values

Our Mission

We live our mission of making our world
more productive every day. Through our
high-quality solutions, technologies and
services we are making our customers
more successful and helping to sustain

Qur Vision and protect our planet.

We are committed to fulfilling our
vision to be the best performing global
industrial gases and engineering
company, where our people deliver
innovative and sustainable solutions
for our customers in a connected world.

Our Values
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FORWARD-LOUKING STATEMENTS

This document contains “forward-fooking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-
locking statements are identified by terms and phrases such as: anticipate, believe, intend, estimate, expect, continue, should, could, may, plan, project,
predict, will, potential, forecast, and similar expressions, They are based on management’s reasonable expectations and assumptions as of the date the
statements are made but involve risks and uncertainties. These risks and uncertainties inctude, without limitation; the ability to successfully integrate the
Praxair and Linde AG businesses; regulatory ot other requirements imposed as a result of the husiness combination of Praxair and Linde AG that could
reduce anticipated benefits of the transaction; the risk that Linde plc may be unable to achieve expected synergies or that it may take longer or be more costly
than expected to achieve those synergies; the performance of stock markets generally; developments in worldwide and national economies and other
international events and circumstances, including trade conflicts and tariffs; changes in foreign currencies and in interest rates; the cost and availability of
electric power, natural gas and other raw materials; the ability to achieve price increases to affset cost increases; catasirophic events including natural
disasters, epidemics and acts of war and terrorism; the ability to attract, hire, and retain qualified personnel; the impact of changes in financial accounting
standards; the impact of changes in pension plan liabilities; the impact of tax, environmental, healthcare and other legislation and government regulation in
jurisdictions in which the company operates, including the impact of the 1.5. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017; the cost and cutcomes of investigations,
litigation and regulatory proceedings; the impact of potential unusual or non-recurring items; continued timely development and market acceptance of new
products and applications; the impact of competitive products and pricing; future financial and operating performance of major customers and industries
served; the impact of information technology system failures, network disruptions and breaches in data security; and the effectiveness and speed of
integrating new acquisitions into the business. These risks and uncertainties may cause actual future results or circumstances to differ materially from
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, International Financial Reporting Standards or adjusted projections, estimates or
other forward-looking statements.

Linde plc assumes no obligation to update or provide revisions to any forward-looking statement in response to changing circumstances. The above listed
risks and uncertainties are further described in Item 1A (Risk Factors) in this report, which should be reviewed carefully. Please consider Linde plc’s forward-
looking statements in light of those risks.
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Linde plc and Subsidiaries

PART 1
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

Linde plc is a public limited company formed under the laws of Ireland with its principal offices in the United Kingdom. Linde plc was formed in 2017
in accordance with the requirements of the business combination agreement, dated June 1, 2017, as amended, between Linde plc, Praxair, Inc. ("Praxair”) and
Linde Aktiengeselischaft ("Linde AG"). Effective October 31, 2018, the business combination was completed and Linde pl¢ is comprised of the businesses of
Praxair and Linde AG (hereinafter the combined group will be referred to as “the company” or "Linde"}).

The business combination brought together two leading companies in the global industrial gases industry, leveraging the proven strengths of each.
Linde believes the merger will combine Linde AG’s long-held expertise in technology with Praxair’s efficient operating model, thus creating a global leader.
The company is expected to have strong positions in key geographies and end markets that will create a more diverse and batanced global portfolio.

Linde is the largest industrial gas company worldwide and is a major technological innovator in the industrial gases industry. Lts primary products 1n 1ts
industrial gases business are atmospheric gases (oxygen, nitrogen, argon, and rare gases) and process gases (carbon dioxide, helium, hydrogen, electronic
gases, specialty gases, and acetylene). The company also designs and builds equipment that produces industrial pases primarily for internal use and offers
customers a wide range of gas production and processing services such as clefin plants, natural gas plants, air separatiou plants, hydrogen and synthesis gas
plants and other types of plants.

Linde serves a diverse group of industries including healthcare, petraleum refining, manufacturing, food, beverage carbonation, fiber-optics, steel
making, aerospace, chemicals, elecironics and water treatment.

In 2018, the company, Praxair and Linde AG entered into various agreements with regulatory authorities to satisfy antitrust requirements to secure
approval to consummate the business combination. These agreements required the sale of the majority of Praxair's European industrial gases business
(completed on December 3, 2018), the majority of Linde AG's Americas industrial gases business (completed on March 1, 2019), select assets of Linde AG's
South Korea industrial gases business {completed April 30, 2019), select assets of Praxair's Indian industrial gases business (completed July 12, 2019), select
assets of Linde AG’s Indian industrial gases business (completed December 16, 2019) as well as certain divestitures of other Praxair and Linde AG businesses
in Asia that are expected to be sold in 2020. As of December 31, 2018 and until the completion of the majority of such divestitures, Linde AG and Praxair
were abligated to operate their businesses globally as separate and independent companies, and not coordinate any of their commercial operations. The U.S.
Federal Trade Commission's (“FTC”) hold separate order (*HS0O”)} restrictions were lifted March 1, 2019, concuirent with the sale of the required merger-
related divestitures in the United States. See Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information relating to divestitures.

Praxair was determined to be the accounting acquirer in the business cembination. Accordingly, the historical financial statements of Praxair for the
periods prior to the business combination are considered to be the historical financial statements of the company. The resuits of Linde AG are included in
Linde's consolidated results from the date of the completion of the business combination forward. During 2018, the company reported its continuing
operations in six reporting segments under which it managed its opetations, assessed performance, and reported earings: North America, South America,
Asia, Europe, Surface Technologies and Linde AG. Effective with the lifting of the hold separate order en March 1, 2019, new operating segments were
established. Linde’s industrial gases operations are managed on a geographic basis, which represents three of the company's new reportable segments -
Americas, EMEA (Furope/Middle East/Africa), and APAC (Asia/South Pacific); a fourth reportable segment which represents the contpany’s Engineering
business, designs and manufactures equipment for air separation and other industrial gas applications specifically for end customers and is managed on a
worldwide basis operating in all geographic segments. Other consists of corporate costs and a few smaller businesses, which individually do not meet the
quantitative thresholds for separate presentation.

Linde’s sales were $28,228 million, $14,836 million, and $11,358 million for 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. Refer to Item 7, Management's
Discussion and Analysis, for a discussion of consolidated sales and Nate 20 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information related to
Linde's reportable segments.

Industrial Gases Products and Manufacturing Processes

Atmospheric gases are the highest volume products produced by Linde. Using air as its raw material, Linde produces oxygen, nitregen and argen
through several air separation processes of which cryogenic air separation is the most prevalent. Rare gases, such as krypton, neon and xenon, are also
produced through cryogenic air separaticn. As a pioneer
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in the industrial gases industry, Linde is a leader in developing a wide range of proprietary and patented applications and supply systems technology. Linde
also led the development and commercialization of non-cryogenic air separation technologies for the production of industrial gases. These technologies open
important new markets and optimize production capacity for the company by lowering the cost of supplying industiat gases. These technologies include
proprietary vacuum pressure swing adsorption (“VPSA”) and membrane separation to produce gaseous oxygen and nitrogen, respectively.

Process gases, including carbon diexide, hydrogen, carbon monoxide, helium, specialty gases and acetylene are produced by methods other than air
separation. Most carbon dioxide is purchased from by-product sources, including chemical plants, refineries and industrial processes or is recovered from
carbon dioxide wells. Carbon dioxide is processed in Linde’s plants to preduce commercial and food-grade carben dioxide. Hydrogen and carbon monexide
can be produced by either steam methane reforming or aute-thermal reforming of natural gas or other feed streams such as naphtha. Hydrogen is also
produced by purifying by-product sources obtained from the chemical and petrochemical industries. Acetylene is primarily sourced as a chemical by-product,
but may also be produced from calcium carbide and water.

Industrial Gases Distribution

There are three basic distribution methods for industrial gases: (i) on-site or tonnage; (ii) merchant or bulk liquid; and (i) packaged or cylinder gases.
These distribution methods are often integrated, with products from all three supply modes coming from the same plant. The method of supply is generally
determined by the lowest cost means of meeting the customer’s needs, depending upon factors such as volume requirements, purity, pattern of usage, and the
form in which the product is used (as a gas or as a cryogenic liquid).

On-site. Customers that require the largest volumes of product (typically oxygen, nitrogen and hydregen) and that have a relatively constant demand
pattern are supplied by cryogenic and process gas on-site plants. Linde constructs plants on or adjacent to these customers’ sites and supplies the product
directiy to customers by pipeline. On-site product supply contracts generally are total requirement contracts with terms typicatly ranging from 10-20 vears
and containing minimum purchase requirements and price escalation provisions. Many of the cryogenic on-site plants also produce liguid producis for the
merchant market. Therefore, plants are typically not dedicated to a single customer. Advanced air separation processes allow on-site delivery to customers
with smalier volume requirements. Customers using these systerns usually enter into requirement contracts with terms typically ranging fram ten ta twenty
years.

Merchant. The merchant business is generally associated with distributable liquid oxygen, nitrogen, argon, carbon diexide, hydrogen and helium. The
deliveries generally are made from Linde’s plants by tanker trucks Lo storage containers at the customer's site which are cwned and maintained by Linde and
leased to the customer. Due to distribution cost, merchant oxygen and nitragen generally have a relatively smatl distribution radius from the plants at which
they are produced. Merchant argon, hydrogen and helium can be shipped much longer distances. The customer agreements used in the merchant business are
usually three to seven-year requirement contracts.

Packaged Gases. Customers requiring small volumes are supplied products in metal containers called cylinders, under mediom te high pressure.
Packaged gases include atmospheric gases, carbon dioxide, hydrogen, helium, acetylene and refated preducts. Linde also produces and distributes in cylinders
a wide range of specialty gases and mixtures. Cylinders may be delivered 10 the customer’s site or picked up by the customer at a packaging facility or retail
store, Packaged gases are generally sold under one to three-year supply contracts and through purchase orders.

A substantial amount of the ¢ylinder gases sotd in the United States are distributed by independent distributors that buy merchant gases in liquid form
and repackage the products in their facilities. Packaged gas distributors, inctuding Linde, also distribute hardgeods and welding equipment purchased from
independent manufacturers. Over time, Linde has acquired a number of independent industrial gases and welding products distributors at various locations in
the United States and continues to sell merchant gases to other independent distributors. Between its own distribution business, joint ventures and sales to
independent distributors, Linde is represented in 48 states, the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico.

Engineering

Linde’s Engineering business has a global presence, with its focus on market segments such as olefin, natural gas, air separation, hydrogen and synthesis
gas plants. The company utilizes its own extensive process engineering know-how in the planning, project development and construction ot turnkey industrial
plants and associated services. Linde plants are used in a wide variety of fields: in the petrochemical and chemical industries, in refineries and fertilizer plants,
1o recover air gases, to produce hydrogen and synthesis gases, to treat natural gas and to produce noble gases. The Engineering business either supplies plant
components and services directly to the customer or to the industrial gas business of Linde which operates the plants on behalf of the customer under a long-
termn gases supply contract.
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Inventories - Linde carries inventories of merchant and cylinder gases, hardgoods and coatings materials to supply products 1o its customers on & reasonable
delivery schedule. On-site plants and pipeline cemplexes have limited inventory. Inventory obsclescence is not material to Linde’s business.

Customers — Linde is not dependent upen a single customer or a few customers.

International — Linde is 2 glabal enterprise with approximately 70% of its 2019 sales outside of the United States. The company also has majority or wholly
owned subsidiaries that operate in approximately 45 European, Middle Eastern and African countries {including Germany, France, Sweden, the Republic of
South Africa, and the United Kingdom); approximately 20 Asiap and South Pacific countries (including China, Taiwan, India and Australia); and
approximately 20 countries in North and South America (including Canada, Mexico and Brazil).

The company also has equily method investments operating in Europe, Asia, Africa, the Middle East, and North America.

Linde’s international business is subject to risks customarily ¢ncountered in foreign operations, including Auctuations in foreign currency exchange rates,
import and export controls, and other economic, political and regulatory policies of local govemments. Also, see [tem LA. “Risk Factors” and Item 7A.
“Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.”

Seasonality — Linde’s business is generally not subject to seasonal fluctuations to any significant extent,

Research and Development — Linde’s research and development is directed toward development of gas processing, separation and liquefaction techrologies,
improving distribution of industrial gases and the development of new markets and applications for these gases. This results in the development of new
advanced air separation, hydrogen, synthesis gas, natural gas, adsorption and chemical process technologies as well as the frequent introduction of new
industrial gas applications. Research and development is primarily conducted at Pullach, Germany, Tonawanda, New York, Busr Ridge, Illinois and Shanghai,
China.

Patents and Trademarks — Linde owns or licenses a large number of patents that relate to a wide variety of products and processes. Linde's patents expire at
varions times over the next 20 years. While these patents and licenses are considered important 1o its individual businesses, Linde does not cansider its
business as a whole to be materially dependent upon any one particular patent, or patent license, or family of patents. Linde also owns a large number of
trademarks, of which the "Linde” trademark is the most significant.

Raw Materials and Energy Costs — Energy is the single largest cost item in the production and distribution of industrial gases. Most of Linde’s energy
requirements are in the form of electricity, natural gas and diesel fuel for disuibution. The company mitigates electricity, natural gas, and hydrecarbon price
fluctnations contractually through pricing formulas, surcharges, and cost pass—through and tolling arrangements.

The supply of energy has not been a significant issue in the geographic areas where the company conducts business. However, energy availability and price is
unpredictable and may pese unforeseen future risks. k

For carbon dioxide, carbon monexide, helium, hydrogen, specialty gases and surface technologies, raw materials are largely purchased from outside sources.
Linde has contracts or commitments for, or readily available sources of, most of these raw materials; however, their long-tenn availability and prices are
subject to market conditions.

Competition — Linde participates in highly competitive markets in the indusmial gases, engineering and healthcare businesses, which are characterized by a
mixture of local, regional and global players, all of which exert competitive pressure on the parties. In locations where Linde has pipeline networks, which
enable the company to provide reliable and economic supply of products to larger customers, Linde derives a competitive advantage.

Competitors in the industrial and medical gases industry include global and regional companies such as L*Air Liquide S.A., Air Products and Chemicals, Inc.,
Messer Group GmbH, Mitsubishi Chemical Holdings Corporation (threugh Talyo Nippon Sanso Corporation) as well as an extensive number of small to
medium size independent industrial gas companies which compete locally as producers ar distributors. Tn addition, a significant portion of the international
gases market relates to customer-owned plants.

Employees and Labor Relations — As of December 31, 2019, Linde had 79,886 employees worldwide. Linde has collective bargaining agreements with
unions at numerous locations throughout the world, which expire at various dates. Linde considers relations with its employees to be satisfactory.

Environment — Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section captioned “Management’s Discussion and Analysis —
Environmental Matters” in Irem 7 of this 10-K. I
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Available Information — The company makes its periodic and current reports available, free of charge, on or through its website, www.linde.com, as soon as
practicable after such material is electranically filed with, or furnished ta, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). Investors may also access from
the company website other investor informaticn such as press releases and presentations. Information on the company’s website is not incorporated by
reference herein. In additien, the public may read and copy any materials filed with the SEC free of charge at the SEC’s website, www.sec.gov, that contains
reports, proxy information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically.

Executive Officers — The following Executive QOfficers have been elected by the Board of Directors and serve at the pleasure of the Board. It is expected that
the Board will elect officers annually following each annual meeting of shareholders,

Stephen F. Angel, 64, is Chief Executive Officer of Linde. Prior to that, Mr. Angel was Chairman, President and CEO of Praxair, Inc. since 2007. Angel
joined Praxair in 2001 as an executive vice president and was named president and chief operating officer in Febroary 2006. Prior to joining Praxair, Angel
spent 22 years in a variety of management positions with General Electric. Angel serves on the board of directors of PPG Industries and the 1.5.-China
Business Council and is a member of The Business Council. Angel received a bachelor of science degree in civil engineering from North Carelina State
University and an MBA from Loyola College in Baltimore.

Dr. Christian Bruch, age 43, became an executive officer and a member of the Management Committee of Linde in connection with the business combination
in October 2018. He is also the Head of Engineering tor Linde and is a member of the Executive Board of Linde AG. Dr. Bruch joined The Linde Group's
Gases Division in 2004 as a Business Development Manager for Airgases. In 2006 he became the Head of Tonnage Business Development for air separation
projects in Europe, the Middle East and Africa. In 2009 he transferred to the Engineering Division, where he was responsible for the product line Air
Separation Plants, In 2013 he was appointed a member of the Board of Directors at the Engineering Division, a position he held until becoming a member of
the Executive Board of Linde AG at the beginning of 2015 responsible for the Linde Engineering Division and the Corporate & Support Function Technology
& Innovation. Prior to joining The Linde Group, Dr. Bruch worked for the Swiss Institute of Technology in Ziirich and for the RWE Group in Fssen,
Germany.

Kelcey E. Hoyt, age 50, became the Chief Accounting Officer of Linde in connection with the business combination in October 2018, Prior to this, she served
as Vice President and Controller of Praxair, Inc. effective August 1, 2016. Prior to becoming Controller, she served as Praxair’s Director of Investor Relations
since 2010. She joined Praxair in 2002 and served as Director of Carporate Accounting and SEC Reporting through 2008, and later served as Centroller for
various divisions within Praxair’s North American Industrial Gas business. Previvusly, she had five years of experience in audit at KPMG, LLP.

Sanjiv 1.amba age 55, hecame an executive officer and a member of the Management Committee of Linde in connection with the business combination in
October 2018. He is the Head of APAC. Mr. Lamba was appointed a Member of the Executive Board of Linde AG in 2011, responsible tor the Asia, Pacific
segment of the Gases Division, for Global Gases Businesses Heltum & Rare Gases, Electronics as well as Asia Joint Venture Management. Mr. Lamba started
his career 1989 with BOC India in Finance where he progressed o become Director of Finance. He was appointed Managing Director for BOC’s India’s
business in 2001, Throughout his vears with BOC/Linde, he has worked in a number of geographies including Germany, the UK, Singapore and India where
he has held numerous roles across the organizdtion.

Eduardo F. Menezes, age 56, became an executive officer and a member of the Management Committee of Linde in connection with the business combination
in Octeber 2018, He is the Head of EMEA. Mr. Menezes previously served as Executive Vice President of Praxair, Inc. since 2012, responsible for Praxair
Eurape, Praxair Mexico, Praxair South America and Praxair Asia. From 2010 to March 2011, he was a Vice President of Praxair with responsibility for the
North American Industrial Gases business and was named senior vice president in 2011, From 2007 to 2010, he was President of Praxair Europe. He served
as Managing Director of Praxair’s business in Mexico from 2004 to 2007, as Vice President and General Manager for Praxair Distribution, Inc. from 2003 to
2004 and as Vice President, U.S. West Region, for North American Industrial Gases, from 2000 to 2003.

Dr. Andreas Opfermann, 48, became Executive Vice President of Americas and a member of the Management Committee of Linde in November 2019. Prior
to this, fram 2016-2019, he was the regional business unit leader for Linde’s North European region. Dr. Opfermann joined Linde in 2005 initially in
Corporate Strategy. He has subsequently served as Head of Innovation Management from 2008 to 2010, Head of Clean Energy and Innovation Management
from 20110 to 2014, and Head of Technology and Innovation from 2015 to 2016, responsible for all Linde research and development, Before joining Linde, he
held positions at McKinsey & Company.
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Anne K. Roby, age 55, became an executive officer and a member of the Management Committee of Linde in connection with the business combination in
October 2018. She is the Head of Global Functions, Prior to this, Dr. Roby served as Senior Vice President of Praxair, Inc. since January 1, 2014, responsible
for Globhal Supply Systems, R&D, Global Market Development, Global Operations Excellence, Global Sirategic Sales, Global Procurement, Sustainability
and Safety, Health and Environment. From 2011to 2013, she served as President of Praxair Asia, responsible for Praxair’s industrial gases business in China,
India, Scuth Korea and Thailand as well as the electronics market globally. In 2010, Dr. Reby became President of Praxair Electronics, after having served as
Vice President, Global Sales, for Praxair from 2009 to 2010, Prior to this, she was Vice President of the Praxzair U.S. South Regicn from 2006 to 2009. Dr.
Roby joined Praxair in 1991 as a development associate in the company’s R&D organization and was promoted to other positions of increasing responsibility.

Maitt J. White, age 47, became an executive officer and a member of the Management Committee of Linde in connection with the business combination in
October 2018. He is the Chief Financial Officer for Linde. He previously served as the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Praxair, Inc. since
January 1, 2014, Priar to this, Mr. White was President of Praxair Canada from 2011-2014. He joined Praxair in 2004 as finance director for the company’s
largest business unit, North American Industrial Gases. In 2008, he became Vice President and Controller of Praxair, Inc., then was named Vice President and
Treasurer in 2010, Before joining Praxair, White was vice presidens, finance, at Fisher Scientific and before that he held various financial positions, induding
graup controller, at GenTek, a manufacturing and performance chemicals company.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Due to the size and geographic reach of the company’s operations, a wide range of factors, many of which are outside of the company’s centrol,
could materially affect the company’s future operaticns and financial performance. Management believes the following risks may significantly impact the
company:

The company may fail to reolize the anticipated strategic and financial benefits sought from the business combination.

The company may not realize all of the anticipated benefits of the business combination between Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG, which was completed
on October 31, 2018. The success of the business combination will depend on, ameng other things, the company’s ability to combine Praxair, Inc.’s and Linde
AG’s businesses in a manner thar facilitates growth and realizes the anticipated annual synergies and cost reductions without adversely affecting current
revenues and investments in future growth, The actual integration will continue to involve complex operational, technologicat and personnel-related
challenges. Difficulties in the integration of the businesses, which may result in significant costs and delays, include:

*  managing a significantly larger combined group;

» aligning and executing the strategy of the company;

»  integrating and unifying the offerings and services available to customers and coordinating distributon and marketing efforts in geographically
separate organizations,

+  coordinating corporate and administrative infrastructures and aligning insurance coverage;

+  coordinating accounting, reporting, information technolegy, communications, administration and other systems;

+  addressing possible differences in corporate cultures and management philosophies;

+  the company being subject te Irish laws and regulations and legal action in Ireland;

»  coordinating the compliance program and untform financial reporting, information technology and cther standards, controls, procedures and
policies;

» the implementation, ultimate impact and outcome of post-completion reorganization transactions, which may be delayed;

» unforeseen and unexpected liabilities related to the business combination or the combined businesses;

*  managing tax costs or inefficiencies associated with integrating operations;

+  identifying and eliminating redundant and underperforming functions and assets; and

+  effecting actions that may be required in connecticn with obtaining regulatory approvals.

These and other factors could result in increased costs and diversion of management’s time and energy, as well as decreases in the amount of
expected revenue and earnings. The integraticn process and other disruptions resulting from the business combination may also adversely affect the
company’s relationships with employees, suppliers, custemers, distributors, licensors and others with whom Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG have business or
other dealings, and difficulties in integrating the businesses could harm the reputation of the company.

If the company is not able to successfully integrate the businesses of Praxair, Inc, and Linde AG in an efficient, cost-effective and timely manner, the
anticipated benefits and cost savings of the business combination may not be realized fully, or at all, or may take longer to realize than expected.

Weakening economic conditions in markets in which Linde does business may adversely impact its financial results and/or cash flows.

Linde serves a diverse group of industries across more than 100 countries, which generally leads to financial stability through various business
cycles. Hawever, a hroad decline in general economic or business conditions in the industries served by its customers could adversely affect the demand for
Linde’s products and impair the ability of its custemners to satisfy their obligations to Linde, resulting in uncollected receivables and/or unanticipated contract
terminations or project delays. For example, global political and economic uncertainty could reduce investment activities of Linde’s customers, which could
adversely affect Linde’s business.

In addition, many of Linde’s customers are in businesses that are cydlical in nature, such as the chemicals, electronics, metals and energy industries.
Downturns in these industries may adversely impact Linde during these cycles. Additionally, such conditions could impact the utilization of Linde’s
manufacturing capacity which may require it to
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recognize impairment losses on tangible assets such as property, plant and equipment, as well as intangible assets such as goedwill, customer relationships or
intellectual property.

Increases in the cost of energy and raw materials and/or disruption in the supply of these materials could result in lost sales or reduced profitability.

Energy is the single largest cost item in the production and distribution of industrial gases. Most of Linde’s energy requirements are in the form of
electricity, natural gas and diesel fuel for distribution. Linde attempts to minimize the financial impact of variability in these costs through the management of
customer contracts and reducing demand through operaticnal productivity and energy efficiency. Large customer contracts typically have escalation and pass-
through clauses to recover energy and feedstock costs. Such attempts may not successfully mitigate cost variability, which could negatively impact Linde’s
financial condition or results of operations. The supply of energy has not been a significant issue in the geographic areas where Linde conducts business.
However, regional energy conditions are unpredictable and may pose future risk.

For carbon dioxide, carbon monoxide, helium, hydrogen, specialty gases and surface technologies, raw materials are largely purchased from outside
sources. Where feasible, Linde scurces several of these raw materiats, including carbon dioxide, hydrogen and calcium carbide, as chemical or industrial
bypreducts. In addition, Linde has contracts or commitments for, or readily available sources of, most of these raw materials; however, their long-term
availability and prices are subject to market conditions. A distuption in supply of such raw materials could impact Linde’s ability to meet contractual supply
commitments,

Linde’s international operdations are subject io the risks of doing business abroad and international events and circumstances may adversely impact its
business, financial condition or results of operations.

Linde has substantial international operations which are subject to risks including devaluations in currency exchange rates, transportation delays and
interruptions, political and economic instability and disruptions, restricons on the transfer of funds, rade conflicts and the imposition of duties and tariffs,
import and export controls, changes in gnvernmental policies, lahor unrest, possible nationalization and/or expropriation of assets, domestic and international
tax laws and compliance with governmental regulations. These events could have an adverse effect on the international operations of Linde in the future by
reducing the demand for its products, decreasing the prices at which it can sell its products, reducing the revenue from international operations or otherwise
having an adverse effect on its business. For example, Linde has a meaningful presence in the U.K. and the U.K.’s ongoing exit process from the EU has
continued 1o cause, and may in the future cause, political and economic uncertainty, which could have an adverse impact on the markets which Linde
supplies.

Currency exchange rate fluctuations and other reloted risks may adversely affect Linde’s resulls,

Because a significant portion of Linde’s revenue is denominated in currencies other than its reporting currency, the U.S. dollar, changes in exchange
rates will produce fluctuations in revenue, costs and earnings and may also affect the book value of assets and liabilities and related equity. Although the
company from time to time utilizes foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge these exposures, its efforts to minimize currency exposure through such
hedging transactions may not be successful depending on market and business conditions. As a result, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could
adversely affect Linde’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Macroeconomic factors may impact Linde’s ability to obtain financing or increase the cost of obtaining financing which may adversely impact Linde’s
financial resulis and/or cash flows,

Volatility and disruption in the U.S., Eurapean and global credit and equity markets, from time to time, could make it mare difficult for Linde to
obtain financing for its operations and/or could increase the cost of obtaining financing. In addition, Linde’s borrowing costs can be affected by short- and
kang-term debt ratings assigned by independent rating agencies which are based, in significant part, on its performance as measured by certain criteria such as
interest coverage and leverage ratios. A decrease in these debt ratings could wcrease the cost of borrowing or make it more difficult 10 obtain financing,.
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An impairment of goodwill or intangible assets could negatively impact the company’s financial results.

As of December 31, 2019, the net carrying value of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets was $27 billion and $2 billion, respectively,
primarily as a result of the business combination and the related acquisition method of accounting applied to Linde AG. In accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, the company periodically assesses these assets to determine if they are impaired. Significant negative industry or economic
trends, disruptions to business, unexpected significant changes or planned changes in use of the assets, divestitures and sustained market capitalization
declines may result in recognition of impairments to goodwill or other indefinite-lived assets. Any charges relating to such impairments could have a material
adverse impact on Linde's resulss of operations in the perinds recognized.

Catastrophic events could disrupt the operations of Linde and/or its customers and suppliers and may have a significant adverse impact on the results of
operations.

The eccurrence of catastrophic events or natural disasters such as extreme weather, including hurricanes and floods; health epidemics; and acts of
war or terrorism, could disrupt or delay Linde’s ability to produce and distribute its products to customers and could potentially expose Linde to third-party
liability claims. In addition, such events could impact Linde’s customers and suppliers resulting in temporary or long-term outages and/or the limitation of
supply of energy and other raw materials used in normal business operations. Linde evaluates the direct and indirect business risks, consults with vendors,
insurance providers and indusiry experts, makes investments in suitably resilient design and technology, and conducts regular reviews of the business risks
with management. Despite these steps, however, these situations are ouiside Linde’s control and may have a significant adverse impact on its fimancial results.

The inability to attract and retain qualified personnel may adversely impact Linde’s business.

If Linde fails to attract, hire and retain qualified personnel, it may not be able to develop, market or sell its products or successfully manage its
business, Linde is dependent upon a highly skilled, experienced and efficient workforce to be successful. Much of Linde’s competitive advantage is based on
the expertise and experience nf key persannel regarding marketing, technology, manufacturing and distribution infrastructure, systems and products. The
inability to attract and hire qualified individuals or the loss of key employees in very skilled areas ceuld have a negative effect on Linde’s financial results.

If Linde fails to keep pace with technological advances in the industry or if new technology initiatives do not become commercially accepted, customers
may not continue to buy Linde’s products and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Linde’s research and development is directed toward developing new and improved methods for the production and distribution of industrial gases,
the design and construction of plants and toward developing new markets and applicaticns for the use of industrial and process gases. This results in the
introduction of new applications and the development of new advanced air separation process technologies. As a result ef these efforts, Linde develops new
and proprietary technologies and employs necessary measures to protect such technologies within the global geographies in which Linde operates. These
technologies help Linde to create a competitive advantage and to provide a platform to grow its business. If Linde’s research and development activities do
not keep pace with competitors or if Linde does not create new technologies that benefit customers, future results of pperations could be adversely affected.

Risks related to pension benefit plans may adversely impact Linde’s resuits of operations and cash flows.

Pension benefits represent significant financial obligations that will be ultimately seitled in the future with empleyees who meet eligibilivy
requirements. Because of the uncertainties invalved in estimating the timing and amount of future payments and asset returns, signiticant estimates are
required to calculate pension expense and liabilities related to Linde’s plans. Linde utilizes the seivices of independent actvaries, whose meodels are used to
facilitate these calculations. Several key assumptions are used in the actuarial models to calculate pension expense and liability amounts recorded in the
consalidated financial statements. In particular, significant changes in actual investment returms on pension assets, discount rates, or legislative or regulatory
changes could impact future results of operations and required pension contributions,

11



Table uf Contents
Operational risks may adversely impact Linde’s business or results of operations.

Linde’s operating results are dependent on the continued operation of its production facilities and its ability to meet customer contract requirements
and other needs. Insufficient or excess capacity threatens Linde’s ability to generate competitive profit margins and may expose Linde to liabilities related to
contract commitments. Operating results are alse dependent on Linde’s ability 10 complete new consiruction projects on time, on budget and in accordance
with performance requirements. Failure to do so may expose Linde’s business to loss of revenue, potential litigation and loss of business reputation.

Also inherent in the management of Linde’s production facilities and delivery systems, including storage, vehicle transportation and pipelines, are
operational risks that require continuous training, oversight and control, Material operating failures at production, storage facilities or pipelines, including fire,
toxic release and explosions, or the occurrence of vehicle wansportation accidents could result in loss of life, damage to the environment, loss of production
and/or extensive property damage, all of which may negatively impact Linde’s financial results.

Linde may be subject to information rechnology system failures, network disruptions and breaches in dota securigy.

Linde relies on information technology systems and networks for business and operational activities, and also stores and processes sensitive business
and proprietary information in these systems and networks. These systems are susceptible to outages due o fire, flood, power loss, telecommunications
failures, viruses, break-ins and similar events, or breaches of security.

Linde has taken steps to address these risks and concerns by implementing advanced security technologies, internal controls, network and data center
resiliency and recovery process. Despite these steps, however, operational failures and breaches of security from increasingly sephisticated cyber threats
could Jead 1o the loss or disclosure of confidential information, result in business interruption or malfunction or regulatory actions and have a material adverse
impact on Linde’s operations, reputation and financial results.

The inability o effectively integrate acquisitions or collaborate with joint verture partners could adversely impact Linde’s financial position and results of
operations.

In addition to the business combination, Linde has evaluated and expects to continue to evaluate, a wide array of potential strategic acquisitions and
joint ventures, Many of these ransactions, if consummated, could be material to its financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the process of
integrating an acquired company, business or group of assets may create unforeseen operating difficulties and expendiwres. Although historically Linde has
been successful with its acquisition strategy and execution, the areas where Linde may face risks include:

= the neeq 1o implement ar remediate controls, procedures and policies appropriate for a larger public company at companies that prior te the
acquisition lacked these controls, procedlures and policies;

= diversion of management time and focus from operating existing business te acquisition integration challenges;

= coltural challenges associated with integrating employees from the acquired company inte the existing organization;

- the need to integrate each company’s accounting, management information, hutnan resources and other administrative systems to permit
effective management;

»  difficulty with the assimilation of acquired operations and products;

«  failure to achieve targeted synergies and cost reductions; and

+  inability to retain key employees and business relationships of acquired companies.

Foreign acquisitions and joint ventures involve unigue risks in addition to those mentioned herein, including those related to integration of operations
across different cultures and languages, currency risks and the particular economic, political and regulatory risks associated with specific countries.

Alsg, the anticipated benefit of potential future acquisilions may not materialize. Future acquisitions or dispositions could result in the incurrence of
debt, contingent liabilities or amortization eXpenses, or impairments of goodwill, any of which could adversely impact Linde’s financial results.
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Linde is subject to a variety of international laws and government regulations and changes in, or failure to comply with, these laws or regulations could
have an adverse impact on the company’s business, financial position and results of operations.

Linde is subject to regulations in the following areas, among others:

« environmental protection, including climate change and energy efficiency laws and policies;

+  domestic and international tax laws and currency controls;

- safety;

«  securities laws applicable in the United States, the Furopean Union, Germany, Ireland, and other juisdictions;
«  trade and import/export restrictions, as well as economic sanctions laws;

+  antitrust matters;

+  data protection;

«  global anti-bribery laws, including the U.S. Foreign Carrupt Practices Act; and

+  healthcare regulations.

Changes in these or other regulatory areas, such as evolving envivonmental legislation in China, may impact Linde’s profitability and may give rise
to new or increased compliance risks; it may become more complex and cosily to ensure compliance, and the level of sanctions in the event nf non-
compliance may rise. Such changes may also restrict Linde’s ability to compete effectively in the marketplace. Noncompliance with such laws and regulations
could result in penalties or sanctions, cancellation of marketing rights or restrictions on participation in, or even exclusion from, public tender proceedings, all
of which could have a material adverse impact on Linde’s financial results and/or reputation.

Duing business globally requires Linde to comply with anti-corruption, trade, compliance and economic sanctions and similar laws, and to
implement policies and procedures designed to ensure that its employees and other intermedtaries comply with the applicable restrictions. These restricticns
include prohibitions on the sale or supply of certain products, services and any other economic resources to embargeed or sanctioned countries, governments,
persons and entities. Compliance with these restrictions requires, among other things, screening of busintess partners, Despite its commitment to legal
compliance and corporate ethics, the company cannot ensure that its policies and procedures will always protect it from intentional, reckless or negligent acts
committed by employees or agents under the applicable laws. If Linde fails to comply with laws governing the conduct of international operations, Linde may
be subject to criminal and civil penalties and ather remedial measures, which could materially adversely affect its reputation, business and results of
operations,

The outcome of litigation or governmental investigations may adversely impact the company’s business or results of operations.

Linde’s subsidiaries are party to various lawsuits and governmental investigations arising in the ordinary course of business. Adverse outcomes in
some or all of the claims pending may result in significant monetary damages or injunctive relief that could adversely affect Linde’s ability to conduct
business. Linde and its subsidiaries may in the future become subject to further claims and litigation, which is impossible to predict. The litigation and other
claims Linde faces are subject to inherent uncertainties. Legal or regulatory judgments or agreed settlements might give rise to expenses which are not
covered, or are not fully covered, by insurance benefits and may also lead to negative publicity and reputational damage. An unfavorable outcome ar
determination could cause a material adverse impact on the company’s resulis of cperations.

Potential product defects or inadequate customer care may adversely impact Linde’s business or results of operations.

Risks associated with products and services may result in potential liability claims, the loss of customers or damage to Linde’s reputation, Principal
possible causes of risks associated with products and services are product defects or an inadequate level of customer care when Linde is providing services.

Linde is exposed to legal risks relating to product liability in the countries where it operates, including countries such as the United States, where
legal risks (in particular through class actions) have historically been more significant than in other countries. The outcome of any pending or future products
and services proceedings or investigations cannot be predicted and legal or regulatory judgments or agreed settlements may give rise to significant losses,
costs and expenses.

The manufacturing and sale of products as well as the construction of plants by Linde may give rise to risks associated with the production, filling,
storage. handling and transport of raw materials, goods or waste. Industrial gases are
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potentially hazardous substances and medical gases and the related healthcare services must comply with the relevant specifications in order to not adversely
affect the health of patients treated with them.

Linde’s products and services, if defective or not handled or performed appropriately, may lead to personal injuries, business interruptions,
environmental damages or other significant damages, which may result, among other conseguences, in liability, losses, monetary penalties or compensation
payments, environmental clean-up costs or ather costs and expenses, exclusion from certain market sectors deemed important for future development of the
business and loss of reputation. All these consequences could have a material adverse effect on Linde’s business and results of operations.

U.S. civil lighilities may not be enforceable against Linde.

Linde is organized under the laws of Ireland and substantial portions of its assets will be Jocated outside of the United States. In addition, certain
directors and officers of Linde and its subsidiaries reside cutside the United States. As a result, it may be difficalt for investars to effect service of process
within the United States upon Linde or such persons, or to enfarce outside the United States judgments obtained against such persons in U.S. courts in any
action, including actiens predicated upen the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws. In addition, it may be difficult for investors to
enforce, in original actions brought in courts in jurisdictions located cutside the United States, rights predicated upon the U.5. federal securities laws.

A judgment for the payment of money rendered by & court in the United States based on civil liability would not be antomatically enforceable in
Ireland. There is no treaty between Ireland and the United States providing for the reciprocal enforcement of foreign judgments. The following requirements
must be met before the foreign judgment will be deemed to be enforceable in Ireland (i) the judgment must be for a definite sum, (i) the judgment must be
final and conclusive; and (iii) the judgment must be provided by a court of competent jurisdiction.

An Irish court will also exercise its right to refuse judgment if the foreign judgment (i) was obtained by fraud; (it} violated Irisk public policy; (iii} is
in breach of natural justice; or (iv) if the judgment is irreconcilable with an earlier foreign judgment.

In addition, there is doubt as to whether an Trish court would accept jurisdiction and impoese civil liability on Linde or such persons in an ariginal
action predicated solely upon the U.S. federal securities laws brought in a court of competeat jurisdiction in Ireland against Linde or such member, officer or
expert, respectively.

Chuanges in wax faws or pelicy could adversely impact the company’s financial position or results of operations.

Linde and its subsidiaries are subject to the tax rules and regulations in the U.S., Germany, Ireland, the U.K. and other countries in which they
operate, Those 1ax rules and regnlations are subject 1o change on a prespective or retroactive basis. Under current economic and political conditions, including
the U.K.’s ongoing exit process from the EU, tax rates and policies in any jurisdiction, including the U.S., the UK. and the EU, are subject to significant
change. In particular, since Linde is currently treated as U.K. tax resident, any potential changes in the tax rules applying to U.K. tax-resident companies
would directly affect Linde.

A change in Linde’s tax residency could have a negative effect on the company’s future profitability and may trigger taxes on dividends or exit
charges. If Linde ceases to be tesident in the United Kingdom and becormes resident in another jurisdiction, it may be subject to United Kingdom exit charges,
and/or could become liable for additional tax charges in the other jurisdiction. If Linde were to be treated as resident in more than one jurisdiction, it could be
subject to duplicative taxation. Furthermore, although Tinde is incorporated in Ireland and is not expected to be treated as a domestic corporation for U.S.
federal income tax purposes, it is possible that the 1RS could disagree with this result or that changes in U.S. federal income tax law could alter this result. If
the IRS successfully asserted such a position or the law were ts change, significant adverse tax conseguences may result for Linde, the company and Linde's
sharehalders.

When tax rules change, this may result in a higher tax expense and the need to make higher 1ax payments. In addition, changes in tax legislation may
have a significant impact on Linde’s and its subsidiaries’ tax receivables and tax lizbilities as well as on their deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
and uncertainty about the tax environment in some regions may restrict their opportunities to enforce their respective rights under the law. Linde also operates
in countries with complex tax regulations which could be interpreted in different ways. Interpretations of these regulations or changes in the tax systerm might |
have an adveise impact on the tax labilities, profitability and business operations of
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Linde. Linde and its subsidiaries are subject to periodic audits by the tax anthorities in various jurisdictions or other review actions by the relevant financial or

tax authorities. The ultimate tax outcome may differ from the amounts recorded in Linde’s or its subsidiaries® financial statements and may materially affect
their respective financial results for the pericd when such determination is made.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Linde has received no written SEC staff comments regarding any of its Exchange Act reparts which remain unresolved.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Linde plc's principal executive offices are Jocated in owned office space in Guildford, United Kingdom. Linde alse owns principal administrative office
space in Danbury, Connecticut and Houston, Texas, United States; Pullach, Germany; and Singapare.

Due to the nature of Linde’s industrial gas products, it is generally uneconomical to transport them distances greater than a few hundred miles from the
production facility. As a result, Linde operates a significant number of production facilities spread globally througheut a number of geographic regions.

The following is a description of production facilities for Linde by segment. No significant portion of these assets was leased at December 31, 2015.
Generally, these facilities are fully utilized and are sufficient 1o meet the company's manufacturing reeds.

Americas

The Americas segment operates production facilities primarily in the 11.S., Canada, Mexico and Brazil, approximately 350 of which are mainly
cryogenic air separation plants, hydrogen plants and carban dioxide plants. There are five major pipeline complexes in North America located in northern
Indiana, Houston, along the Gulf Coast of Texas, Detroit and Louisiana. Many of the South American plants support one pipeline complex in Southern Brazil.
Alsa located throughaut the Americas are nencryogenic air separation plants, packaged gas facilities and other smaller plant facilities.

EMEA

The EMEA segment has production facilities primarily in Italy, Spain, Germany, the Benelux region, the United Kingdom, Scandinavia and Russia
which inciude approximately 230 cryogenic air separation piants and carbon dioxide plants. Also located throughout Europe are noncryogenic air separation
plants, packaged gas facilities and other smailer plant facilities.

APAC

The APAC segment has production facilities [ocated primarily in China, Korea, [ndia and Thailand, approximately 230 of which are cryogenic air
separation plants and carben dioxide plants. Also Yocated throughout Asia are noncryogenic air separation plants, hydrogen, packaged gas and other
production facilities.

Engineering

The Linde Engineering business designs and censtructs turnkey process plants for third-party customers as well as for the Linde gases husinesses in
many locations worldwide, such as olefin plants, natural gas plants, air separation plants, hydrogen and synthesis gas plants. Plant components are produced
in owned factories in Pullach and Tacherting, Germany; Hesinque, France; Oklahoma, United States; and Dalian, China.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Information required by this item is incerporated herein by reference to the section captioned “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — 19.
Commitments and Contingencies” in item 8 of this 10-K.

TTEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Nat Applicable
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PART 1T

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES

OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Linde plc shares wade on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE") and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (“FSE”) under the ticker symbol “LIN. At
December 31, 2019 there were 9,322 shareholders of record.

Purchases of Equity Securities — Certain information regarding purchases made by cr on behalf of the company or any affiliated purchaser (as defined
in Rule 10b-18{a)(3) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) of its ardinary shares during the three months ended December 31, 2019 is

provided below:

Period

Octaber 2019
November 2019
Drecember 2019
Fourth Quarter 2019

Total Number of
Total Shares Purchased as Approeximate Dollar
Number of Part of Publicly Value of Shares that
Shares Average Anmmounced May Yet be Purchased
Purchased Price Paid Prgram (1) Under the Program (2)
(Thousands) Per Share (Thousands} (Milfions)
716 % 191.19 716 % " 4,322
1,039 § 205.74 1,039 E A
1,86 3% 207.31 1,896 % 3,715
LS 20370

(1} On January 22, 2019 the company’s board of directors approved the repurchase of $6.0 billion of its ordinary shares ("2019 program") which could
take place from time to time on the open market (and could include the use of 10b5-1 trading plans}), subject to market and business conditions. The
2019 program has a maximum repurchase amount of 15% of outstanding shares and a stated expiration date of February 1, 2021,

(2} As of December 31, 2019, the company repurchased $2.3 billion of its ordinary shares pursuant to the 2019 program, leaving an additional $3.7

hillion authorized.
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Deer Performance Table — The graph below compares the most recent five-year cumulative returns ef the common stock of Praxair, the company’s
predecessor, through October 31, 2018 and Linde’s ordinary shares from Qciober 31, 2018 through December 31, 2019 with those of the Standard & Poor’s
500 Index {"SPX") and the S5 Materials Index ("SSMATR"} which cavers 22 companies, including Linde. The figures assume an initial investment of $100
on December 31, 2014 and that all dividends have been reinvested.

8200 -
$175
$150
2 gz
o]
S100
875 -
S30 T T 1 — =T
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—@&— LIN —— SPX ~~A— SSMATR
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
LIN $100 $79 $90 5119 $120 $164
SPX $100 $99 $109 $130 $122 $157
SSMATR $100 $90 $102 5124 5104 $126
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
(Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

The year ended December 31, 2019 reflects the results of both Praxair and Linde AG far the entire year. The year ended December 31, 2018 reflects the results of Praxair
for the entire year and the resulis of Linde AG for the period beginning after October 31, 2018 (the merger date), including, the impacts of purchase accounting (See Notes 1, 3
and 4 1o the consolidated tinancial statements). The historical periods prior to 2018 retlect the results ot Praxair.

Year Ended December 31, 201%a) 2018¢a) 2017a) 2016{a) 2015(a)
From the Consolidated Statements of Income
Sales $ 8228 S 1486 3 11,358 § 10,469 § 10710
{.ost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization 16,644 9,000 6,382 5,790 5,452
Selling, general and administrative 3,457 1,629 1,207 1,145 1,152
Depreciation and amortizalion 4,675 1,830 1,184 1,122 1106
Research and development 184 113 93 G2 93
Cost reduction programs and other charges 567 09 52 96 163
Net gain on sale of businesses 164 3,294 — — —
Other income (expenses} — net 68 18 4 23 21
Operating profit 2933 5,247 2,444 2,247 2,370
Interest expense — net 38 202 163 190 161
Net peasion and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service cost 32 ) (4] g 49
Incume frum continuing uperations before income taxes and equity
investmenls 2.927 5.049 2,287 2,048 2,160
Income taxes on continuing operations 769 817 1,026 551 612
Income from continuing operations before equity investmenis 2,138 4732 1,261 1,497 1,548
Income from equity investments 114 56 47 41 43
Lncome from continuing operations {including noncontrolling interests) 2,273 4,288 1,308 1,538 1,391
Noncontrolling interests from continuing operations (89} (15} (@) (38) (44}
Income from vontinuing operations 5 2,183 ] 4,273 5 1,247 $ 1.500 S 1,547

Per Share Data — Linde plc Shareholders

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations 35 403§ 1293 % 43 8 525 % 539

Dilizted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 4.00 % 12,79 3 432 % 521 % 5.35

Cash dividends per share $ 3.30 5 330 % 315 % 2.00 < 2.86

‘Weighted Average Shares Outstanding ((00%s) (b)

Basic shares oulstanding 541,094 330.401 286,261 285,677 287,005

Dituted shares outstanding 545,170 334,127 289,114 287,757 269,055

Other Infermation and Ratios

Total assets $ 86,612 § 93,386 $ 20436 § 19332 § 18,319
Total debt 3 13956 % 15296 % 5000 % 9515 % 9,234

Cash flow from operations $ 6,119 5 3,654 5 3041 % 2789 § 2,695

Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities 3 118y % 5,36% $ (L314) % (.77 8 (1,303}
Net cash used for financing activities $ (8997 % (4998 8 (1,656) % (659) §$ (1,310)
Capital expenditures 3 3,682 5 1.883 3 Lan % 1,465 & 1,541

Shares owtstanding (000's) 534,381 547,242 286,777 284,901 284,879

Number of employees 79,886 80.620 26,461 26,498 26,657

(a} Amounts for 2019 include: (i) charges of $567 million for cost reduction programs and other charges primarily related to the merger and synergies, (1i) pension
settlement charges of $97 million related to lump sum henefit payments made from pensicn plans, (iii) a net gain on sale of businesses of $164 million and
(iv} the purchase accounting impacts of the merger of $1,952 million,
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Amounts for 2018 include: (i) charges of $309 million for transaction costs and ather charges primarily related to the merger, (ii) pension settlement charges of $14
million related 10 lump sum benefit payments made from pension plans, (iii) income tax benefit, net of $17 million due 10 U.5. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and other tax
charges, (iv) a net gain on sale of businesses of $3,294 million, {v) bond redemption costs of $26 million, and {vi) the purchase accounting impacts of the merger of
$714 million.

Amounts for 2017 include: (i) charges of $52 million for transaction costs relaled 1w the merger, (i) a pension settlement charge of $2 million related (o lump sum
benefit payments made from an international pension plan, and (iii) income tax charges, net of $394 million due o U.S, Tax Cuts and Jobs Act.

Amounts for 2016 include: (1) & $16 million charge to interest expense related to the redemption of the $325 million 5.20% notes due 2017, {ii) a pre—~tax pension
settlement charge ot $4 million related to lump sum benetit payments made from the U.S. supplemental pension plan, and (iii) pre—ax charges of $96 million
primarily related to cost reduction actions.

Amounts for 2015 include; (i} a pre-tax charge of $165 million related to the cost reduction program and other charges; and {ii) a pre-tax charge of $7 million related
(0 a pension settlement.

See Notes 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 13 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) As a result ot the merger, share amounts tor the year ended Lecember 31, 2018 rellect dig weiphied averaging effect of I'raxair shares outstanding prior to October 31,
2018 and Linde shares cutstanding from October 31, 2018 through December 31, 2018.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of the company’s financial conditinn and results of operations should be 1eaid together wath its consolidated financial
staterneuts and notes to the consclidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
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MERGER OF PRAXAIR, INC. AND LINDE AG

Linde plc (“Linde") is a public limited company formed under the laws of Ireland in 2017 in accordance with the requirements of the business
combination agreement between Praxair, Inc. (“Praxair") and Linde Aktiengesellschaft ("Linde AG"). Ou October 31, 2018 Praxair and Linde AG combined
their respective businesses through an all-stock transaction, and became subsidiaries of Linde plc (collectively referred to as the “business combination” or
“merger”). The business combinaticn of Praxair and Linde AG has been accounted for using the acquisitien method of accounting under the provisions of
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”} Accounting Standards Codification 805, “Business Combinations,” with Praxair representing the accounting
acquirer under this guidance. Accordingly, the historical financial statements of Praxair for the periods prior to the merger are considered to be the historical
financial statements of Linde, The results of Linde AG are included in Linde’s consolidated results from the merger date forward. The Linde shares trade on
the New York Stock Exchange and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “LIN”. See Notes 1 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements
for additional information.

In connection with the business combinatian, the company, Praxair and Linde AG, entered into various agreements with regulatory authorities to satisfy
anti-trast requirements to secure approval to consnmmate the business combination. These agreements required the sale of the majority of Praxair’s European
businesses (completed on December 3, 2018), a significant portion of Linde AG’s Americas business (completed on March 1, 2019), select assets of Linde
AG’s Sauth Korean industrial gases business (completed April 30, 2019), select assets of Praxair's Indian industrial gases business (completed July 12, 2019),
select assets of Linde AG's Indian industrial gases business (completed December 16, 2019) as well as certain divestitures of other Praxair and Linde AG
businesses in Asia that are currently expected to be sold in 2020 (collectively, the “merger-related divestitures”). In the consolidated financial statements
included in Item 8, Praxair’s merger-related divestitures are included in the results of operations until sold and Linde AG’s merger-related divestitures are
accounted for as discontinued operations. See Notes 1, 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 for additional information relating
to merger-related divestitures.

Additicnally, to obtain merger approval in the United States Linde, Praxair and Linde AG entered into an agreement with the U.5. Federal Trade
Commission dated Octaber 1, 2018 (“hold separate order” or “H50). Under the HSO, the company, Praxair and Linde AG agreed to continue to operate
Linde AG and Praxair as independent, ongoing, economicalty viable, competitive businesses held separate, distinct, and apart from each other’s operations;
and not coordinate any aspect of their operations until certain divestitures in the United States were completed. Accordingly, Linde had accounted for Linde
AG as a separate segment for 2018 reporting purposes effective with the mergey date. Prior to the merger date, the company’s Linde AG segment did not
exist. Since the FTC hold separate arder restrictions were lifted effective March 1, 2019, the company subsequently implemented a new segment structure as
follows: Americas; EMEA
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(Europe/Middle East/Africa); APAC (Asia/South Pacific) and Engineerirg. This new management organization structure was implemented during the first
quarter 2019 and, accordingly, segment information has been retraspectively recast for all prior periods.

ITEMS AFFECTING COMPARABILITY

Because Praxair and Linde AG combined their respective businesses effective with the merger date of October 31, 2018, the year ended December 31,
2019 reflects the results and cash flows of the combined business, while the year ended December 31, 2018 includes tweive months of Praxair and two
months of Linde AG. Due to the size of Linde AG’s businesses prior to the merger, the reported results for 2019 and 2018 periods are not comparable. The
balance sheets at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 are comparable because both periods reflect the merger.

Pro Forma Income Statement Information

Therefore, 10 assist with a discussion of the 2019 and 2018 resulis on a comparable basis, certain supplemental unaudited pro forma income statement
information is provided on both a consolidated and segment basis (referved to as "pre forma incorue staterment information” or "pre forma information”).

The pro forma information has been prepared pn a basis consistent with Article 11 of Regulation S-X, assuming the merger and merger-related
divestitures had been consummated on January 1, 2018. In preparing this pro forma information, the historical financial information has been adjusted to give
effect to pro forma Adjustments that are (1) directly attributable to the business combination and other transactions presented herein, such as the merger-
related divestitures, {ii) facwally supportable, and (iii) expected to have a continuing impact on the combined entity’s cansolidated results. The pro forma
information is based on management's assumptions and is presented for ilustrative putposes and does nat purpert to represent what the results of operations
wonld actually have been if the business combination and merger-related divestitures had occmred as of the dates indicated or whay the results would be for
any future periods. Pro forma information was not developed for the year ended December 31, 2017, Also, the pro forma information does not include the
impact of any revenue, cost or other pperating synergies that may result from the business combination or any related restructuring costs.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Willi the merger, Linde is the leading industrial gas company worldwide. The company’s primary products in its industrial gases business are
atmospheric gases (oxygen, nitragen, argon, rare gases) and process gases (carbon dioxide, helium, hydrogen, electronic gases, specialty gases, acetylene).
The company also designs, engineers, and byilds equipment that produces industrial gases primarily for internal use; and offers its customers a wide range of
gas production and processing services such as olefin plants, natural gas plants, air separation plants, hydrogen and synthesis gas plants and other types of
plants.

Linde’s indusaial gas operations are managed on a geographical basis and in 2019 83% of sales were generated by Linde’s three geographic segments
(Americas, EMEA and APAC) and the remaining 17% is related primarily to the Engineering segment, and to a lesser extent Other (see Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements for operating segment details).

Linde serves a diverse group of industries including healthcare, petroleum refining, manufacturing, food, beverage carbonation, fiber-optics, steel
making, aerospace, chemicals and water treagment. The diversity of end-markets supports financial stability for Linde in varied business cycles.

Linde generates most of its revenues and earnings in the following twelve geographies where the company has its strongest market positions and where
distribution and production operations allow the company to deliver the highest level of service to its customers at the lowest cost.

Europe, Middle East and Africa

North and South America (" Americas') {(“EMEA") Asia and Pacific (“APAC™)
United States Germany China & Taiwan
Brazil United Kingdom Australia
Mexico Eastern Curope South Korea
Canada India

The company manufactures and distributes its industrial gas producis through networks of thousands of productien plants, pipeline complexes,
distribution centers and delivery vehicles. Major pipeline complexes are primarily located in the United States. These networks are a competitive advantage,
providing the foundation of reliable product supply to the company’s customer base. The majority of Linde’s business is conducted through long-term
contracts which provide stability in cash flow and the ability to pass through changes in energy and feedstock costs to customers. The company has growth
opportunities in all major geographies and in diverse end-markets such as energy, electronics, chemicals, metals, healthcare, feod and beverage, and
aerospace.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY - FINANCIAL RESULTS & OUTLOOK
2019 Year in review

On Octeber 31, 2018 Praxajr and Linde AG combined their respective businesses through an all-stock merger transaction, and became subsidiaries
of Linde plc. The vear ended December 31, 2018 reflects the results of Praxair for the entire vear and the results of Linde AG for the period beginning after
Ocober 31, 2018,

»  Sales of $28,228 million were 90% abaove 2018 sales of $14,836 million, primarily driven by the merger that contributed 89% to sales, net of
divestitures. Underlying sales increased 1% driven by 3% higher pricing across all geographic segments and 1% volume growth, partially offset by
unfavorable camrency translation and lower cost pass-through.

< Reported operating profit of $2,933 million was 44% below 2018 primarily driven by the net gain on sale of businesses in 2018 partially offset by
the impact of the merger, induding purchase accounting impacts, in the current year. On an adjusted pro forma basis, operating profit increased
$476 millicn, or 10%, for 2019 versus 2018, as the impacts of higher pricing and volumes were partially offset by unfavorable currency impacts
and cost inflation.*

» Income from continping operations of $2,183 million and diluted earnings per share from continuing cperations of $4,00 decreased from $4,273
million and $12.79, respectively in 2018. Adjusted pro forma income from continuing operations of $4,003 million and adjusted pro forma diluted
earnings per share from continuing operations of $7.34 were 17% and 19%, respectively above 2818 adjusted pro forma amounts. ™

»  Cash fiow from operations was $6,119 million, or 229 of sales. Capital expenditures were $3,682 million; dividends paid were $1,891 million; net
purchases of ordinary shares of $2,586 million; and debt repayments, net were $1,260 million.

* A reconciliation of the adjusted pro forma amounts can be found in the “Supplemental Pro Forma Incame Statement Information” and "Non-GAAP
Financial Measures™ section in this MD&A. See Notes 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 13 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements,

2020 Outlook

The company's business is to build, awn, and opetaie industrial gas plants in order to supply atmospheric and process gases ta customers. As such,
Linde believes that its sale of gas project backlog is one indicator of future sales growth. At December 31, 2019, Linde’s sale of gas backlog of large projects
under construction was $4.4 billion. This represents the total estimated capital cost of large plants under construction, APAC and Americas represent 64
percent and 29 percent of the backlog, respectively, with the remaining backlog in EMEA. These plants will primarily supply customers in the energy,
chemical, and electrenics end-markets.

The above outlook should be read i conjunction with the section entitled “Forward-Looking Statements.”

Linde provides quarterly updates on operating results, material rends that may affect financial performance, and financial guidance via earnings
releases and investor releconferences. These materials are available on the company ‘s wehsite, www.linde.com, but are not incorporated herein.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS AND QTHER INFORMATION

The following table provides suiunary informarton for 2014, 2014 and 2017. The reported amounts are GAAP amounts from the Consolidated
Statements of Income. The pro forma and adjusted pro forma amounts are intended to supplement investors' understanding of the company's financial
information and are not a substitute for GAAP measures. The year ended December 31, 2018 reflects the results of Praxair for the entire year and the results
of Linde AG for the period beginning after October 31, 2018 (the merger date), including the impacts of purchase accounting {See Notes 1, 3 and 4 to the

consolidated financial statements). The historical periods prior to 2018 reflect the results of Praxair, Inc:

Reported Amounts (GAAF) Pro Forma Amounss (a)
{Millions of dolars, except per share data} 2019 vs. 2018 vs.
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017 2018 2017 2019 2018 2018 vs. 2018
Reported Amounts
Sales § 28228 5 1483 5 11,358 90 % 31% § 28163 § 28084 —%
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and ampnization $ 15644 $ 9.020 I 6,382 85 % 41% § 16584 % 16,929 (2)%
As a percent of szles 59.0% 60.6% 56.2% 58.9% 60.3%
Sclling, geacral and administrative 5 3457 5 1629 s 1207 112 % 5% § 3456 $ 3635 %
As a percent of sales £2.99% 11.0% 10.6% 12.3% 129%
Depreciation and amortizalion % 4675 § 1,830 3 1,184 155 % 559% § 4,675 $ 4,924 (5)%
Cast reduction programs and other charges (b) s 567§ w9 § 52 s w7 S 55
Net gain on sale of businesses (b) s 164 § 3,294 § _ 3 —_ g —_
Operating Profit § 293 0§ 527 0§ 24 (44)% M5% $ 295 5 2561 15%
Operating margin 101.4% 35.4% ?1.5% 10.5% 9.1%
Interest expense — net § 38 3 202 % 161 (813% 25% §% k5] $ 379 (90Y%
Net pension and OPEB cost (henefit), excluding service cost 3 32) % @ § (4] 700 % —% 3 (129) 1163) (221%
Effective tax rate 26.3% 16.2% 44.9% 24.6% 28.3%
Income trom equity investments s 114 3 36 § A7 104 % 199% § 114 3 52 119%
Noncantralling interests from continuing operations 5 (89 $ {15) $ (61) (751% § (89) 5 _
Income from continuing operdtions k] 2,183 $ 4,273 $ 1,247 {49)% 243% % 2,322 3 1,729 4%
Dituted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 400 12.79 [ 4.32 {69% 19%% § 425 % 311 37%
Diluted shares outstanding (c) 543,170 334.127 289,114 63 % 16 % 545,170 553,151 (2%
Nurnber of employees 79,886 80,820 26,461
Adjusted Pro forma Amounts (d)
Operating profit 3 5,272 $ 4,796 10%
Operating margin 18.7% 17.1%
Income from continuing operations 3 4,003 $ 3,433 17%
Dituted earnings per share from continuing gperations 3 734 $ 6.19 19 %
Qther Financiol Data (d)
EBITDA and pro forma EBITDA from continuing
operations 5 7322 0§ 7133 3 3673 8% 94% $ 7744 % 7,537 3%
As percent of sales 274% 481% 32.4% (43)% 48 % 27.5% 26.8%
Adjusted pro forma EBITDA from continuing
operations $ 8178 5 7,603 8%
As percent of sales 29.0% 27.1%
(a) Pro [orma amounis are supplemental 1o the GAAP presentations and ave prepared on a basis consistenl with Arniicle 11 of Regulaiion 5-X. See " Supplemental Pro Forma Income

Statement Information™ and "Non-GGAAD Reconciliations” sections of this MD&A.
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()] See Notes 4 and 5 to the consplidated financial staiements.

(<} As a result of the merger, shate amauats for the year ended December 31, 2018 reflect the weighted averaging effect of Praxair shares cutsianding prior to October 31, 2018 and Linde
shares oustanding trom October 31, 2018 through December 31, 2018.

() Adjusted pro [onna amounts end Other Financial Data are non-GAAP perfunpance measures. A reconciliaion of reponied anmwants to adjusted pro forma amounts can be found in the
"Supplemental Pro Forma Income Statement [nfonmation™ and "Non-GA AP Reconciliations” sections of this MD& A

Results of Operations

The following table provides a summary of changes in consolidated reported and pro forma sales:

2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
% Change % Change
Reparted Pra forma Reported
Factors Contributing te Changes - Sales
Volume 1% 2% 4%
Price/Mix 3% 2% 2%
Cost pass-thrgugh (13% (1)% 1%
Currency (2)% ()% (1)%
Acquisitions/Divestitures 83 % 1% 25 %
90 % — % 31 %
2019 Compared With 2018
Sales

Reported sales increased $13,392 million, or 90% for the year primarily due to the merger, net of related divestitures. On a pro forma basis sales
increased $79 million in 2019 compared to 2018.

On a reported basis, sales increased 90% to $28,228 million in 2019 compared to $14,836 million in 2018 primarily due to the merger, net of related
divestitures. Volume increased sales by 1% driven by higher volumes largely in the APAC segment, including new project start-ups. Higher pricing across all
geographic segments conmributed 3% to sales. Currency ranslation decreased sales by 2% driven by the weakening of the Brazilian real, Canadian dollar and
Chinese ynan against the US dellar. Lower cost pass-through, primarily nataral gas, decreased sales by 1% with minimaal impact on operating profit.

On a pro forma basis, sales were relatively flat with prior year. Volume growth of 2% was largely driven by higher volumes in the Americas and
APAC segments, including new project start-ups. Higher pricing across the gases segments contributed 2% to sales. Unfavorable corrency translation,
primarily driven by the weakening of the Eureo, British pound, Chinese yuan and Australian dollar, decreased sales by 4%. Lower cast pass-through, primarily
natural gas, decreased sales by 1% with minimal impact on operating profit. Acquisitions, largely in the Americas segment, contributed 1% to sales.

Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
Reported cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization increased $7,624 million, or 85%, for the year primarily due to the merger, net of
related divestitures.

On a pro forma basis, cast of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization decreased $345 millien or 2% in 2019 as compared to 2018. Pro
forma cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization was 58.9% of sales in the year versus 60.3% of sales for 2018, The decrease as a percentage of
sales in the year was due primarily te higher pricing.

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Reported selling, general and administrative {"SG&A"™) expenses increased $1,828 million, or 112%, in 2019 to $3,457 million primarily due to the
merger. On a pro forma basis, SG&A decreased $179 million, or 5%, versus the 2018 period.

On a reparied basis, SG&A increased 112% in 2019, primarily due to the merger. SG&A was 12.2% of sales in 2019 versus 11.0% in 2018,
primarily due to the merger.
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On a pro forma basis, SG&A decreased 5% in 2019 versus 2018. SG&A was 12.3% of sales in 2019 versus 12.9% in 2018. Currency impacts
decreased SG&A by approximately $145 million in the 2019 peried. Excluding currency impacts, underlying SG&A decreased due to cost reduction actions
anr pradurtivity improvements which also drove the wuproveent of SG&A as a percentage of sales in the period.

Depreciation and amortization

Reported depreciation and amortization expense increased $2,845 million, or 155%, versus 2018. The increase is primarily due to the merger,
including $1,940 million of purchase accounting impacts related to the depreciation and amortization of the fair value adjustments of fixed assets and
intangible assets acquired in the merger.

On a pro forma basis, depreciation and amortization expense decreased $249 million, or 5%, versus 2018, Currency movements decreased
depreciation and amortization by approximately $197 million for the year. Excluding curtency effects, depreciation and amortization expense decreased
approximately $52 million, primarily driven by measurement period adjustments recognized in 2019 (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements),
partially offset by increases due to large project start-ups.

Cost reduction programs and other charges

Linde recorded cost reduction programs and other charges of $§567 million and $309 million for 2019 and 2018, respectively, primarily related to
merger and synergy-related costs and an asset impairment in the third guarter 2019 of approximately $73 million related to a joint venture in APAC resulting
from an unfavorable arbitration ruling (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements).

On an adjusted pro forma basts, these costs have been eliminated in both periods.
Operating profit

Reported operating profit decreased $2,314 million in 2019, or 44%, primarily driven by the net gain on sale of businesses in 2018 partially offset by
the impact of the merger, including purchase accounting impacts, in the current year. On an adjusted pro forma basis, operating profit increased $476 million,
or 10%, for 2019 versus 2018.

On a reported basis, operating profit decreased $2,314 million, or 44%. 2019 includes Linde AG's operating results for the full year and a gain on
merger-related divestitures of $164 million, which was offset by $1,952 million which primarily related to $1,940 millicn of purchase accounting charges for
additional depreciation and amortization, and $567 million in cost reduction program and other charges. 2018 included Linde AG's operating results from
October 31, 2018 forward and a gain on merger-related divestitures of $3,294 million, partially offset by purchase accounting trnpacts of $714 million and
$309 million of merger-related charges.

On an adjusted pro forma basis, which excludes the impacts of purchase accounting, cost reduction programs and other charges and net gains from
merger-related divestitures, operating profit increased $476 mitlion, or 10%, as the impacts of higher pricing and volumes were partially offset by unfavorable
currency impacts and cest inflation. A discussion of cperating profit by segment is included in the segment discussion that follows.

Interest expense - net

Reported interest expense - net in 2019 decreased $164 million, or 81%, versus 2018. On an adjusted pro forma basis interest expense decreased
$145 million, or 52% in 2019 as compared te 2018,

On a reported basis, interest expense - net decreased $164 million in 2019 and included a decrease of $96 million related to purchase accounting
impacts on the fair value of debt acquired in the merger. Excluding this purchase accounting impact, reported interest expense decreased $68 million in the
year as interest on debt acquired in the merger was more than offset by higher interest income.

On an adjusted pro forma basis, interest expense - net decreased $145 million in 2019 primarily due to lawer debt levels and higher interest income.
Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service cost

Reparted net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service cost was a benefit of $32 million in 2019 versus a benefit of $4 million in 2018 and
included pension settlement charges of $97 million and a net $8 millivn curtailment charge (see Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements). Excluding
the impact of these charges, the net pension and OPEB benefit, excluding service cost increased $133 millior in 2019, primarily due to the impact of pension
and OPEB plans acquired in the merger.

On an adjusted pro forma basis, net pension and OPEB (benefit}, excluding service cost was a benefit of $129 miltion in 2019 versus a benefit of
$165 million in 2018.
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Effective tax rate

The reported effective tax rate ("ETR") for 2019 was 26.3% versus 16.2% in 2018. 2018 included the impact of the sale of Praxair's European
industrial gas business (see Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements).

On an adjusted pro forma basis, the ETR for 2019 was 24.0% versus 25.8% in 2018,
Income from equily investments

Reported income from equity investments for 2019 increased $58 million to $114 million largely telated w investments in APAC and FMEA. This
increase is primarily related to the merger.

On an adjusted pro forma basis, income from equity investments for 2019 increased $55 million 10 $171 million. The increase is primarily relaled to
increased earnings from equity investments.

Noncontroffing interests from continuing operations

At December 31, 2019, noncontrolling interests from continuing operatians consisted primarily of noncontrolling shareholders’ investments in
APAC (primarily in China} and surface technologies.

Reparted noncontrolling intetests from continuing operations increased $74 million to $8% million in 2019 from $15 million in 2018, primarily
driven by the merger. 201% noncontrolling interests includes a $33 million impact for an asset impairment charge in the third quarter related to a joint venture
in APAC (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements).

On an adjusted pro forma basis, noncontrolling interests from continuing operations increased $10 million in 2019 driven by higher income from
comfinuing operations,

Income from continuing operations

Reported income from continuing operations decreased $2,080 million, or 49%, primarily due to the 2018 gain on merger-related divestitures,
partially offset by the merger. Gther impacts related to interest - net; net pension and OPEB cost (benefit}, exdluding service cost; income taxes; income from
equity investments; and noncontrolling interest largely offset in the aggregate.

On an adjusted pro forma basis, which excludes the impacis of purchase accounting and other non-GAAP adjustments, income from continuing
operalions increased $570 million, or 17%, in 2019 primarily due to higher adjusted pro forma operating profit, lower adjusted pro forma interest expense-net,
lower adjusted ETR, and higher adjusted pro forma income from equity investments.

Diluied earnings per share from continuing operations

Reported diluted earnings per share from continuing operations decreased $8.79, or 69%, in 2019 as compared to 2018, primarily due to lower net
incomte from continuing operations and higher diluted shares outstanding as a result of the metger.

On an adjusted pre forma basis, diluted EPS of $7.34 in 2018 increased 19% versus 2018, primarily due to higher adjusted pro forma income from
continuing operations and lower diluted shares outstanding.

Employees

The number of employees at December 31, 2019 was 79,886, a decrease of 934 employees from December 31, 2018 primarily driven by cost
reduction actions partially offset by acquisitions.

Other Financial Data
EBITDA increased to $7,722 million in 2019 from $7,133 million in 2018, primarily due to the merger.

Adjusted pro forma EBITDA [rom continuing operations increased to $8,178 million for 2019 as compared to $7,603 million in 2018 primarily due
to higher income from continuing operations versus the prior year period.

See the "Supplemental Pro Forma Income Statement Information” for pro forma amounts and "Non-GAAP Reconciliations™ for adjusted pro forma
amounts sections below for definitions and reconciliations of these pro fonma and adjusted pro forma non-GAAP measures 10 reported GAAP amounts,

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss})

Other comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2019 ¢t $435 million resulted primarily from a decrease in the funded status of the
company's largest retirement programs. Driven by the low discount rate environment,
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the other comprehensive loss of $544 millien related to the remeasurement of such retirement programs was partially offset by benefits from curmulative
translation adjustments. The translation adjustments reflect the impact of ranslaning local currency foreign subsidiary financial statements to U.S. dollars, and
are largely driven by the movement of the U.S. dollar zgainst major currencies including the Euro, the Chinese yuan and the British pound. See the
"Currency" section of the MD&A for exchange rates used for translation purposes and Note 9 to the cansolidated financial statements for a summary of the
currency translation adjustment component of accumulated other comprehensive income by segment.

2018 Compared With 2017

Sales increased 31% to $14,836 million in 2018 compared to $11,358 million in 2017 primarily reflecting the merger with Linde AG which contributed
25% to sales, net of divestitures. Underlying sales increased 6% driven by higher volumes and pricing, Volume growth of 4% was driven by higher volumes
in North America and Asia, including new project start-ups. Higher overall pricing across all geographic segments contributed 2% to sales. Currency
translation impact decreased sales by 1%. Higher cost pass-through, primarily natural gas, increased sales by 1% with minimal impact an operating profit.
The divestiture of Praxair's European businesses in December of 2018 decreased sales by 1%.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $422 million, or 35%, in 2018 to $1,629 million primarily due to the merger. SG&A was 11.0%
of sales in 2018 versus 10.6% in 2017, primarily due to the merger.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $646 million, or 55%, versus 2017. The increase is primarily due to the merger, including $346
milliont of purchase accounting impacts related to the fair value of fixed assets and intangible assets acquired in the merger.

Cost reduction programs and other charges were $309 million and $52 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively and are primarity related to the merger.
See Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Net gain on the sale of businesses was $3,294 million and related primarily to the divestiture of Praxair's European indusirial gases business in
connection with the merger. See Note 4 to the conselidated financial statements,

Other income (expenses) — net in 2018 was a $18 million benefit versus a $4 million benefit in 2017 (see Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements
for a summary of major components). In North America, 2018 included a $30 million asset impairment charge which was more than offset by $43 million of
gains on asset disposals. In Asia, 2018 included a $22 million asset impainment charge, offset by a litigation settlement gain.

Reported operating profit of $5,247 million in 2018 was $2,803 million, or 115% higher than reported operating profit of $2,444 million in 2017. 2018
includes a net gain on sale of businesses of $3,294 million, partially offset by transaction costs and other charges of $309 millian, and purchase accounting
impacts of $714 million related to the Linde AG merger (see Notes 4, 5 and 3, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements). 2017 included
transaction costs of $52 million (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements). Excluding the impact of these items, adjusted operating profit of $2,976
million in 2018 was $480 million, or 19%6, higher than adjusted operating profit of $2,496 million in 2017 driven primarily by the merger. Higher volumes
and price in the geographic segments and surface technologies also contributed to operating profit growth. A discussion of operating profit by segment is
included in the segment discussion that follows.

Reported interest expense — net in 2018 increased $41 million, or 25%, versus 2017. 2018 included charges of $26 million relating to the early
redernption of netes and a decrease of $21 million related to purchase accounting impacts related to the fair value of debt acquired in the merger (see Notes 13
and 3 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively). Excluding these impacts, adjusted interest expense of $197 million increased $36 million, or
22%, largely attributable to interest on the debt acquired in the merger and lower capitalized interest. See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements for
turther information relating, to interest expense.

‘The reported effective tax rate ("ETR"} for 2018 was 16.2% versus 44.9% in 2017. The decrease in the E1R for the 2018 period versus the U.S.
statutory rate of 21% was primarily due to the impact of the sale of Praxair's European industrial gases business. The increase in the ETR for the 2017 period
versus the U.S. statutory rate of 35% was primarily due to the net $394 million charge related to the Tax Act. Excluding these and other smaller impacts as set
forth in the "Non-G AAP financial measures” section of this MD&A, on an adjusted basis the ETR far the 2018 and 2017 periods was 23.8% and 27.2%,
respectively. The decrease was driven primarily by the impact of the Tax Act enacted in the fourth quarter of 2017 which lowered the U.S. statutory tax rate
from 35% in 2017 to 21% in 2018 {see Note 7 to the consclidated financial statements).

Equity income increased $9 million in 2018 versus 2017 and included charges of $9 millien for purchase accounting impacts related to the fair value
step up of equity investments acquired in the merger. Excluding this impact, equity income increased $18 million, primarily driven by income from equity
investments acquired in the merger.
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At December 31, 2018, reported noncontrolling interests from continuing operations consisted primarily of noncontrolling shareholders’ investments in
Asja (primarily in China) and surface technologies. Reported noncontroliing interests from continuing operations decreased $46 million to $15 million in
2018 from $61 million in 2017. 2018 inciudes the impact of the merger and refated purchase accounting impacts. Excluding these impacts, adjusted
noncontrolling interests from continuing operations of $73 million increased $12 million, or 20%, primarily due to noncontrolling interests acquired in the
merger,

Reported income from continuing operations for 2018 was $4,273 million, $3,026 million, or 243%, higher than reported income from continuing
operations of $1,247 million in 2017. Adjusted income from continuing operations of $2,121 million in 2018 was $431 million, or 26%, higher than adjusted
income from continuing operations of $1,690 million in 2017 primarily due to higher adjusted operating profit and a lower effective tax rate.

Reported diluted eamings per share from continuing operations ("EPS") of $12.79 in 2018 increased $8.47 per diluted share, ar 196% from $4.32 in
2017. Adjusted diluted EPS of $6.35 in 2018 increased $.50 per diluted share, or 9%, fram adjusted diluced EPS of $5.85 in 2017. The increase in adjusted
diluted EPS was primarily due to the merger and higher adjusted income from continuing operations; partially offset by an increase in diluted shares resulting
from equity acquired in the merger.

Other comprehensive losses for the year ended December 31, 2018 of $299 mullion resulted pritnasily fiuw {iy a $221 million unfaverzble impart in the
funded status of Linde’s retirement obligations and (ii) adverse currency translation adjusiments of $76 million, net of a benefit of $318 million related to the
release of currency translation adjustments on Praxair’s European business (See Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements). The decrease in the funded
status of Tetirement obligations was primarily the result of higher current year actuarial losses, as the impact of higher U.S. discount rates was largely offset
by a lower actual return on assets. Unfaverable ranslation adjustments reflect the impact of ranslating local currency foreign subsidiary financial statements
into U.S. dollars, and are largely driven by the strengthening of the U.S. dollar against major carrencies including the Euro, Brazilian real and Canadian
dollar,

Unfavorable currency translation adjustments included $343 million in South America and $149 million in Asia, partially offset by favorable currency
transtation adjustments of $231 miliion related to Linde AG (primarily Europe and Asia) representing translation impacts for the period from merger date
through December 31, 2018, Remaining other comprehensive losses of $2 million relate ta the amordzation of deferred losses an the company's erivatives
and unrealized losses an available for sale securities. Refer to the Currency section of the MD&A and Notes 9 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

The number of employees at December 31, 2018 was B0,820, an increase of 54,359 employees from December 31, 2017 primarily driven by an increase
of approximately 56,000 related to the merger partially offset by a decrease of approximately 2,500 from the divestiture of Praxair's European industrial gases
business.

Other Financial Data

Earnings before interest taxes depreciaticn and amartization ("EBITDA") increased $3,458 million to $7,133 million in 2018 from $3,675 million in
2017. EBITDA in 2018 includes a gain on sale of businesses and purchase accounting impacts, and both periods include transaction and other costs.
Excluding the impacts of these items, adjusted EBITDA increased $789 million to $4,516 million in 2018 from $3,727 million in 2017 driven by the
consolidation of Linde AG starting October 31, 2018, and higher adjusted income from continuing operations plus depreciadon and amortization versus the
prior year.

See che “Nan-GAAP Financial Measures” section far definitians and reconciliation of these non-GAAP measures Lo reported amounts,

Retated Party Transactions

The company’s related parties are primarily unconsolidated equity affiliates. The company did not engage in any material transactions involving related
parties that included terins or other aspects that differ from those which would be negotiated with independent parties.
Environmental Maiters

Linde’s principal operations relate to the production and distibution of atmospheric and other industrial gases, which historically have not had a
significant impact on the environment. However, wortdwide costs relating to environmentat
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protection may continue to grow due to increasingly stringent laws and regulations, and Linde’s ongeing commitment to rigoreus internal standards. In
addition, Linde may face physical risks from ¢limare rhange and exueme weather.

Climate Change

Linde operates in jurisdictions that have, or are developing, laws and/cr regulations to reduce or mitigate the perceived adverse effects of greenhouse
gas ("GHG") emissions and faces a highly uncertain reguiatory environment in this area. For example, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA™)
has promulgated rules requiring reporting of GHG emissions, and Linde and many of its suppliers and customers are subject to these rules. EPA has also
promulgated regulations to restrict GHG emissicns, including final rules regulating GHG emissions from light-duty vehicles and certain large manufacturing
facilities, many of which are Linde suppliers or customers. In addition to these developments in the United States, GHGs are regulated in the European Union
under the Emissions Trading System, which has wide implications far the company's customers and may impact certain operations of Linde in Europe. There
are also requirements for mandatory reporting in Canada, which apply to certain Linde operations and will be used in developing cap-and-trade regulations on
GHG emissions. These regulations are expected to impact certain Linde facilities in Canada. Climate change and energy efficiency laws and policies are also
being widely introduced in jurisdictions throughout Latin America and parts of Asia. China has announced plans to implement its national carbon emissions
trading system in 2020, though it does not appear the regulations will have a direct impact on GIIG emissicns from Linde facilities. Among other impacts,
such regulations are expected to raise the cost of energy, which is a significant cost for Linde, Nevertheless, Linde's long-term custamer contracts routinely
provide rights to recover increased electricity, natural gas, and other costs that are incurred by the company as a result of climate change regulation.

Linde anticipates continued growth in its hydrogen business, as hydrogen is essential to refineries that use it to remave sulfur from transportation fuels
in order to meet ambient air quality standards in the United States and fuel standards in ather regions. Hydrogen production plants and a large number of other
manufacturing and electricity-generating planis have been identified in California and the Europear Union as a source of carbon dioxide emissions and these
plants are subject to cap-and-trade regulations in those jurisdictions. Linde believes it will be able to mirigate the costs of these regulations through the terms
of its product supply contracts. However, legislation that limits GHG emissions may impact growth by increasing capital, compliance, operating and
maintenance costs and/or decreasing demand.

To manage business risks from current and potential GHG emission regulation as well as physical censequences of climate change, Linde actively
monitors current developments, evaluates the direct and indirect business risks, and takes appropriate actions. Among others, actions include: increasing
relevant rescurces and training; maintaining contingency plans; obtaining advice and counsel from expert vendors, insurance providers and industry experts;
incorporating GHG provisions in commercial agreements; and conducting regular reviews of the business risks with management. Although there are
considerable uncertainties, Linde believes that the business risk from potential regulations can be effectively managed through its commercial contracts.
Additionally, Linde does not anticipate any material effects regarding its plant operations or business arising from potential physical risks of climate change.

Linde continuously seeks opportunities to optimize energy use and GHG footprint through research and development in customer applications and
rigorous operational energy efficiency, investment in renewable energy, and purchasing hydrogen as a chemical byproduct where feasible. Linde maintains
related performance improvement targets and reports progress against these targets regularly to business management and annually to Linde's Board of
Directors.

At the same time, Linde may benefit from business opportunities arising from governmental regulation of GHG and other emissions; uncertain costs of
energy and certain natural resources; the development of renewable energy alternatives; and new technologies that help extract natural gas, improve air
quality, increase energy efficiency and mitigate the impacts of climate change. Linde continues to develop new applications that can lower emissions,
including GHG emissions, in Linde's processes and help customers lower energy consumption and increase product throughput. Stricter regulation of water
quality in emerging economies such as China provide a growing market for a number of gases, e.g., oxygen for wastewater treatment. Increased concern
about drought in areas such as California and Australia may create additional markets for carbon dioxide for desalination. Renewable fuel standards in the
Eurgpean Union and U.S. create a market for second-generation biofucls which use industrial gases such as oxygen, carbon dicxide, and hydrogen.

Costs Relating to the Protection of the Environment

Environmental protection costs in 2019 were not significant. Linde anticipates that future annual environmental protection expenditures will be similar
to 2019, subject to any significant changes in existing laws and regulations. Based
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on histerical results and current estimates, management does not believe that environmental expenditures will have a material adverse effect on the
consolidated financial position, the consolidated results of operations or cash flows i any given year.

Legal Proceedings

See Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements for information concerning legal proceedings.
Retirement Benefits
Pensions

The net periodic benefit cost for the U.S. and international pension plans was $107 million in 2019, $24 million in 2018 and $58 millicn in 2017. The
net periodic pension cost for 2019 includss pension settflement charges of $97 million related to lump sum payments, which were triggered by either a change
in control provision or merger-related divestitures and a net curtailment charge of $8 million for termination benefits, primarily in connection with a defined
benefit pension plan freeze. Settlement charges for 2018 and 2017 were $14 mitlion and $2 million, respectively.

The funded status (pension benefit abligation ("PBO") less the fair value ot plan assets) for the U.S. plans was a defict of 5504 million as of
December 31, 2019 and a deficit of $556 million at December 31, 2018. The funded status for international plans was a deficit of $1,801 million as of
December 31, 2019 and a deficit of $1,241 million at December 31, 2018. In the U.S., the benefit from the actual rerurn on assets more than offset the impacts
of unfavorable liability experience, resulting from the low discount rate environment. For the international plans, the unfavorable impact of lower discount
rates outweighed favorable plan asset experience.

Glaobal pension contributions were $94 million in 2019, $87 million in 2018 and $19 million in 2017. At a minimum, Linde contributes to its pension
plans to comply with local regulatory requirements (e.g., ERISA in the United States). Discretionary contributions in excess of the local minimum
requirements are made based on many factors, including long-term projections of the plans’ funded status, the economic environment, potential risk of
overfunding, pension insurance costs and alternative uses of cash. Changes to these factors can impact the timing of discretionary contributions from year 1o
year. Estimated required contributions for 2020 are currently expected ta he in the range of $50 million ta $80 million.

Linde assumes expected returns on plan assets for 2020 of 7.00% and 5.31% for the U.S. and international plans, respectively, which are consistent with
the long-term expected returns on its investment portfolios.

Excluding the impact of any settlements, 2020 consolidated pension expense is expected to be a benefit of approximately $45 million. The benefit
derived from the expected return on assets assumption fer Linde’s most significant plans is anticipated te more than offset the expense from service and
interest cost accruals and the amortization of deferred losses.

Refer to the Critical Accounting Pelicies section and Noie 18 to the consolidaled financial statements for a more detailed discussion of the company’'s
retirement benefits, including a description of the various retivement plans and the assumptions used in the calculation of net periodic benefit cost and funded
status.

Insurance

Linde purchases insurance to limit a variety of property and casualty risks, incuding those related to property, business interruption, third-party liability
and workers’ compensation. Currently, the company self retains up to $10 millien per occurrence for vehicle liability in the United States, $5 million per
occurrence for workers' compensation and general liability. In addition, the company self retains risk up to $5 million at its various properties worldwide for
property damage resulting fvomn fire, flood and other perils effecting its properties along with a separate $5 million deductible on all business interruption
resulting from a major peril loss. 1o mitigate its aggregate loss potential above these retentions, the company purchases catastwophic inswrance coverage from
highly rated insurance companies. The company does not currently operate or participate in any captive insurance companies or other nen-traditional risk
transfer alternatives.

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the company had recorded a total of $66 million and $60 million, respectively, representing an estimate of the retained
liability for the ultimate cost of claims incurred and unpaid as of the balance sheet dates. The estimated liability is established using statistical analysis and is
based upon historical experience, actuarial assumptions and professional judgment. These estimates are subject to the effects of trends in loss severity and
frequency and are subject 10 a significant degree of inherent variability. If aciual claims differ from the company’s estimates, they will be adjusted at thar time
and financial results could be impacted.

Linde recognizes escimated insurance proceeds relating to damages at the time of loss only to the extent of incdrred losses. Any insurance recoveries for
business interruption and for property damages in excess of the net book value of the property are recognized only when realized or pending payments
confirmed by its insurance companies.
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SEGMENT DISCLISSION

Effective October 31, 2018, Praxair and Linde AG completed the previously announced merger, resulting in the formation of Linde plc (see Note 1
to the consolidated financial statements for additional information on the merger). As a result of the merger and effective with the lifting of the hold separate
order effective on March 1, 2019, new operating segments were created which are used by the company's Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") o
allocate company resources and assess performance. Linde's operations consist of two major product lines: indusuial gases and engineering. As further
described in the following paragraph, Linde's industrial gases operations are managed on a geographic basis, which represents three of the company’s new
reportable segments - Americas, EMEA (Europe/Middle East/Africa), and APAC (Asia/South Pacific}; a fourth reportable segment which represents the
company's Engineering business, designs and manufactures equipment for air separaticn and other industrial gas applications specifically for end customers
and is managed on a worldwide basis operating in all gecgraphic segments. Other consists of corporate costs and a few smaller businesses which individually
do not meet the quantitative threshelds for separate presentation.

The industrial gases product line centers on the manufacturing and distribution of atmospheric gases (oxygen, nimogen, argon, rare gases) and
process gases {carbon dioxide, helium, hydrogen, electzonic gases, specialty gases, acetylenc). Many of these products are co-products of the same
manufacturing process. Linde manufactures and distributes nearly all of us products and manages its customer relatienships on a regional basis. Linde's
industrial gases are disiributed to various end-markets within a regional segment through one of three basic distribution methods: on-site or tonnage; merchant
or bulk; and packaged or cylinder gases. The distribution methods are generally integrated in order to best meet the customer’s needs and very few of its
products can be economically transperted ourside of a region. Therefore, the distribution economics are specific to the various geographies in which the
company operates and are consistent with how management assesses performance.

The company's measure of profitloss for segment reporting purposes remains unchanged - Segment cperating profit. Segment operating profit is
defined as operating profit exduding purchase accounting impacts of the Linde AG merger, intercompany royalties, and items not indicative of ongoing
business trends. This is the manner in which the company’s CODM assesses performance and allocates resources. For a description of Linde's previous
operating segments, refer to Note 2¢ to the consolidated financial statements of Linde's 2018 Annual Report en Form 10-K.

The table below presents sales and eperating profit information about reportable segments and Other for the year ended December 31, 2019, 2018
and 2017. The year ended December 31, 2019 reflects the results of both Praxair and Linde AG for the entire year. The year ended December 31, 2018
reflects the results of Praxair for the entire year and the results of Linde AG for the peried beginning after October 31, 2018 (the merger date), including the
impacts of purchase accounting (See Notes 1, 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements). The historical periods prior to 2018 reflect the results of
Praxair. Prior periods presented have been recast to be consistent with the new segment structure.:
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Reported

{Millions of dollars)
Year Ended December 31,

Sales
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Engineering
Other

Operating Profit
Americas

EMEA

APAC
Engineering
Other

Segment operating profit

Reconciliation to reported operating Profit :

Cost reduction programs and other charges

(Note 5)

Net gain on sale of businesses

Purchase accountdng impacts - Linde AG

Total operating profit

Pro Forma

{Polier amounts in millions}
Year Ended December 31,

Sales
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Engincering
Other

Operating Profit
Americas

EMEA

APAC
Engineering
Other

Segment operating profit

Variance
261% 2018 2017 201% vs, 2618 2018 vs. 2017
10,993 % 8017 $ 7,204 37% 11%
6,643 2,644 1,520 151% 74%
5,839 2,446 1,571 139% 56%
2,799 459 N/A N/M N/A
1,954 1,270 1,063 54% 15%
28,228 $ 14836 % 11,358 90% 31%
2578 % 2,053 % 1,854 6% 11Y%
1,367 481 317 184% 52%
1,198 465 329 158% 41%
390 14 N/A N/M N/A
(245) 37 (4) N/M N/M
5,288 2,976 2,496 78% 19%
(567) (309) (52)
164 3,294 N/A
{1,952) (714) N/A
2933 § 5247 % 2,444
Variance
2019 2018 2019 vs. 218
$ 10,989 S 10,539 4%
6,643 6,991 {5)%
5,779 5,950 (3)%
2,799 2,792 — %
1,953 1,812 8%
] 28,163 $ 28,084 -—%
3 2577 8§ 2,433 G %
1,367 1,344 2%
1,184 1,029 15 %
390 285 7%
(246) (295) (17)%
5 5272 % 4,796 10 %
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Americas
Variance
(Dollar amounts in milfions}
Year Ended Decernber 31, 2019 2018 2017 2019 vs, 2018 2018 vs. 2017
Reported sales 10993 % 8017 $ 7,204 37% 11%
Pro forma sales 10,989 $ 10,539 N/A 4% N/A
Reported operating profit 2578 § 2053 8 1,854 26% 11%
As a percent of sales 23.5% 25.6% 25.7%
Pro forma operating profit 2577 § 2,433 N/A 6% N/A
As a percent of sales 23.5% 23.1% N/A
2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
% Change % Change
Repaorted Pro forma Reported

Factors Contributing te Changes - Sales
Volume/Equipment —% 1% 3%
Price/Mix 3% 3% 2%
Cost pass-through (1)% (1)% 1%
Currency (2% {2)% ()%
Acquisitions/Divestitures 37% 3% 7%

37% 4% 1%

The Americas segment includes Linde’s industrial gases operations in approximately 20 countries including the United States, Canada, Mexico and Brazil,
Sales

Reported sales for the Americas segrient for 2019 increased $2,976 million, or 37%, versus 2018, primarily due to the merger. On a pro forma basis, sales
increased $450 million, or 4%, versus 2018.

On a reported basis, sales increased 37% in 2019 primarily due to the merger. Higher pricing contributed 3% to sales. Unfavorable currency translation
decreased sales by 2%, primarily driven by the weakening of the Brarilian real, Mexican peso and Canadian dollar against the U.S. Dollar. Lower cost past-
through, primarily natural gas, decreased sales by 1% with minimal impact on operating profit.

On a pro forma basis, volume growth contributed 1% to sales in 2019 as compared to 2018 primarily driven by base volume growth in the United States and
Latin America and project start ups in the United States Gulf Coast. Higher pricing contributed 3% to sales. Currency translation decreased sales by 2%.
Acquisitions and divestitures increased sales by 3%, related primarily to acquisitions in North America. Lower cost pass-through decreased sales by 1% with
minimal impact on operating profit.

Reported sales for 2018 increased $813 million, or 11%, versus 2017 primarily due to the merger which centributed 7% to sales. Undetlying sales growth was
4%, driven by higher volumes and higher price. Unfavorable currency impacts decreased sales by 2%. Higher cost pass-threugh increased sales by 1% with
minimal impact on operating profit.

Operaiing Profit

Reported operating profit for the Americas segment for 2019 increased $525 million, or 26% from 2018, due primarily to the merger. On a pro forma basis,
aperating profit increased $144 million, or 6%, for 2019 as compared to 2018.

On a reported basis, operating profit increased 26% in 2019 largely driven by the merger and higher pricing, partially offset by unfavorable currency
translation impacts of 2%.
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Pro forma operating profit in the Americas segment increased $144 million for 2019, or 6%, versus the 2018 period. Operating growth from higher volumes,

higher price and acquisitions was partially offset by unfavorable currency translation impacts of 2% in the year. The 2018 year also included net gains on

asset disposals of approximately $20 million.

Reported operating profit for 2018 increased $199 million, or 11%, driven primarily by the merger, higher volumes and higher price partially offset by

unfavorable currency translation. The 2018 period also included net gains on asset disposals of $13 million.

EMEA

(Dollar amounts in millions) Yariance
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017 2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
Reported sales $ 6643 § 2644  § 1,520 151% 74%
Pro forma sales $ 6643 $ 6,991 N/A (5)% N/A
Reported operating profit $ 1,367 % 481 $ 317 184 % 52%
As a percent of sales 20.6% 18.2% 20.9%
Pro forma operating profit $ 1,367 % 1,344 N/A 2% N/A
As a percent of sales 20.6% 19.2% N/A
2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs, 2017
% Change % Change
Reported Pro forma Reported
Factors Contributing to Changes
Volume 1Y% (1)% 1%
Price/Mix 1% 2% 2%
Cost pass-through (1)%6 —% 2%
Currency 1)% (6)% 4%
Acquisitions/Divestitures 153 % —% 65%
151 % (5)% 74%

The EMEA segment includes Linde's industrial gases operations in approximately 45 European, Middle Eastern and African countries including Germany,

France, Sweden, the Republic of Scuth Africa, and the United Kingdom.

Sales

On a reported basis, EMEA segment sales increased by $3,999 million, or 151%, in 2019 as compared to 2018, primarily due to the merger, net of related

divestitures. On a pro forma basis, sales decreased $348 million, or 5%, in 2019 versus 2018.

On a reported basis, sales increased 1519 in 2019 driven primarily by the net impact of the merger with Linde AG and the related divestiture of Praxair's

European gases business in the fourth quarter of 2018. Excluding this net impact, sales decreased 2%. Volumes decreased 1% driven by weaker industrial
production, Higher price contributed 1% to sales. Unfavorable currency translation and cost pass-through each decreased sales by 1%.

On a pro forma basis, sales decreased 5% in 2019, primarily driven by unfavorable currency translation due to the weakening of the Euro, British pound and

South African rand against the U.S. Dollar which decreased sales by 6% . Higher price increased sales by 2%. Volumes decreased 1% driven by weaker

industrial production.

Reported sales increased $1,124 million, or 74%, in 2018 driven primarily by the merger, net of related divestitures, Excluding the impact of the merger and

related divestitures, sakes increase 9% from 2017. Higher cost pass-through

36



“Table ot Contents

increased sales by 2% with minimal impact on operating profit. Faverable currency translation increased sales by 4%. Higher volumes and higher price
increased sales by 1% and 2%, respectively.

Operating Profit

On a reported basis, operating profit for the EMEA segment increased by $886 million, or 184%, in 2019 as compared to 2018. On a pro forma basis,
operating profit increased $23 million, or 2%, in 2019 versus the respective 2018 period.

On a reported basis, operating profit increased 184% in 2019, driven primarily by the nct impact of the merger with Linde AG and the related divestiture of
Praxair's European gases business in the fourth quarter of 2018,

On a pro forma basis, operating profit increased 2% in 2019 as compared to 2018 as higher pricing and the impact of cost reduction actions more than offset
the impacts of unfavorable currency translation and cost inflation.

Reported operating profit increased $164 million, or 52%, in 2018 driven primarily by the merger, net of related divestitures. Favorable currency wanslation
increased operating profit by 5%. Excluding the impact of the merger and related divestitures and currency, operating profit increased driven by higher price
and higher volumes, partially offset by cost inflation.

APAC
Variance
(Dollar amounts in millions}
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017 2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs, 2017
Reported sales 5 5839 § 2446 § 1,571 139 % 56%
Pro forma sales 3 5,779 3 5,950 N/A (3% N/A
Reported operating profit 3 1,198 § 465  § 329 158 % 41%
As a percent of sales 20.5% 19.0%
Pro forma operating profit % 1,184 % 1,029 N/A 15% N/A
As a percent of sales 20.5% 17.3% N/A
2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
% Change % Change
Reported Pro forma Reported

Factors Contributing to Changes
Volume 4% 1% 9%
Price/Mix 2% 2% 2%
Cost pass-through —% (1)% 1%
Currency (% (4)% 1%
Acquisitions/Divestitures 136 % (1)% 43%

139 % (3% 56%

The APAC segment includes Linde's industrial gases operations in approximately 20 Asian and South Pacific countries and regions including China,
Australia, India, South Korea and Taiwarn.

Sales

On a reported basis, APAC segment sales increased by $3,393 million, or 139%, in 2019 as compared to 2018, primarily due to the merger. On a pro forma
basis, sales decreased 5171 million, or 3%, in 2019 versus 2018.
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On a reported basis, sales increased 139% in 2019 driven by the merger. Unfavorable currency translation decreased sales by 3%, driven primarily by the
weakening of the Chinese ynan, Korean won and Indian rupee against the U.S. Dollar. Excluding the impacts of the merger and currency, sales increased by
6% driven by higher base volumes, new project start ups and higher price.

On a pro forma basis, sales decreased 3% in 2019. Higher pricing increased sales by 2%. Higher velumes contributed 1% to sales driven by higher base
volumes and new project start-ups. Currency translation decreased sales by 4%. Lower cost pass-through decreased sales by 19 with minimal impact on
operating profit. Acquisitions and divestitures decreased sales by 1%.

Reported sales in 2018 increased $875 million, or 56%, versus 2017 driven primarily by the merger which contributed 43% to sales. Cost pass-through,
primarily energy, and currency impacts each increased sales by 1%. Volume growth of 9% was primarily attributable to base volume growth in China, Kerea
and India and new praject start-ups in China. Higher price increased sales by 2% driven by China.

Operating Profit

On a reported basis, operating profit for the APAC segment increased by $733 million, or 158%, in 2019 as compared to 2018, due primarily to the merger.
On a pro forma basis, operating profit increased $155 million, or 15%, in 2019 versus the respective 2018 period.

On a reported basis, operating profit increased 158% in 2019, driven by the net impact of the merger with Linde AG. Unfavorable currency translation
decreased operating profit by 3% for the year. Excluding the merger and currency impacts, operating profit growth was driven by higher price and cost
reduction programs.

On a pro forma basis, operating profit increased 15% in 2019 as compared to 2018. Unfavorable currency transtation decreased operating profit by 5% in the
year. Excluding currency impacts, operating growth was driven by higher price and cost reduction programs.

Reported operating profit in 2018 increased $136 million, or 419, versus 2017 driven primarily by the merges, higher velumes and price. Operating profil for
2018 included a $22 million asset impairment charge, offset by a litigation settlement gain.
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Engineering

{Dollar amounts in millions})

Variance

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017 2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs, 2017
Reported sales 2,799 $ 459 N/A 510% 1009%
Pro forma sales 2,799 $ 2,792 N/A —Y% N/A
Reported operating profit 390 h 14 N/A N/M 100%
As a percent of sales 13.9% 3.1%
Pro forma operating profit 390 b 285 N/A 37% N/A
As a percent of sales 13.9% 16.2% N/A
2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
% Change % Change
Reported Pro forma Reported
Factors Contributing to Changes
Volume/Price 8% 4% —%
Currency {2)% (4)% —%
Acquisitions/Divestitures 504 % —% 100%
510 % —% 100%

Sales

Reported Engineering segment sales increased $2,340 million, or 510%, in 2019 as compared to the respective 2018 period. On a pro forma basis, segment
sales increased $7 million in 2019 as compared to the respective 2018 period.

On a reported basis, 2019 sales increased 510% in year primarily related to the merger of the Linde Engineering business. Excluding the impact of the merger,
volume growth of 8% was partially offset by unfavorable currency translation of 2%.

On a pro forma basis, 2019 sales were flat versus 2018 as volume growth of 4% was offset by unfavorable currency translation of 4%.
Reported sales for 2018 increased 100% versus 2017 due to the merger of the Linde Engineering business.
Operating profit

Reported Engineering segment operating profit increased $376 million, or 2,686%, in 2019 versus 2018. On a pro forma basis, operating profit increased
$105 million, or 37%, in 2019 versus 2018.

On a reported basis, operating profit increased in 2019 related primarily to the merger of the Linde Engineering business.

On a pro forma basis, operating profit increased 37% for the year. Unfavorable currency translation decreased operating profit by 4% in 2019. Excluding the
impact of currency, operating profit increased due to timing of project completion, favorable costs and procurement savings.

Reported operating profit for 2018 increased 100% versus 2017 due to the merger of the Linde Engineering business.
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Other
Variance
(Dollar amounts irr millions)
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017 2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
Reported sales $ 1,954 $ 1,270 k] 1,063 54 % 19%
Pro forma sales $ 1,952 $ 1,812 N/A 5% N/A
Reported operating profit % (245) $ 37y % 4) (562)% 825%
As a percent of sales (12.5)% (2.9)%
Pro forma operating profit $ (246) % (295) N/A 17 % N/A
As a percent of sales (12.6)% (16.3)% N/A
2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
% Change % Change
Reported Pro forma Reported
Factors Contributing te Changes
Volume/Price 9% 12% 8%
Currency (2)%% (4)% 2%
Acquisitions/Divestitures 47 % —% 9%
54 % 8% 19%

Other consists of corporate costs and a few smaller businesses including: Surface Technologies, GIST, global helium whalesale, and Electronic Materials;
which individually do not meet the quantitative thresholds for separate presentation.

Sales
Reported sales for Other increased $684 million, or 54%, for the 2019 year versus the respective 2018 period, primarily due to the merger. On a pro forma
basis, sales increased $141 million, or 8%, for 2019 versus the respective 2018 periods.

On a reported basis, sales increased 54% for the year, primarily due to the merger which increased sales by 47%. Higher volumes and price increased sales by
9% in the year, primarily driven by higher surface technologies volumes to the aerospace and manufacturing end-markets and higher price. Currency
translaticn decreased sales by 2% for the year.

On a pro forma basis, sales increased 8% for 2019, Volume and price growth increased sales by 12%, driven by helium and surface technologies. Currency
translation decreased sales by 4%,

Reported sales for 2018 increased $207 million, or 19%, versus 2017 driven primarily by the merger. Excluding the impact of the merger, underlying sales
increased driven by surface technologies volumes to the aerospace and manufacturing end-markets and higher price.

Operating profit
Reported operating profit in Other decreased $208 million in 201% versus the respective 2018 periods, due primarily to the merger. On a pre forma basis,

operating loss impraved $49 million, or 17%, when comparing 2019 to the 2018 period.

On a reported basts, operating profit decreased $208 million primarily related to the merger as operating profit increases from higher volumes and price were
more than offset by the merger of Linde AG corporate.

On a pro forma basis, operating profit improved $49 million in the year. Higher volumes, helium pricing and cost reduction actions improved operating profit
which was partially offset by higher helium sourcing costs.
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Reported operating profit for 2018 decreased $33 million versus 2017 primarily related to the merger as operating profit increases from higher volumes and
price were mote than affset hy the merger of Linde AG corporate.
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Currency

The results of Linde’s non-1.5. operations are translated to the company’s reporting currency, the U.S. dollar, from the functional currencies used in the
countries in which the company operates. For most foreign operations, Linde uses the local currency as its functicnal currency. There is inherent variability
and unpredictability in the relationship of these functional currencies te the 1U.S. dollar and such currency movemenis may materially impact Linde’s results
of eperations in any given period.

To help understand the reported results, the following is a summary of the significant currencies underlying Linde’s consolidated results and the
exchange rates used to translate the financial staternents (rates of exchange expressed in units of local currency per U.S. dollar):

Percent of Statements of Income Balance Sheets
2019 Average Year Ended December 31, December 31,
Consolidated
Currency Sales 2019 2018 2017 2019 2018
Euro 20% 0.89 0.85 0.89 0.89 0.87
Chinese yuan 7% 6.90 6.60 6.76 6.96 6.88
British pound 6% 0.78 0.75 0.78 0.75 0.78
Australian dollar 4% 144 1.34 N/A 1.42 1.42
Brazilian real 4% 3.94 3.63 3.19 4,03 3.87
Korean won 3% 1,165 1,100 1,131 1,156 1,111
Canadian dollar 3% 1.33 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.36
Mexican peso 2% 19.24 19.20 18.86 18.93 18.65
Taiwan dollar 2% 30.90 30.13 30.43 29.99 30.55
Indian rupee 29 70.40 68.00 65.00 71.38 69.77
South African rand 1% 14.43 13.16 N/A 14.00 14.35
Swedish kroner 1% 9.45 8.68 8.53 9.37 8.85
Thailand bhat 1% 31.04 32.30 3391 29.71 32.33
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LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND OTHER FINANCIAL DATA

(Miilions of dollars)
Year Ended December 31,

Net Cash Provided by (Used for)
Operating Activities
Income from continning operations {including nonconwolling interests)
Non-cash charges (credits):
Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges, net of payments (a)
Add: Amortization of merger-related inventory step-up
Less: Net gain on sale of businesses, net of tax (h)
Add: Tax Actincome tax charge, net
Add: Depreciaticn and amortization
Add (Less); Deferred income taxes, excluding Tax Act
Add (Less): non-cash charges and other
Income from continuing operations adjusted for non-cash charges and other
Less: Pension contributions
Add (Less): Working capital
Add (Less): Other
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Divesdtures and asset sales, net of cash divested
Cash acquired in merger transaction
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities
Financing Activities
Debt increases (decreases) —net
Issuances (purchases) of ordinary shares - net
Cash dividends — Linde plc sharehclders
Noncontrolling interest transactions and other
Net cash (used) for financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Cash and cash equivalents, end-of-period

(a) See Note 5 to the consclidated financial statements.

(b) See Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

2019 2018 2017
$ 2,272 % 4288 § 1,308
{236) 40 26
12 368 —
(108) (2,923) —
— (61) 394
4,675 1,830 1,184
(303) (187) 136
(32) 237 102
6,280 3,592 3,150
(94) &7 (19
(160) 202 (158)
93 (53) 68
$ 6,119 § 3,654 % 3,041
$ (3,682) % (1,883 % {1,311
(225) (25) (33
5,096 5,808 30
— 1,363 —_
$ 1,189 % 5363 % (1,314)
$ {1,260) $ (2,508) % (771)
(2,586) (522) 108
(1,891) (1,166) (901)
(3,260) (402) (92)
$ (8,997) % (4,598) 3 (1,656)
$ 77 % 60 % 22
$ 2,700 % 4456 % 617

Cash decreased $1,766 million in 2019 versus 2018. The primary sources of cash in 2019 were cash flows from operations of $6,119 million and
proceeds from divestitures and asset sales of $5,096 million. The primary uses of cash included capital expendimres of $3,682 million, transactions with
noncontrolling interests of $3,260 million, net purchases of ordinary shares of $2,586 million, cash dividends to shareholders of $1,891 million and net debt
repayments of $1,260 million, Noncontrolling interest ransactions and other of 33,260 million included a payment of approximately $3.2 billion related to

the cash-merger squeeze-out of the 8% of Linde AG shares completed on April 8, 2019 (see Note 16 to the conselidated financial statements).
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Cash Flows From Operations

Cash Flows From Operations
{(Millions of Dollars)

$6.119

201s 2016 2017 2018 2019

2019 compared with 2018

Cash flows from operations was $6,119 millien, or 22% of sales, an increase of $2,465 million from $3,654 million, or 25% of sales in 2018. The
increase was primarily aitributable to the merger which drove higher net income adjusted for nan-cash charges, partially offset by higher warking capital
requirements and higher merger and synergy related cash owrflows. 2019 included merger and synergy retated cash outflows of $803 million, of which $567
million is included within *Nert income (including noncoarrolling interests)” and $236 millign is included within "Caost reduction programs and other charges,
net of payments”.

2018 compared with 2¢17

Cash flows from operations was 33,654 million, or 25% of sales, an increase of $613 million from 53,041 million, or 27% of sales in 2017. The
increase was primarily attributable to the merger, higher net income adjusted for non-cash charges and favorable working capital requirements, partially offset
by unfavorable changes in other long—term assets and liabilities and higher pension contributions.
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Investing

Capital Expenditures
{(Millions of Dollars)

$3682

20135 20:6 2017 2018 2019

2019 compared with 2018

Net cash provided by investing activities of $1,189 million decreased $4,174 million from 2018 primarily driven by lower proceeds from merger-related
divestitures, cash acquired in the merger and higher capital expenditures.

Capital expenditures in 2019 were $3,682 million, an increase of $1,799 million from 2018, driven primarily by the merger. Capital expenditures during
2019 related primarily to investments in new plant and praduction equipment for growth. Approximately 44% of the capital expenditures were in the
Americas segment with 339 in the APAC segment and the rest primarily in the EMEA segment.

Acquisition expenditures in 2019 were $225 million, an increase of $200 million from 2018 and related primarily to acquisitions in the Americas.

Divestitures and asset sales in 2019 totaled $5,096 million primarily driven by proceeds from merger-related divestitures including $3.4 billicn from the
sale of Linde AG's Americas business, $1.2 billion from the sale of Linde Korea, and approximately $200 million each from the sale of the legacy Praxair and
legacy Linde India selected assets (see Note 4 to the consolidated financial statemenes). 2018 divestiture and asset sale cash flows included $5.6 billion from
the sale of Praxair's Furopean husiness and $214 million related to the sale of Praxair's Italian joint venture (see Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements).

2018 compared with 2017

Net cash provided by investing activities of $5,363 million increased $6,677 million from 2017 primarily driven by proceeds from the divestiture of
Praxair's European business and cash acquired in the merger, partially offset by higher capital expenditures.

Capital expenditures in 2018 were $1,883 million, an increase of $572 million from 2017, driven primarily by the merger with Linde AG. Capital
expenditures during 2019 related primarily to investments in new plant and production equipment for growth and density.

Acquisition expenditures in 2018 were $25 mitlion, a decrease of $8 million from 2017. Additionally, $1,363 million of cash was acquired in the merger
{see Nate 3 to the consotidated financial statements).

Divestitures and asset sales in 2018 totaled $5,908 million primarily driven by proceeds from merger-related divestitures including $5.6 billion from the
sale of Praxair's Eurapean business and $214 million related to the sale of Praxair's Italian joint venture {see Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements).
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Financing

Linde’s financing strategy is to secture tong-term committed funding by issuing public notes and debentures and commercial paper backed by a long-
term bank credit agreement. Linde’s international operations are funded through a combination of local borrowing and intercompany funding to minimize the
total cost of funds and to manage and centralize currency exchange exposures. As deemed necessary, Linde manages its exposure to interest-rate changes
through the use of financial derivatives (see Note 14 to the cansolidated financial statements and Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Ahout
Market Risk).

Cash used for financing activities was $8,997 million in 2019 compared to $4,998 million in 2018. The primary financing uses of cash were for
mansactions with noncontrolling interests, net debt repaymenrs, cash dividends and net purchases of Linde ordinary shares, Noncontrolling interest
transactions and other payments of $3,260 miilion increased $2,858 million from 2018 driven by a payment of approximately $3.2 billion for the cash-merger
squeeze-out of the 8% of Linde AG shares completed on April 8, 2019 (see Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements). Amounts paid in 2018 include
$315 million for the purchase of the noncortrolling interest in Praxair's Iralian joint venture in @ merger-related transaction (see Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements) and $25 million in interest relazed to the early redemption of bonds. Cash dividends of $1,891 million increased $725 million from 2018
driven primarily by higher shares outstanding after the merger and a 6% increase in dividends per share fram $3 40 tn $3 50, Nat purchaser of erdinary shares
were $2,586 million in 20193 versus $522 million in 2018 driven by increased share repurchases. The cash used for debt repayments-net of $1,260 million
decreased $1,648 million from $2,908 millicn during, 2018 while cash decreased $1,766 million. Net debt (calenlated as total debt less cash and cash
equivalents) increased $426 million primarily due to lower cash balances partially offset by debt repayments.

The company believes thar it has sufficient operating flexibility, cash reserves, and funding sources 1o maintain adequate amounts of liquidity to meet
its business needs araund the world. At December 31, 2019, Linde's credit vatings as reported by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s were A-1 and P-1 for shost-
term debt, respectively, and A and A2 for long-term debt, respectively.

Note 13 to the consolidated financial statemnents includes information with respect to the company’s debt repayments in 2019, current debt position,
debt covenants and the available credit facilities; and Note 14 includes information relating to derivative financial instruments. Linde's credit facilities are
with major financial institutions and are non-cancelable until maturity. Therefore, the company helieves the risk of the financial institutions being unable to
make required loans under the credit facilities, if requested, ta be low. Linde’s major bank credit and long-term debt agreements contain standard covenants.
The company was in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2019 and expects to remnain in compliance for the foreseeable future,

Linde’s total net debt outstanding at December 31, 2019 was $11,256 million, $426 million higher than $10,830 million at December 31, 2018. The
December 31, 2019 net debt balance includes $12,752 million in public securities, $1,204 million representing primarily worldwide bank borrowings, net of
$2,700 million of cash. Linde’s global effective borrowing rate was approximately 2% for 2019.

In February 2019, Linde repaid $500 million of 1,90% rate notes that became due; in May 2019 Linde repaid $150 million of variable rate notes that
became due; in June 2019 Linde repaid €500 million of 1.75% notes that due and AUD100 million of variable rate notes that became due; in August 2019
Linde repaid $200 million of variable rate notes that became due.

On March 26, 2019 the company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an unsecured revolving credic agreement {“the Credit Agreement"} with a
syndicate of banking institutions, which became effective on March 29, 2319. The Credit Agreement provides for total commitments of $5.0 billion, which
may be increased up to $6.5 billion, subject to receipt of additional commitments and satisfaction of customary conditions. There are ne financial
maintenance covenants contained within the Credit Agreement. The revolving credit facility expires on March 26, 2024 with the option to request two one-
year extensions of the expiration date. In connection with the effectiveness of the Credit Agreement, Praxair and Linde AG terminated their respoctive
existing revelving credit [acilities. No borrowings were outstanding under the Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2019.

On September 3, 2019, Linde and the company’s subsidiaries Praxair and Linde AG entered into a series of parent and subsidiary guarantees related to
currently outstanding notes issued by Praxair and Linde AG as well as the $5 billion Credit Agreement.

On December 10, 2018, the company announced a 51.0 billion share repurchase program, which was completed in February of 201S. On January 22,
2018, the company’s board of directars approved the additional repurchase of $6.0 billion of its ordinary shares, of which $2.3 billion had been repurchased
through Neceinber 31, 2019. Fer additional information
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relaked to the share repurchase programs, see Part 11 Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

LEquity Securities.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following table sets forth Linde’s material contract obligations and other commercial commitments as of December 31, 2019:

(Millions of dollars) Due or expiring by December 31,
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Thereafter Total

Long-term debt obligations:

Debrt and capitalized lease

maturities (Note 13) $ 1,531 § 1,855 § 2330 $§ 1,798 % 983 % 3,727 3% 12,224
Contractual interest 297 237 175 146 98 585 1,538
Operating leases (Note 6) 275 208 163 110 75 251 1,082
Retirement obligations 101 36 37 37 36 183 430
Unconditional purchase obligations 833 769 718 660 650 2,877 6,507
Construction cemmitments 2,234 871 291 25 . — 3,421

Total Contractual Obligations $ 5271 & 3976 § 3,714 § 2776 % 1,842 % 7,623 % 25,202

Contractual interest on long-term debt of $1,538 million represents interest the company is contracted to pay on outstanding long-term debt, current
portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations, calculated on a basis consistent with planned debt maturities, excluding the interest impact of interest
rate swaps. A1 December 31, 2019, Linde had fixed-rate debt of $10,799 million and floating-rate debt of $3,157 million, The rate assumed for floating-rate
debt was the rate in effect at December 31, 2019.

Retirement obligarions of $43C¢ million include estimares of pension plan contributions and expected future benefit payments for unfunded pension and
OPEB plans. Pension plan contributicns are forecasted for 2020 enly. For purposes of the table, 560 mitlion of estimated contributions have been included for
2020. Expected future unfunded pension and OPEB benefit payments are forecasted only through 2029, Contribution and unfunded benefit payment estimates
are based upon current valuation assumptions. Estimates of pension contributions after 2020 and unfunded benefit payments after 2029 are not included in the
table because the timing of their resolution cannot be estimated. Retirement obligations are more fully described in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Unconditional purchase obligations of $6,507 million represent contractual commitments under various long and short-term take-or-pay arrangements
with suppliers and are not included on Linde's balance sheet. These obligations are primarily minimum-purchase commitments for helium, electricity, natural
gas and feedstock ased to produce atmospheric and process gases. A significant portion of these obligations is passed on to customers through similar take-or-
pay or ather contractual arrangements. Purchase obligations that are not passed along to customers through such contractual arrangements are subject to
market conditions, but do not represent a material risk to Linde. Approximately $2,983 millicn of the purchase obligations relates to power and is intended o
secure the uninterrapted supply of electricity and feedstock to Linde's plants to reliably satisfy customer product supply cbligations, and extend through 2030,
Certain of the power contracts contain various cancellation provisions requiring supplier agreement, and many are subject to annual escalations based on local
inflation factors.

Construction commitments of $3,421 million represent outstanding commitments to complete authorized construction projects as of December 31,
2019. A significant portion of Linde’s capital spending is related te the construction of new production facilities to satisfy customer commitments which may
take a year or more to complete.

Liabilities for nncertain tax positions totaling $415 millien, including interest and penalties, are not included in the table because the timing of their

resolution cannot be estimated. Tax ligbilities for deemed repawmiation of earnings of $261 million are payable over the next six years, See Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements for disclosures surrounding the "Tax Act" and uncertain income tax positions.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As discussed in Note 19 te the censolidated financial statements, at December 31, 2019, Linde had undrawn outstanding letters of credit, bank
guarantees and surety bonds entered into in connection with normal business operations and they are not reasonably likely to have a material impact on
Linde’s consalidated financial condition, results of operations, or liguidity.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The policies discussed below are considered by management to be critical to understanding Linde’s financial statements and accompanying notes
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States {"U.S. GAAP"). Their application places significant importance on
management’s judgment as a result of the need to make estimates of matters that are inherently uncertain. Linde’s financial position, results of operations and
cash flows could be materially affected if actal results differ from estimates made. These polictes are determined by management and have been reviewed by
Linde’s Audit Committee,

Purchase Accounting

Linde AG's assets and liabilities were measured at fair value as of the date of the merger. Estimates of fair value represent management's best estimate
of assumptions about future events and uncertainties. In determining the fair value, Linde utilized various forms of the income, cost and market approaches
depending on the asset or liability being fair valued. The estimation of fair value includes significant judgments related to futare cash flows (sales, costs,
customer attrition rates, and contributory asset charges), discount rates, competitive trends, market comparables and others. Inputs were generally obtained
from historical data supplemented by current and anticipated market conditions and growth rates. The estimates and assumptions used to determine the
estimated fair value assigned to each class of assets and liabilities, as well as asset lives, have a material impact to the company's consolidated financial
statements, and are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable but that are inherently uncertain. As of the end of 2019, the valuation process 1o
determine the fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities is complete.

See Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for additional informadon.

Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciable Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment

Linde’s net property, plant and equipment at December 31, 2019 was $29,064 million, representing 34% of the company’s consolidated total assets.
Depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $3,940 million, or 16% of total operating costs. Managernent judgment is required in the
determination of the estimated depreciable lives that are used to calculate the annual depreciation expense and accumulated depreciation.

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated ever the assets' estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis for financial reporting
purposes. The estimated useful life represents the projected period of time that the asset will be productvely employed by the company and is determined by
management based on many factors, including historical experience with similar assets, technological life cycles, geographic locations and contractual supply
relationships with on-site customers. Circumstances and events relating to these assets, such as on-site contract modifications, are monitored to ensure that
changes in asset lives or impairments (see “Asset Impairments”) are identified and prospective depreciation expense or impairment expense is adjusted
accordingly. Linde’s largest asset values relate to cryogenic air-separation production plants with depreciable lives of principally 15 years.

Based upon the assets as of December 31, 2019, if depreciable lives of wmachinery and equipment, on average, were increased or decreased by one year,
annual depreciation expense would be decreased by approximately $471 million or increased by approximately $618 million, respectively.

See Notes 3, 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.
Amortization of Other Intangible Assets

Linde’s net other intangible assets at December 31, 2019 was $16,137 million, representing 19% of the company’s consolidated totat assets, including
$1,870 million of indefinite-lived intangibles. Amortizaticn expense related to finite-lived intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $735
million, or 3% of total operating costs. Management judgment is required in the determination of the estimated amortizable lives that are used o calculate the
annual amortization expense and accumulated amortization. See Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Based upon the assets as of December 31, 2019, if amortization lives of other intangible assets, on average, were increased or decreased by one year,
annual amartization expense would be decreased hy approximarely $33 million or increased by approximately $36 million, respectively.

See Nates 3, 9, and 12 to the consclidated financial statements for additional information.
Revenue Recognition
Long-Term Construction Contracts

The company designs and manufaciures equipment for air separation and other varied gas production and processing plants manufactured specifically
for end customers. Revenue from sale of equipment is generally recognized over time as Linde has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date and performance does not create an asset with alternative use. For contracts recognized over time, revenue is recognized primarily using a
cost incurred input method. Costs incurred to date relative to total estimated costs at completion are used to measure progress toward satisfying performance
obligations. Costs incurred include material, labor, and overhead costs and represent work contributing and proportionate to the transfer of control ta the
customer. Contract modifications are typically accounted for as part of the existing contract and are recognized as a cumulative adjustment for the inception-
to-date effect of such change. We assess performance as progress towards completion is achieved on specific projects, earnings will be impacted by changes
to our forecast of revenues and costs on these projects.

Pension Benefits

Pension benefits represent financial obligations that will be ultimately settled in the future with employees who meet eligibility requirements. Because
of the uncertainties involved in estimating the timing and amount of future payments, significant estimates are required to calculate pension expense and
liabilities related to the company’s plans. The company utilizes the services of independent actuaries, whose models are used to facilitate these calculations,

Several key assumptions are used in actuarial models to calculate pension expense and liability amounts recorded in the financial statements.
Management believes the three most significant variables in the models are the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, the discount rate, and the
expected rate of compensation increase, The actuarial models also use assumptions for various other factors, including employee turnover, retirement age, and
mortality. Linde management believes the assumptions used in the actuarial calculations are reasonable, reflect the company’s experience and expectations for
the future and are within accepted practices in each of the respective geographic locations in which it operates. Actuval results in any given year will often
differ from actuarial assumptions because of economic and other factors. The sensitivities to each of the key assumptions presented below exclude the impact
of special items that occurred during the year (e.g., divestiture-related settlement charges, setdement charges resulting from change in control provisions,
eic.).

The weighted-average expected long-term rates of return on pension plan assets were 7.27% for U.S. plans and 5.15% for international plans for the
year ended December 31, 2019 (7.62% and 5.13%, respectively at December 31, 2018). The expected long-term rate of return on the U.S. and international
plan assets is estimated based on the plans' invesunent strategy and asset allocation, historical capital market performance and, to a lesser extent, historical
plan performance. A 0.50% change in these expected long-term rates of return, with all other variables held constant, would change Linde’s pension expense
by approximately $44 million.

The company has consistently used a market-related value of assets rather than the fair value at the measurement date to determine annual pension
expense. The market-related value recognizes investment gains or losses over a five-year period. As a result, changes in the fair value of assets from year to
year are not immediately reflected in the compary’s annual pension expense. Instead, annual pension expense in future periods will be impacted as deferred
investment gains or losses are recognized in the market-related value of assets over the five-year period. The consolidated market-related value of assets was
$8,778 million, or $158 million lower than the fair value of assets of $8,936 million at December 31, 2019. These net deferred investment losses aof $158
millien will be recognized ia the calculaton of the market-related value of assets ratably over the next four years and will impact future pension expense.
Future actual investment gains or losses will impact the market-related value of assets and, therefore, will impact future annual pension expense in a similar
manner.

Discount rates are used to calculate the present value of plan liabilities and pension costs and are determined annually by management. The company
measures the service and interest cost components of pension and OPEB expense for significant U.S. and international plans using the spot rate approach.
U.S. plans that do not use the spot rate approach centinue to determine discount rates by using a cash flow matching model provided by the company's
independent actuaries. The model includes a portfolio of corporate bonds graded Aa or better by at least half of the ratings agencies and matches the U.S.
plans’ projected cash flows to the calculated spot rates. Piscount rates for the remaining international plans are based on market yields for high-quality fixed
income investments representing the approximate duration of the pension liabilities on the measurement

49



Table of Contents

date. Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements for a summary of the discount rates used to calculate plan liabilities and benefit costs, and to
the Retirement Benefits section of the Consolidated Results and Other Information section of this MD&A for a further discussion of 2019 benefit costs. A
0.50% reduction in discount rates, with all other variables held constant, would increase Linde’s pension expense by approximately $29 million whereas a
0.50% increase in discount rates would result in a decrease of $25 million, A 0.50% reduction in discount rates would increase the PBO by approximately
$976 million whereas a 0.50% increase in discount rates would have a favorable impact to the PBO of approximately $855 miltion.

The weighted-average expected rate of compensation increase was 3.25% for U.S, plans and 2.46% for international plans at December 31, 2019
{3.25% and 2.38%, respectively, al December 31, 2018). The estimated annual campensation increase is determined by management every vear and is based
on historical trends and market indices. A 0.50% change in the expected rate of compensation increase, with all other variables held constant, would change
Linde’s pension expense by approximately $8 million and would impact the PBO by approximately $65 million.

Asset Impairments
Goodwill and Other Indefinite-Lived Intangibles Assets

At December 31, 2019, the company had goodwili of $27,019 million and $1,870 million of ather indefinite-lived intangible assets. Goodwill
represents the aggregate of the excess considevation paid for acquired businesses over the fair value of the net assets acquired. Indefinite-lived other
intangibles relate to the Linde name.

The company performs a goodwill impairment test annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may have
been incurred. During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2019, the company changed the date of its annual poodwill impairment test from April 30 to October 1.
The change was made to more closely align the impairment testing date with the company’s planning process. The change in annual impairment testing date
did not delay, accelerate or aveid an impairment charge, The company has determined this change in the method of applying an accounting principle is
preferable.

The impairment tests performed during the secend and fourth quarters of 2019 indicated no impairment. At December 31, 2019, Linde’s enterprise
value was approximately $125 billion (outstanding shares multiplied by the year-end stock price plus net debt, and without any control preminm) while its
total capital was approximately $63 billion.

The impairment test allows an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unic is
less than carrying value. if it is determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than carrying value then the company
will estimate and compare the fair value of its reporting units to their carrying value, including goodwill. Reporting units are determined based on one level
below the operating segment level. In estimating the fair value of each reporting unit, management applied a mulitple of earnings from a peer group to the
comnpany’s forecasted earnings for the year ending December 31, 2019. The peer group is comprised of comparable entities with similar operations and
economic characteristics.

Such analysis requires the use of certain market assumptions and discount faciors, which are subjective in nature. As applicable, estimated values can
be affected by many factors beyond the company's control such as business and economic trends, government reguladon, and technological changes.
Management believes that the quantitative and qualitative factors used to perform its annual goedwill impairment assessment are appropriate and reasonable.
Although the 2019 assessment indicated that it is more likely than not that the fair value of each reporiing unit exceeded its carrying value, changes in
circumstances ot conditions affecting this analysis could have a significant impact on the fair value determinaion, which could then result in a material
impairment charge to the company's results of operations, Reporting units with greater conceniration of Linde AG assets fair valued during the recent merger
are at greater risk of impairment in future periods.

Other indefinite-lived intangible assets from Linde AG recently fair valued are evaluated for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events

and circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may have been incurred, and no impairments were indicated.

See Notes 3, 11 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment and finite-lived other intangible assets, are rested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circurnstances indicate that the carrying amount of an individual asset or asset group may not be recoverable. For purposes of this test, asset groups are
determined based upon the lowest level for which
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there are independent and identifiable cash flows. Based upon Linde's business model, for propesty, plant and equipment an asset group may be a single plant
and relaied assets used to support on-site, merchant and packaged gas customers. Alternatively, the asset group may be a pipeline complex which includes
multiple interdependent plants and related assets connected by pipelines within a geographic area used to support the same distribution methods.

Income Tuxes

At December 31, 2019, Linde had deferred tax assets of $2,179 million (net of valuation allowances of $222 million), and deferred tax liabilities of
$8,825 million. At December 31, 2019, uncertain tax positions totaled $472 million (see Notes 2 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements). Income tax
expense was $769 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, or about 26.3% of pre-tax income (see Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements for
additional information related to taxes).

In the preparation of consolidated financial statements, Linde estirnates income taxes based on diverse legislative and regulatory structures that exist in
various jurisdictions where the company conducts business. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities represent tax benefits or obligations that arise from
temporary differences due to differing treatment of certain items for accounting and income tax purposes. Linde evaluates deferred tax assets each period to
ensure that estimated future taxable income will be sufficient in character (e.g. capital gain versus ordinary income teatment), amount and timing to result ia
their recovery. A valuation allowance is established when management determines that it is more likely than not that a deferred tax asset will not be realized
to reduce the assets to their realizable value. Considerable judgments are required in establishing deferred tax valuation allowances and in assessing exposures
related to tax matters. As events and circumstances change, related reserves and valuation allowances are adjusted to income at that time. Linde’s tax returns
are subject to audit and local taxing authorities could challenge the company’s tax positions. The company's practice is to review tax filing positions by
jurisdiction and to record provisions for uncertain inconie tax positions, including interest and penalties when applicable. Linde believes it records and/or
discloses such potential tax liabilities as appropriate and has reasonably estimated its income tax liabilities and recoverable tax assets. If new information
becomes available, adjustments are charged or credited against income at that time. Management does not anticipate that such adjustments would have a
material adverse effect on the company’s consclidated financial position or liquidity; however, it is possible that the final outcomes could have a material
impact on the company’s repoyted results of operations.

Contingencies

The company accrues liabilities for non-income tax contingencies when management believes that a loss is probable and the amounts can be reasonably
estimated, while contingent gains are recognized only when realized or realizable. [f new information becomes available or losses are sustained in excess of
recorded amounts, adjustments are charged against income at that time. Management dees not anticipate that in the aggregate such losses would have a
material adverse effect on the company’s consclidated financial position or liguidity; however, it is possible that the final outcomes ceuld have a material
impact on the company’s reported results of eperations.

Linde is subject to various claims, legal proceedings and government investigations that arise from time te time in the ordinary course of business,
These actions are based upon alteged environmental, tax, antitrust and persenal injury claims, among others (see Note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements). Such contingencies are significant and the accounting requires considerable management judgments in analyzing each matter to assess the likely
outcome and the need for establishing appropriate liabilities and providing adequate disclosures. Linde believes it records and/or discloses such contingencies
as appropriate and has reasenably estimated its liabilities.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

See Nate 2 to the consolidated financial statements for information concerning new accounting standards and the impact of the implementation of these
standards on the company’s financial staternents.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Linde does not expect changes in the aggregate fair value of its financial assets and liabilities te have a material impact on the consclidated financial
statemnents. See Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SUPPLEMENTAL PRO FORMA INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION

To assist with a discussion of the 2019 and 2018 results on a comparable basis, certain supplemental upaudited pro forma income statement information is
provided on both a consolidated and segment basis (referred to as "pro forma Income Statement Information” or "pro forma informaton").

The pro forma information has been prepared on a basis consistent with Article 11 of Regulation S-X, assuming the merger and the merger-related
divestitures had been consummated on January 1, 2015 and includes adjustments for (1) the preliminary purchase accounting impacts of the merger, including
increased amortization expense on acquired inangible assets, increased depreciation on property, plant and equipment and lower interest expense due o
revaluing existing debt to fair value, (2} conversion to US GAAP from 1FRS for Linde AG, (3) accounting policy alignment, (4) the elimination of the impact
of transactions between Praxair and Linde AG, (5) the elimination of the effect of events that are directly atributable to the Merger Agreement and (6) the
elimination of the effect of consummated and probable divestitures required as a condition of the approval for the merger. In preparing this pro forma
information, the historical financial information has been adjusted to give effect to pro forma Adjustments that are (i) directly atiributable ta the business
combination and other wansactions presented herein, such as the merger-related divesitures, {ii) factually supportable, and (iif) expecied to have a continuing
impact on the combined entity’s censolidated results.

The pro forma information is based en management's assumptions and is presented for illustrative purposes and does not purport te represent what the resulis
of operations would actually bave been if the merger and merger-related divestitures had occurred as of the dates indicated or what the tesults would be for
any future periods. Also, the pro forma information does not include the impact of any revenue, cost or other operating synergies that may resuit from the
merger or any related restructuring costs. Events that are not expected to have a continuing impact on the combined results (e.g. inventory step-up costs, non-
recurring income/charges) are excdluded from the unaudited pro forma information.

The unaudited pro forma income statement has been presented for informaticnal purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of what Linde's results of
operation actually would have been had the merger been completed on January 1, 2018. In addition, the vnaudited pro forma income starement does not
purport to project the furure operating results of the company.

The pro forma Income Statement Information are ncluded in the foliowing schedules:

- Year ended December 31, 2019 pro forma Income Statement Information

- Year ended December 31, 2018 pro forma Income Statement Information

Refer to an earlier section in this MD&A titled "Merger of Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG”.
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YEAR TO DATE DECEMBER 31, 2019 PRG FORMA INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION

(Millions of dollars, except per share data)

Sales
Cnst of sales, exclusive of depreciation

Selling, general and administrative
As a % of Sales
Depreciation and amortizadon

Research and development
Cost reduction programs and other charges
Net gain on sale of businesses

Other income {expense) - net
Operaling profit

Qperating margin
Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service costs

Interest expense - net
Income taxes

Effective Tax Rate
Income from equity investments
Noncontrolling interests from continuing operations
Income [rom tondauing opecations
Diluted shares outstanding
Diluted EPS from continuing operations
SEGMENT SALES
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Engineering
Other
Segment sales
SEGMENT OPERATING PROFIT
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Engineering
Other
Segment opetating profit
Cost redirction programs and other charges
Net gain on sale of businesses
Purchase accontting impacts - Linde AG

Total operating profit

(UNAUDITED)
Pro forma Adjustments
Linde plc Divestitures
Reported (@) Other Total Pro Forma
b 28228 § (65) % —_ 5 (65) § 28,163
16,644 (48) 12y (b) (60) 16,584
3.457 (6] (1) 3,456
12.2% 12.3%
4,675 — 4675
184 —_ 184
567 15 (o (150) 377
64 (164)  (d) (164) —
68 — 68
2,933 (16) 38 22 2,953
10.4% 14.5%
(32) (87 (&) (97) (129)
38 — 38
769 (5) S0 (20 749
26.3% 24.6%
114 — 114
(89) - (89
$ 2,183 § (3 1530 5 139 5 2,322
545,170 545,170 545,170
3 400 S 025 $ 4.2>
5 10993 § 43 — 5 45 10,989
6,643 — 6.643
5,839 (60) (60) 5,779
2,79 —_ 2,799
1,954 (n n 1,953
§ 28,228 § {63) 3 = 3 (65) 3 28,163
$ 2,578 § ()3 — 5 ms 2,577
1,367 1.367
1,198 (14) (14) 1,184
390 390
(245) ) () (246
5,288 (16) — (16) 5,272
(567) — (567)
164 — 164
(1,952) — (1,952)
5 2933 S (16} & — 5 {16) % 2917
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2019 Pro forma adjustments

(@ Ty eliminate the results of Praxair's merger-related divestitures,

(b) To elimmate the impact of the inventory step-up recorded in purchase accounting for the merger. This item is nonrecurring in natwre, directly attribuiable to the merger and
occurred within one year of the transaction.

{c} To eliminate the transaction costs and other charpes telated o the merger. These transaction costs are nonrecurring, directly attributable to the merger, and incremental. See
Note 5 1o the consolidated financial statements.

{9 T4 eliminate the gain on merger related divestituees.
(2} To climinate pension settfement charges related to the merger.

) To eliminate the income tax impacts of Other adjustments.
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YEAR TO DATE DECEMBER 31, 2018 PRO FORMA INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION
{Millions of dellars, except per share data)

Sales
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation
Selling, general and administrative
As a % of Sales
Depreciation and amortization
Research and development
Cost reduction pragrams and other charges
Other income (expense) - net
Operating profit

Operating margin

Net pension and GPER cost (benefit),
excluding service costs

Interest expense - net
Income taxes
Effective Tax Rate

Income from equity investments

Noncontrolling interests from continning
operations

Income frem continuing operations
[iluted shares outstanding
Diluted EPS from continuing operaticas
SEGMENT SALES
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Engineering
Other
Segment sales
SEGMENT OPERATING PROFIT
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Engineering
Other
Segment operating profit
Cost reduction programs and other charges
Gain on sale of businesses
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG

Total operating profit

(UNAUDITED)
Pro forma Adjustments
Burchase
Linde pic Linde AG Accounting Pro Forma
(@ () Divestitures(c)  {(d) Other Total Linde plc
$ 14836 § 16929 § {3,598 § — 5 (83) (& § 13248 5 28084
9,020 10,515 {2,155) — (431) (&) 7,909 16,929
1,629 2,370 (364) —_ — 2,006 3,635
11.0% 12.0%
1,830 1,570 (337) 1,861 — 3,094 4924
113 B8 -— — — a8 201
309 323 — — (576) (£ (253) 56
3.312 204 — _— (3,294) (3) {3.090) 222
5,247 2,267 (742) (L861) (2,350) (2,686) 2,561
33.4% 5.1%
) (159} @ — — (161) (165)
202 k) 72) (83 — 177 379
817 634 87) @30)  (264) (@) (147) 670
16.2% 28.5%
56 an (31) (53) — @) 52
(13) (144 19 140 — 15 —
§ 4273 % 1,39 {593) § (1,261) § (2,086) $ (2544 $ 179
334,127 221,024  (h) 535151
§ 1279 5 (968 MmE 31
§ 8017 $ 4,352 (1,768) £ (62) (&) § 2522 $ 10,539
2,644 5,809 (1,463) 1 (o) a3a7 6,591
2,446 3,851 {329) (18) (e) 3,504 5950
459 2,333 —_ — fe) 2,333 2,792
1,270 584 (38) @ () 542 1,812
$ 14,836 % 16,929 (3.598) & — 5 83 $ 13,248 $ 28084
$ 2053 5 714 (327) k3 (N (i) 8 380 $ 2433
481 1,230 (324) (43) (i) 863 1,244
465 686 (82) (40) (i) 564 1.029
14 276 — G) () 271 285
(37) (316) (9) a7 () (258) (295)
2,976 2,590 (742) @8 1,820 4,79
(309) (323) 632 309 —
3,204 (3,254} (3,294) —
(714) 714 714 —
$ 5247 5 2267 § (742) 5 (1,576) $ (451) $ 4796
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2018 Pro forma adjusiments
(a) To include Linde ple consolidated results for the year ended December 31, 2018. Note that the results include the performance of Praxair's Enrepear industrial gases business through December
3, 2018 and the results of Linde AG (rom Qclober 31, 2018 (menger date) tirongh December 31, 2018. The adjustments reflect reclassifications o conform w Linde ple's reporting {ormadt.

(b) To include Linde AG consolidated results for the period prior to the merger date at October 31, 2018, The adjustments reflect reclassifications to conform to Linde plc's reporting format and
adjustments from IFRS 1o U.5. GAAP.

(c) To eliminate the resulls of merger-related divestitures required by regulatary autharities to secure approval for the Merger. These divestitures include the majority of Praxair's Evropean
industrial gases business (completed December 3, 2018), a significant portion of Linde AG's America's industrial gases business (completed on March 1, 2019), select assets of Linde AG's South
Korean industrial gases husiness (completed April 30, 2019), as well as certain divestitares of other Praxair and Linde AG businesses in Asia,

(d) To intlude purchase accounting adjustments for the period from January 1, 2018 to October 30, 2018 (prior to the Merger). This relates to (i) additional depreciation and amertization related o
the increased value of of property, plant and equipmnent and increased basis of intangible assets, (i) interest expense impacts related to the fair value of deby, (iii) the tax impacts related to the non-
GAAP adjustments above, (iv) income trom equity investments equity related 1o the fair value of equity investments, and (v) nencontrolling interests adjustments related to the fair value
adjustments above. Purchase accounting impacts are not included in the definition of segment operating profit; therefore, no pro forma adjustment is required for segment reporting.

(c) To climinate sales between Praxair and Linde AG for the period priar to the Merger date at October 31, 2018 (January 1, 2018 to October 30, 2018). (¢} also includes a $368 million impact for
the fair value step-up of inventories acquired in the merger. This charge is recorded in cost of sales and subseguently eliminated.

([} Ta eliminate the transaction costs and other chavges related 10 the Merger.

(g} 1o retlect the income tax impact ot the above pro torma adjustments.

(h) To reflect the impact oo diluted shares outstanding and diluted EP5 related o ordinary shares issues w Linde AG shareholders in connection with the Merger.

(i) To eliminare other {(incorne) charges not in¢luded in segment operating profit, primarily related to a gain on a sale of business in EMEA and 4 gain on a sale of asset in APAC.
(§) To eliminate the gain on merger related divestitures.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

The following non-GAAP measures are intended to supplement investors’ understanding of the company’s financial information by providing measures
which investors, financial analysts and management use to help evaluate the company’s financial leverage and operating performance. Special items which
the company does not believe to be indicative of cn-going business performance are excluded from these calculations so that investors can better evaluate and
analyze historical and future business trends on a consistent basis. Definitions of these non-GAAP measures may not be comparable te similar definitions
used by other companies and are not a substitute for similar GAAP measures.

The non-GAAP measures in the following reconciliations are presented in the Selected Financial Data (Item 6) or this MD&A.

Adjusted Amounts
Certain amounts for 2019, 2018, and 2017 have been included for reference purposes and to facilitate the calculations contained herein.

{Dottar amounts in millions, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017
Adjusted Pro Forma Operating Profit and Margin
Reported operating profit $ 2933 % 5247  § 2,444
Pro forma adjustments (a) 22 (2,686) N/A

Pro forma 2,955 2,561 N/A
Non-GAAP Adjustments:
Add: Cest reduction programs and other charges 377 53 52
Less: Net gain on sale of businesses — (51} —
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (d) 1,940 2,233 —

Total adjustments 2,317 2,235 52

Adjusted pro farma operating profit b 5,272 % 4,796 N/A
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Adjnsted nperating profit $ 2,496
Reported percent change {44.1)% 114.7%
Adjusted pro forma percent change 99% N/A
Reported sales $ 28,228 $ 14,836  $ 11,358
Pro forma sales (a) 28,163 28,084 N/A
Reported operating margin 10.4 % 35.4% 21.5%
Pro forma operating margin 10.5 % 9.1% N/A
Adjusted pro forma operating margin 18.7 % 17.1% N/A

Adjusted Pro Forma Depreciation and amortization

Repaorted depreciation and amortization % 4,675 $ 1,830 % 1,184

Pro forma adjustments (a) — 3,094 N/A
Pro forma 4,675 4,924 N/A

Non-GAAP Adjustments;

Less: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (d) (1,940) (2,233) —

Adjusted pro forma depreciation and amortization $ 2,735 3 2,691 N/A

Adjusted depreciation and amortization 3 1,184

Adjusted Pro Forma Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service

cost
Reported net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service cost $ 32) 3 4 % (4)
Pra forma adjustments (a} (97) (161) N/A

Pro forma (129} (165) N/A
Non-GAAP Adjustments:
Add: Pension plan reorganization charge - net (10} (14) (2)

Total adjustments (10) (14) (@)

Adjusted pro forma Net Pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service
costs 3 139y % (179) N/A
Adjusted Net Pension and OPEB cast (benefit), excluding service costs $ (5}

Adjusted Pro Forma interest Expense - Net

Reported interest expense - net 3 38 $ 202 3% 161
Pro forma adjustments (a) — 177 N/A
Pro forma 38 379 N/A
Non-GAAP Adjustments:
Less: Bond redemption — (26) -
Less: Loss on hedge portfolio unwind — (174} —
Add: Purchase accounting impacis - Linde AG (d) 96 100 —
Total adjustments 96 (100} -
Adjusted pro forma interest expense - net $ 134 $ 279 N/A
Adjusted interest expense - net $ 161

Adjusted Pro Forima Income Taxes(b)

Reported income taxes $ 769 $ 817 3% 1,026
Pro forma adjustiments (a) (20) (147} N/A
Pro forma 749 670 N/A

Non-GAAP Adjustments:
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Add: Bond redemption
Add: Pension setdement charge
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (d)
Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges
Add: Tax reform

Tota! adjustments
Adjusted pro forma income taxes

Adjusted income taxes

Adjusted Pro Forma Effective Tax Rate (b)
Reported income before income taxes and equity investments
Pro forma adjustments (a)

Pro forma
Non-GAAP Adjustments:
Add: Bond redemption
Add: Pension setdement charge
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (d}
Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges
Add: Pension plan reorganization charge - net
Add: Loss on hedge portfolio unwind
Less: Net gain on sale of businesses

Total adjusiments

Adjusted pro forma income before income taxes and equity investments

Adjusted income before income taxes and equity investments

Reported income taxes
Reported effective tax rate

Adjusted pro forma income taxes
Adjusted income taxes

Adjusted pro forma effective tax rate
Adjusted effective tax rate

Income from Equity Investments

Reporied income from equity invesuments

Pro forma adjustments (a)
Pro forma

Non-GAAP Adjustments:

Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (d)
Total adjustments

Adjusted pro forma income from equity investments

Adjusted income from equity investments

Adjusted Noncontralting Interests from Continuing Operations
Reported noncontrolling interests from continuing operations
Pro forma adjustments (a)

Pro forma
Non-GAAP adjustments:
Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges
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— 5 _—
— 3 L
447 516 —
71 {1 4
— 17 (304)
518 541 (389)
1,267 1,211 N/A
$ 637
2,927 5049 § 2,287
119 (2,702) N/A
3,046 2,347 N/A
— 26 —
— 14 2
1,844 2,133 —
377 53 52
10 — -
— 174 —
— (51) —
2,231 2,349 54
5,277 4,696 N/A
$ 2,341
769 817 $ 1,026
263% 16.2% 449%
1,267 1,211 N/A
3 637
24.0% 25.8% N/A
27.2%
14 56 % a7
— @ N/A
114 52 N/A
57 64 —
57 64 —
171 116 N/A
$ 4/
(89) (15 & (1)
— 15 N/A
(89) — N/A
(35) — —
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Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (d) (54) (168) —

Total adjustments (89) (168) —
Adjusted pro forma noncontrolling interests from continuing operations $ 178 % (168) N/A
Adjusted noncentrolling interests from continuing $ (61)
Adjusted Income from Continuing Operations (c)
Reported income from continuing operations 3 2183 3% 4273 $ 1,247
Pro forma adjustments (a} 139 (2,544) N/A

Pro forma 2,322 1,729 N/A

Non-GAAP adjustments:
Add: Pension settiement charge — 11 1
Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges 281 53 48
Less: Net gain on sale of business — (60 —
Add: Bond Redemption — 20 —
Add: Loss on hedge portfolio unwird o 174 —
Less: Other tax charges — 17y 394
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG 1,400 1,513 —

Total adjustments 1,681 1,704 443
Adjusted pro forma income from continuing cperations 3 4,003 % 3,433 N/A
Adjusted income from contiruing operations % 1,690

Adjusted Pro Forma Diluted EPS from Continuing Operations (¢}

Reported diluted EPS from continuing operations $ 400 $ 1279 § 4.32
Pro forma adjustments {a} 0.25 (9.68) N/A
Pro forma 4.25 31 N/A
Non-GAAP adjustments:
Add: Pension setttement charge — 0.03 —
Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges 0.52 0.09 0.17
Less: Net gain on sale of business — (0.09) —
Add: Bond redemption — 0.04 —
Add: Loss on hedge portfolio unwind — 0.31 —
Less Income rax reform — (0.03) 1.36
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG 2.57 2.73 —
Total adjustments 3.09 3.08 153
Adjusted pro forma diluted EPS from continuing operations $ 734 3 6.19 N/A
Adjusted diluted EPS from continuing aperations % 5.85

Adjusted Pro Forma EBITDA and % of Sales

Income from continuing operations % 2,183 % 4,273 % 1,247
Add: Noncontrolling interests related to continuing operations 89 15 61
Add: Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service cost (32) {4} {4)
Add: Interest expense 38 202 161
Add: Income taxes 769 817 1,026
Add: Depreciation and amortization 4,675 1,830 1,184
EBITDA from continuing operations 7,722 7,133 3,675
Pro forma adjustments (a}

Add: Linde AG consolidated results — 3,917 N/A
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG 12 315 N/A
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Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges 130 576 N/A

Less: Net gain on sale of businesses (164) {3,294) N/A

Less: Divestitures (16) (1,110) N/A

Pro forma adjustments 22 404 N/A

Pro forma EBITDA from continuing operations 7,744 7,637 N/A

Non-GAAP adjustments:

Less: Net gain on sale of business — (51) —

Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges 377 53 52

Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG 57 64 —
Tatal adjusunents 434 56 52

Adjusted pro formna EBITDA from continuing operatons $ 8,178 5 7,603 N/A

Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations $ 3,727

Reported sales $ 28,228 5 14836 % 11,358

Pro forma sales 3 28,163 3 28,084 N/A

% of sales

EBITDA from centinuing operations 274 % 48.1% 32.4%

Pro forma EBITDA from continwing operations 275% 26.8% N/A

Adjusted pro forma EBITDA from continuing operations 29.6% 27.1% NrA

Adjusied EBITDA from continuing operations 32.8%

() See pro forma Income Siatecnent Information in the preceding sections.

(b) The income tax expense {benelit) on the non-GAAP pre-tax adjustments was determined using the applivable tax rates for the jurisdictions that were utilized in caluulating the GAAP income tax
expense (benetit) and included beth current and deferved income cax amaounts.

() Net of income taxes which are shown separately in “ Adjusted Income Taxes and Effective Tax Rate”.

(d) The company believes that its non-GA AP measures excluding Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG are useful o inves[qrs because: (i) the business combination was a merger of equals in
an all-stock merger wansactian, with no cash consideration, (i) the company is managed on & geographic basis and the results of vertain geographies are more heavily impacied by purchase
accouniing than others, causing results that are not comparable at the reportable segment level, therefore, e impacrs of purchasing accounting adjusiments to each segment vary and are not
comparable within the company and when compared 10 other commpanies in similar regions, (in) business management is evaluated and variable conmpensation is deterinined based on resulis
excluding purchase accounting impacts, and; (iv} it s Lnpocant to ivestors and analyses to anderstand the purchase accounting impacts to the financial statements.

A summary of each of the adjustments made for Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG are as follows:

Adjusted Operating Profit and Margin: 'The purchase accounting adjustments for the year ended December 31, 2019 include (i) a $12 miillion adjustment for the increase in cost of sales related 10
the tair value step up of inventories acquired in the merger {included as a pro forma adjustment), and (i) $1,940 in depreciation and amortization related to the fair value step up of fixed assets and
intangible assets (primarily customer related) acquired in the merger.

Adrusted Interest Expense - Net: Relates to the amontization of the fair value of debt acquired in the merger.

Adjusted Income Taxes and Effective Tax Rate; Relates 1o the current and deferred income tax impact on the adjustments discussed above. 'he income tax expense (benefit) on the non-G AAP pre-
tax adjustments was detetmined using the applicable tax 1ates for the julisdictions that were utilized in calculating the GAAP income tax expense (benedit) and included both current and delerved
income tax amounts.

Adjusted Income from Equity Investments: Represents the amertization of ircreased fair value on equity investmients related tw depreciable and amortizable assets.

Adjusted Noncontralimg Interests from Continuing Operations: Represents the noncontrolling interests’ uwnership portion of the adjustments described above determined on an entity by entity
basis.
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Net Debt and Adjusted Net Debt

Net debt is a financial liquidity measure used by investors, financial analysts and management to evaluate the ability of a company to repay its debt. Purchase
accounting impacts have been excluded as they are non-cash and do not have an impact on liquidity.

December 31, December 31,
2019 2018

(Millions of dottars)

Debt $ 13956 $ 15,296
Less: cash and cash equivalents (2,700) (4,466)
Net debt 11,256 10,830
Less: purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (195) (251)
Adjusted net debt $ 11,061 $ 10,539
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Linde is exposed to market risks relating to fluctuations in interest rates and currency exchange rates. The objective of financial risk management at
Linde is to minimize the negative impact of interest rate and foreign exchange rate fluctuations on the company’s earnings, cash flows and equity.

To manage these risks, Linde uses various derivative financial instruments, inclnding interest-rate swaps, treasury rate locks, currency swaps, forward
contracts, and commodity contracts. Linde only uses commonly traded and non-leveraged instruments. These contracts are entered into primarily with major
banking institutions thereby minimizing the risk of credit loss. Also, see Notes 2 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements for a more complete
description of Linde’s accounting policies and use of such instruments,

The following discussion presents the sensitivity of the market value, earnings and cash flows of Linde’s financial instruments te hypothetical changes
in interest and exchange rates assuming these changes occurred at December 31, 2019, The range of changes chosen for these discussions reflects Linde’s
view of changes which are reasonably possible over a one-year period. Market values represent the present values of projected future cash flows based on
interest rate and exchange rate assumptons.

Interest Rate Risk

At December 31, 2019, Linde had debt totaling $13,956 million ($15,296 million at December 31, 2018). For fixed-rate instruments, interest rate
changes affect the fair market value but do not impact earnings or cash flows. Conversely, for floating-rate instruments, interest rate changes generally do not
affect the fair market value of the instrument but impact future eamings and cash flows, assuming that other factors are held constant. At December 31, 2019,
including the impact of derivatives, Linde had fixed-rate debt of $10,799 million and flcating-rate debt of $3,157 million, representing 77% and 23%,
respectively, of total debt. At December 31, 2018, Linde had fixed-rate debt of $12,565 million and floating-rate debt of $2,731 million, representing 82% and
18%, respectively, of total debt.

Fixed Rate Debt

In order to mitigate interest rate risk, when considered appropriate interest-rate swaps are entered inio as hedges of underlying financial instruments to
effectively change the characteristics of the interest rate without actually changing the underlying financial instrument. At December 31, 2019, Linde had
fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps outstanding that were designated as hedging instruments of the underlying debt issuances - refer to Note 14 to the
consolidated financtal statements for addisional information. This sensitivity analysis assumes that, holding all other variables constant (such as foreign
exchange rates, swaps and debt levels), a one hundred basis point increase in interest rates would decrease the unrealized fair market value of the fixed-rate
debt portfolio by approximately $473 million {$594 millian in 2018). A one hundred basis point increase in interest rates would result in an approximate $73
million increase to derivative assets recorded.

Variable Rate Debt

At December 31, 2019, the after-tax earnings and cash flows impact of a one hundred basis point increase in interest rates, including offsetting impact
of derivatives, on the variable-rate debi portfolio would be approximately $48 milkion ($24 million in 2018).

Foreign Currency Risk

Linde’s exchange-rate expusures result primarily from its investments and angoing operations in Latin America (primarily Brazil, Chile and Colombia),
Europe (primarily Germany, Scandinavia, and the United Kingdom}, Canada, Mexico, Asia Pacific {primarily Australia, China) and other business
transactions such as the procurement of equipment from foreign sources. Linde frequently utilizes currency contracts to hedge these exposures. At
December 31, 2019, Linde had a notional amount gutstanding of $9,713 million (39,412 million at December 31, 2018) related 1o foreign exchange conuracts.
The majority of these were to hedge recorded halance sheet exposures, primarily intercompany loans denominated in non-functional currencies. See Note 14
to the consolidated financial statements.

Holding all other variables constant, if there were a 10% increase in foreign-currency exchange rates for the portfolio, the fair market value of foreign-
currency contracts outstanding at December 31, 2019 would increase by approximately $194 million and at December 31, 2018 wauld decrease by
approximately $307 million, which would be largely offset by an offsetting loss or gain on the foreign-currency fluctuation of the underlying exposure being
hedged.
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MANAGEMENT’S STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Linde’s consolidated financial statements are prepared by management, which is responsible for their fairness, integrity and objectivity. The
accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America applied
on a consistent basis, except for accounting changes as disclosed, and include amounts that are estimates and judgments. All historical financial information
in this annual report is consistent with the accompanying financial statements.

Linde maintains accounting systems, including internal accounting controls, monitored by a staff of internal auditors, that are designed to provide
reasonable assurance of the reliability of financial records and the protection of assets. The concept of reasonable assurance is based on recognition that the
cost of a system should not exceed the related benefits. The effectiveness of those systems depends primarily upon the careful selection of financial and other
rmanagers, clear delegartion of authority and assignment of accountability, inculcation of high business ethics and conflict-of-interest standards, policies and
procedures for coordinating the management of corporate resources, and the leadership and commitment of top management. In compliance with Section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Linde assessed its internal rontrol over financial reporting and issued a report {see below).

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which consists solely of non-employee directors, is responsible for overseeing the functioning of the
accounting system and related controls and the preparation of annual financial statements. The Audit Commitice periodically meets with managemient,
internal auditors and the independent accountants to review and evaluate their accounting, auditing and financial reporting activities and responsibilites,
including management’s assessment of internal control over financial reperting. The independent registered public accounting fum and internal auditors have
full and free access to the Audit Committee and meet with the committee, with and without management present.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Linde’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is definad in
Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the company’s principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, the company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of its miernal control over firancial reperting based on the framework in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013} issued by the Committee of Sponsering Organizations of the Treadway Commission (often referred (o as
COS0). Based on this evaluation, management concluded that the company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2019.

Linde’s evaluation of internat contrel over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 did not include the internal control over financial reporting
related to Linde AG which was acquired by Praxair in a merger accounted for as a business combination. In connection with its antitrust review of the
transaction, the U.S. Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”) imposed a Hold Separate Order (the “HSO”) on Linde that was lifted on March 1, 2019 after all
required asset divestitures in the U.S. were completed. The HSO required the companies te continue to operate globally as separate and independent
companies apart from each other in all material respects. As such, the HSO regulatory restrictions prohibited Linde from being able to perform procedures
necessary te complete an overall assessment of Linde AG’s disparate internal control environment with operations in over 100 countries. Because of this, the
assessment of Linde AG’s internal control environment could oaly begin after the HSO was terminated on March 1, 2019, and as such Linde AG has been
excluded from the overall Linde internal control assessment as of December 31, 2019.

Total assets and sales for Linde AG represent approximately 23% and 62%, respectively, of the related cansolidated financial statement amounts as of
and for the year erded December 31, 2019,

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited and issued their opinion on the effectiveness of the
company’s internal contrel over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 as stated in their report.

/s/  STEPHEN I. ANGEL //  KELCEY L. HOYT
Stephen F. Angel Kelcey E, Hoyt
Chief Executive Officer Chief Accogunting Officer

{5/ MATTHEW J. WHII+

Matthew I, White
Chief Financial Officer

March 2, 2020
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Sharehelders of Linde plc

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Linde plc and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the
related consolidated statements of income, of comprehensive income, of equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December
31, 2019, including the related notes {collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements™). We also have audited the Company's intemal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in internal Control - Integrated Framework {2013) issued by the Commitiee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission {(COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Controf - Integrated Framework
{2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

‘The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal contro] over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Acceunting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial staternents are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or frand, and whether effective intarnal
control over financial reporting was maintained inr all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included perforining procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statemnents, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financizl statements. Our audit of internal
control aver financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of imernal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our andits also included performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that owr andits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

As described in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management has excluded Linde Aktiengesellschaft ("Linde AG") from
its assessment of internal contrel over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 because it was acguired in a merger accounted for as a business
combination during 2018 and suhject to a hold separate order issued by the U.S. Federal Trade Commission until March 2019. We have also excluded Linde
AG from our audit of internal control over financial reporting. Linde AG is a wholly-owned subsidiary whose total assets and total sales excluded from
management's assessment and our audit of internal control over financial reporting represent approximately 23% and 62%, respectively, of the related
consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control gver financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
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generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately artd fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide
reasonable assurance thar wansactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accerdance with authorizations of management and directors
of the company; and {iii} pravide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cantrol over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evalnation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the paolicies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters commumcated below are matters arising [rom e cunent period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the conselidated
financial statements and (i) involved cur especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters dees not alter
in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below,
providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Revenue Recognition - Estimated Costs at Completion

As described in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements, $2,799 million of the Company’s total revenues far the year ended December 31, 2019 was
generated from the sale of equipment contracts. Sale of equipment coniracts are generally comprised of a single performance obligation. Revenue from sate of
equipment is generally recognized over time as the Company has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date and performance does
nat create an asset with alternative use. For contracts recognized gver time, tevenue is recognized primarily using a cost incurred input method. Costs
incurred to date relative to total estimated costs at completion are used to measure progress toward satisfying performance obligations. Costs incurred include
material, labor, and overhead costs and represent work contributing and proportionate to the transfer of coutrol to the customer.

The principal considerations for eur determination that performing procedures relating to revenue recognition - estimated costs at completion is a critical audit
matter are there was significant judgment by management when developing the estimated costs at completion for the sale of equipment contracts. This in turn
led to a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evalvating audit evidence relating to the estimated costs at
completion and management's significant assumptions, including the estimated expected material and labor costs. In addition, the audit effort involved the use
of professionals with specialized skill and knewledge to assist in performing these procedures and evaluating the audit evidence obtained.

Addressing the matter involved perfonming procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. These procedures also included, among others, testing management’s pracess for developing the estimated costs at completion for the
sale of equipment contracts and evaluating the reasonableness of management’s significant assumptions, including the estimated expected material and labor
costs. Evaluating the reasonableness of management’s significant assumptions invalved evaluating management’s ability to reasonably estimate costs at
completion for the sale of equipment contracts on a sample basis by (i} performing a comparison of the originally estimated and actual costs incurred on
similar completed equipment contracts, and (ii) evaluating the timely identification of circumstances that may warrant a modification to estimated costs at
completion, including actual costs in excess of estimates, Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in evaluating management’s
estimates and assumptions relating te the expected material and labor costs.

Goodwill Impoirment Assessment

As described in Notes 2 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s consolidated goodwill balance was $27,019 million as of December
31, 2019. Management performs an impairment test anpually, or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may have been
incurred, The impairment test allows an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is
less than its carrying value. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
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value then management will estimate and compare the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying value, including goodwill. In estimating the fair value of c’*
each reporting unit, management applied a multiple of earnings from a peer group to the Company’s forecasted earnings for the year ending December 31,
2018. The peer group is comprised of comparable entities with similar aperations and economic characteristics.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the goodwill impairment assessment is a critical audit matter are
there was significant judgment by management when developing the fair value measurement of the reporting units. This in turn led te a high degree of auditor
judgment, subjectivity, and effort in perferming procedures and evaluating audit evidence relating to management’s significant assumptions for the multiples
of earnings from a peer group of comparable entities with similar operations and economic characteristics. In addition, the audit effort involved the use of
professionals with specialized skill and knowledge to assist in performing these procedures and evaluating the audit evidence obtained.

Addressing the matter invalved performing pracedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our averall opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to management’s geodwill impairment assessment, including
controls over the valuation of the Company’s reporting units. These procedures also included, amang others, i) testing management’s process for developing
the fair value measurement of the reporting units, i) evaluating the appropriateness of the multiples of earnings model, (iii) testing the completeness,
accuracy, and relevance of underlying data used in the model, and (iv) evaluating management’s significant assumptions for the multiples of eamings from a
peer group of comparable entities with similar operations and economic characteristics. Evaluating management’s assumptions related to the multiples of
earnings involved evaluating whether the assumptions used by management were reasonable considering (i} the consistency with external market and industry
data and (ii) whether the assumptions were consistent with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge
were used to assist in the evaluation of the Company’s multiples of earnings model and significant assumptions for the multiples of earnings from a peer
graup of comparable entities with similar operations and economic characteristics,

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Stamford, Connecticut
March 2, 2020

We have served as the Company’s or its predecessor’s auditor since 1992.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

{Dollar amounts in miilions, except per share data}

Year Ended December 31,

Sales

Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization

Selling, general and administrative

Depreciation and amortization

Research and development

Cast reduction programs and other charges

Net gain on sale of businesses

Other income (expenses) — net

Operating Profit

Intetest expense — net

Net pension and OPEB cost {benefit), excluding service cost
Income From Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes and Equity Investments
Income taxes on continuing operations

Income From Contineing Operations Before Equity Investments
Income from equity investments

Income From Continuing Operations (Including Noncontrolling Interests)
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax

Net Income (Including Noncontrolling Interests)

Less: noncontrolling interests from continuing operations

Less: noncontrelling interests from discontinued operatiens

Net Income — Linde plc

Net Income — Linde pic
Income from continuing operaticns
Income from discontinued operations

Per Share Data —Linde plc Shareholders

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations
Basic eamings per share from discontinued operations
Basic earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations
Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations
Diluted earnings per share

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding (000°s):
Basic shares outstanding
Diluted shares outstanding

The accompanying Notes are an integral pari of these financial staienments.
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2019 2013 2017
28,228 14836 $ 11,358
16,644 9,020 6,382

3,457 1,629 1,207
4,675 1,830 1,184
184 113 93
567 309 52
164 3,254 _
68 18 4
2,933 5,247 2,444
338 202 161
(32) ) )
2,927 5,049 2,287
769 817 1,026
2,158 4,232 1,261
114 56 47
2,272 4,288 1,308
109 117 —
2,381 4,405 1,308
@) - oQs) (61)
7) (9) —
2,285 4381 § 1,247
2,183 4273 % 1,247
102 108 $ —
4.03 1293 & 4.36
0.19 0.33 —
422 1326 & 4.36
4.00 1279 % 432
0.19 0.32 —
4.19 1311 % 4,32
541,094 330,401 286,261
545,170 334,127 289,114
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Dollar amounts in millions)

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017

NET INCOME (INCLUDING NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS) $ 2,381 % 4,405 % 1,308

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Translation adjustments:

Foreign currency translation adjustments 118 (401) 433
Redlassifications to net income (Note 4) 12 318 —
Income taxes 3 7 92
Translation adjustments 133 (76) 525
Funded status - retirement obligations {Note 18):
Retirement program Temeasurernents (B52) (260) (39)
Reclassifications to net income 154 94 55
Income taxes 154 (55) (5
Funded starus - retirement obligations (544) (221) 11
Derivative instruments (Note 14):
Current year unrealized gain (loss) (32) — e
Reclassifications to net income — (1) —
Income taxes 7 -— —
Derivative instruments (25} (1) —
Securities (Note 9):
Current year unrealized gain (logs) 1 1) —
Reclassifications to net income — — —
Income taxes —_ —_ —
Securities 1 (1} —
TOTAL QTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (435) (299) 536
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (INCLUDING NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS) 1,946 4,106 1,844
Less: noncorrolling interests (19) {83) (95)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - LINDE PLC 3 1927 5 4023 S 1,749

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Dollar amounts in mitlions)

December 31, 2019 2018
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents % 2,700 4,466
Accounts receivable — net 4,322 4,297
Contract assets 368 283
Inventories 1,657 1,651
Assets held for sale 125 5,498
Prepaid and other current assets 1,140 1,077
Total Current Assets 10,352 17,272
Property, plant and equipment — net 29,064 29,717
Eduily investments 2,027 1,838
Goodwill 27,018 26,874
Other intangible assets — net 16,137 16,223
Other long-term assets 2,013 1,462
Total Assets $ 86,612 93,386
Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable $ 3,266 3,219
Short-term debt 1,732 1,485
Current portion of long-ternn debt 1,531 1,523
Contract liabilities 1,758 1,546
Accrued taxes 370 657
Liabilities of assets held for sale 2 768
Other current liabilities 3,501 3,758
Total Current Liabilities 12,160 12,956
Long-term debt 10,693 12,288
Other long-term liabilities 4,888 3,435
Deferred credits 7,236 7,611
Total Ligbilities 34,977 36,290
Cemmitments and contingencies (Note 19)
Redeemable noncontrolling interests 113 16
Linde plc Shareholders’ Equity:
QOrdinary shares (€0.001 par value, anthorized 1,750,000,000 shares, 2019 issued: 552,012,862 ordinary
shares; 2018 issued: 551,310,272 ordinary shares) 1 1
Additional paid-in capital 40,201 40,151
Retained eamings 16,842 16,529
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (4,814) (4,456)
Less: Treasury stock, at cost (2019 — 17,632,318 shares and
2018 — 4,068,642 shares) (3,156} (629)
Total Linde plc Shareholders’ Equity 49,074 51,596
Noncontrolling interests 2,448 5,484
Total Equity 51,522 57,080
Total Liabilities and Equity 5 86,612 93,386

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
{Miliions of dollars)

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017
Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Operations
Net income — Linde plc $ 2285 & 4381 $ 1247
Less: income from discontinued operations, ner of ax and nonconwolling interests (102) (108) —
Add: Noncontrolling interests from continuing operations 89 15 61
[ncome from centinuing cperations (including noncontrolling interests) 5 2,272 § 4288 % 1,308
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Cost Reduction Programs and other charges, nel of payments (236) 40 26
Ameortization of merger-related inventory step-up 12 368 —
‘Tax Act income tax charge, net _ (61} 394
Depreciation and amortization 4,675 1,830 1,184
Dreferred income taxes, excluding Tax Act (303) (187) 136
Share-based compensation 95 62 59
Net gain on sale of businesses, net of rax (108) (2,923) —
Non-cash charges and other 27 175 43
Working, capital
Actounts receivable 80 (124) 92)
Contiact assets and liabilities, neg 87 — —
Invertory (81} S} (22)
Prepaid and other current assets (72) 43 (66)
Payables and accruals (174} 287 22
Pensian contributions (94) (87) (19)
Long-term assets, liabilities and other a3 (53) 68
Wet cash provided by operating activitjes 6,119 3,654 3,041
Investing
Capital expenditures (3.682) (1,883) (1.311)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired {225) (25) 33)
Divestitures and asset sales, net of cash divested 5,096 5,908 30
Cash acquired in merger transaction — 1,363 _
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities 1189 5,364 {1:414)
Finaneing
Short-term debt borrowings (repayments) — net 224 208 {199)
[.ong-term debt bormowings 99 8 11
Long-term debt repayments (1,583) (3,124) {583)
Issuances of ordinary shares 72 77 120
Purchases of ordinary shares (2,658) (559) (12)
Cash dividends — Linde plc shareholders (1,8%1) (£,166) (901)
Noncontrolling interest transactions and other (3,260) (402) {92)
Net cash esed for financing activities (8,997) (4,998) (1,656)
Discontinued Operations
Cash provided by operating activities % 63 % 48 $ —
Cash used for investing activities (60) (23) —
Cash provided by financing activities 5 2 —
Net cash provided by discontinued operations 14 27 —
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (77} (60) 22
Change in cash and cash equivalents (1,752) 3,986 93
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning-of-period 4,466 §17 524
Cash and cash equivalents, including discontinued operations § 2,714 % 4,603 g GL7

71



Table of Contents

Cash and cash equivalents of discontnued operations (14 (139 —_

Cash and cash equivalents, end-of-period 3 2,700 % 4466 § 617
Supplemental Data

Income taxes paid $ 1357 § 757 3% 565

Interest paid, net ot capitalized interest (Note 9) 3 575 214§ 184

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Activity
Belance, December 31, 2016
Net Inrome
Other comprehensive incame {loss)
Noncontrolling interests:
Dividends and other capital reductions
Addinons (Reductions)
Redemption value adjustments (Note 16)
Dividends {33.15 per comman share}
Issuances of common stock:

Lorthe dividend reinvestment and stock
purchase plan

For employee savings and incentive
plans

Purchases of commoen stock
Share-based compensation
Balance. December 31 2017
Net Income
Other comprehensive incame (Inss)
Noncontrolling Lnterests:
Muvidends and other capital reducuons
Additions {(Reductians)
Redemption value adjustments (Mote 16]

Dividends ($3.20 per commaon share)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
{Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data, shares in thousands)

Linde plc Shareholders’ Equity

Ordinary shares Additional A(tr‘“mmmd ol Treasury Stock Linds phc
Paid-in Retained Incame (Loss) Shareholders  Nancontrolling
Shares Amounts Capital Farnings (Note 5) Shares Amaunts Faquity Tnterests Total Fquity
3A3.2 % 4 $ 4074 $ 12,879 {4,600) 98330 § (7338 & 5,021 $ 420 5,441
1,247 1.247 59 1,306
502 502 34 536
- (35) {35)
— 13 15
1) () {1}
(901) {801 (s01)
(50 7 7 7
{49) (1,835) 134 B5 85
k] {1 93] 1)
9% 59 £9
383,231 $ 4 3 4,084 L3 13,224 {4,098) 96,4534 3 (7,196) 3 6,018 3 493 6,511
4,381 4,381 21 4,402
{265) 1265] 59 (206)
— (49) 149)
{127) 2n {186) (313)
(3) 3} )
(1,166) (1,186) (1,166}
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Linde pfi Sharefoiders” Equity

Ordinary shares

detitional

Activity Shares Amaunts

Paid-in
Capital

Accunulated Other
o " TFreasury Stock

Income (Loss)

Total Equity

Issuances of common stock:

For the dividend reinvestment and stock
purchase plan

For empioyee savings and incentive
plans 255 —
Purchases of commeon stock

Share-based compensation

Tax Act Reclassitication (Note 7)

Impact of merget (Notes 3 and 16) 167.824 3 3}

ey

62

$ 36,178

(MNote 9) Shares Amounts
{3 5
{1,109) 79
4,079 (630)
43 $ (93)

{55324) $ 7113

48,434

Bafance, December 31, 2018 351410 $
Net Income available for Linde plc shareholders

Other comprehensive loss

Noncontrolling (uterests:
Thvidends and ether capital reductions
Addigons (Reductions) ~ (Note 16)
Redemption value adjustments (Note 16)

Dividends ($3.50 per comamon share)

Issuances of ordinary shares:

For the dividend relnvestment and stock,
purchase plan

For employee savings and incentive
plans 703 —

Purchases of ordinary shares

Share-based compensation

$ 40,151

(43)

95

2,285

(1,881)

57,080
2,379

(435)

(132)
(2.921)
(8)
(L,851)

9
(2,654)
a5

Balance, December 31, 2019 352,013 5 1

$ 40201

16,529 3 {4,456} 4665 % (625}
(358)
(8)
(73) (770) 127
14,333 (2,654)
16,842 5 (48145 17632 § {3,156

51,522

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTE 1. FORMATION OF LINDE PLC AND BUSINESS COMBINATION OF PRAXAIR, INC. AND LINDE AG

Formation of Linde plc

Linde plc ("Linde" or “the company”), a public limited company incorporated in Ireland, was formed in accordance with the requirements of the
business combination agreement, dated as of June 1, 2017, as amended (the “business combination agreement™). Pursnant (o the business combination
agreement, among other things, Praxair, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Praxair™), and Linde Aktiengesellschaft, a stock corporation incarporated under the
laws of Germany (“Linde AG"), agreed to combine their respective businesses through an all-stock ransaction, and become subsidiaries of the company
(collectively referred to as “business combination™ er “merger”). On October 31, 2018, Linde completed the business combination. Prior to the business
combination, the company did nat conduct any business activities other than those required for its formation and matters contemplated by the business
combination agreement.

Business Combination of Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG

The business combination has been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with the provisions of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 805, “Business Combinations”, with Praxair representing the accounting
acquirer. Pursuant to Rule 12g-3(a) under the Exchange Act, as of October 31, 2018, the company became the successor issuer to Praxair, Also, the Linde
shares are deemed to be registered under Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act, and the company is subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange
Act and the yules and regulations promulgated thereunder. The Linde shares rade on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"} and the Frankfurt Stock
Exchange under the ticker symbel “LIN”, Prior to the business combination, the Praxair shares were registered pursuant {0 Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act
and listed on the NYSE. In connection with the completion of the business combination, the Praxair shares were suspended from trading on the NYSE as of
close of business (New York Time) an October 30, 2018, On November 1, 2018, Praxair filed a Form 25 to de-list and de-register its three series of Furo-
denominated notes, including irs 1.50%Notes due 2020, 1.20% Notes due 2024 and 1.625% Notes due 2025, that were listed on the NYSE. Trading of the
Furo-denominated notes on the NYSE was suspended as of close of business (New York Time) on Nevember 9, 2018, and Praxair filed a Form 15 with the
SEC terminating the registration under the Exchange Act cf its securities and suspending Praxair’s reporting obligattons under Section 15(d) of the Exchange
Act.

In connection with the business combination, the company, Praxair and Linde AG entered into various agreements with regulatory authorities to satisfy
anti-trust requirements to secure approval to consummate the business combination. These agreements included the sale of the majority of Praxair’s European
businesses (completed on December 3, 2018), the majority of Linde AG’s Americas business (completed on March 1, 2019}, select assets of Linde AG's
South Korean industrial gases business (completed April 30, 2019), select assets of Praxair's Indian industrial gases business (completed July 12, 2019), select
assets of Linde AG's Indian industrial gases business {completed December 16, 2019) as well as certain divestitures of cther Praxair and Linde AG businesses
in Asia that are currently expected to be seld in 2020 (collectively, the “merger-related divestitures™). See Note 4 for additional information relating to
metger-related divestitures.

Additionally, to obtain merger appraval in the United States Linde, Praxair and Linde AG entered into an agreement with the U.S. Federal Trade
Commission ("FTC") dated October 1, 2018 (“hold separate order” or “HS0”). Under the HSO, the company, Praxair and Linde AG agreed to continue to
opetate Linde AG and Praxair as independent, engoing, economically viable, competitive businesses held separate, distinct, and apart from each other’s
operations; and not coordinate any aspect of their operations until certain divestitures in the United States were completed. Accordingly, Linde had accounted
for Linde AG as a separate segment for 2018 reporting purposes effective with the merger date. Prior to the merger date, the company’s Linde AG segment
did not exist. Since the FTC hold separate order restrictions were lifted effective March 1, 2019, the company subsequently implemented a new segment
structure as follows: Americas, EMEA (Europe/Middle East/Africa), APAC (AsiasScuth Pacific) and Engineering. This rew management organization
structure was implemented daring the first quarter 2019 and, accordingly, segment information has been retrospectively recast for all prior periods, Refer to
Note 20 Segment Information for further details.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consotidution — The consolidated financial statements were prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (" U.S. GAAP") and include the accounts of all significant subsidiaries where control exists and, in limited situations, variable-
interest entities where the company is the primary
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beneficiary. Intercempany transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation and any significant related-party ransactions have been disclosed.

Equity investments generally consist of 20% to 50% owned operations where the company exercises significant influence, but does not have control,
Equity income from equity investments in corporations is reported on an afier-tax basis. Pre-tax income from equity investments that are partnerships or
[imited-liability corperations (“LLC") is included in other income (expenses) — net with related taxes inciuded in Income taxes. Equity investments are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances reflect that an impairment loss may have incurred.

Changes in ownership interest that result either in consolidation or deconsolidation of an investment are recorded at fair value through earnings,
including the retained ownership interest, while changes that do not result in either consolidation or deconsclidation of a subsidiary are treated as equity
transactions.

Use of Estimates -- The preparation of financial srarements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumpticns
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. While actual resudts could differ, management believes such estimates to be
reasanable.

Operations — Linde is the largest industrial gases company globally. 'Lhe company produces, sells and diswributes aunospleric, process aud spedialty
gases, and high-performance surface coatings to a diverse group of industries including aerospace, chemicals, food and beverage, electronics, energy,
healthcare, manufacturing, and metals. Linde’s Engineering business offers its customers an extensive range of gas production and processing services
including suppling plant components and services directly to customers,

Revenue Recognition — Effective January 1, 2018, Linde adopted the FASB's Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09 ("ASC 606") relating to
Revenue Recagnition, Revenue is recagnized as contral of goads or services are wansferred to customers in ant amount that reflects the consideration to
which an entity expects to be entitled to receive in exchange for the goods or services. See Note 21 for additional details regarding Linde's revenue
recognition policies. The adoption of ASC 606 resulted in no differences in revenue recognition compared to previous policies.

Cash Equivalents — Cash equivalents are considered to be highly liquid securities with original maturities of three months or less.
Inventories — [nventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined using the average-cost method.

Property, Plant and Equipment — Net — Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. The company capitalizes
interest as part of the cost of constructing major facilities (see Note 10). Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method based on the estimated useful
lives of the assets, which range from 3 years to 40 years (see Note 1), Linde uses accelerated depreciation methods f{or tax purposes where appropriate,
Maintenance of property, plant and equipment is generally expensed as incurred.

The company performs a test for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an individual asser or
asset group may not be recoverable. Should projected undiscounted future cash flaws be less than the carrying amount of the asset or assef group, an
impairment charge reducing the carrying amount to fair value is required. Fair value is determined based on the mest appropriate valuation technigue,
including discounted cash flows.

Asset-Retirement Obligations — An asset-retircment obligation is recognized in the period in which sufficient information exists to determine the fair
value of the liability with a corresponding increase Lo the carrying amount of the related property, plant and equipment which is then depreciated over iis
useful life. The liability is initially measured at discounted fair value and then accretion expense is recorded in each subsequent period. The company's asset-
retirement obligations are primarily associated with its on-site long-term supply arrangements where the company has built a facility on land leased from the
customer and is abligated to remove the facility at the end of the contract term. The company’s asset-retirernent obligations are not material to its consolidated
financial statements,

Foreign Currency Translation - For mast foreign operations, the local currency is the functional cwrency and translation gains and losses are reported
as part of the accurnulated other comprehensive income (loss) compenent of equity as a cumulative translation adjustment (see Note 9).

Financial Instruments ~ Linde eqters into various derivative financial instruments (o manage its exposure to fluctuating interest rates, cusrency
exchange rates, commodity pricing and energy costs. Such instruments primarily include interest-rate swap and treasury rate lock agreements; currency-swap
agreements; forward contracts; currency options; and commodity-swap agreements. These instruments are not entered into for wrading purposes. Linde only
uses commonly traded and non-leveraged instruments.
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There are three types of derivatives the company enters into: (i) these relating to fair-value exposures, (ii) those relating to cash-flow exposures, and
(iii) those relating to foreign currency net investment exposures. Fair-value exposures relate to recognized assets or liabilities, and firm commitments; cash-
flow exposures relate to the variability of future cash flows associated with recognized assets or liabilities, or forecasted transactions; and net investment
exposures relate to the impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes on the carrying vaiue of net assets denominated in foreign currencies.

When a derivative is executed and hedge accounting is appropriate, it is designated as either a fair-value hedge, cash-flow hedge, or a net investment
hedge. Currently, Linde designates all interest-rate and treasury rate locks as hedges for accounting purposes; however, currency contracts are generally not
designated as hedges for accounting purposes unless they are related to forecasted ansactions. Whether designated as hedges for accounting purposes or nat,
all derivatives are linked to an appropriate underlying exposure. On an ongoing basis, the company assesses the hedge effectiveness of all derivatives
designated as hedges for accounting purposes to determine if they continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the
underlying hedged items. If it is determined that the hedge is not highly effective, then hedge accounting will be discontinued prospectively.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as fair-value hedges are recognized in earnings as an offset to the change in the fair values of the
underlying exposures being hedged. The changes in fair value of derivatives that are designated as cash-flow hedges are deferred in accummulated other
comprehensive income {loss) and are reclassified to earnings as the underlying hedged transaction affects earnings. Provided the hedge remains highly
effective, any ineffectiveness is deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and are reclassified to earnings as the underlying hedged
transaction affects earnings. Hedges of net investments in foreign subsidiaries are recognized in the cumulative translation adjustment component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) en the consolidated balance sheets to offset translation gains and losses associated with the hedged net
investment. Derivatives that are entered into for risk-management purposes and are not designated as hedges (primarily related to anticipated net income and
currency derivatives other than for firm commitments) are recorded at their fair market vatues and recognized in current earnings.

See Nate 14 for additional information relating to financial instruments.

Goodwill — Acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method which requires allocation of the purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on estimated fair values. Any excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired is recorded as goodwill.
Allocatians of the purchase price are based on preliminary estimates and assurnptions at the date of acquisition and are subject to revision based on final
information received, including appraisals and other analyses which support underlying estimates,

The company performs a goodwill impairment test annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may have
been incurred. During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2019, the company changed the date of its annual goodwill impairment test from April 30 to October 1.
The change was made te more closely align the impairment testing date with the company’s planning process.

The impairment test allows an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is
less than carrying value. IT it is determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than carrying value then the company
will estimate and compare the fair value of its reporting units to their carrying value, including goodwill, Reporting units are determined based on one level
below the operating segment leve!. In estimating the faic value of each reporting unit, management applied a multiple of earnings from a peer group to the
company’s forecasted earnings for the year ending December 31, 2019. The peer group is comprised of comparable entities with similar operations and
economic characteristics.

See Notes 3 and 11 for additional information relating to goodwill.

Other Intangible Assets — Other intangible assets, primarily customer relationships and brands/tradenames, are amortized over the estimated period of
benefit. The determination of the estimated period of benefit will be dependent upen the use and underlying characteristics of the intangible asset. Linde
evaluates the recoverability of its intangible assets subject to amortization when facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not
be recoverable, If the carrying value is not recoverable, impairment is measured as the amount by which the carrying value exceeds its estimated fair value.
Fair value is generally estimated based on either appraised value or other valuation technigues. Indefinite lived intangible assets related to the Linde brand are
evaluated for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate an impairment 10ss may have occurred.

See Notes 3 and 12 for additional information relating to other intangible assets.

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations — Assets held for sale, as well as liabilities directly related to these assets, are classified separately
in the consolidated balance sheets as held for sale if the requirements of the FASB’s Accounting Standards Godification (“ASC”) 360, Property, Plant and
Equipment, are satisfied. The main requirements of

77



Table of Contents

ASC 360 are: (i} management having the authority te approve the action has committed to a plan to sejl the assets and an active program to locate a buyer has

been initiated, (ii) the assets are available for sale in their present condition at a reasonable market price, and (iii} a sale within the next twelve months is

probable_ Assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Amortization and depreciadon has '
been discontinued. The precess involved in determining the fair value less costs to sell involves estimates and assumptions that are subject to uncertainty.

Discontinued operations are reported as soon as a business is classified as held for sale, or has already been disposed of, and when the buginess to be
disposed of represents a strategic shift that has (or will have) a major effect on the company’s operations and financial results. Businesses acquired with the
intent of divesting are also required to be reported as discontinued operations. The prafitloss frem discontinued operations is reported separately from the
expenses and income from continuing operations in the consotidated statements of income. In the conselidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows from
discontinued operations are shown separately from the cash flows from centinuing operations. The information provided in the Notes relates 1o continving
operations, If the information relates exclusively to discontinued operaticns, this is highlighted accordingly.

See Note 4 for additional information relating to asseis held for sale and discontinued operations,

Income Taxes — Deferved income taxes are recorded for (he (emporay differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and Habilities
using currently enacted tax rates. Valuation allowances are established against deferred tax assets whenever circumstances indicate that it is more likely than
not that such assets will not be realized in future periods.

Under the guidance for accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, the company can recognize the benefit of an income tax position only if it is more
likely than not (greater than 50%) that the tax position will be sustained upon tax examination, based solely on the technical merits of the tax position.
Otherwise, no benefit can be recognized. The tax benefits recognized are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being
realized upon ultimate settlement. Additionally, the company accrues interest and related penalties, if applicable, on all tax exposures for which reserves have
been established consistent with jurisdictional tax laws. lnterest and penalties are classified as income tax expense in the financial statements,

See Note 7 for additional infarmation relating ro income taxes, including the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act enacted in December 2017,

Retirement Benefits - Most Linde employees participate in a form of defined benefit or contribution retirement plan, and additionally certain .
employees are eligible to participate in various post-employment health care and life insurance benefit ptans. The cost of contribution plans is recognized in
the year earned while the cost of ather plans is recognized over the employees’ expected service period to the company, all in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards. The funded status of the plans is recorded as an asset or liability in the consolidated balance sheets. Funding of retirement benefits
varies and is in accordance with local faws and practices.

See Note 18 for additional information relating to retirement programs. ‘

Share-based Compensaiion— The company has historically granted share-based awards which consist of stack options, resuicted stock and
performance-based stock. Share-based compensation expense is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the stated vesting period. For stock awards
granted to full-retirement-eligible employees, compensation expense is recognized over the period from the grant date to the date retiremenc eligibility is
achieved. For performance-based awards, compensation expense is recognized only if it is probable that the performance condition will be achieved.

See Note 17 for additional disciosures relating 1o share-based compensation.
Reclassifications — Certain prior years’ amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Segment Presentation Change - As a result of the merger and effective with the lifting of the hold separate order in March 2019, new reportable
segments were implemented. The new segments are: Americas, EMEA (Europe/Middle East/Africa), APAC (Asia/South Pacific); and Engineering. All
periods presented were recast (o conform to the new segment structure, See Note 20.
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Accounting Standards Implemenied in 2019

Leases ~ In February 2016, the FASB issued updated guidance on the accounting and financial statement presentation of leases. The new
guidance requires lessees to recognize a right-of-use asset and lease liability for all leases, except those that meet certain scope exceptions,
and requires expanded quantitative and qualitative disclosures. This goidance is effective beginning in 2019 and requires companies to
transiticn using a modified retrospective approach. Linde has applied the practical expedient which allows prospective transition to the new
lease accounting standard on January 1, 2019. The company elected the package of practical expedients relating to the reassessment of the
lease portfolio pertaining to (i) whether expiring or existing contracts contain lease componants, (it) lease classification under ASC 842 and
(tii) whether initial direct costs were capitalized under ASC 840. The company further implemented internal centrols and key system
functicnality to enable the preparation of financial information on adeption.

The standard had an immaterial impact on our consolidated balance sheets and consolidated income statements. The most significant impact
was the recognition of right of use ("ROU") assets and tease liabilities for operating leases, while the accounting for finance leases remained
substantially unchanged. The company recognized both right of nse assets and lease liabilities of $1.2 billion upon adoption. The adoption of
the new lease accounting standard had no impact on retained earmnings {See Note 6).

Derivatives and Hedging - In August 2017, the FASB issued updated guidance on accounting for hedging activities. The new guidance
simplifies hedge effectiveness documentation requirements, changes both the designation and measurement for qualifying hedging
relationships and the presentation of hedge results. This guidance was effective for the company beginning in the first quarter of 2019. The
adoption of the standard had an immaterial impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Accounting Standards te be Impiemented

Credit Losses on Financial Insttuments — In June 2016, the FASB issued an update on the measurement of credit losses. The guidance
introduces a new accounting model for expected credit losses on financial instwruments, including trade receivables, based on estimates of
current expected credit losses. This guidance will be effective for the company beginning in the first quarter 2020 and requites companies to
apply the change in accounting on a prospective basis. The company is currendy evaluating the impact this update will have on the
consclidated financial statements and does not expect this guidance tc have a material irnpact.

Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment — In January 2017, the FASB issued updated guidance on the measurement of goodwill. The
new guidance eliminates the requirement to calculate the implied fair value of goodwill w0 measure a goodwill impairment charge. The
guidance will be effective for the company beginning in the first quareer 2020 with early adoption permitted. The company does not expect
this guidance to have a material impact.

Fair Value Measurement Disclosures - In August 2018, the FASB issued guidance that modifies the disclosure requirements for fair value
measurements. The guidance is effective in fiscal year 2020, with early adopticn permitted. Certain amendments must be applied
prospectively while other amendments must be applied retrospectively. The company is evaluating the impact this guidance will have on the
disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Retirement Benefit Disclosures - In August 2018, the FASE issued guidance that maodifies the disclosure requirements for employers that
sponsor defined benefit pension or other poswetirement henefit plans. The guidance is effective in fiscal year 2021, with early adoption

permitted, and must be applied on a retrospective basis. The company is evaluating the impact this guidance will have on the disclosures in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 3. BUSINESS COMBINATION
Merger of Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG

As described in Note 1, on Qctober 31, 2G18 Praxair and Linde AG combined their respective businesses through an atl-stock transaction and became
subsidiaries of the company.

In connection with the business combination, each share of commen stock of Praxair par value $0.01 per share, (excluding any shares held in treasury
immediately prior to the effective timne of the merger, which were automatically canceled and retired for no consideration) was converted into cne ordinary
share, par value €0.001 per share, of Linde plc. Additionally, each tendered share of common stock of Linde AG was converted into 1,54 ordinary shares of
Linde plc.

As provided in the business combination agreement, ar the effective time of the business combination outstanding Praxair stock options and other equity
awards were generally converted into stock options and equity awards on a 1:1 basis with respect to Linde shares. Outstanding Linde AG share-based
compensation awards were either setded in cash {for the portion vested), or were converted into similar stock options and equity awards with respect to Linde
shares (for the portion unvested), after giving effect to the 1.54 exchauge 1ativ. See Notes 16 and 17 for additional information.

Allocation of Purchase Price

1n accordance with the FASB’s ASC 803, "Business Combinations”, Praxair was determined to be the accounting acquirer. As such, the company has
applied the acquisition method of accounting with respect to the idendfiable assets and liabilities ¢f Linde AG, which have been measured at fair value as of
the date of the business combination.

In accordance with the business combination agreement, Linde AG shareholders that accepted the exchange offer received Linde shares in exchange for
Linde AG shares at an exchange ratio of 1.54 Linde shares for each Linde AG share. Because Praxair is the accounting acquirer, the fair value of the equity
issued by Linde plc to Linde AG shareholders in the exchange transaction was detevmined by reference to the market price of Praxair shares. Accordingly, the
purchase consideration below reflects the estimated fair value of the 92% of Linde AG shares tendered and Linde shares issued in exchange for those Linde
AG shares, which is based en the final closing price of Praxair shares prior to the effective time of the merger on Octaber 31, 2018 of $164.50 per share.

The purchase price and fair value of Linde AG’s net assets acquired as of the merger date on Gctober 31, 2018 is presented as follows:

{in thousands, except value per share data, i.inde AG exchonge ratio, and purchase price)

Linde AG common stock tendered as of October 31, 2018 (i) 170,875 Shares
Business combination agreement exchange ratio (ii) 1541
Linde plc ordinary shares issued in exchange for Linde AG 263,148
Pert share price of Praxair, Inc. common stock (iii) $164.50
Purchase price (millions of dollars) 343,288

(i) Number of Linde AG shares wendered in the 2017 Exchange Ofter.
{ii) Exchange ratio for Linde AG shares as set forth in the business combination agreement.

(i)Y Closing price of Praxair shares un the New York Stock Exchange prior to the effective time of the business combination
on October 31, 2018,

In accordance with ASC 805, Linde AG's assets and liabilities were measured at fair value at October 31, 2018, primarily using Level 3 inputs except
debt which was Level 1. Fair value represents management's hest estimate of assumptions about future events and uncertainties, including significant
judgments related to future cash flows (sales, costs, customer attrition rates, and contributory asset charges), discount rates, competitive trends, market
comparables, and others. Inputs used were generally obtained from historical data supplemented by current and anticipated market conditions and growth
rates.

For the year ended Decernber 31, 2019, Linde made measurement period adjustments to reflect facts and circumstances in existence as of the effective
date of the Merger. The more significant measurement period adjustments made reflect: the agreed upon sale price of Linde AG's Korean business resulting
in an increase to assets held for sale and corresponding decrease to goodwill of $344 million; an adjustment to the sale value of the Linde AG Americas
businesses resulting in a decrease (o assets held for sale and corresponding increase to goodwill of $211 million; refinement in the
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valuation of other intangible assets resulting in an increase to intangible asset values and comresponding decrease to goodwill of $657 million; refinement in
the valuation of property, plant and equipment resulting in a decrease te property, plant and equipment and corresponding increase to goodwill of $407
million; an increase to deferred income taxes with a corresponding increase to gocdwill of $276 million; and an increase to the fair value of noncontrolling
interest with a corresponding increase to goodwill of $222 million. The net impact of these and other less significant adjustments made during the twelve
month pericd resulted in a net increase of $110 million to goodwill. The valuation process to determine the fair values is complete. The following table
summarizes the final allocation of purchase price to the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by Linde, with the excess of the purchase price
over the fair value of Linde AG’s net assets recorded as goodwill.

Miltions of doltars Fair Value
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,360
Accounts receivable — net 2,857
Inventories 1,439
Assets held for sale 5,375
Prepaid and other current assets 1,251
Property, plant and equipment 18,974
Equity investments 1,521
Goodwill 24,256
Other intangible assets 16,250
Other long-term assets 803
Total Assets Acquired $ 74,088
Less: Liabilities Assumed
Accounts pavable 3 3,360
Shaort-term debt 1,177
Current portion of long-term debt 1,864
Accrued taxes 159
Liabilities of assets held for sale 676
Other current liabilities 3,058
Long-term debt 6,295
Other long-term liabilities 2,009
Deferred credits, including deferred income taxes 6,834
Total Liabilities Assumed % 25,432
Less: Redeemable noncontrolling interests 92
Less: Noncontrelling interests 5,276
Purchase Price (i) $ 43,288

(1) See above for the calculation of the purchase price.

Summary of Significant Fair Value Methods

The methods used to determine the fair value of significant identifiable assets and liabilities included in the allocation of purchase price are discussed
below.

Inventaries

Acquired inventory is comprised of finished goods, work in process and raw materials. The fair value of finished goods was calculated as the estimated
selling price, adjusted for costs of the selling effort and a reasonable profit allowance relating to the selling effort. The fair value of woerk in process inventory
was primarily calculated as the estimated selling price, adjusted for estimated costs to complete the manufacturing, estimated costs of the selling effort, as
well as a reasonable profit
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margin on the remaining manufacturing and selling effart. The fair value of raw materials and supplies was determined based on replacement cost which
approximates historical carrying value. The fair value step-up of inventories is being recognized in “Cost of sales” as the inventory is sald.

Assets held for sate and Liabilities of assets held for sale

As described in Note 1, as a condition of the European Commisston ("EC"), the U.S. Deparunent of Justice ("DOJ"), and cther governmental regulatory
authorities approval of the merger, Linde ple, Praxair and Linde AG were required to divest various businesses in Europe, the Americas and Asia. The fair
value of these businesses has been determined based on the estimated net selling prices or sales agreements. See Note 4 for further information on merger-
related divestitures.

Property, Plant and Equipment

The fair value of praperty, plant and equipment was primarily calculated using replacement costs adjusted for the age and condition of the asset, and is
summarized below:

Property, plant and cquipment ("PP&E™) (in millions)
Production plants L] 10,358
Storage tanks 1,807
Transportation equipment and other 543
Cylinders 2,487
Buildings 1,953
" Land and improvements 677
Constrection in progress 1,149
Fair value of PP&E $ 18,974

Identifiable Intangible Assets

The fair value of identtfiable intangible assets is summarized below:

Weighted Average
Amartization Period
(in years} (in millions)

ldentifiable intangible assets

Customer relationships 29 5 12,550

Linde brand Indefinite 1,868

Brands/Tradenanies 28 845

Other intangibles 18 987
Fair value of identifiable intangible assets 28 3 16,250

The fair value for all other identifiable intangible assets is based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset, based on the
most advantageous market for the asset (i.e., its highest and best use).

The fair value of the customer relationships intangible asset was vatued using a multi-period excess earnings method, a form of the income approach,
which incorporates the estimated future cash flows to be generated from Linde AG’s existing customer base. Excess earnings are the earnings remaining after
deducting the market rates of reqwrn on the estimated values of coneributery assets, including debr-free net working capital, tangible assets, and other
identifiable intangible assets. The excess earnings are thereby calculated for each year of multi-year projection periods and discounted to present value.

Other intangibles primarily inclides acquired technology. Linde brand, brands/tradenames and other intangibtes were valued using the relief from
royalty method under the income approach; this method estimates the cost savings generated by a company related to the ownership of an asset for which it

would otherwise have had to pay royaliies or license fees cn revenues earned through the use of the asset and discounted to present value.

Pension and Other Postretirement Liabilities
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Linde recognized a pretax net liability representing the unfunded portion of Linde AG’s defined-benefit pension and other postretirement benefit
("OPEB") plans. Refer to Note 18 for further information on pensions and OPEB arrangements.

Long-Term Debt
The fair value for long-term debt was primarily obtained from third party quotes, as the majotity of the Linde AG bond portfolio is publicly traded.
Deferred Income Tax Assets and Liabilities

The deferred income tax assets arid liabilities include the expected future federal, state and foreign tax consequences associated with temporary
differences between the preliminary fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed and the respective tax bases. Tax rates utilized in calculating
deferred income taxes generally represent the enacted statutory tax rates at the effective date of the merger in the jurisdictions in which legal tide of the
underlying asset or liability resides.

Refer to Note 7 for further information related to income taxes.
Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests include the fair value of noncontrolling interests of Linde AG, including approximately $3.2 billion relating to the 8% of Linde
AG shares which were not tendered in the Exchange Offer and were the subject of a cash-merger squeeze-out. The company’s wholly-owned indirect
subsidiary, Linde Intermediate Holding AG ("Linde Holding"), which directly owns the 2% of Linde AG shares acquired in the Exchange Offer, determined
the adequate cash compensation to be paid to the 8% remaining Linde AG minority shareholders in exchange for the transfer of their Linde AG shares for
each Linde AG share. The cash-merger squeeze-oui was approved by the shareholders of Linde AG at an extraoedinary shareholders meeting of Linde AG on
December 12, 2018 and completed on April 8, 2019, The remaining noncontrolling interests relate to the fair value of historic noncontrolling interests of
Linde AG and its subsidiaries.

Equity Investments
The fair valne of equity investments was determined using a discounted cash flow approach.
Other Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed {excluding Goodwill)

Linde utilized the carrying values, net of allowances, to value accounts and notes receivable and accounts payable as well as other current assets and
liabilities as it was determined that carrying values represented the fair value of those items at the merger date.

Goodwill

The excess of the consideration for the merger over the preliminary fair value of net assets acquired was recorded as goodwill, The merger resulted in
the recognition of $24,256 million of goodwill, which is not deductible for tax purposes. The goodwill balance is primarily attributed to the assembled
workforce, expanded market opportunities and cost and other cperating synergies anticipated upon the integration of the operations of Praxair and Linde AG.

Resulis of Linde AG Operations in 2018

The results of aperations of Linde AG have been included in the company’s consolidated statements of income since the merger. The following table
provides Linde AG “Sales” and “Income {loss) from continuing operations” included in the company's results for the petiod November 1 through December
31, 2018.

Millions of doflars
Linde AG Results of Operations

Sales k] 2,873
Income (loss) from continuing operations™ 3 (385)

November 1, - December 31,

* Includes net charges of $451 millien related to the impacts of purchase accounting.
Unaudited Pro Forma Information - 2018 and 2017
Linde's unaudited pro forma results presented below were prepared pursuant to the requirements of ASC 805 and give effect to the merger as if it had
been consummated on January 1, 2017. The pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only, and do not necessarily represent what the

revenue or results of aperations would have been had the merger been completed on January 1, 2017. In addition, these results are not intended to be a
projection of future operating results and do not reflect synergies that might be achieved.
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The unaudited pro forma results include adjustments for the preliminary purchase accounting impact (including, but not limited to, depreciation and
amortization associated with the acquired tangible and intangible assets, amortization of the fair value adjustment to investment in nonconsolidated affiliates,
and reduction of interest expense related to the fair value adjustment to long-term debt along with the related tax and non-controlling interest impacts), the
alignment of accounting policies, adjustments due to IFRS compliant reporting cenversion to U.5. GAAP and the elimination of transactions between Praxair
and Linde AG.

The unaudited pro forma results for all perieds presented below exclude the results of operations of the Linde AG merger-related divestimures (See Note
4) as these divestitures are reflected as discontinued operations, The Praxair merger-related divestitures {See Note 4) are inciuded in the resulls from
continuing operations, including the results from Praxair's European business threugh the disposition date of December 3, 2018, in the unaudited pro forma
results presented below, for all periods presented, as these divestitures de not qualify for discontinied operations,

The unaudited pro forma results are sunumarized below:

Millions of dollars 2018 2017
Sales {a} $ 20774 % 28,449
Income from continning operations 5 4739 § 871

(a} Includes sales from Praxair's merger-related divestitures of $1,625 million and $1,553 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively.

Significant nonrecurring amounts reflected in the pro forma results are as follows:

A $3,294 million gain ($2,923 miilion after tax) was recorded in the fourth quarter 2018 as a result of the divestiture of Praxair’s European industrial
gases business and is included in the December 31, 2018 pro forma income from continuing operations.

From January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2018, Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG collectively incurred pre-tax costs of $736 million ($680 million after
tax) to prepare for and close the merger. These merger costs were reflected within the resufts of operations in the pro forma results as if they were incurred on
January 1, 2017. Any costs incurred related to merger-related divestitures and integration and to prepare for the intended business separations were reflected
in the pro forma results in the period in which they were incurred.

The company incurred pre-tax charges of $368 million ( $279 million after tax) and $10 million ($8 millien alter tax) in 2018 related to the tair value
step-up of inventories acquired and sold as well as a pension settlement due to the payout to certain participants as a result of change in control provisions
within a U.S. nongualified pension plan, respectively. The 2018 pra forma results were adjusted to exclude these charges. The pro forma results for 2017 were
adjusted 1o include these charges, as well as charges incurred subsequent te December 31, 2018 but less than a year from the date of the merger of $13 million
($10 million after tax) related to the remaining fair value step-up of inventories to be sold and 851 mitlion ($40 witlion after 1ax) related (0 au additicnat
pension settlement within the U.S. nanqualified pension plan that accurred in the first quarter of 2019 upon payment. See Note 18 for further information
relating to the U.S. nonqualified pension plan settlements.

2019 & 2018 Non-Merger Related Acquisitions

Non-merger related acquisitions of $225 million during the vear ended December 31, 2019 and $25 million during the year ended December 31, 2018,
largely in the Americas, are not material, individuatly or in the aggregate,

2017 Acquisitions

During the year ended December 31, 2017, Linde had acquisitions totaling $33 million, primarily acquisitions of packaged gas businesses and a carbon
dioxide joint venture in North America.
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NOTE 4. MERGER-RELATED DIVESTITURES, DISCONTINUED OPERATICNS AND NET ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

As described in Note 1, as a condition of the European Commission {"EC"), the U.S. Department of Justice ("DOJ"}, and other governmental regulatory
authorities approval of the merger, Linde plc, Praxair and Linde AG were required to divest the following businesses:

Praxair Merger-Related Divestitures - Primarily European Industrial Gases Business

As a condition of the EC regulatory approval of the merger transaciion, Praxair agreed to sell the majority of its industrial gases business in Europe. The
sale was completed on Decernber 3, 2018.

+  The Sociera Traliana Acetilene e Derivaii S.p.A. {"SIAD") Sale and Purchase Agreement dated December 5, 2017 whereby Praxair agreed,
inter atia, to sell its 34% non-controlling participation in its Italian joint venture SIAD to its joint venture partner Flow Fin in exchange for
Flow Fin’s 40% non-controlling participation in Praxair’s majority-owned Italian joint venture, Rivoira S.p.A., and cash payment of a net
purchase price of €90 million ($102 million as of October 31, 2018) by Praxair to Flow Fin, This transaction was completed on October 31,
2018, and;

+  The Praxair Europe Sale and Purchase Agreement dated July 5, 2018 pursuant to which Praxai sald the majority of its European businesses
to Taiyo Nippon Sanso Corporation for €5,000 million in cash consideration ($5,700 million at December 3, 2018), reduced by estimated
normal closing adjustments ef €86 million (S96 million). These ansactions were completed on December 3, 2018.

In connection with these transactions, in 2018 the company recognized a net pre-tax gain of $3,294 millien ($2,923 million after tax) in the consolidated
statements of income and related to the EMEA segment.

The net carrying value of Praxair's European business assets and liabilities divested on December 3, 2018 is presented below:
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Mittions of dollars Carrying Value
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 38
Accounts receivable - net 311
Inventories 67
Prepaid and other current assets 22
Property, plant and equipment ~ net 1,342
Equity investments 234
Goodwill 620
Gther intangible assets — net 115
Other leng-term assets 36
Total Assets Divested b3 2,785
Liabilities
Accounts payable 3 215
Accrued taxes 27
Cther current liabilities 11
Long-term debt 2
Other long-term liabilities 92
Deferred credits 174
Total Liabilities Divested b 621
Noncontrolling interests $ 200
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Pension/OPEB funded status obligation, net of taxes {8)
Cumulative translation adjusmment, net of taxes (318)
Net Assets Divested $ 2,290

Additionally, to saus{y regulatory requirements in other jurisdictions, Praxair agreed to sell certain operations in Chile, China, India and South Korea. The
Chilean business was sold as part of the Linde AG Americas SPA (as defined below), the select Indian assets were sold in July 2019, and other sales are
expected in 2020. Effective October 22, 2018, the date of final regulatory approvals, these businesses have been accounted for as assets held for sale on the
consolidated balance sheets. These businesses were evaluated for discontinued operations accounting treatment under U.S. GAAP and it was determined that
they did not meet the definition of a discontinued operation as these transactions did not represent a strategic shift with a major effect, after considering the
impact of the merger.

The sale of the select Indian assets was completed on July 12, 2019 with a sale price of $218 million and resulted in a gain of $164 million recagnized in "Net
gain on sale of businesses™ in the consolidated statements of income.

Linde AG Merger-Related Divestitures - Primarily Americas Industrial Gases Business

As a condition of the U.S. regulatory approval of the merger, Linde AG agreed to sell the majority of its industrial gases business in the Americas, as
described below:

+  The Linde AG Americas Sales and Purchase Agreement, dated July 16, 2018, as and further amended on September 22, 2018, October 19,
2018, and February 20, 2019 whereby Linde AG and Praxair, Inc. entered into an agreement with a consortium comprising companies of
the German industrial gases manufacturer Messer Group and CVC Capital Parters Fund VII to sell the majority of Linde AG’s industrial
gases business in North America and certain industrial gases business activities of Linde AG's in South America for $2.9 billion in cash
consideration after purchase price adjustments for certain items relating to assets and liabilities of the sold businesses. In addition,
divestitures include $0.5 billion of proceeds for incremental plant sales within the Americas under other agreements. These transactions
were completed on March 1, 2019.
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= On April 30, 2019, Linde completed the sale of select assets of Linde Korea to IMM Private Equity Inc., to satisfy requirements of the
Korea Fair Trade Comumission. The assets divested include bulk and on-site business in Giheung, Pohang and Seosansites as well as oxygen
and nitrogen on-site generators. The sale price of $1.2 billion is subject to customary adjustments.

*  On December 16, 2019, Linde completed the sale of select assets of Linde India with a sale price of $193 million.

The net carrying value of Linde AG's Americas business assets and liabilities divested on March 1, 2019 is presented below:

Millions of doturs Carrying Value
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 200
Accounts receivable — net 475
Inventories 181
Prepaid and other current assets 409
Property, plant and equipment -- net 1,590
Equity investments 37
Goodwill 3
Other intangible assets — net 10
Other long-term assets 76
Asset adjustments for estimated fair value 1,650
Total Assets Divested $ 4,635
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 94
Accrued taxes 60
Other cuurent liabilities 767
Long-term debt 2
Other long-term liabilities 98
Deferred credits 177
Totai Liabilities Divested $ 1,198
Cumnulative translation adjustment, net of taxes 12
Net Assets Divested $ 3,448
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The net carrying value of Linde AG's South Korean business assets and liabilities divested on April 30, 2019 is presented below:

Millions of dollars Carrying Value
Assets
Accounts receivable — net $ 27
Inventories 16
Property, plant and equipment — net 389
Asset adjustnents for estimated fair value 879
Total Assets Divested % 1,311
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 2
Accrued taxes 12
Other current liabilities 29
Long-term debt 6
Other long-term liabilities 3
Deferred credits i
Total Liabilities Divested $ 83
Net Assets Divested % 1,228

Discontinued Operations

Only the sales of the Linde AG merger-related divestitures meet the criteria for discontinued operations, Praxair merger-related divestitures do not
qualify as discontinued operations. As such, operations related to the Linde AG merger-related divestitures are included within Income from discontinued
operations, net of tax for periods subsequent to the merger, as summarized below:

November 1, - December 31,

Millions of doflgrs 2019

Net sales 3 449 % 388

Cost of sales 251 173

Other operating costs 43 90

Operating profit $ 155 $ 125

Income from equity investments 8

Income taxes 54 9

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax $ 109 §$ 117

Nencontrotling interests (€] (€)]
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax and noncontrolling interests $ 102 § 108

For the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 there were no material amounts of capital expenditures or significant operaring or investing nan-cash
items related to discontinued operations.

Net Assets Held for Sale
Net assets held for sale includes both the Linde AG merger-related divestitures that meet the criteria for discontinued operations and the Praxair merger-
related divestitures that do not. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the following assets and liabilities are reported as components of the net assets held for

sale in the consolidated balance sheets:
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Millions of dollars December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3 48 182
Accounts receivable — net 2 297
[nventories — 209
Prepaid and other current assets — 54
Property, plani and equipment — net 1 2,005
Other Assets 43 187
Asset adjustments for estimated fair value (Note 3) 75 2,564
Total Assets Classified as Assets Held for Sale $ 125 $ 5,498
Liabilities
Accounts payable 2 125
Deferred credits —— 206
Other liabilitdes — 437
Total Liabilities Classified as Assets Held for Sale 2 768
Net Assets Classified as Held for Sale $ 123 % 4,730

NOTE 5. COST REDUCTION PROGRAMS AND OTHER CHARGES

2019 Charges

Cost reduction programs and other charges were $567 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 ($444 million, after-tax and noncontrolling
interests). The following is a summary of the pre-tax charges by reporrable segment for the year
ended December 31, 2019,

Year Ended December 31, 2019

. Otlzer cost redection rzduﬂcrl[:rnl;::tgram Transaction related

(millions of dotlars} Severance cosis charges related charges and other charges Total

Americas % 36 % 20 56 34 3% 90
EMEA 105 16 121 21 142
APAC 40 10 50 72 122
Engineering 1 12 13 9 4
Other 22 42 64 145 209
Total 3 204 % 100 % 304 % 263 § 567

Cost Reduction Programs
Total cost reduction program related charges were $304 millicn for the year ended December 31, 2019 ($233 million after-tax).
Severance costs

Severance costs of $204 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 are for the elimination of approximately 2,400 positions, largely in EMEA, APAC,
and the Americas, of which approximately 1,500 have terminated employment at December 31, 2019. The majority of these actions are anticipated to be
completed within the next 12 moenths.

Other cost reduction charges

Other cost reduction charges of $100 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 are primarily charges related to the execution of the company’s
synergistic actions including location consolidations and business rationalization projects, software and process harmonization, and associated non-recurring
COStS.

Transaction Related and Other Charges

On October 31, 2018, Praxair and Linde AG combined under Linde plc, as contemplated by the business combinaticn agreement (see Note 1), Linde incurred
merger-related costs and other charges which totaled $263 million (3211 million, after tax and noncentrolling interests) for the year ended December 31,
2019. 2019 includes other charges for an asset impairment related to a joint venture in APAC of approximately $73 million ($42 million, after tax and
noncontrolling interests) resulting from an unfavorable arbitration ruling.

Cash Requirements

The total cash requirements of the cost reduction program and other charges during the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 are estimated ¢ be
approximately $460 million, of which $260 million was paid through December 31, 2019. Total cost reduction programs and other charges, net of payments
in the consolidated statements of cash flows for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 also reflects the impact of cash payments of liabilities, included
merger-related tax liabilities, accrued as of December 31, 2018.

The following table summarizes the activities related to the company’s cost reduction related charges for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015:



Total cost

Other cost reduction Transaction
. Severance reduction program related and other

(miliions of dollars) costs charges related charges charges Total
2019 Cost Reduction Pragrams and Other Charges $ 204 % 100 % 304 % 263§ 567
Less: Cash payments (91) (57) (148) (112) (260}
Less: Non-cash charges — 21 21) (78) (9%)
Foreign currency transtation and other 4 6) (2) (6) (&)
Balance, December 31, 2019 $ 117 % 16 $ 133 % 67 3 200

2018 Charges

Cost reduction programs and other charges were 3309 million for the vear ended December 31, 2018 ($306 million, after-tax and non-controlling
interest).

Transaction Related and Other Charges

On October 31, 2018, Praxair and Linde AG combined under Linde plc, as contemplated by the business combination agreement (s¢e Note 1). In
connection with the business combination, Linde incurred transaction costs which totaled $236 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 ($236
million after-tax).

Alsa included in Cost Reduction Programs and Other Charges are other charges of $73 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 ($70
million after-tax) comprised of the following; (i} a $40 millicn charge ($40 million after-tax) related to an unfavorable development related to a supplier
contract in China, (ii) restructuring charges of $21 million ($18 million after-tax) and (iii} a $12 million charge ($12 million after-tax) associated with the
transition to hyper-inflationary accounting in Argentina.

2017 Charges
Trunsaction Related and Other Charges

In comnection with the intended business combination, Linde incurred transaction costs which totaled $52 million for the year ended December 31,
2017 ($48 million after-tax),

Classification in the consolidated financial statements

The pre-tax charges for each year are shown within operating profit in a separate line item on the consolidated statements of income. In the
consolidated balance sheets, reductions in assets are recorded against the carrying value of the related assets and unpaid amounts are recorded primarily as
shori-term liabilities. On the consolidated statements of cash flows, the pre-tax impact of these charges, net of cash payments, is shown as an adjustment to
reconcile net income to net cash pravided by operating activities. In Note 20 - Segment Information, Linde excluded these charges from its management
definition of segment operating profit; a reconciliation of segment operating profit to consolidared operating profit is shown within the segment operating
profit table.
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NOTE 6. LEASES

In the normal course of its business, Linde enters into various leases as the lessee, primarily invelving manufacturing and distribution equipment and office
space. Linde determines whether a contract is or contains a lease at contract inception. Total lease and rental expenses related to operating lease right of use
assets for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 was $364 million, respectively. Operating leases costs are included in selling, gencral and
administrative expenses and cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization. The related assets and obligations are included in other long term assets
and other current liabilities and other long term liabilities, respectively. Total lease and rental expenses related to finance lease right of use assets for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2019 was $31 million, and the costs are included in depreciation and amortization and interest. Related assets and
ohligations are included in property, plant and equipment - net and debt, respectively. Linde includes renewal options that are reasonably certain to be
exercised as part of the lease term. Operating and financing lease expenses above include short term and variable lease costs which are immaterial.

As most leases do not provide an implicit rate, Linde uses the applicable incremental berrowing rate at lease commencement to measure lease labilities and
right-of-use assets. Linde determines incremental borrowing rates through market sources.

The company has elected to apply the short-term lease exception for all underlying asset classes. Short-term leases are leases that, at the commencement date,
have a lease term of twelve months or less and do nat include a purchase option that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise. Leases that meet the short-
term lease definition are not recognized on the balance sheet, but rather expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Some leasing arrangements require variable payments that are dependent on usage, output, or may vary for other reasons, such as insurance, The company
does not have material variable lease payments.

Gains and losses on sale and leaseback transactions were immaterial. Operating cash flows used for ovperating leases for the twelve months ended December
31, 2019 was $341 million. Cash flows used for finance leases for the same period were immaterial.

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases is as follows:

(Millions of dollars) December 31, 2019
Operating I.eases

Operating lease right-of-use assets 1,025
Other current liabilities 260
Other long-term liabilities 716
Total operating lease liabilities 976

Finance Leases

Finance lease right-of-use assets 1490
Current portion of long-term debt 32
L.ong Term debt 117
Total finance lease kabilities 149

Supplemental operating fease information:

December 31, 2019
Weighted average lease term (years) 7
Weighted average discount rate 2.97%

Future operating and finance lease payments as of December 31, 2019 are as follows {millious of dollars):
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Period Operating Leases Financing Leases

2020 % 275 % 38

2021 208 31

2022 163 27

2023 110 18

2024 75 10
Thereafter 251 81
Total future undiscounted lease payments 1,082 205
Less imputed interest (106) {56)
Total reported lease liability $ 976 % 149

Prior o the adoption of the new lease accounting standard, operating and finance lease commitments on an undiscounted hasis were approximately $1.3
billicn and $104 million, respectively, at December 31, 2018 under long-term non-cancelable leases. The amounts payable for operating leases were as

follows:
; {Millions of dollars) Operating Leases
2019 % 305
2020 236
2021 186
2022 145
2023 102
Thereafter 326
Total 5 1,300

[n limited instances Linde acts as a lessor, primarily for assets to provide industrial gas to specific customers. These leases are not significant to the
consolidated balance sheets or consolidated statements of income.

NOTE 7. INCOME TAXES

The year ended December 31, 2019 reflects a full year of Linde plc; the year ended December 31, 2018 reflects Praxair for the entire year and Linde AG
for the period beginning October 31, 2018 (the merger date), including the impacts of purchase accounting. The amounts for historical periods prior to 2018
solely reflect the results of Praxair. (See Notes 1 and 3.)

Pre-tax income applicable to U.S. and foreign operations is as follows:

{Miltions of dollars)

‘ Year Ended December 31, 2014 2018 2017
United States 3 1,161 % 931 $§ 1,003
Foreign (a) 1,766 4,118 1,284
Total income before incorne taxes $ 2,927 8§ 5049 § 2,287

(a) 2019 includes a $164 million gain related to the Indian divestiture and 2018 includes a $3,294 milkion gain related to Europe divestiture (See Note 4).

Provision for Income Tuxes

The following is an analysis of the provision for income taxes:
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{Millions of dollars)

Yews Eanded Dewesnbes 31, 2019 (a) 2018 (b) 2017 ()
Current tax expense (benefit)
U.S. federal $ 64 § 39 % 565
State and local 39 N 84
Foreign 969 6520 374
1,072 1,003 1,023
Deferred tax expense (benefit)
U.S. federal 85 8 (221)
State and local — 15 19
Foreign (388) (209) 205
(303) (186) 3
Total income taxes $ 769 § 817 § 1,026
(a) 2019 includes 570 million refated to divestitures, foreign current tax expense of $48 million and foreign deferred tax expense of $22 million

()} 2018 includes a benefit of $61 million related to the Tax Act (See below) and a charge of $371 million ($252 million U.5., $4 million state, $114
million foreign current tax expense and $1 million of U.S. deferred income tax expense) related ta divestitures (See Note 4).

(] 2017 includes a charge of $394 million related to the Tax Act (See below).
U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (Tax Act) 2018 and 2017

On December 22, 2017 the U.S. government enacted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("Tax Act"). This comprehensive tax legislation significantly revised
the U.S. corporate income tax rules by, ameng other things, lowering the corparate income tax rate from 35% to 21%, implementdng a territorial tax system
and imposing a one-time tax on accumulated earnings of foreign subsidiaries. The company recorded a net provisional income tax charge of $394 million
comprising (i) an estimated $467 millien U.S. Federal and state tax charge for deemed repatriation of accumulated foreign earnings; (ii} an estimated $260
million charge for foreign withholding taxes related to anticipated future repateiation of foreign earnings; and (iii} an estimated $333 million deferred tax
benefit for the revaluation of net deferred tax liabilides from 35% to the new 21% tax rate. The $467 million U.S. federal and state tax charge for deemed
repatriation of accumulated foreign eamings includes $422 million of deemed repatriation tax payable over eight years.

In the fourth quarter of 2018, the company completed its accounting and updated its provisional estimates in accordance with SAB 118 resulting in a net
reduction to tax expense of $61 million, $41 million U.S. federal and $20 million of state income 1ax (net of federal tax benefit). This resulted in a deemed
repatriation tax payable of $261 million and $291 million and is payable over the remaining six and seven years, respectively of which $235 million and $265
million is classified as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 as other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets (See Note 9).

Further, the Tax Act enacted new provisiens related to the taxation of foreign earnings, known as GILTL. The company has elected as an accounting
policy to account for GILTI as period costs when incurred.

Additionally, in the fourth quarter of 2018 the company adepted Accounting Standards Update 2018-02, "Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income", electing to reclassify the income tax effects of the Tax Act from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
{"AOCT") ta retained earnings. This resulted in a net reduction to AOCI and a net increase to retained earnings of $93 million, $98 million direcdy related to
the federal income tax rate change reduced by $5 million indirectly related to the federal tax rate change on state incorme taxes.

Effeciive Tax Rate Reconciliation

For purposes of the effective tax rate reconciliation, the company utilized the U.S. statutory income tax rate of 21% in 2019 and 2018 and 35% in 2017.
An analysis of the difference between the provision for income taxes and the amount computed by applying the U.S. statutory income tax rate o pre-tax
income follows:
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(Doliar armounis in mitfions)

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017

U.S. statutory income tax $ 615 210% $ 1,060 210% 3% 801 35.0%

State and local taxes — net of federal benefit 31 1.1% 30 0.6 % 32 1.4%

U5, tax credits and deductions (a) (31 (1.1)% (12} (0.2)% 27 (1.2)%

Foreign tax differentials (b) 113 39% 57 1.1% (145) (6.3)%

Share-Based compensation (41} (1.4)% (22) (0.4)% 35) (1.5)%

Tax Act — — % (61) (1.2)% 394 17.2%

Divastitures (c) 36 1.2% (321) (6.4)% — — %

Other — net (d) 46 1.6% 86 1.7 % 6 0.3%

Provision for income taxes 3 769 263% $ 817 162% § 1,026 44.9 %

(a) U.S. tax credits and deductions relate to foreign derived intangible income in 2019 and 2018, the research and experimentation tax credit in 2019,
2018 and 2017 and manufacturing deduction in 2017,

(b Primarily related to differences between the U.S. tax rate (21% in 2019 and 2018 and 35% in 2017) and the statutory tax rate in the countries where
the company operates. Other permanent items and tax rate changes were not significant.

() Divestitures primarily relate to the sale of the company’s Indian business in 2019 and European business in 2018 {See Note 4).

(d) Other - net includes $26 million and $34 million of U.S tax related to GILTI in 2019 and 2018, respectively and an increase in unrecognized tax

benefits in Europe of $44 million in 2018.
Net Deferred Tax Liabilities

Net deferred tax liabilities included in the consolidated balance sheets are comprised of the following:

(Millions of doflars)
December 31, 2019 2018
Deferred tax liabilities
Fixed assets $ 3,539 3% 3,935
Goodwill 145 124
Other intangible assets 3,688 3,684
Subsidiary/equity investments 664 570
Other (a) 789 648
$ 8,825 § 8,961
Deferred tax assets
Carryforwards % 41 3 526
Benetit plans and related (b) 721 575
Inventory 72 63
Accruals and other (¢) 1,167 1,112
3 2,401 % 2,276
Less: Valuation allowances (d) (222) {237)
$ 2,179 % 2,039
Net deferred tax liabilities $ 6,646 $ 6,922
Recorded in the consolidated balance sheets as (Note 9):
Other long-term assets 243 510
Deferred credits 6,889 7,432
5 6,646 5 6,922

93



Table of Confents

(a Includes $255 million in 2019 related to right-of-use lease assets.

(o} Includes deferred taxes of $446 million and $292 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to pension / OPEB funded status (See Nates 9 and
18).

() Includes $255 million related to lease liabilities in 2019 and 381 million and $104 millicn in 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to research and
development costs.

(d) Summary of valuation allowances relating to deferred tax assets follows (millions of dollars):
2019 2018 2017
Balance, January 1, 3 (237) % (76) 3 (132}
Tncome tax {charge) benefit {i) (31) {51 59
Merger with Linde AG 18 (121) —
Other, including write-offs {ii) 26 7 —
Translation adjustments 2 4 &3]
Balance, December 31, $ (222) % (237) § (76)

{iy 2017 includes a $59 millicn benefit related to the ntilization of foreign tax credits under the Tax Act.

{ii) 2019 includes $26 million related to the squeeze out of Linde AG (See Note 3).

The company evaluates deferred tax assets quarterly to ensure that estimated future taxable income will be sufficient in character (e.g., capital gain
versus ordinary income treatment), amount and tming to result in their recovery, After considering the positive and negative evidence, a valuation allowance
is established ta reduce the assets to their realizable value when management determines that it is more likely than not (i.e., greater than 50% likelihood) that
a deferred tax asset will not be realized. Considerable judgment is required in establishing deferred tax valuation allowances.

At December 31, 2019, the company had $441 millioa of deferred tax assets relating to net operating losses (“NOLs") and tax credits and 5222 million
of valuation allowances. These deferred tax assets include $312 millicn relating to NOLs of which $55 million expire within 5 years, 5115 million expire after
5 years and $142 million have no expiration. The deferred tax assets also include $129 million related to credits of which $6 million expire within 5 years,
$113 million expire after 5 years, and $10 million have no expiration. The valuation allowances of $222 million primarily relate to NOLs and are required
because management has determined, based on financial projections and available tax strategies, that it is unlikely that the NOLs will be utilized before they
expite. If events or circumstances change, valuation allowances are adjusted at that time resulting in an income tax benefit or charge.

The company has $664 million ot foreign income taxes accrued related to its investments in subsidiaries and equity investments as of December 31,
2019. A provision has not been made for any additional foreign income tax at December 31, 2019 on approximately $31 billion related to its investments in
subsidiaries because the company intends to remain indefinitely reinvested. While the $31 billion could become subject to additional foreign income tax if
there is a sale of a subsidiary, or earnings are remitted as dividends, it is not practicable to estimate the unrecognized deferred tax liability.

Uncertain Tax Positions

Unrecognized income tax benefits represent incame tax positions taken on income tax returns but not yet recognized in the consolidated financial
statements. The company has unrecognized income tax benefits totaling $472 million, $319 million and $54 million as of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. If recognized, essentally all of the unrecognized tax benefits and related interest and penalties would be recorded as a benefit to incorme tax
expense on the consolidated statements of income.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
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{Miifions of dollars) 201% 2018 2017
Unrecognized income tax benefits, January 1 $ 319 % 54 $ 56
Additions for tax positions of prior years (a) 151 104 48
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (3) 7 {26}
Additions for current year 1ax positions (b) 33 179 _
Reductions for settlements with taxing authorities (c) (26} (3) (26)
Foreign currency translation and other 2} 8) 2
Unrecognized income tax benefits, December 31 $ 472 % 319 % 54
{a) Increase primarily relates to tax positions in the United States and Europe, $66 million in 2019 related to the merger with Linde AG.

{b) 2018 includes $167 million related to the merger with Linde AG.
{c) Settlements are uncertain tax positions that were effectively settled with the raxing authorities, including positions where the company has agreed to
amend its tax returns to eliminate the uncertainty.

The company classtfies interest income and expense related (o incame taxes as tax expense in the consolidated staternents of income. The company
recognized net interest expense of $1 million, $32 million and $8 miilion for the years ended December 31, 2019, December 31, 2018 and December 31,
2017, respectively. The company had $65 million and $48 million of accrued interest and penalties as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
respectively which were recarded in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets (See Note 9).
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As of December 31, 2019, the company remaiced subject to examination in the following major tax jurisdictions tor the tax years as indicated below:

Maijor tax jurisdictions
North and South America
United States
Canada
Mexico
Brazil

Europe and Africa
France
Germany
Netherlands
Republic of South Africa
Spain
United Kingdom

Asia and Australia
Australia
China
India
Korea
Taiwan

Open Years

2016 through 2019
2012 through 2019
2013 through 2019
2005 through 2019

2015 through 2019

g
|
'

2014 through 2019

hrouely

[R5}
(=
[
=)

=
(=)

2014 through 20

208 o) 200

The company is currendy under audit in a number of jurisdictions. As a result, it is reasonably possible that some of these matters will conclude or
reach the stage where a change in unrecognized income tax benefits may occur within the next twelve months. At the time new information becomes
available, the company will record any adjustment (o income tax expense as required. Final determinations, if any, are not expected to be material to the
consolidated financial statements. The company is also subject to income taxes in many hundreds of state and local taxing jurisdictions that are open to tax

exarminations,

96



Table of Cugients

NOTE 8. EARNINGS PER SHARE - LINDE PLC SHAREHOLDERS

Basic and Dilnted earnings per share - Linde plc shareholders is computed by dividing Inrcome From Continuing Operations, Income From discontinued
aperations, net of tax, and Net income — Linde plc for the period by the weighted average number of either basic or diluted shares outstanding, as follaws:

2019 2013 2017

Numerator (Millions of dellars)
Income From Continuing Operations $ 2,183 % 4273 3§ 1,247
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 102 108 —
Net Income — Linde ple 3 2285 % 4,381 § 1,247
Denominator (Thousands of shares)
Weighted average shares outstanding 5401859 38K 285,893
Shares earned and issuable under compensation plans 235 313 368
Weighted average shares used in basic eamings per share * 541,094 330,401 286,261
Effect of dilutive securities

Stock optiens and awards 4,076 3,726 2,853
Weighted average shares used in diluted earnings per share * 545,170 334,127 289,114
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations % 403 § 1293 § 436
Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations b 019 $ 033 % -—
Basic Earnings Per Share $ 422 % 1326 § 4.36
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations % ADD % 1279 % 432
Diluted earnings per share from discontnued operations $ 019 % 032 % —
Diluted Earnings Per Share $ 419 3% 1311 % 432

* As aresult of the merger, share amounts far the year ended December 31, 2018 reflect a weighted average effect of Praxair shares sutstanding prior to

October 31, 2018 and Linde plc shares outstanding on and after October 31, 2018.

There were no antidilutive shares for the years ended Pecember 31, 2019, 2018 or 2017,

NOTE 9. SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATIQON

The year ended December 31, 2018 reflects Praxair for the entire year and the Linde AG for the period beginning after October 31, 2018 (the merger
darte), including the impacts of purchase accounting. The amaunts for historical periods prior to 2018 solely reflect the results of Praxair. See Notes 1 and 3.

Income Statement

(Miltions of dollars}

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 207
Selling, General and Administrative
Selling $ 1,600 $ 757 % 511
General and administrative 1,857 872 696
¥ 3457 % 1,629 % 1,207
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017
Depreciation and Amortization (a)
Depreciation $ 3940 § 1,615 § 1,093
Amortization of intangibles (Note 12) 735 215 91
Depreciation and Amortization $ 4675 % 1,830 3 1,184
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 207
Other Income (Expenses) — Net
Currency related net gains {losses) 5 (1) 3 4 % (3)
Partnership income 8 8 6
Severance expense 7) (7) (6)
Asset divestiture gains (losses) — net 10 6 4
Other — net 68 7 3
$ 68 § 8 3 4
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017

Interest Expense — Net



Interest incurred on debt
Interest income

Amortization on arauived rehf
Interest capitalized

Bond redempton (b)

Year Ended December 31,

Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests
Noncontrolling interests' operations (c)

Redeemable noncontrolling interests' operations (Note 16)
Noncontrolling interests from continuing operations
Norcontrolling interests from discentinued operations

Balance Sheet

(Millions of dollars)
December 31,

Accounts Receivable
Trade and Other receivables
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (d)

December 31,

Inventories

Raw materials and supplies
‘Work in process

Finished goods
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284 297 230
(112) (80) {41)
(96} 1) —
(38) (20) (28)
J— 26 J—
38 202 161
2019 2018 2017
87 12 59
2 3 2
89 15 61
7 9 —
2019 2018
4,628 4,410
(306) (113)
4,322 4,297
2019 2018
396 339
331 321
970 991
1,697 1,651
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December 31,

Prepaid and Other Current Assets
Prepaid and other deferred charges (e)
VAT recoverable

Unrealized gains on derivatives (Note 14)
Other

December 31,

Other Long-term Assets
Pension assets (Note 18)
Insurance contracts (f)
Long-term receivables, net (g)
QOperating lease assets (Note 6)
Deposits

Investments carried at cost
Deferred charges

Deferred income taxes {Note 7)
Unrealized gains on derivatives (Note 14)
Other

December 31,

Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses

Payroll

VAT payable

Pension and postretirement (Note 18)
Interest payable

Operating lease liability (Note €)
Employee benefit accrual

Insurance reserves

Unrealized losses on derivatives (Note 14)
Other

58

2019 2018
516 533
275 250
85 66
264 228
1,140 1,077
2019 2018
78 140
75 75
150 135
1,025 —
56 61
40 76
90 148
243 510
82 127
174 190
2,013 1,462
2019 2014
1,079 1,187
619 658
268 235
27 117
127 137
260 —
88 104
38 36
54 36
941 1,248
3,501 3,758
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December 31, 2019 2018
Other Long-term Liabilities
Pension and postretirement (Note 18) $ 2,548 % 2,004
Tax liabilities for uncertain tax positions 342 191
Tax Act liabilities for deemed repatriation (Note 7) 235 265
Operating lease liability (Note 6) 716 —
Interest and penalties for uncertain tax positions (Note 7) 65 43
Insurance reserves 28 24
Asset retirement obligation 293 300
Unrealized losses on derivatives (Note 14) 45 43
Other 616 560
5 4888 % 3,435
Pecember 11, 2019 2018
Deferred Credits
Deferred income taxes (Note 7) 3 6,889 % 7,432
Other 347 179
b 7,236 § 7,611
Pecember 31, 2019 2018

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Cumulative translatior adjustment - net of taxes:

Americas (h) $ (3,357} % (3,375}
EMEA (h) (136) 10>

APAC (h} (140) (114}
Engineering (29) 40

Other 282 (246)
(3,380) (3,590)

Derivatives — net of taxes 27) (2)

Unrealized gain (loss} on securities — (e

Pension/OPEB funded status obligation (net of $446 million and $292 million tax benefit in 2019 and 2018) (Note

18) (1,407) (863)

b (4,814) 3% (4,456)

[€)] Depreciation and amortization expense in 2019 include $1,298 million and $642 millicn, respectively, of Linde AG purchase accounting impacts. In

2018, depreciation and amortizaton expense include $225 million and $121 million, respectively, of Linde AG purchase accounting impacts.

) In December 2018, Linde repaid $600 million of 4.50% notes due 2019 and €600 million of 1.50% notes due 2020 resulting in a $26 million interest
charge ($20 million after-tax).

() Noncantrolling interests from continuing operations includes a $1 million benefit and a $35 million charge in 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to
the 8% of Linde AG Shares which were not tendered in the Exchange Offer. Linde AG completed the cash merger squeeze-out of all its minority
shares on April 8, 2019 (see Note 3).

Tn addition, 2019 and 2018 noncontrolling interests from continuing operations include $54 million and $24 million, respectively, of Linde AG
purchase accounting impacts.
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(d

(e
®
®)

()

Provisions to the allowance for doubtful accounts were $170 million, $25 million, and $33 million in 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. The
allowance activity in each period related primarily to write-offs of uncellectible amounts, net of recoveries and currency movements.

Includes estimated income tax payments of $115 million and $172 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Consists primarily of insurance contracts and other investments to be utilized for non-qualified pension and OPEB obligations.

Long-term receivables are not material and are largely reserved. The balances at December 31, 2019 and 2018 are net of reserves of $44 million and
$46 million, respectively. The amounts in both periods relate primarily to long-term notes receivable from customers and government receivables in
Brazil. Collectability is reviewed regularly and uncollectible amounts are written-off as appropriate.

Americas cansists of currency translation adjustments primarily in Canada, Mexico, and Brazil. EMEA relates primarily to Germany, the United
Kingdom and Sweden. APAC relates primarily ta China, Korea, India and Australia.

NOTE 10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - NET

Significant classes of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

(Millions of dollars) Depreciable Lives
December 31, (Yrs) 2019 2018
Production plants {(primarily 15-year life) (a} 10-20 $ 25493 % 24,726
Storage tanks 15-20 4,295 4,061
Transportation equipment and other 3-15 2,809 2,654
Cylinders 10-30 4,184 3,955
Buildings 25-40 3,162 3,083
Land and improvements (b) 0-20 1,229 1,162
Construction in progress 3,146 2,296
44,318 41,937
Less: accumulated depreciation (15,254) (12,220}
5 29,064 % 29,717

(a) - Depreciable lives of production plants related to long-teym customer supply contracts are cansistent with the contract lives.

(b) - Land is not depreciated.
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NOTE 11. GOODWILL

Chauges in the Canyiog anronnl of goodwill fon the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

{(Milfions of dollars} Americas EMEA APAC Engineering Other Total
Balance, December 31, 2017 5 2,306 % 695 % 59 % — 173  § 3,233
Addition due to Merger (Note 3} 6,890 10,802 5,193 1,060 201 24,146
Acquisitions {Note 3) 5 — — — 5
Purchase adjustments & other 12 — — — 12
Foreign currency translation (2] 83 43 15 {4) 98
Disposals {Note 4) — (620} — — (620)
Balance, December 31, 2018 9,174 16,960 5,295 1,075 370 26,874
Acquisitions (Note 3) 135 — — — — 135
Measurement period adjustments {(Note 3) (255) (636) (323) 1,410 (42) 154
Foreign cuirency translation (12) (81) (15) (15) 2n (144)
Balance, December 31, 2019 $ 9042 §$ 10,243 % 4957 % 2470 & 307 § 27,019

Linde has historically performed its goodwill impairment tests annually during the second quarter of each year, and has determined that the fair value
of each of its reporting units was substantially in excess of its carrying value. For the second quarter 2019 test, Linde applied the FASB's accounting guidance
which allows the company to first assess qualitative factors to determine the extent of additional quantitative analysis, if any, that may be required to test
goodwill for impairment. Based on the qualitative assessments performed, Linde concluded that it was morve likely than not that the fair value of each
reporting unit substantially exceeded its carrying value and therefore, further quantitative analysis was not required. As a result, no impairment was recorded.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2019, the company changed the date of its annual goodwill impairment test from April 30 to Octaber 1. The
change was made to more closely align the impairment testing date with the company’s planning process. The change in annual impairment testing date did
not delay, accelerate or avoid an impairment charge. The company has determined this change in the method of applying an accounting principle is preferable.

Linde's impairment test performed during the fourth quarter of 2619 estimated the fair value of each reporting unit by applying multiples of earnings
from a peer group to the company’s forecasted earnings for the year ending December 33, 2019. The peer group is cemprised of comparable entities with
similar operations and economic characteristics. Linde concluded the fair value of reporting units exceeded its carrying value and therefore recognized no
impairment. There were no indicators of impairment through December 31, 2019. Reporting units with greater concentration of Linde AG assets fair valued
during the recent merger are at greater risk of impairment in future periods.
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NOTE 12. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following is a surnmary of Linde’s other intangible assets at December 31, 2019 and 2018:

(Millions of dollgrs) For the year ended December 31, 2019 Customer Relationships Brandsy/Tradenames Other Intangible Assets Totat
Cost:

Balance, December 31, 20£8 $ 13,288 § 2,288 % 1,366 16,942
Additions (primarily acquisitions) 30 6 51 87
Foreign currency wranslation (59) (21) (11) (91)
Measurement period adjustments (Note 3) (8) 492 178 662
Other * (46) n 28 (19)

Balance, December 31, 2019 13,205 2,764 1,612 17,581

Less: accumulated amortization:

Balance, December 31, 2018 317y (22) (380) (715)
Amertization expense (Note 9) (584) (47) (104) (735)
Foreign currency translation — — 2 2
Other * 16 — (8) 8

Batance, December 31, 2019 (885) (69) (490) (1,444)

Net intangible asset balance a8l December 31, 2019 $ 12,320 § 2,695 % 1,122 16,137
(Mitlions of dolars} For the year ended December 31, 2018 Customer Relationships Brands/Tradenames Other Intangible Assets Tatal
Cost:

Balance, December 31, 2017 $ 772 % % 619 1,437
Additons due to merger (Note 3) 12,555 2,226 811 15,592
Additions (primarily acquisitions) 1 — 26 27
Foreign currency translation 121 24 )] 136
Disposals (Note 4) (141) (8) (78) (227}
Other * 20 — 3) (23)

Balance, December 31, 2018 13,288 2,288 1,366 16,942

Less: accumulated amortization:

Balance, December 31, 2017 (260} (18) (374) (652)
Amortization expense (Note 9) (135) 9 (71) (215)
Foreign currency translation 4 — 8 12
Disposals (Note 4) 55 5 52 112
Other * 19 — 5 24

Balance, December 31, 2018 (317 22 (380) (719)

Net balance at December 31, 2018 $ 12971 § 2,266 § 986 3 16,223
- Other primarily relates to the write-off of fully amortized assets and reclassifications.

There are no expected residual values related to these intangible assets. Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017
was $735 million, $215 million and 331 million, respectively. The remaining weighted-average amortization period for intangible assets is approximately 28

years.
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Total estimated annual amortization expense related to finite-lived intangibles is as follows:

(Millions of dollars)

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

Thereafter

Total amortization related to finite-lived intangible assets
Indefinite-lived intangible assets at December 31, 2019
Net intangible assets at December 31, 2019
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718
713
595
570
556
1,115

14,267
1,870

16,137
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NOTE 13, DEBT
The following is a summary of Linde’s outstanding debt at December 31, 2019 and 2018:

{Mitlions of doilars)
Short-term

Commercial paper and U.S. bank borrowings
Other bank borrowings (primarily international}
Total short-term debt
Long-term (a)
(U.8. dolar denominated unless otherwise noted)
1.90% Notes due 2019 (b)
Variable rate notes due 2019 (b)
1.75% Eure derominated nates due 2319 (b,c)
4.25% AUD denominated notes due 2019 (b)
Variable rate notes due 2019 (b)
2.25% Notes due 2020
1.75% Euro denominated notes due 2020 (c)
0.634% Euro deneminated notes due 2020
4.05% Notes due 2021
3.875% Euro denominated notes due 2021 (¢)
3.00% Notes due 2021
0.250% Euro denominated notes due 2022 (c)
2.45% Notes due 2022
2.20% Notes due 2022
2.70% Notes due 2023
2.00% Eurn denominated notes due 2023 {c)
5.875% GBP denominated notes due 2023 {c)
1.20% Furo denominated notes due 2024
1.875% Euro denominated notes due 2024 {c)
2.65% Notes due 2025
1.625% Euro denominated notes due 2025
3.20% Notes due 2026
3.434% Notes due 2026
1.652% Euro denominated notes due 2027
1.00% Euro denominated notes due 2028 (c)
1.90% Euro denvminated notes due 2030
3.55% Notes due 2042
Other
Interpational bank borrowings
Obligations under capital lease

Less: current portion of long-term debt
Total long-term debt
Total debt

(a) Amounts are net of unamortized discounts, premiums and/or debt issuance costs as applicable.
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201% 2018
296 % 829
735 656
1,732 1,485
— 500
— 150
— 578
— 71
— 200
00 299
1,137 1,185
56 58
499 499
711 755
499 498
1,129 1,156
599 598
499 498
499 498
776 805
456 454
615 628
361 373
398 398
556 568
725 725
196 195
93 96
872 861
118 121
662 662
10 10
309 291
149 81
12,224 13,811
(1,531) (1,523)
10,693 12,288
13956 § 15,296
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(b) In February 2019, Linde repaid $500 million of 1.9% notes that became due; in May 2019 Linde repaid $150 millton of variable notes that became
due; in June 2019 Linde repaid €500 million nf 1.75% notes that became due and the associated interest rate swap was settled; also in June 2019
Linde settled AUD100 million of variable rate notes that became due; and in August 2019 Linde repaid $200 million of variable rate notes that
became due.

(© December 31, 2019 and 2018 included a cumulative $38 million and $14 million adjustment to carrying value, respectively, related to hedge
accounting of intcrest rate swaps.

Credit Facilities

On March 26, 2019 the company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an unsecured revolving credit agreement ("the Credit Agreement"} with a
syndicate of hanking institutions, which became effective on March 29, 2015. The Credit Agreement provides for total commitments of $5.0 billion, which
may be increased up to $6.5 billion, subject to receipt of additional commitments and satisfaction of customary conditions. There are no financial
maintenance covenants contained within the Credit Agreement. The revolving credit facility expires on March 26, 2024 with the option te request two one-
year extensions of the expirvation date. In connection with the effectiveness of the Credit Agreement, Praxair and Linde AG terminated their major respective
existing revolving credit facilities. No borrowings were outstanding under the Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2019.

On September 3, 2019 Linde and the company’s subsidiaries Praxair and Linde AG entered into a series of parent and subsidiary guarantees related to
currenty outstanding notes issued by Praxair and Linde AG as well as the 35 billion Credit Agreement.

Other Debt Information
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the weighted-average interest rate of short-term borrowings outstanding was 0.6% for both periods.
Expected maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

{Millions of dollars)

2020 % 1,531
2021 1,855
2022 2,330
2023 1,798
2024 983
Thereafter 3,727

8 12,224

As of December 31, 2019, the amouns of Iinde's assets pledged as collateral was immatertial.

See Note 15 for the fair value information related to debt.

NOTE 14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In its nurmal operations, Linde is exposed to market risks relating to fluctuations in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, energy costs and to a
lesser extent precious metal prices. The objective of financial risk management at Linde is to minimize the negative impact of such fluctuations on the
company’s earnings and cash flows. To manage these risks, among other strategies, Linde routinely enters into various derivative financiat instruments
(“derivatives™) including interest-rate swap and treasury rate lock agreements, currency-swap agreements, forward contracts, currency options, and
commodity-swap agreements. These instruments are not entered into for trading purposes and Linde only uses commonty traded and non-leveraged
mnsruments.

There are three types of derivatives that the company enters into: (i) those relating to fair-value exposures, (ii) those relating to cash-flow exposures,
and (iii) those relating to foreign currency net investment exposures. Fair-value exposures relate to recognized assets or liabilities, and firm commitments;
cash-flow exposures relate to the variability of future cash flows associated with recognized assets or liabilities, or forecasted transactions; and net investment
exposures relate to the impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes on the carrying value of net assets denominated in foreign currencies.

When a derivative is executed and hedge accounting is appropriate, it is designated as either a fair-value hedge, cash-flow hedge, or a net investment
hedge. Currently, Linde designates all interest-rate and treasury-rate locks as hedges for accounting purposes; however, cross-currency inferest rate contracts
are generally not designated as hedges for accounting
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purposes. Certain currency contracts related to forecasted wansactions are designated as hedges for accounting purposes. Whether designated as hedges for
accounting purposes or not, all derivatives are linked to an appropriate underlying exposure. On an ongoing basis, the company assesses the hedge
effectiveness of all derivatives designated as hedges for accounting purpases to determine if they continue to be highly effective in offseiting changes in fair
values or cash flows of the underlying hedged items. If it is determined that the hedge is not highly effective, then hedge accounting will be discontinued
prospectvely.

Counterparties to Linde’s derivatives are major banking institutions with credit ratings of investment grade or better. The company has Credit Support
Amexes ("CSAs"}) in place with their principal countetparties to minimize potential default risk and to mitigate counterparty risk. Under the CSAs, the fair
values of derivatives for the purpose of interest rate and currency management are collateralized with cash on & regular basis. As of December 31, 2019, the
impact of such collateral posting arrangements on the fair value of derivatives was insignificant. Management believes the risk of incurring losses on
derivative coniracts related 1o credit risk is remote and any losses wonld be immaterial.

The following table is a summary of the notionat amount and fair value of derivatives outstanding at December 31, 2019 and 2018 for consolidated
subsidiaries:

Fair Value

{Millions of dollars) Notional Amounts Assets (@) Liabilities {a)
December 31, 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging
Instruments:
Currency contracts:
Balance sheet items 5 7936 § 6357 § 62 3 24 8 37 % 42
Forecasted transactions 748 945 14 15 15 17
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 1,029 2,110 35 112 40 40
Commodity contracts N/A N/A — 27 -— 9
Total 9,713 9,412 111 178 92 108
Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments:
Currency contracts:
Balance sheet items $ 27 % — 3 2 5 — 8 3 8 —
Forecasted transactions 464 158 9 2 3 3
Commodity contracts N/A N/A 6 —_ 1 -—_
Interest rate swaps 1,908 2,164 39 13 -— 10
Total Hedges $ 2,399 % 2322 § 56 8 15 $ 7% 13
Total Derivatives $ 12,112 % 11,734  § 167 &% 193 % 59 3 121

(a) Current assets of $85 million are recorded in prepaid and other current assets; long-term assets of $82 million are recorded in other long-lerm assets;
current liabilities of $54 million are recorded in other current liabilities; and long-term liabilities of $45 million are recorded in other long-term liabilities.

Balance Sheet Items

Foreign currency congracts related to balance sheet items consist of forward contracts entered into to manage the exposure 1o fluctiations in foreign-
currency exchange rates on recorded balance sheet assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the related operating
unit. Certain forward currency contracts are entered into 1o protect underlying monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies from foreign
exchange risk and are not designated as hedging instrwments. For balance sheet items that are not designated as hedging instraments, the fair value
adjustments on these contracts are offset by the fair value adjustments recorded on the underlying monetary assets and liabilities.

Forecasted Transactions

Foreign currency contracts related (o forecasted transactions consist of forward contracts entered into to manage the exposure to flucteations in foreign-
currency exchange rates on (1) forecasted purchases of capital-related equipment and services, (2) forecasted sales, or (3} other forecasted cash flows
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the related operating units. For forecasted transactions that are designated as cash flow
hedges, fair value adjustments are
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recorded to accumulated other comprehensive income ("AQCI") with deferred amounts reclassified to earnings over the same time perioed as the income
statement impact of the associated purchase. For forecasted transactions that de not qualify for cash flow hedging relationships, fair value adjustments are
recorded directly to earnings.

Interest Rate/Cross-Currency Interest Rate Swaps

Cross-currency interest rate swaps are entered into ta limit the foreign currency risk of future principal and interest cash flows associated with intercompany
loans, and to a more limited extent bonds, denominated in non-functional currencies. The fair value adjustments on the cross-currency swaps are recorded 1o
earnings, where they are offset by fair value adjustments an the underlying intcrcompany loan or bond.

Commodity Contracts

Commodity contracts are entered info to manage the exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices, which arise in the normal course of business from its
pracurement transactions. To reduce the extent of this risk, Linde enters into a limited number of electricity, natural gas, and propane gas derivatives. The fair
value adjustments for the majority of these contracts are recorded ¢ AOCI and are eventually offset by the income statement impact of the underlying
commodity purchase.

Net investment hedges

As of December 31, 2019, Linde has not designated any hedges of net investment positions in foreign operations. Linde had previously designated Euro-
denominated debt instruments as net investment hedges to reduce the company's expesure to changes in the currency exchange rate on investments in foreign
subsidiaries with Enro functional currencies. Exchange rate movements of $206 millicn relating to the previously denominated Eurc-denominaced debt
incurred in the financial periods pricr to de-designation will remain in AOCI, until appropriate, such as upon sale or liquidation of the foreign cperations at
which time amounts will be reclassified to the consolidated statements of income. Exchange rate movements related to the Euro-denominated debt occurting
after de-designation are shown in the consolidated statements of income.

Interest Rate Swaps

Linde uses interest rate swaps to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities as a result of interest rate
changes. These interest rate swaps effectively convert fixed-rate interest exposures to variable rates; fair value adjustments are recognized in earnings along
with an equally offsetting charge/benefit to earnings for the changes in the fair value of the underlying financial asset or financial liability. The notional value
of outstanding interest rate swaps of Linde with maturity dates from 2020 through 2028 was $1,908 million at December 31, 2015 and $2,164 at
December 31, 2018 (see Note 13 for further information).

Terminated Treasury Rate Locks

The unrecognized aggregate losses related to terminated treasury rate lock contracts on the underlying $500 million 3.00% fixed-rate notes that mature in
2021 and the $500 million 2.20% fixed-rate notes that mature in 2022 at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 were $2 million (net of taxes of $1
million) and $2 million {net of taxes of $1 million), respectively. The unrecognized gains/(losses) for the treasury rate Locks are shown in AOCI and are
being recognized on a straight line basis to interest expense - net aver the term of the underlying debt agreements.

Impact of derivative instruments on earnings and AQCI

The following table summarizes the impact of the company's derivatives on the consclidated statements of income:

Amount of Pre-Tax Gain (Loss)
{Millions of dolfars) Recognized in Earnings *

December 31, 2019 2018 2017

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments
Currency contracts:
Balance sheet items:

Debt-related 3 253 % (118) % 121
Other batance sheet items 65 3 —
Total $ 318§ (L15) § 121

* The gains (losses) on balance sheet itemns are offset by gains (losses) recorded on the underlying hedged assets and liabilities. Accordingly, the gains {losses) for the derivatives and the underlying
hedged assets and liabilities related to debt items are recorded in the consolidated statements of income as interest expense-net, Other balance sheet items and anticipated net income gains (losses)
are recorded in the consolidated statements of income as other incoine (expenses-net.
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The amounts of gain or loss recognized in AOCI and reclassified to the consolidated statement of income was immaterial for the year ended December 31,
2019. Net losses expected to be reclassified to eammings during the next twelve months are alse not material.

The gains (losses) on net investment hedges are recorded as a component of AOCI within foreign currency translation adjustments in the consolidated balance
sheets and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. The gains (losses) on treasury rate locks are recorded as a comporent of AOCI within
derivative instruments in the consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. The gains (losses) on net investment
hedges are reclassified to earnings only when the related currency translation adjustments are required to be reclassified, usually upon sale or liquidation of
the investment. The gains (losses) for interest rate contracts are reclassified to earnings as interest expense —net on a straight-line basis over the remaining
maturity of the underlying debt.
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NOTE 15. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES

The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels as {ollows:

Level 1 — quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 — quoted prices for similar assets and liabitities in active markets or inputs that are observable

Level 3 — inputs that are unobservable (for example cash flow modeling inpuats based on assumptions)

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following table summarizes assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Fair Valoe Measuremeats Using

{Millions of dollars} Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Assets

Derivative assets 3 — 5 — 167 % 193 % — ¥ —

Investments and securities * 18 22 — — 28 30

Total $ 18 % 22 167 % 193 % 28 % 30

Liabilities

Derivative liabilities $ — 5 — 99 % 121 % — % —

*  Investments and securities are recorded in prepaid and other current assets and ather long-term assets in the company's consolidated balance sheets.

Level 1 investments and securities are marketable securities traded on an exchange. Level 2 investments are based on market prices obtained from
independent brokers or determined using quantirative models that use as their basis readily ohservable market parameters that are actively quoted and can be
validated through external sources, including third-party pricing services, brokers and market transactions. Level 3 investments and securities consist of a
venture fund. For the valuation, Linde uses the net asset value received as part of the fund's quarterly reporting, which for the most part is not based on quoted
prices in active markets. In order to reflect current market conditions, Linde proportonally adjusts these by observable market data (stock exchange prices) or

current transaction prices.

The fallowing table summarizes the changes in level 3 investments and securities for the year ended December 31, 2019. Gains (losses) recognized in
earnings are recorded to interest expense - net in the company's consolidated statements of income.

(Millions of dollars)
Balance at January 1

Additions
Gains {losses) recognized in earnings
Balance at December 31

2019

30

(3)
28

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, short-term debt, accounts receivable-net, and accounts payable approximate carrying value because of the

short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair value of long-term debt is estimated based on the quoted market prices for the same or similar issues. Long-term deht is categorized within

either Level 1 or Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy depending on the trading volume of the issues and whether or not they are actively quoted in the market
as opposed to traded through over-the-counter transactions. At December 31, 2019, the estimated fair value of Linde’s long-term debt portfolio was $12,375
million versus a carrying value of $12,224 million. At December 31, 2018 the estimated fair value of Linde’s long-term debt portfolio was $13,725 million

versus a carrying value of $13,811 million. As Linde AG's assets and liabilities were measured at estimated fair value as of the merger date, differences
between the carrying value and the fair value not significant; remaining differences are attributable to interest rate increases subsequent to when the debt was

issued and relative to stated coupon rates.
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NOTE 16, EQUITY AND NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
Linde pic Shareholders' Equity

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, Linde has total awthorized share capital of €1,825,000 divided into 1,750,000,000 ordinary shares of €0.001 each,
25,000 A ordinary shares of €1.00 each, 25,000 deferred shares of €1.00 each and 25,000,000 preferred shares of €0.001 each.

At December 31, 2019 there were 552,012,862 and 534,380,544 of Linde ple ardinary shares issued and outstanding, respectively. At December 31,
2019 there were no shares of A ordinary shares, deferred shares or preferred shares issued or outstanding.

At December 31, 2018 there were 551,310,272 and 547,241,630 of Linde plc ordinary shares issued and outstanding, respectively. At December 31,
2018, there were no shares of A ordinary shares, deferred shares or preferred shares issued or outstanding.

Linde’s Board of Directors may from tinie to time authorize the issuance of one or more series of preferred stock and, in connection with the creation of
such series, determine the characteristics of each such series including, without limitation, the preference and relative, participating, optional or other special
rights, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions of the series.

2018 Merger of Praxair and Linde AG

Following is a summary of the Linde plc shareholders’ equity transactions related (o the merger:

Additional Paid in

Ordinary Shares Capital Treasury Stock
{Dollar amourts int miflions, shares in thousands) Shares Amount Shares Amount
Merger with Linde AG () 263,148 % — % 43,288 — % —
Conversion of Praxair to Linde plc shares (b} — €3] 3 — —
Cancellation of Praxair Treasury stock (c) (95,324} — (7,113) (95,324) 7,113
Impact of Linde AG merger 167,824 § @ $ 36,178 (95324) $ 7,113

{a)  The total fair value of consideration transferred for the merger was $43,288 million, resulting in an increase to “Additional paid-in capital” in
stockholders' equity (see Note 3 for additional information).

(b)  On October 31, 2018, the conversion of Praxair common stock and Linde AG commion stock into Linde ordinary shares resulted in a $3 million
decrease to "Ordinary Shares" with a corresponding increase to "Additional paid-in capital” in stockholders' equity.

()  Each share of Praxair common stock held in treasury immediately prior to the merger was canceled. The elimination of Praxair’s historical treasury
stock at cositesulted in a $7,113 million decrease in "Treasury stock” and "Additional paid-in capital” in stockholders’ equity.

As indicated above, in connecton with the merger, Praxair and Linde AG common stock was converted into shares of Linde plc ordinary shares. The
following table provides a sununary of the share aciivity resulting from the merger:

(in thousands, except Linde AG exchange ratio)
Linde ple shares exchanged for Linde AG shares

Linde AG common stock tendered as of October 31, 2018 (i) 170,875
Business combination agreement exchange ratio (ii) 1.54
Linde plc ardinary shares issued in exchange for Linde AG 263,148
Linde pic shares issned to Praxair sharcholders upon conversion

Praxair shares outstanding at merger date 287,907
Total Linde plc shares issued at merger date 551,055

—_———————
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(i) Number of Linde AG shares tendered in the 2017 Exchange Offer.

(i} Exchange ratio for Linde AG shares as set forth in the business combination agreement.

Other Linde pic Ordinary Share and Treasury Stock Transactions

Linde may issue new ordinary shares for dividend reinvestment and stock purchase plans and employee savings and incentive plans. The number of
new Linde ordinary shares issued from the merger date through December 31, 2019 was 958,293 shares.

On December 10, 2018 the Linde board of directors approved the repurchase of $1.0 billion of its ordinary shares under which Linde had repurchased
6,385,887 shares through December 31, 2019 (4,068,642 shares were repurchased throngh December 31, 2018). Linde completed the repurchases under this
program in the first quarter of 2019.

Subsequently, on January 22, 2019 the company’s board of directors approved the additional repurchase of $6.0 billion of its ordinary shares under
which Linde had repurchased 12,016,083 shares through December 31, 2019.

Noncontrolling Interesis

Noncontrolling interest ownership changes are presented within the consolidated statements of equity. The $2,921 million decrease during 2019 was primarily
driven by Linde AG completion of the cash merger squeeze-out of all its minority shares on April 8, 2019. This represents the 8% of Linde AG shares which
were not tendered in the Exchange Offer and were the subject of a cash-merger squeeze-out (See Note 3).

The $186 million decrease during 2018 primarily relates 1o the sale of Praxair's industrial gases business in Europe (see Notes 1 and 4). The "Impact of
Merger” line item of the consolidated statements of equity includes the fair value of the noncontrolling interests acquired from Linde AG, including the 8% of
Linde AG shares which were not tendered in the Exchange Offer and were intended to be the subject of a cash-merger squeeze-out (See Note 3).

The $15 million increase during 2017 relates to additional funding provided to PG Technologies, LLC ("PGT") by the joint venture partner.
Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests with redemption features, such as put/sell options, that are not solely within the company’s control {“redeemable
noncontrolling interests”) are reported separately in the consolidated balance sheets at the greater of carrying value or redemption value, For redeemable
noncontrolling interests that are not yet exercisable, Linde calculates the redemption value by accreting the carrying value to the redemption value over the
pericd until exercisable. If the redemption value is greater than the carrying value, any increase is adjusted directly to retained earnings and does not impact
net income, At December 31, 2019, the redeemable noncontrolling interest balance includes industrial gas businesses in EMEA and Americas where the
noncontrelling shareholders have put options.
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NOTE 17. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Share-hased compensation expense was $35 million in 2019 ($62 million and $59 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively). The related income tax
benefit recognized was $42 million in 2019 ($30 million and $53 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively). The expense was primarily recorded in selling,
general and administrative expenses and no share-based compensation expense was capitalized.

Summary of Plans

The 2009 Praxair, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan was initially adopted by the board of directors and sharehelders of Praxair, Inc. on April 28, 2009 and
has been amended since its initial adoption (“the 2008 Plar"). Upon completion of the business combination of Praxair, Inc, with Linde AG on October 31,
2018, the 2009 Plan was assumed by the company. Prior to April 28, 2003, Praxair, Inc. granted equity awards under the 2002 Praxair, Inc. Long-Ternn
Incentive Plan , (“the 2002 Plan”) which was also assumed by the company upon completion of the business combination. The 2009 Plan permits awards of
stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and restricted stock units, performance-based stock units and other equity awards to eligible officer
and non-officer employees and non-employee directors of the company and its affiliates. As of December 31, 2019, 6,454,428 shares remained available for
equity grants under the 2009 Plan, of which 1,757,354 shares may be granted as awards other than options or stock appreciation rights.

In 2003, the board of directors and sharehelders of Praxair, Inc. adopted the 2005 Equity Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Direclors of Praxair,
Ine. ("the 2005 Plan"). Upon completion of the business combination in October 2018, the 2005 Plan was also assumed by the company. Under the 2005 Plan,
the aggregate number of shares available for option and other equity grants was limited 1o a total of 500,000 shares. The 2005 Plan expired on April 30, 2010,
by its own terms, and no shares were available for grant thereafter.

Upon the campletion of the business combination, all options outstanding under the 2009 Plan, the 2002 Plan and the 2005 Plan were converted into
opticns 1o acquire the same number of shares of the company and at the same exercise price per share that applied prior to the business combination.

Exercise prices for options granted under the 2009 Plan may not be less than the cdlosing market price of the company’s ardinary shares on the date of
grant and granted options may not be re-priced or exchanged without shareholder approval. Options granted under the 2009 Plan subject only to time vesting
requirements may become partially exercisable after a minimum of one year after the date of grant but may not become fully exercisable until at least three
vears have elapsed from the date of grant, and all options have a maximum duration of ten years. Options granted under predecessor plans had similar terms.

In connection with the business combination, on October 31, 2018 the company's Board of Directors adopted the Long Term Incentive Plan 2018 of
Linde plc (“the LTIP 2018™}, the purpose of which is to replace certain ontstanding Linde AG equity based awards that were terminated. Under the LTTP
2018, the aggregate number of shares available for replacement option rights and replacement restricted share units was set at 473,128. As of December 31,
2019, 260,794 shares remained available for grant, and since the company was obligated to make these replacement awards in 2019, it does not anticipate any
further grants under this plan.

Exercise prices for the replacement option rights that were granted in 2019 under the LTIP 2018 were equal to EUR 1.67 ($1.92 as converted at an
exchange rate from the time the exchange offer was completed as the option rights are exercisable in U.S. dollars on the NYSE) as prescribed in the business
combination agreement. Each replacement option right granted under the LTIP 2018 is subject to vesting based on continued service until the end of the four-
year waiting period applicable to the relevant Linde AG award that had been granted before the business combination. After vesting, each option right will be
exercisable for ane year.

In order 1o satisfy option exercises and other equity grants, the company may issue authorized but previously unissued shares or it may issue treasury
shares.

Stock Option Fair Value

The company utilizes the Black-Scholes Options-Pricing Model te determine the fair vatue of stock options consistent with that used in prior years.
Management is required to make certain assumptions with respect to selected model inputs, including anticipated changes in the underlying stock price (i.e.,
expected volatility) and option exercise activity (i.e., expected life). Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the company’s stock over the
most recent period commensurate with the estimated expected life of the company’s stock options and other factors. The expected life of options granted,
which represents the period of time that the options are expected to be cutstanding, is based primarily on historical exercise experience. The expected
dividend yield is based on the company’s mast recent history and expectation of dividend payouts. The risk-free rate is based on the U.5. Treasury vield curve
in effect at the time of grant for a pertod commensurate with the estimated expected life, If factors change and result in different assumpiions in fuwre
periods, the stock option
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expense that the company records for future grants may differ significantly from what the company has recorded i the current period.

The weighted-average fair value of options granted during 2019 was $23.38 ($19.29 in 2018 and $12.40 in 2017} based on the Black-Scholes Options-
Pricing model. The increase in grant date fair value year-over-year is primarily atuibutable to the increase in the company's stock price, The weighted-average
fair vatue of replacement option rights granted in 2019 was $150.08 based on intrinsic value method.

The following weighted-average assumptions were used to value the grants in 2019, 2018 and 2017:

Year Eaded December 31, 2019 2018 2017
Dividend yield 2.0% 2.1% 2.7%
Volatility 14.3% 14.4% 14.0%
Risk-free interest rate 2.38% 2.67% 2.13%
Expected term years 6 5 6

The following table summarizes option activity under the plans as of December 31, 2019 and changes during the pericd then ended (averages are
calculated on a weighted basis; life in years; ininsic value expressed in millions):

Number of Average Average Aggregate
Options Exercise Remaining Intrinsic

Activity {000°s) Price Life Vahie
Qutstanding at January 1, 2019 10,624 % 117.65

Granted 1,486 157.14

Exercised (2,705) 103.87

Cancelled or expired (108) 158.17

Outstanding at December 31, 2018 9,297 % 127.04 60 § 798
Exercisable at December 31, 2019 ——_630_6 % 117.26 5.0 % 603

The aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the company’s closing stock price of $212.9G as of December 31, 2019 and the exercise
price multiplied by the number of in the money options outstanding as of that date. The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during 2019 was $219
million ($113 million and $137 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively).

Cash received from option exercises under all share-based payment arrangements for 2019 was $64 miilion ($66 miliion and $107 million in 2018 and
2017, respectively). The cash tax benefit realized from share-based compensation totaled $56 million for 2019 (530 million and $51 million cash tax benefit
in 2018 and 2017, respectively).

As of December 31, 2019, $32 miltion of unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock opticns is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average peried of appreximately 1 year.

Perfermance-Based and Restricted Stock Awards

In 2019, Linde granted 261,760 performance-based stock awards under the 2009 Plan to senior management that vest, subject to the attainment of pre-
established mininunn performaince criteria, principally on the third anniversary of their date of grant. These awards are tied to either after tax return on capilal
("ROC") performance or relative total shareholder return ("TSR") performance versus that of the S&P 500 {weighted 674) and Eurofirst 300 (weighted
33%). The actual number of shares issued in settlement of a vested award can range from zero to 200 percent of the target number of shares granted based
upon the company’s attainment of specified performance targets at the end of a three-year period. Compensation expense related to these awards is recognized
over the three-year performance period based on the fair value of the closing market price of the company’s ordinary shares on the date of the grant and the
estimated performance that will be achieved. Compensation expense for ROC awards will be adjusted during the three-year performance period based upon
the estimated performance levels that will be achieved. TSR awards are measured at their grant date fair value and not subsequently re-measured.

The weighted-average fair value of ROC performance-based stock awards granted in 2019 was $168.47, and during 2017 was $109.68. These fair
values are based on the closing market price of Linde's ordinary shares on the grant date adjusted for dividends that will not be paid during the vesting perind.
There were no ROC performance-based stock awards granted in 2018.
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The weighted-average fair value of performance-based stock tied to relative TSR performance granted in 2019 was $215.85, and during 2017 was
$124.12, and was estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation performed as of the grant date, There were no performance-based stock tied to relative TSR
performance granted in 2018.

Upon campletion of the merger, each outstanding ROC and TSR performance-based award granted prior to 2018 was converted into a Linde RSU
based on performance achieved as of immediately prior to the closing of the merger, and became subject to service-vesting conditions only. This resulted in
the conversion of 435,000 performance-based shares into 704,000 restricted stock units. Compensation expense related to these awards will continue to be
recognized over the remainder of the respective three-year service pericd.

There were 161,072 restricted stock units granted to employees by Linde during 2019. The weighted-average fair value of restricted stock units granted
during 2019 was $165.04 ($144.86 in 2018 and $111.95 in 2017), These fair values are based on the dlosing market price of Linde's ordinary shares on the
grant date adjusted for dividends that will nat be paid during the vesting period. Compensation expense related to the restricted stack units is vecognized over
the vesting period.

The following tabie summarizes non-vested performance-based and restricted stock award activity as of December 31, 2019 and changes during the
pericd then ended (shares based on target amounts, averages are calculated on a weighted basis):

Performance-Based Restricted Stock
Number of Average Number of Average

Shares Grant Date Shares Grant Date

(0007s) Fair Value (000’s) Fair Value
Non-vested at January 1, 2019 - 8 —_ 107t % 118.84
Granted 262 184.29 161 165.04
Vested — — (330) 107.10
Cancelled and Forfeited (16) 184.26 (18) 146,32
Non-vested at December 31, 2019 246 $ 184.29 884 $ 129.43

There are approximately 7 thuousand performance-pased shares and 11 thousand restricted stock shares that are non-vested at December 31, 2019 which
will be settled in cash due to foreign regulatory limitations. The liability related to these grants reflects the current estmate of performance that will be
achieved and the current share price.

As of December 31, 2019, $23 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to performance-based awards and $21 million of unrecognized
compensation cost related to the restricted stock awards is expected to be recognized primarily through the first quarter of 2022,

NOTE 18. RETIREMENT PROGRAMS
Defined Benefit Pension Plans - U.S.

Linde has two main U.S. retirement programs which are non-contributory defined benefit plans: the Linde U.S. Pension Plan and the CBI Pension Plan.
The latter program benefits primarity former employees of CBI Industries, Inc. which Linde acquired in 1996. Effective July 1, 2002, the Linde U.S. Pension
Plan was amended to give participating employees a one-time choice te remain covered by the old formula or to elect coverage under a new forinula, The ald
formula is based predominantly on years of service, age and compensation levels prior to retirement, while the new formula provides for an annual
contribution to an individual account which grows with interest each year at a predetermined rate. Also, this new formula applies to all new employees hired
after April 30, 2002 into businesses adopting this plan. The U.S. and international pension plan assets are comprised of a diversified mix of investments,
including domestic and international corporate equities, government securities and corporate debt securities. Linde has several plans that provide
supplementary retirement benefits primarily to higher level employees that are unfunded and are nongualified for federal tax purposes. Pension coverage for
employees of certain of Linde’s international subsidiaries generally is provided by those companies through separate plans. Obligations under such plans are
primarily provided for through diversified investment portfolios, with some smaller plans provided for under insurance policies ot by book reserves.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans - International

Linde has international, defined benefit commitments primarily in Germany and the United Kingdom (U.K.}). The defined benefit commitmenis in
Germany relate to old age pensions, invalidity pensions and surviving dependents pensions. These commitments alse take into account vested rights for
periods of service prior to January 1, 2002 based on earlier final-salary pension plan rules, In addition, there are direct commitments in respect of the salary
conversion scheme for the form of cash balance plans. The resulting pension payments are calculated on the basis of an interest guarantee and the
performance of the corresponding investment. There are no minimum funding requirements. The pension obligations in Germany are pardly funded by a
Contractal Trust Agreement (CTA). Defined benefit commitments in the UK. prior to July 1, 2003 are earnings-related and dependent on the period of
service. Such commitments relate to old age pensions, invalidity pensions and surviving dependents pensions. Beginning in April 1, 2011, the amount of
future increases in inflation-linked pensions and of increases in pensionable emoluments was restricted.

Muiti-employer Pension Plans

In the United States Linde participates in eight multi-employer defined benefit pension plans ("MEPs"), pursuant to the terms of collective bargaining
agreements, that cover approximately 200 union-represenied employees. The collective bargaining agreements expire on different dates through 2026. In
connection with such agreements, the company is required to make periodi¢c contributions to the MEPs in accordance with the terms of the respective
collective bargaining agreements. Linde’s participation in these plans is not material either at the plan level or in the aggregate. Linde’s contributions to these
plans were 32 million in 2019, 2018, and 2017 (these costs are not included in the tables that follow). Far all MEPs, Linde’s contribudons were significantly
less than 1% of the total contributions to each plan for 2018 and 2017. Total 2019 contributions were not yet available from the MEPs,

Linde has obtained the most recently available Pension Protection Act ("PPA") annual funding notices from the Trustees of the MEPs, The PPA
dassifies MEPs as either Red, Yellow or Green Zone plans. Among other factors, plans in the Red Zone are generally less than 65 percent funded with a
projected insolvency date within the next twenty years; plans in the Yellow Zone are generally 65 to 80 percent funded; and plans in the Green Zone are
generally at least 80 percent funded. Red Zone plans are considered to be in "critical” or "critical and declining” status, while Yellow Zone plans are
considered to be in "endangered” status. Plans that are in neither "critical” nor "endangered” status are consideved to have Green Zone status. According to the
most recent data available, four of the MEPs that the company participates in are in a Red Zone status and four are in a Green Zone status. As of
December 31, 2019, the four Red Zane plans have pending or have implemented financial improvement or rehabilitation plans. Linde does not currently
anticipate significant future obligations due to the funding status of these plans. If Linde determined it was probable that it would withdraw from an MEP, the
company would record a liability far its portion of the MEP’s unfunded pension obligations, as calculated at that time. Historically, such withdrawal payments
have net been significant.



Defined Contribution Plans

Linde’s U.S. business employees are eligible to participate in the Linde defined contribution savings plan. Employees may contribute up to 40% of their
compensation, subject to the maximum allowable by IRS regulations. For the 11.5. packaged gases business, company contributions to this plan are calculated
as & percentage of salary based on age plus service. U.S. employees other than those in the packaged gases business have company contributions to this plan
calculated on a graduated scale based on emgployee contributions to the plan. The cost for these defined conwribution plans was $47 million in 2019, $33
million in 2018 and $29 million in 2017 (these costs are not included in the tables that follow).

The defined contribution plans include a non-leveraged employee stock ownership plan ("ESOP") which covers all employees parlicipating in this plan.
‘The collective number of shares of Linde ordinary shares in the ESOP totaled 2,070,100 at December 31, 2019.

Certain international subsidiaries of the company also sponsor defined contribution plans where contributions are determined under various formulas.
The expense for these plans was $95 million in 2019, $32 million in 2018 and $21 million in 2017 (these expenses are not included in the tables that follow).

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB)

Linde provides health care and life insurance benefits to certain eligible retired employees. These benefits are provided through various insurance
companies and healthcare providers. The company does not currently fund its postretirement benefits obligations. Linde’s retiree plans may be changed or
rerminated by Linde at any time for any reason with no liability to current or future retirees.

Linde uses a measurement date of December 31 for its pension and other post-retirement benefit plans.
Pension and Postretirement Benefit Costs

The components of net pension and postretirement benefits other than pension ("OPEB") costs for 2019, 2018 and 2017 are shown in the table below
(2018 reflects the impact of the Linde AG merger on October 31, 2018 (see Notes 1 and 3) and the divestiture of Praxair's European industrial gases business
on December 3, 2018 (see Notes 1 and 4}):

Pensions OPEB
(Millions of doffars}
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017 2018 2018 2017
Amount recognized in Operating Profit
Service cost $ 142 § 74 3 46 3 2 3 2 % 3
Amount recognized in Net pension and OPEB cost
(benefit), excluding service cost
Interest cost 261 128 103 7 5 5
Expected return on plan assets (462) 219 (161) — — —
Net amortization and deferral 61 71 68 (4 (3) 3)
Curtailment and termination benefiis (a) 8 — —_ — — (%)
Setfement charges (b} 97 14 2 — — —
$ 35 3 6y 9 12 % 3 % 2% (16)
Amount recognized in Net gain on sale of businesses
Secttement gains from divestitures (¢} — (€% — _ _ —
Neu periodic benefit cost (benefit) $ 107 & 24 3 58 % 5 3 4 3 (13)

(a) In 2019, Linde recorded curtzilment gains of $9 million and a charge of $17 million for termination benefits, primarily in connection with a defined
benefit pension plan freeze. The curtailment gain recorded during the year ended December 31, 2017 resulted from the termination of an OPER plan in South
America in the first quarter.

(b} In the third and foeurth quarters of 2019, Linde recorded pension setlement charges of $40 million and $6 millicn, respectively, related to lump sum
payments made from a U.S. qualified plan. These payments were triggered by merger-related divestitures. In the first quarter of 2019, benefits of $91 million
were paid related to the setilement of a U.S. non-qualified plan. Such benefits were wiggered by a change in control provision and resulted in a settlement
charge of $51 million.

2018 includes the impact of a $4 million charge and a $10 million charge recorded in the third and fourth quarters, respectively. In the third quarter, a series of
lump sum benefit payments made fram the U.S. supplemental pension plan triggered a settlement of the related pension obligation. In the fourth quarter, a
change in control provision triggered the settlement of a U.5. non-qualified plan.

2017 includes the impact of 2 $2 million charge related to a series of lump sum benefit payments for employees under an international pensicn plan.

{c) In connection with Praxair merger-related divestitures, primarily the European industrial gases business, certain Furopean pension plan obligations were
settled. This resulted in the recognition of associated pension benefit obligations and deferred losses in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
within operating profit in the "Net gain on sale of businesses” line item.
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Funded Status

Changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets for Linde’s pension and OPEB programs, including reconciliation of the funded status of the plans to
amounts recorded in the consolidated balance sheet, as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 are shown below.
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Pensions
{Millions of dollars) 2019 2018 OPEB
Year Ended December 31, U.s. International U.s., International 2019 2018
Change in Benefit Obligation {"PBO")
Benefit obligation, January t $ 2508 § 7533 $ 2,215 8§ 725 $ 184 5 146
Merger impact (a) — — 413 6,920 —_ 53
Service cost 38 104 42 32 2 2
[nterest cost 81 180 74 54 7 5
Divestitures (b} [0} — — (106} — —
Participant contributiong - 20 — 4 8 9
Plan amendment — 13 — 1 —_ —
Actuarial loss (gain) 266 1,045 (100) 7 8 (11)
Benefits paid (105) (333 (111) (84) (20) (19
Plan settlement (235) — (27) —_ — —
Plan curtailment e [¢)] — — 2 —
Foreign currency translation and other
changes -— 136 — (20) 1 (1)
Benefit obligation, December 31 3 2552 % 8,689 % 2,508 $ 7533 § 192 % 184
Accumulated benefit chligation ("AB(}"} 4 2464 % 8,553 % 2428 % 7,385
Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets, January 1 3 1,952 § 6292 % 1,655 § 567 % — 5 —
Merger impact () — —_ 475 5,880 — —
Actal return on plan assets 341 598 (72) 88) _ —
Company contributions — 94 — 75 — —
Benefits paid from plan assets {244) (268) (106) (69) — —
Divestitures (b} (1) — e (49} —— —
Foreign currency translation and other
changes 172 — (24) — —
Fair value of plan assets, December 31 $ 2,048 § 6888 & 1,952 § 6292 §$ —  § —
Funded Status, End of Year $ {504}y $ (L8 % (5568) $ (1,241} % (192) § (184)
Recorded in the Balance Sheet (Note 9)
Other long-term assets $ — B % 47 3 93 % — S —
Other current liabilities (6) (10) 94) (10} (11) (13)
Other long-term liabilities {498) (1,869 (509) (1,524) {181) (171)
Net amount recognized, December 31 $ (04 S (1,801 % {556) 3 (1,241) % 192y % (184)
Amounts recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) consist of:
Net actuarial loss (gain) % 753 $ 1,110 % 83 3 339 % (10} % (23)
Prior service cost (credit) — 4 — 10 @) 5
Deferred tax benefit (Note 7) {190) (251) {212) 87) (5) 7
Amount recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) {Note 9) $ 563§ 863 % 622§ 262 % 1 3 21)
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(a) Represents Linde AG plan assets and benefit obligations assumed as part of the merger. Such plan assets and benefit obligations were remeasured as of the

merger date and all subsequent activity through December 31, 2018 is presented within the respective captions above.

{b) Represents plan assets and benefit obligations associated with the divestiture of the majority of the Praxair industrial gases business in Eurape.

Comparative funded status informarion as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 for select international pension plans is presented in the table below as the benefit

obligations of these plans are considered to be significant relative to the total benefit obligation:

ther
United Kingdem Germany Ime(:ua:icnal Total International
(Millions of doilars) 2019 2019 2019 2019
Benefit obligation, December 31 5 5221 % 2,180 $ 1,288 § 8,689
Fair value of plan assets, December 31 4,777 1,119 992 6,888
Funded Status, End of Year 3 @aa) 8 (L06L) § (29 $ (1801)
Other
United Kingdom Germany International Total International
(Millions of doliars) 2018 2018 2018 2018
Benefit obligation, December 31 $ 4444 % 1,916 §$ 1,173 § 7,533
Fair value of plan assets, December 31 4,339 1,043 910 6,292
Funded Status, End of Year 5 (i05) § 873) $ 263) % (1,241)
The changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in other comprehensive income in 2019 and 2018 are as follows:
Pensions OPEB
(Miltions of dollars) 2019 2018 201% 2018
Curvent year net actuarial losses (gainsy* % 834 % 286 % 8 3% (4h)]
Amortization of nel actwarial gains (losses) (59) (70) 3 2
Divestitures — (12) — —
Plan amendment 4} _ — —
Amortization of priur service credits (costs) 2) (48] 1 1
Pensinn settlements (97) (14) — —
Curtailments — — 2 —
Foreign currency translation and other changes 12 {16} — 1
Total recognized in other comprehensive income $ 684 § 173 % 4 % )
* Pension net actuarial losses in 2019 are largely driven by lower discount rates across all significant pension plans. In the U.S., the benefit from the

actual return on assets more than offset the impacts of unfavorable liability experience, vesaltng trom the low discount vaie environment. For the
international plans, the unfavorable impact of lower discount rates outweighed favorable plan asset experience. Penston net actuarial losses in 2018
are driven by lower U.S, discount rates, which more than offset favorable plan asset experience. OPEB net actuarial losses in 2019 relate to the low
interest rate envircnment, which was partially offset by favorable actual benefit payment experience. Net actuarial gains in 2018 relate to the benefits
from higher U.S. discount rates and favorable actal participant experience.

The amoums in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) that are expected to be recognized as components of et periodic benefit cost during
2020 are as follows:

(Millions of dollars} Penston OPEB

Net actuarial loss (gain) % 83 $ 2)

Priar service cost {credit) 2 Q)]
$ 50 $ 3
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The following table provides information for pension plans where the accumulated benefit obligation exceeds the fair value of the plan assets:

Pensions
(Miltions of dellars) 2019 2018
Year Ended December 31, Uu.S. International U.s. International
Projected benefit obligation ("PBO") $ 2,552 § 7768 $ 2139 % 6,681
Accumulated benefit obligation (“ABO™) $ 2,464 $ 7664 % 2,060 % 6,586
Fair value of plan assets $ 2,048 & 5849 §% 1,482 % 5,307
Assumptions

The assumptions used to determine benefit obligations are as of the respective balance sheet dates and the assumptions
used to determine net benefit cost are as of the previous year-end, as shown below:

Pensions
U.S. International OPEB
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Weighted average assumptions used to determine
benefit obligations at December 31,
Discount rate 3.20% 4.20% 1.91% 2.72% 3.19% 4.16%
Rate of increase in compensation levels 3.25% 3.25% 2.46% 2.38% N/A N/A
Weighted average assumpiions used to determine net
periodic benefit cost for years ended December 31,
Discount rate 4.20% 3.73% 2.72% 2.73% 4.16% 3.81%
Rate of increase in compensation levels 3.25% 3.25% 2.38% 2.45% N/A NIA
Expected Iong-term rate of return on plan assets (1) 727% 7.62% 5.15% 5.13% N/A N/A
) The expected long term rate of return on the U.S. and international plan assets is estimated based on the plans’ investment strategy and asset

allocation, historical capital market performance and, to a lesser extent, historical plan performance. For the [1.5. plans, the expected rate of return of
7.27% was derived based on the target asset allocation of 40%-60% equity securities (approximately 8.5% expected return), 30%-50% fixed income
securities (approximately 5.3% expected return) and 5%-15% alternative investments (approximately 6.8% expected return). For the international
plans, the expected rate of return was derived based on the weighted average target asset allocation of 15%-25% equity securities (approximately
6.1% expected return), 30%-50% fixed income securities (approximately 4.8% expected return), and 30%-50% alternative investments
(approximately 5.2% expected return). For the U.S. plan assets, the actual annualized total return for the most recent 10-year period ended December
31, 2019 was approximately 9.2%. For the international plan assets, the actual annualized total return for the same period was approximately 7.0%.
Changes to plan asset allocations and investment strategy over this time period limit the value of historical ptan performance as factor in estimating
the expected lang term rate of return. For 2020, the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets will be 7.00% for the U.5. plans. Cxpected

weighted average refurns for international plans will vary.
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OPEB
Assimed healthcare cost trend rates 2019 018
Histarical Praxair, Inc, plans
Healthcare cost trend assumed 7.00% 6,25%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed ta decline (the ultimate trend rate) 5.00% 500%
Year that the rase reaches the ultimase tend rae 2027 2023
Historical Linde AG plans
Healthcare cost trend assumed 5.49% 5.49%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed ta decline (the ultimate trend rate) 4.50% 4.50%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimaie wend rae 2038 2038

These healthcare cost trend rate assumptions have an umpact on the amounts reported. However, cost caps limit the impact on the net OPEB benefit cost
in the U.S. To illustrate the effect, a one-percentage point change in assumed healthcare
cost trend rates would have the following effects:

One-Percentage Point

(Millions of dollars) Increase Decrease
Effect on the total of service and interest cost components of net OPEB benefit cost —  § —
Effect on OPEB benefit abligation 5 7 % (6)

Pension Plan Assets

The investments of the U.S. pension plan are managed to meet the future expected benefit liabilities of the plan over the long term by investing in
diversified portfolios consistent with prudent diversification and historical and expected capital market returns, Investment strategies are reviewed by
managenent and invesement performance is tracked against appropriate benchiarks. There are no concentrations of risk as it relates to the assets within the
plans. The international pension plans are managed individually based on diversified investment partfolios, with diffevent target asset aliocations that vary for
each plan. Linde’s U.S. and international pension plans’ weighted-average asset allocations at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the target asset allocation
range for 2019, by major asset category, are as follows:

u.s, International
Asset Categgry Target 2015  Target 2018 2019 2018 Target 2013 Target 2018 2019 2018
Equity securities 40%-60% A0%-60% 55% 48% 15%-25% 15%-25% 23% 20%
Tixed income securities 30%-50% 30%-50% 0%, 40% 30%-50% 30%6-50% 41% 46%
Other 5%-15% 5%-15% 15% 13% 30%-50% 30%-40% 36% 34%

119



Table ot Contents

The following table summarizes pension assets measured at fair value by asset category at December 31, 2019 and 2018. During the years presented,
there has been no transfer of assets between Levels 1, 2 and 3 (see Note 15 for definition of the levels):

Fair Value Measurements Using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 ** Total
{(Mitlions of dollars) 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Cash and cash equivalents $ 436 $ 348 $ — % — 5 — 8 — % 436 % 348
Equity securities:
Global equities 1,395 1,131 —_ —_ — — 1,395 1,131
Murual funds 110 74 52 43 — — 162 17
Fixed income securities:
Government bonds — — 1,642 1,772 - — 1,642 1,772
Emerging market debt —_ —_ 459 522 —_ — 459 522
Mutual funds 225 109 14 21 — — 239 130
Corporate bonds — — 401 382 — — 401 382
Bank loans — — 210 313 — — 210 313
Altemnative investments:
Real estate funds — —_— — — 316 298 316 298
Privare debt —_ — — — 1,003 671 1,003 G71
Other investments — - 33 33 —_ — 33 33
Liquid alternative —_ —_ 1,087 1,192 — — 1,087 1,192
Total plan assets at fair value,
December 31, $ 2,166 § 1,662 $ 3898 $ 4278 % 1,319 % 969 § 7,383 % 6,909
Pooled funds * 1,553 1,335
Total fair vatue plan assets
December 31, $ 893 $ B244

* Pooled funds are measured using the net asset value ("NAV") as a practical expedient for fair value as permissible under the accounting standard for fair
value measurements and have not been categorized in the fair value hierarchy.

*+ The following table summarizes changes in fair value of the pension plan assets classified as level 3 for the periods ended December 31, 2013 and 2018:

Insurance Real Estate

(Millions of dollars) Contracis Funds Private Debt Toral
Balance, Devember 31, 2017 s 50 % 158 $ — 8 208
Assumed in Linde AG merger —_ 148 667 815
Gain/(E.oss} far the perind — 9 4 13
Merger-related divestitures (49) — — (49)
Sales — (17 - (17)
Foreign currency translation m — — n
Balance, December 31, 2018 $ — % 208 3§ 671 % 969
Gain/(T.oss) for the perind — 24 30 34
Acquisitions — — 14 14
Purchases _ 26 304 330
Sales —_ (22) (33) (55)
Transfer into / (out of) Level 3 — (10 —_ (m
Foreign currency translation — n 17 17
Balance, December 31, 2019 % — % 316 S 1,003 % 1,319

The descriptions and fair value methodologies for the company's pension plan assets are as follows:
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Cash and Cash Equivalents — This category includes cash and short-term interest bearing investments with maturities of three months or less.
Tnvestments are valued at cost plus accrued interest. Cash and cash equivalents are classified within level L of the valuation hierarchy.

Equity Securities — This category is comprised of shares of common $tock in U.S. and international compantes from a diverse set of industries and size.
Common stock is valued at the closing market price reported on a U.S. or international exchange where the security is actively raded. Equity securities are
classified within level T of the valuation hierarchy.

Mutual Funds — These categories consist of publicly and privately managed funds that invest primarily in marketable equity and fixed income
securities. The fair value of these investments is determined by reference to the net asset value of the underlying securities of the fund. Shares of publicly
traded muival funds are valued at the net asset valve quoted on the exchange where the fund is waded and are primarily elassified as level 1 within the
valuation hierarchy.

U.S. and International Government Bonds — This category includes U.S. treasuries, U.S. federal agency obligations and international government debt.
The majority of these investmenis do not have quoted market prices available for a specific government security and so the fair value is determined using
quoted prices of similar securites in active markets and is classified as level 2 within the valnation hierarchy.

Corporate Bonds — This category is comprised of corporate bonds of U.5. and intemational companies from a diverse set of industries and size, The fair
vatues for 11.5. and nternational corporate bonds are determined using quoted prices of stmilar securities in active markets and observable data or broker or
dealer quotations. The fair values for these investments are classified as level 2 within the valuation hierarchy.

Pooled Funds - Poaled fund NAVs are pravided by the trustee and are determined by reference 1o the fair value of the underlying securities of the trust,
less its liabilities, which are valued primarily through the use of directly or indirectly obhservable inputs. Depending on the pooled fund, underlying securities
may include marketable equity securities or fixed income securities.

Bank Loans - This category is comprised of wraded syndicated loans of larger corporate borrowers. Such loans are issued by sub-investment grade rated
companies both in the U.5. and internationally and are syndicated by investiment banks to institutional investors, They are regularly traded in an active dealer
market comprised of large investment banks, which supply bid and offer quotes and are therefare classified within level 2 of the valuation hierarchy.

Liquid Alternative Investments - This category is comprised of investments in alternative mutual funds whose holdings include liquid securities, cash,
and derivatives. Such funds focus on diversification and employ a variety of investing strategies including long/short equity, multi-strategy, and global macro.
The fair value of these investments is determined by reference to the net asset value of the underlying holdings of the fund, which can be determined using
observable data (e.g., indices, yield curves, quoted prices of similar securities), and is classified within level 2 of the valuation hierarchy.

Insurance Contracts — The fair value of insurance coatracts is determined based on the cash surrender value of the insurance contract, which is
determined based on such factors as the fair value of the underlying assets and discounted cash flows. These contracts are with highly rated insurance
companies. Insurance contracts are classified within level 3 of the valuation hierarchy.

Real Estate Funds — This category includes real estate properties, partnership equities and investments in operating companies. The fair value of the
assets is determined using discounted cash flows by estimating an income sweam far the property plus a reversion into a present value at a risk adjusted rate.
Yield rates and growth assumptions utilized are derived from market transactions as well as other financial and industty data, The fair value for these
investments are classified within level 3 of the valuation hierarchy.

Private Debt - This category includes non-traded, privately-arranged loans between one or a small group of private debt investment managers and
corpotate borrowers, which are typically too small to access the syndicated market and have ne credit rating. This category also includes similar loans to real
estate companies or individual properties. Loans included in this category are valued at par value, are held to maturity or to call, and are classified within level
3 of the valuation hierarchy.

Coniributions

At a minimum, Linde contributes to its pension plans to comply with local regulatory requirements (e.g., ERISA in the United States). Discretionary
contibutions in excess of the local minimum requirements are made based on many faciors, including long-term projections of the plans' funded status, the
economic environment, potential risk of overfunding, pension insurance costs and alternative uses of the cash. Changes to these factors can impact the timing
of discretionary contributions frem year to year. Pension contributions were $94 million in 2019, $87 millicn in 2018 and $1% million in 2017, Estirnated
required contributions for 2020 are currently expected to be in the range of $50 million to $80 million.
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Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following table presents estumated future benefit payments, net of parhcipant contributions:

(Miltions of dollars)

Pensions

Year Ended December 31, .5,

2020 3
2021

2022

2023

2024

2025-2G25

122

187
143
164
147
149
760

in
323
335
342
352
874

15
14
14

12
55
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NOTE 19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The company accrues non income-tax liabilities for contingencies when management believes that a loss is probable and the amounts can be reasenably
estimated, while contingent gains are recognized only when realized. In the event any losses are sustained in excess of accruals, they will be charged against
income at that time. Attorney fees are recorded as incurred. Commitments represent cbligations, such as those for future purchases of goods or services, that
are not yet recorded on the company’s balance sheet as liabilities. The company records liabilities for commitments when incurred {i.e., when the goods or
services are received).

Contingent Liabilities

Linde is subject to various lawsuits and government investigations that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of business. These actions are
based upon alleged environmental, tax, antitrust and personal injury claims, among others. Linde has strong defenses in these cases and intends 1o defend
itself vigorously. It is possible that the campany may incur losses in connection with some of these actions in excess af accrued liabilities. Management does
not anticipate that in the aggregate such losses would have a material adverse effect on the company’s consolidated financial position or liquidity; however, it
is possible that the final outcomes could have a significant impact on the company’s reported results of operations in any given period.

Significant matters are:

. During May 2009, the Brazilian government published Law 11941/2009 instituting a new veluntary amnesty program (“Refis Program”) which
allowed Brazilian companies to settle certain federal tax disputes at reduced amounts. During the 2009 third quarter, the company decided that it
was economically beneficial to settle many of its outstanding federal tax disputes and such disputes were enrolled in the Refis Program, subject
to final calculation and review by the Brazilian federal government. The company recorded estimated liabilities based on the terms of the Refis
Program. Since 2009, Linde has been unable to reach final agreement on the calculations and initiated litigation against the government in an
attempt to resolve certain items. Open issues relate to the following matters: (i) application of cash deposits and net operating loss carryforwards
to satisfy obligaticns and (i) the amount of tax reductions available under the Refis Program. It is difficult to estimate the timing of resclution of
legal matters in Brazil.

. At December 31, 2019 the most significant non-income and income tax claims in Brazil, after enrollment in the Refis Program, relate to state
VAT 1ax matters and a federal income tax matter where the taxing authorities are challenging the tax rate that should be applied to income
generated by a subsidiary company. The total estimated exposure relating to such claims, including interest and penalties, as appropriate, is
approximately $260 miltion. Linde has not recorded any liabilities related to such claims based on management judgments, after considering
judgments and opinions ol outside counsel. Because litigation in Brazil historically takes many years to resolve, it is very difficull to estimate
the timing of resolution of these matters; however, it is possible that certain of these matters may be resolved within the near term. The company
is vigorously defending against the proceedings.

. On September 1, 2010, CADE (Brazilian Administrative Council for Economic Defense} announced alleged anticompetitive activity on the part
of five industrial gas companies in Brazil and imposed fines. Originatly, CADE imposed a civil fine of R$2.2 billion Brazilian reais ($546
million} on White Martins, the Brazil-based subsidiary of Praxair, Inc. The fine was reduced to R$1.7 billion Brazilian reais (3422 million) due
to a calculation error made by CADE. On September 14, 2015, the fine against White Martins was overturned by the Ninth Federal Court of
Brasilia. CADE appealed this decision on June 30, 2016.

Similarly, on September 1, 2010, CADE imposed a civil fine of R$237 million Brazilian reais ($59 million) on Linde Gases Ltda., the former
Brazil-based subsidiary of Linde AG, which was divested to MG Industries Gmbl1i on March 1, 2019 and with respect to which Linde provided
a contractual indemnity. The fine was reduced to R$188 mitlion Brazilian reais (547 million) due to a calculation error made by CADE. On May
G, 2014 the fine against Linde Gases Lida. was overtrned by the Seventh Federal Court in Brasilia. CADE appealed this decision on October
27, 2016.

Linde has strong detenses and is confident that it will prevail on appeal and have the fines overiurned. Linde swrongly believes that the
allegations of anticompetitive activity against our current and former Brazilian subsidiaries are not supported by valid and sufficient evidence.
Linde believes that this decision will not stand up to judicial review and deems the passibility of cash outflows to be extremely unlikely. As a
result, no reserves have been recorded as management does not believe that a loss from this case is probable.
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. On and after April 23, 2019 former sharehelders of Linde AG filed appraisal proceedings at the District Court (Landgericht) Munich I
(Germany), seeking an increase of the cash consideration paid in connection with the previously completed cash merger squeeze-out of all of
Linde AG’s minority shareholders for €189.46 per share. Any such increase would apply to all 14,763,113 Linde AG shares that were
outstanding on April 8, 2019, when the cash merger squeeze-out was completed. The period for plaintiffs to file claims expired on July 9, 2019.
The company believes the consideration patd was fair and that the claims lack merit, and no reserve has been established. We cannot estimate
the timing of resoluticn.

Commitments

At December 31, 2019, Linde had undrawn outstanding letters of credit, bank guarantees and surety bonds valued at approximately $3,276 millien from
financial institutions, These relate primarily to customer contract performance guarantees (including plant construction in connection with certain on-site
contracts), self-insurance claims and other commercial and governmental requirements, including foreign litigadon matters.

Other commitments related ta leases, tax liabilities for uncertain tax positions, long-term debt, other post retirement and pension cbligations are
summarized elsewhere in the financial statements (see Notes 6, 7, 13, and 18).
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NOTE 20. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Effective October 31, 2018, Praxair and Linde AG completed the previously announced merger, resulting in the formation of Linde plc (see Note 1
for additipnal information on the merger). As a result of the merger and effective with the lifting of the hold separate order effective on March 1, 2019, new
operating segments were created which are used by the company's Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") 1o allocate company resources and assess
performance. Linde’s operations consist of two major product lines: industrial gases and engineering, As further described in the following paragraph, Linde’s
industrial pases operaiions are managed on a geographic basis, which represent three of the company's new reportable segments - Americas, EMEA
(Europe/Middle East/Africa), and APAC (Asia/South Pacific); a fourth reportable segment which represents the company's Engineering business, designs and
manufactures equipment for air separation and other industrial gas applications specifically for end customers and is managed on a worldwide basis operating
in all three geographic segments. Other consists of corporate costs and a few smaller businesses which individually do not meet the quantitative thresholds for
separatc presentation.

The indusuial gases product line centers on the manufacturing and distribution of armospheric gases (oxygen, nitrogen, argon, rare gases) and
progess gases {carhnn dinvido, helium, hydrogen, clocbuuic gases, specialty gases, acetylene). Many of these products are co-products of the same
mainufacluring process. Linde manufactures and distribwtes nearly all of its products and manages its customer relationships on a regional basis. Linde's
industrial gases are disiributed to various end-markets within a regional segment through one of three basic distribution methods: en-site or tonnage; merchant
or bulk; and packaged or cylinder gases. The distribution methods are generally integrated in order to best meet the customer’s needs and very few of its
producis can be economically transported outside of a region. Therefore, the distribution economics are specific 1o the various geographies in which the
company operates and are consistent with how management assesses performance.

The company’s measure of profitloss for segment reporiing purposes remains unchanged - Segment operating profit. Segment operating profit is
defined as operating profit excluding purchase accounting impacts of the Linde AG merger, intercompany royalties, and items not indicative of ongoing
business trends. This is the manner in which the company’s CODM assesses performance and allocates resources. Similarly, total assets have not been
included as this is not provided to the CODM for their assessment, For a description of Iinde's previous operating segments, refer to Note 20 ta the
consolidated financial statements of Linde's 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The table below presents information about reportable segments for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, The year ended December 31,
2019 reflects the results of both Praxair and Linde AG for the entire year. The year ended December 31, 2018 reflects the results of Praxair for the entire year
and the results of Linde AG for the period beginning after October 31, 2018 (the merger date), including the impacts of purchase accounting (See Notes 1, 3
and 4 to the consolidated financial staternents). The historical periods prior to 2018 reflect the resulis of Praxair. Prior periods presented have been recast to be
consistent with the new segment sructure:

(Millions of dollars) 2019 208 217

Sales (a)

Americas $ 10,993 S 8017 3 7,204

EMEA 6,643 2,644 1,520

APAC 5,839 2,446 1,571

Engineering 2,799 459 N/A

Other 1,954 1,270 1,063
Total Sales 3 28,228 § 14836 $ 11,358
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Operating Profit

Americas

EMEA

APAC

Engineering

Other
Segmernt operating profit

Cost reduction programs and other charges

Net gain on sale of business

Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG
Total operating profit

Depreciation and Amertization

Americas

EMEA

APAC

Engineering

Other
Segment depreciation and amortization

Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG
Total depreciation and amortization

Capital Expenditures and Acquisitions
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Engineering
Other
Total Capital Expenditures and Acquisitions

Sales by Major Couniry
United States
Germany
China
United Kingdom
Australia
Brazil
Other ~ foreign
Total Sales by Major Country
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2019 2018 2017
2,578 2,053 1,834
1,367 481 317
1,198 465 329
390 14 N/A
(245) (37) )]
5,288 2,976 2,496
(567) (309) (52)
164 3,294 N/A
(1,952) (714) N/A
2,933 5,247 2,444
2019 2018 2017
1,195 860 778
749 269 168
613 271 178
35 5 N/A
143 79 50
2,735 1,484 1,184
1,040 346 N/A
4,675 1,830 1,184
2019 2018 2017
1,814 1,068 921
738 329 141
1,231 372 207
79 27 N/A
45 112 75
3,907 1,908 1,344
2019 2018 2017
8,604 5,942 4973
3,630 868 401
2,005 1,032 735
1,653 398 131
1,127 183 N/A
994 1,003 1,100
10,215 5,410 4,018
28,228 14,836 11,358
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2015 2018 2017
Long-lived Assets by Major Country (b)
United States $ 7,498 % 7,183 % 4,979
Germany 2,429 2,411 413
China 2,254 2,237 1,060
United Kingdom 1,479 1,582 55
Australia 1,214 1,476 N/A
Brazil 956 1,012 1,204
Other — foreign 13,234 13,810 4,114
Total long-lived assets $ 29,064 % 29717 % 11,825
(a) Sales reflect external sales only and include Linde AG sales from the merger date of October 31, 2018 forward. Intersegment sales, primarily from
Engineering to the industrial gases segments, were not materiaf.
(b) Long-tived assets include property, plant and equipment - net and reflect the impact of the merger with Linde AG {refer to Note 3).
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21. REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is accounted for in accordance with ASC 606. Revenue is recognized as coulrol of goods or servires are transferred to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which an entity expecis to be entitled to receive in exchange for the goods or services.

Contracts with Customers

Approximately 83% of Linde's consolidated sales are generated from industrial gases and related products in three geographic segments {Americas,
EMEA, and APAC) and the remaining 17% is related primarily to the Engineering segment, and to a lesser extent Other (see Note 20 for operating segment
details). Linde serves a diverse group of industries including healthcare, energy, manufacturing, food, beverage carbonation, fiber-optics, steel making,
aerospace, chemicals and water treatment.

Industrial Gases

Within each of the company’s geographic segments for industrial gases, there are three basic distribution methods: (i) on-site or tonnage; (ii) merchant or bulk
liquid; and (iii) packaged or cylinder gases. The distribution method used by Linde to supply a customer is determined by many factors, including the
customer’s volume requirements and location. The diswibution method generally determines the contract terms with the customer and, accordingly, the
revenue recognition accounting practices. I.inde's primary products in its indusirial gases business are atmospheric gases (oxygen, nitrogen, argon, rare gases)
and process gases (carbon dioxide, helium, hydrogen, electronic gases, specialty gases, acetylene). These products are generally sold through one of the three
distribution methods.

Following is a description of each of the three indusmial gases distribution methods and the respective revenue recognition policies:

On-site. Customers that require the largest volumes of product and that have a relatively constant demand pattern are supplied by cryogenic and process gas
on-site plants. Linde constructs plants on or adjacent to these customers” sites and supplies the product directly to customers by pipeline. Where there are
large concentrations of customers, a single pipeline may be connected to several plants and customers. On-site product supply contracts generally are total
requirement contracts with terms typically ranging from 10-20 years and contatn minimum purchase requirements and price escalation provisions. Many of
the ¢cryogenic on-site plants also produce liquid products for the merchant market, Therefore, plants are typically not dedicated to a single customer.
Additionally, Linde is responsible for the design, construction, operations and maintenance of the plants and our customers typically have no involvement in
these activities. Advanced air separation processes also allow on-site delivery to custemers with smaller volume requirements.

The company’s performance obligations related to on-gite customers are satisfied over time as customers receive and obtain control of the product. Linde has
elected 1o apply the practical expedient for measuring progress towards the completion of a performance obligation and recognizes revenue as the company
has the right to invoice each customer, which generally corresponds with product delivery. Accordingly, revenue is recognized when product is delivered to
the customer and the company has the right 10 invoice the customer in accordance with the contract lerms. Consideration in these contracts is generally based
on pricing which fluctuates with various price indices. Variable components of consideration exist within on-site contracts but are considered constrained.

Merchant. Merchant deliveries generally are made from Linde’s plants by tanker trucks to storage containers at the customer's site. Due to the relatively high
distribution cost, merchant oxygen and nitrogen generally have a relatively small distribution radius from the plants at which they are produced. Merchant
argon, hydrogen and heliwm can be shipped much longer distances. The customer agreements used in the merchant business are nsually three to seven year
supply agreements based on the reguirements of the customer. These contracts generally do noi contain minimum purchase requirements or volume
commitments.

The company's performance obligations related to merchant customers are generally satisfied at a point in time as the customers receive and cbtain control of
the product. Revenue is recognized when product is delivered 1o the customer and the company has the right to invoice the customer in accordance with the
contract terms. Any variable components of consideration within merchant contracts are constrained however this consideration is not significant.

Packaged Gases. Customers requiring small volumes are supplied products in containers called cylinders, under medium to high pressure. Linde distributes
merchant gases from its production planis to company-owned cylinder filling plants where cylinders are then filled for distribution to customers. Cylinders
may be delivered 1o the customer’s site or picked up by the customer at a packaging facility or retail store. Linde invoices the customer for the industrial gases
and the use of the cylinder container(s). The company also sefls hardgoods and welding equipment purchased from independent manufacturers. Packaged
gases are generally sold under one to three-year supply contracts and purchase orders and do not contain minimum purchase requirentents or velume
commitments.
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The company’s performance obligations related to packaged gases are satisfied at a point in tme. Accordingly, revenue is tecognized when product is
delivered to the customer or when the customer picks ap product from a packaged gas facility or vetail siore, and the company has the right to payment from
the customer in accordance with the contract terms. Any variable consideration is constrained and will be recognized when the uncertainty related to the
consideration s resolved.

Linde Engineering

The company designs and manufactures equipment for air separation and ather industrial gas applications manufactured specifically for end customers. Sale
of equipment contracts are generally comprised of a single performance obligation. Revenue from sale of equipment is generally recognized over time as
Linde has an enforceable right to payment for performance compleied to date and performance does noi create an assei with alternative use. For confracts
recognized over me, revenue is recognized primarily using a cost incarred input methed. Costs incurred to date relative to total estimated costs a completion
are used to measure progress toward satisfying performance obligations. Costs incurred include material, labor, and overhead costs and represent work
contribirting and proportionate to the transfer of control to the customer. Contract modifications are typically accounted for as part of the existing contract and
are recognized as a cumulative adjustment for the incepticn-to-date effect of such change.

Contract Assets and Liabilitics

Cuontact assets and Jabilities result from differences in timing of revenue recognition and cusiomer invoicing. Contract assets primarily relate ro sale of
equipment contracts for which revenue is recognized over time. The balance represents unbilled revenue which occurs when revenue recognized under the
measure of progress exceeds amounts invoiced to customers. Customer invoices may be based on the passage of time, the achievement of certain contractual
milestones or a comtbination of both criteria. Contract liabilities include advance payments or right to consideradon prior to performance under the contract.
Contract liabilities are recognized as revenue a5 performance gbligations are satisfied under contract terms. Linde has cantract assets of $368 million at
December 31, 2019, Total contract liabilities are $2,106 million at December 31, 2019 (current of $1,758 million and $348 million within other long-term
liabilitjes in the consolidated balance sheets). Total contract habilities were $1,934 million at December 31, 2018 {curremi contract Habilides of $1,546
million, $234 million classified as defeired income within other current labilities and $154 million in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance
sheets). Revenue recognized {or the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 that was included in the confrace liability at December 31, 2018 was $1,168
million. Contract assets and liabilities primarily relate to the Linde Engineering business acquired in the merger, The industrial gases business does not
typically have material contract assets or liabilities.

Payment Terms and Other

Linde generally receives payment afier performance obligations are satisfied, and customer prepayments are not typical for the indusirial gases business.
Payment {erms vary based on the country where sales originate and local customary payment practices. Linde does not offer extended financing outside of
customary payment terms, Amounts billed for sales and use taxes, value-added taxes, and certain excise and other specific transactional taxes imposed on
revenue producing transactions are presented on 2 net basis and are not included in sales within the consolidated statement of income. Additionally, sales
returns and allowances are nat a normal practice in the industry and are not significant.

Disaggregated Revenue Information

As described above and in Note 20, the company manages its industrial gases business on a geographic basis, while the Engineering and Other businesses are
generally managed on a global basis. Furthertnore, the company believes that reporting sales by distribution method by reportable geographic segment best
lustrates the nature, tinning, type of customer, and contract terms for its revenues, including tezms aud pricing.

The following tables show sales by distribution method at the consolidated level and for each repartable segment and Other for the years ended December 31,
20159 and 2018, The year ended December 31, 2019 reflects the results of both Praxair and Linde AG for the entire year. The year ended December 31, 2018
reflects the results of Praxair for the entire year and the results of Linde AG for the period beginning after Octaber 31, 2018 (the merger date),
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(Millinns of doflaes)
Sales

Merchant
On-Site
Packaged Gas
Other

(Mitfions of dollars)
Sales

Merchant
On-Site
Packaged Gas
Other

Year Ended December 31, 2019

Americas EMEA APAC Engineering Other Total %

$ 2946 § 1,856 $ 2,080 $ — § 184 § 7,066 25%
2,758 1,434 2,060 — — 6,252 22%
5,185 3,347 1,562 — 19 10,113 36%

104 6 137 2,799 1,751 4,797 17%

$ 10993 % 6,643 3% 5839 % 2,799 § 1,954 § 28,228 100%

Year Ended December 31, 2018
Americas EMEA APAC Engineering Other Total %

% 2,775 % 832 % 826 % — % 119 % 4,552 31%
2,405 536 1,156 — — 4,097 28%
2,800 1,271 443 — 3 4,517 30%

37 5 21 459 1,148 1,670 11%

3 8,017 $ 2,644 § 2,446 3 459 $ 1,270 § 14,836 100%

Remaining Performance Obligations

As described above, Linde’s contracts with on-site customers are under long-term supply arrangements which generally require the customer to purchase their
requirements from Linde and also have minimum purchase requirements. The company estimates the consideration related tc minimum purchase
requirements is approximately $48 billion. This amount excludes all sales above minimum purchase requirements, witich can be significant depending on
customer needs. In the future, actual amounts will be different due to impacts from several factors, many of which are beyond the company’s control
including, but not limited to, timing of newly signed, terminated and renewed contracts, inflationary price escalations, currency exchanpe rates, and pass-
through costs related to natural gas and electricity, The actual duration of long-term supply contracts ranges up to twenty years. The company estimates that

approximately half of the revenue related to minimum purchase requirements will be earned in the next five years and the remaining thereafter.
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NOTE 22, QUARTERLY DATA (UNAUDITED)

{Dollar amounts in miflions, except per share data)

2019 1Q (a} 2Q(a) 3Q {a) 4Q (a) YEAR (a)
Sales 6,944 7,204 7,000 7,080 28,228
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization 4,116 4,280 4,061 4,187 16,644
Depreciation and amortizavion 1,223 1,195 1,095 1,162 4,675
Operating profit 609 669 1,000 655 2,933
Net income - Linde plc 517 522 735 511 2,285
Income from continuing operations 435 513 728 507 2,183
Income from discontinued operations 82 9 7 4 102
Basic Per Share Data

Income from continuing operatons 0.80 0.95 1.35 0.94 4.03
Income from discontinued operations 0.15 0.02 .01 0,01 .19
Weighted average shares (000°s) 545,554 542,561 539,753 536,768 541,094
Diluted Per Share Data

Income from continuing operations 0.79 0.94 1.34 0.94 4.00
Income from disconticued operations 0.15 0.02 0.01 .01 0.19
Weighted average shares (000’s) 549,147 546,488 543,616 540,919 545,170
2018 1Q (2) 2Q () 3Q () 4Q (a) YEAR (a)
Sales 2,983 3,044 3,008 5,801 14,836
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization 1,661 1,706 1,698 3,955 9,020
Depreciation and amortization 311 311 306 902 1,830
Operating profit 653 689 669 3,236 5,247
Net income — Linde plc 462 480 461 2,978 4,381
Income from coatinuing eperations 462 480 461 2,870 4,273
Income from discontintied operations — — — 108 108
Basic Per Share Data

Income from continuing operations* 1.61 1.67 1.60 6.27 12.93
Income fromn discontinued operations* — — 0.24 0.33
‘Weighted average shares (000's) 287,504 287,803 288,093 457,518 330,401
Diluted Per Share Data

Income from continuing operations™ 1.59 1.65 1.58 6.22 12.79
Income from discontinued operations* — — — 0.23 032
Weighted average shares (000’s) 290,809 290,908 291,513 461,150 334,127
* Due to guarterly changes in the shdre count as a result of the merger the sum of the four quarers does not equal the earnings per share amount

calculated for the year.

(a) 2019 and 2018 include the impact of the following matters (see Notes 3, 4, 5, 7, 13 and 18):
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Operating
Profit/ Income from Continuing
(Miltions of dollars} {Loss) Operations
Q1
Cost reduction programs and other charges 89) % (81)
Pension settlement charge — (38)
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (531) (378)
Q2
Cost reduction programs and other charges (141) (123}
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG {515) {368)
Q3
Cost reduction programs and other charges (125) o1
Pension settlement charge — (30)
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (425) {312}
Gain on sale of business 164 108
Q4
Cost reduction programs and other charges (212) {160)
Pension settlement charge — 4
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (481) (354)
Year 2019 (2,355) % {1,831)
Operating
Profit/ Income from Continuing
(Mitlions of dollars) (Loss) QOperations
(8]
Cost reduction programs and other charges (19 % (18)
Q2
Cost reduction programs and other charges (24) (21)
Q3
Cost reduction programs and other charges (31) (29)
Pension settlement charge —_— €3}
Q4
Cost reduction programs and other charges (235) {238)
Gain on sale of business 3,294 2,923
Bond redemption — 20
Pension settlement charge —_ (8)
Tax Act and other tax charges — 17
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (714) (451)
Year 2018 2271 % 2,152
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROQOLS AND PROCEDURES

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on an evaluation of the effectiveness of Linde’s disclosure controls and procedures, which was made under the supervision and with the
participation of management, including Linde’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer, the principal executive officer and principal
financial officer have each concluded that, as of the end of the annual period covered by this report, such disclosure contols and procedures are effective in
ensuring that information required to be disclosed by Linde in reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act ot 1934 is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rutes and forms, and accumulated and
communicated to management including Linde's principal executive efficer and principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Refer to Item 8 for Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting as of December 31, 2019.
Changes in Internal Cantrel over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in Linde’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quatter ended December 31, 2019 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, Linde’s internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None,
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PART IIt

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Certain informatien required by this item is incorporated herein by reference te the sections captioned “Corporate Governance and Board Matters -
Director Neminees" and “Corporate Governance And Board Matters - "Delinquent Section 16 (a) Reports” in Linde's Proxy Statement to be filed by April 30,
2020 for the Annual General Meeting.

Identification of the Audit Committee

Linde has a separately-designated standing Audit Commiteee established in accordance with Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The members of that audit committee are Prof. Dr. Clemens Borsig (chairman), Dr. Nance K. Dicciani, Dr, Thomas
Enders, Edward G. Galante, Larry D. McVay and Dr. Victoria Ossadnik, and each member is independent within the meaning of the independence standards
adopted by the Board of Directors and those of the New York Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee Financial Expert

The Linde Board of Directors has determined that Prof. Dr. Clemens Bérsig is an “audit committee financial expert” as defined by Iem 407(d)(5)(ii) of
Regulation 5-K of the Exchange Act and is independent within the meaning of the independence standards adopted by the Board of Directors and those of the
New York Stock Exchange.

Code of Ethics

Linde has adopted a code of ethics that applies to the company's directors and all employees, including its Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer, and Chief Accounting Officer. This code of ethics, including specific standards for implementing certain provisions of the code, has been approved
by the Linde Board of Directors and is named the “Code of Business Integrity”. This document is posted on the company’s public website, www.linde.com
but is not incorporated herein.

ITEM 1. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections captioned “Executive Compensation Matters” and “Corporate
Governance and Board Matters - Director Compensation” in Linde’s Proxy Statement to be filed by April 30, 2020 for the Annual General Meeting.
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ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Equity Compensation Plans Information - The table below provides information as of December 31, 2019 about company shares that may be issued
upon the exercise of optiens, warrants and rights granted to employees or members of Linde’s Board of Directors under equity compensation plans that were
assumed by Linde upon the completion of the business combination on October 31, 2018.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS TABLE

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of seturities 1w ‘Weighted-average future issuance under

be issued upon exercise exercise price of equity compensation plans

of outstanding options, outstanding options, texcluding securities
IMan Catcgony warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column
Equity compensation plans appraved by
shareholders 10,426,688 (1) 3 127.04 6,715,222 (2)
Equity compensation plans not approved by
shareholders — — _
Total 10,426,688 $ 127.04 6,715,222

(1) This amount includes 883,922 reswricted shares and 246,220 performance shares.

£2y  'This amount includes 6,454,428 shares available for future issuance pursuant 1o the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Inc. Long Term Incentive
Plan assumed by Linde, and 260,794 shares available for future issuance pursuant to the Long Term Incentive Plan 2018 of Linde pl¢.

Certain information required by this item regarding the beneficial ownership of the company’s ordinary shares s incerporated herein by reference to the
section captioned “Information on Share Qwnership” in Linde’s Proxy Statement to be filed by April 30, 2020 for the Annual General Meeting.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections captioned “Corporate Governance And Board Matters — Review,
Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons,” “Corporate Governance And Board Matters — Certain Relationships and Transactions,” and
“Corporate Governance And Board Matters — Director Independence” in Linde’s Prexy Statement to be filed by April 30, 2020 for the Annual General
Meeting,

ITEM 14, PRINCYPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section captioned “Audit Matters” in Linde’s Proxy Statement to be filed
by April 30, 2020 for the Annual General Meeting,
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following documenis are filed as part of this report:
(1) The company’s 2019 Consolidated Financial Staternents and the Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are included

in Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules — All financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or the required
information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto,

3) Exhibits — The exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed in the accompanying index.
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Exhibik No.

2.1

2.1a

¥ 3

**2.3a

**d.3b

#*2.3¢

4.01

4.02

4.03

4,04

4.05

INDEX TO EXHIBITS
Linde pic and Subsidiaries

Description

Business C pmbination Agreement by and gmong Linde Aktiengesellschaft, Praxair, Tng,. Zamalight #1 C, Zarnalight Foldeo LLC and Zamalight
Subco, Inc. dated as of Tune 1, 2017 {Filed as Fxhibit 2.1 to Praxair, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 1, 2017, Filing No. 1-11037,
and is incorporated herein by reference.)

ymendment No_1, dated Augus 10, 2017, 1o the Business Combination Agreemenpt, by and among Praxair, Tnc., Linde Akticnpesellschafr,
Linde ple, Zamalight Holdeo LL.C and Zamalight Subio, Ine, {hiled as Yambin 2.3 1o Praxair, dne.'s Current Repon on Form 8-K dated Aupnst

Sale and Purchase Agreement, dated July &, 2018, by and amoeng Praxair, Inc,, laiyo Nippon Sanso Corporation (“Taiyo™), and Linde ple with
respect to the sale of a majority of Praxair’s businesses in Furape to Tuiyo in connection with the Business Combination Agreement (Filed as
Exhibir 2.7 (o the Company.’s Quarterly_Repart on Form 10-3 for the quarter ended September 30, 2018, File No. 1-38730, and is incorporated
hereby by reference).

Industries USA, Inc. (the MG entities and Messer Canada, Inc. being coltectively referred 1o as “Messer”), and Linde ple with respect (o the sale
ol certain assets nf Linde AG in the Americas and certain assets of Praxair, [nc, to Messer in copnection with the Business Combination
Agreement (Filed as Exhibir 2.2 (o the Company’s Quarterly Report op Form 10-0) for ihe quarter ended September 30, 2018, File No. 1-38736,
and is incorporated hergby by_reference),

First Amendment dated September 21, 2018 to the Safe and Purchase Apreentent, daged July 16, 2018, by and amoeng Linde AG. Praxair, fnc,
Messer, and Linde plc with respect to the saje of cettain additional assets ot Linde AG in the Americas tu Messer in connection with the

thereto, by_and among Linde AG, Praxair, Inc., Messer, and Lipde ple, with respegt to the sale of certain additional assers of Linde AG in the
Americas 1 Messer in conrneciivn with the Business Combination Agreement (Filed as Txhibit 2.2 16 the Company s Quarierly_Report on Form
10-0) for che_quarter ended September 30, 2018, File No. 1-11037, and is incorporated hereby by reference).

Third Amendment dared February 20, 2019 to the Sale and Purchase 4 greement, dated Tuly 16, 2018, a5 amended by the First and Second

Linde AG in the Americas to Messer in connection with the Busincss Corbination Agreement datedl as of June 1, 2017, 25 amended, 1o cffeer
combination of the businesses of Linde AG and Praxair, Inc. (Filed as Exhibit 2.4 10 the Company's Current Repurt on Form 8-K filed on |
March 7, 2018, File No. 1-11037, and is incorporated hereby by reference),

Amended and Bestated Public Limited Company_Constiwwtion of [inde ple (Filed as Exhibit 3 1 (o the Company’s Cucrent Repor( on Form 8-K,
filed un October 31, 2018, File No. 333-2184835, and incarporated herein by reference)

Duscription of Linde ple Ordinary Shares

lodenwre, dated as of July 15, 1992, beiween Praxair, Inc. and US, Bank Natonal \ssuciation, as the ultimaie successor rustee 1 Bank of
America, 1llinois, formerly  ontinental Bank, National Association (Filed as Exhibit 4 to Praxair, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K dated

Form ot Subordinated Indenture for Praxair, Tnc, (Filed as Exhibit 4.3 to Praxair, Inc.'s Form S-3, filed on May 12, 2015, File No. 333-204093.
and is incorporated herein by reference.)

Copies of the agreements relating to long-term debt which are not required (o be filed as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K will be
furnished 1o the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
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10.01

10.01a

*10.02

*10.03

*10.04

*10.0da

*10.04b

*10.04c

*10.04d

*10.04e

*=10.05

*10.05a

*10.05b

*10.05¢

*1.00d

*10.0%

*10.05¢

*10.06

*10.06a

*10.06b

Credit Apreement dated as of March 26, 2019, among, Linde ple, terdain of its subsidiaries parties theretn as borrowers, the lenders party thersto
and Bank of America, N A, as Administrative \gent (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Linde plc's current report an Form 8-K, dated April 3, 2019,
Filing No. 1-38730, and incorperated Derein by reference).

herein by reference),

Long Term Incentive Plan 2018 of 1inde ple (Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Company's Form 5-8, filed on Ociober 31, 2018, File No. 333-228084,
and incorporated lierein by reference).

Linde plc Annual Variable Compensation Plen effective January, 1, 2019 {Eiled as Fxhibit 10.1 10 the Company’s Current Repot on Form 8-K.

liled on January 25, 2019, File Nu. 1-38730, and is incorporated hereby by relerence).

Farm of Executive Severance Compensation Agreement effective January 1, 2009 (Filed as Fxhibit 10.02 to P'raxair, [nc.'s 2008 Annual Report
on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-11037, and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Amendment, eflective Decernber 31, 2012, 1o Execulive Severance Compensation Agreements thae were eftective January 1, 2009
(Eiled as Exhibit 10.1 to Praxair, Inc.'s Cumrent Report on Form 8-K dated December 14, 2012, Filing No. 1-11037, and incorporated herein by
refercnce.

Form of Executive Severance Compensation Agreement eflective January_1, 201¢ (Filed as Exhibit 10.02 te Praxair, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-0) for the quarter ended June 30, 2010, Filing No. 1-11037, and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Amendmeat, effective December 31, 2012, 1o Executive Severance Compensation Agreements that were effective January 1, 2010
(Filed as Exhibit 10,02¢ to Praaair, [nc.'s 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-11037, and incurperated herein by reference).

Form of Fxecutive Severance Compensation Agreement ef(ective January 1, 2013 (Filed as Fxhibit 10.02d to Praxair, Inc.'s 2012 Anmal Report

on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-11037, and ingorporated herein by_reterence).

Form of Assumation of Praxair, Inc. Executive Severance Compensation Agreement by |inde ple (Filed as Fxhibit 10.05e ta T inde plc's 2018
Anoual Report on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-38730, and incorporated herein by reference)

Praxair, Inc_Supplemental Retiremnent Income Plan A effective January 1, 2008 (Filed as Exhibit 10.054 10 Praxair, Inc.'s 2008 Annual Report
on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-11037, and incorporated herein by_reference),

First amendment to the Praxair, Inc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan A effective January 1, 2010 (Filed as Exhibit 10.05b tn Praxair,
Inc.'s 2009 Annudl Report on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-11037, and incorporated herein by reference),

Second Amendment 1w Praxair, Inc. Supplemental Betirement Income Plan A effective February 28, 2017, (Filed as Exhibit 10.05¢ 1o Praxair,
Inc.'s 2016 Anoual Report on Form 10-K, Filing Ne. 1-11037, and is incorporated hereby by reference).

Praxair, Inc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan B amended ond restated effective December 31, 2007 (Tiled as Exhibit 10.05b to Praxair.
Inc.'s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Filing Me. 1-11037, and incorporated herein by reference),

First amendment t the Praxair, [ne. Supplemnental Retirement Income Plan B eftective January 1, 2010 {Filed as Exhibit 10.05d to Praxair, Tnc.'s
2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-11037, and incorporated herein by teference),

Secomd Amendment to Praxair, Inc. Supplemental Retirement Incomg Plan B ettective Tuly 1, 2012 (Filed as Fxhibit 14.05 to Praxair [nc.'s
2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-11037, and incorporated herein by reterence).

Inc.’s 2016 Annudl Report on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-11037, and is incorporated herein by reference),

Praxair, Inc. Equalization Benefit Plan amended and restated ettective December 31, 2007 (Filed as Exhibit 10.05¢ to Praxair, [nc.’s 2008
Anoual Report on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-11037, and incorparated herein by reference),

Cirst amendment to the Praxair, [nc. Equalization Benefit Plan effective January, 1, 2010 (Filed as Exhibit 10.05f to Praxair inc.’s 2008
Annual Report on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-11037, and incorporated herein by reterence).

Second Amendment to the Praxair, Inc. Baualization Benefit Plan effective February 28, 2017 {Filed as Exhibit 10.05j to Praxair, Tnc.'s
2016 Anmual Report on korm 10-K, Filing No. 1-11037, and is incornorared herein by reference).
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*10.06d

*10.06e

*10.06f

*10.06g

*10.06h

*10.07

*10.08

*10.08a

*10.09

*10.10

*10.10a

*10.10b

*10.10c

Third Amendment to the Praxair, Inc. Tyualization Benefis Plan effective December 1, 2017 (Viled ap Pxhbibit 10,05k 1 Praxair, ing.'s
2017 Apnual Reporton Form 10-K, Eile No. 1-11037, and iy ipcorporated hereipn by reference),

Founh Amendment 1o the Praxair, Inc. Supplementat Retirement income Plan B etfective December 1, 2037 {Filed as fxhibit 10,09 w
Praxair, Inc.’s 2017 Anpual Report on Form [6-K, File No, 1-11037, ang is incorporated herein by_reference),

Third Amendment tg the Praxgir, Inc. Supplemental Relirement Income Plan A effective December 1, 2017 (Filed as Exhibit 10.05m g
Praxair, Inc.'s 2017 Aanual Repart an Farm 10-K, File No. 1-11037, and is incorporated berein by reference),

Praxair,_[ne. 2018 kaualization Benefit Plan (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 t0 Praxair. Inc.’s Currept Repoit on Form 8-K filed on October 22,
2018, File Mo, 1-11037, and incorpotated bevein by reference).

Praxgir, Inc, 2018 Supplemenial Retirement Tncome Plan A (Eiled o6 Exhibit 89.2 w Praxair, Ing.’s Current Reparyon Yorm 8 K filed on
Detpber 22, 2018, File No. 1-11037, and incurpurated berein by reference).

Praxaig,_Ing. 2014 Supplemental Retirement Tncome Plan B (Filed as Exhibit 99,3 to Praxair, Ipe.’s Current Repurt on Form 8-K, filed
Oretober 22, 2018, Tile No. 1-11637, and incorgorated herejn_by reference)

Praxaur, Inc. Direclor's Fees Delerral Plan amended and restated ellective January 26, 2010 (Filed as Exhibit 10.06 to Praxair Ine.'s 2009
Annual Bepore on Form 10:K, Filing No, 1-11037, and incorporated herein by reference).

Praxair, Inc, Compensation Deterral Pruogram Amended and Restated as of July_15, 2014 (Filed us Exhibit 10.01 o Praxair, Inc.'s

First Amendment o the Praxair Compensation Deferral Program effective February 28, 2017, (Filed as Lxhibit 10.072 to Praxair, Inc,™s
2016 Aanual Report on Vorm 10-K, Tiling No, 1-11037, and is incorporated herein by reference).

Servige Crediy Arrangement tor Stephen B Angel dated May 23, 2007 was filed as Eahibit 10.20 to Praxair, Ine.’s Form 8-K filed on May,
24, 2007 and js incorporated herein by reference,

Amended and Restated 2004 Praxair, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan (Filed as Exhibit 4.03 o Praxair, inc.'s Form S-8, filed on Ogtober

Form ot Standard Option Award under the 2009 Praxair, [ng. ! ong Term Incentive Plan (Filed gs Eahibit 10.22 1o Praxair, Inc.'s 2009
Aonual Report on Porm 10-K, Filing No. 111037, and incorporated horein by relference),

Vorm of Transicrable Option Award under the 2009 Pravair, inc. Long Torm [neentive Plan (Filed ag Lxhibit 10.23 to Prasair, Inc.'s 2009
Annual Report on Form 10-K. ding No. 1-11037. and incorpurated herein Dy relerence).

First Amendment. dated s of April 25, 2017, 1o the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Inc. Long Term Incentjve Plan (Filed as Fxhibit
1061 1 Praxair. Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-0) tor the guarter ended March 31, 2017, ng Ne. 1-11037, and is incorporated
herein by reference).
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*10.10
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*10.10m

*1h11
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*10.12a

*10.13

*1h13a

*10.14
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Form ol Transferable Option Award under the Amended and Restated 2008 Praxair, Inc, Long Term Incentive Plan for prants made in
2045-201/ (bued as Exhibu 1.2 o Praxgr, Inc's A0 14 Armual Report on borm 10-K, Filing o, 1-11037, and incorporated herein by,
reference).

Form of ‘Transferable Option Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan for grants made in
2018 (Filed as Exhibit 10.26a to Praxair, 1nc.’s 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K, File Mo, 1-11037, and incorpozated herein by,
reference)_

Form of Reswicted Stock Uit Award under the Armended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan lur grants made in
2015 and thereafter [Filed as Fahibit 10.27 to Praxair, Inc.'s 2014 Aonual Repoit on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-11037, and incorpordated
hergin by _reference).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award ugder the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan for grants made in
2018 (Filed as Exhibit 10.27a w Praxair, [nc.’s 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K, File No. 1-11037. and incorporated herein by,
reference),

Form ol Nun-Employee Director Resuricted Stock Unit Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Inc, Long Term Incentive

and incorporated herein by reference),

Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Award under the Amended and Restated 2005 Praxair. Inc, Lopg Term Incentjve
Plan for grants made in 2019 and thereafter,

Form ol Transferable Option Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, 1nc. Long Term incentive Plan fov giants beginning
in 2019 ¢Filed as Fxhibit 10.111. o [inde plc’s 2018 Annual Report on Torm 10-K, Filing No. 1-38730, and incorporated herein by,
reference),

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award under the Amended and Restated 2609 Praxair, Inc. Long Term [ncentive Plan for grants beginning
in 2019 (Eiled as Exhibit 10, 1IM 1o Linde plc’s 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-38730, and incorporated herein by,
reference),

Form of Performance Share Unit Award uader the Amepded and Restated 2008 Praxair, Inc. T ong Term Incentive Plan fur grants
beginning in 2019 with Return on Capital performance metrics (Filed as Exhibit 101N to Linde ple's 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-
K, Filing No. 1-38730, and incorporated herein by_reterence).

Form of Perfurmance Share Unit Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxeir, Tne. [ ang Term Incentive Plan for grants
beginning in 2019 with Total Shareholder Retuin performance metiics (Fited as Exhibit 10.110 to Tinde plc’s 2018 Annual Report on
Form 10-K, Filing No, 1-38730, and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Employer-Funded Pension Plan Executive Agreement of Linde A (Filed as xhibit 10.14 to Linde plc’s 2018 Annual Repoit
on Form 10-K,_Filing Na. 1-38730, and incorporated herein by reference),

Form of Linde VG Executive Fmployment Agreement (Filed as Pochibit 1005 o Linde ple's 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Tiling
Nry 1-38730, and incotporared herein by ieference),

Form uf Change Control Appendix o Linde AG Executive Employment Agreement. (Filed as Exhibit 10.154 o Linde ple’s 2018
Annual Report on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-38730, and incorporated herein by reterence),

Service Agreement by and hetween Linde Holding GmbH and Mr, Sanjiv { amba, daterd December 20, 2019

Pension Agreement among Linde AG, Linde Holding Gmbli and Mr. Sanjiv Lamba, dated December 20, 2019,

Form of Linde ple Dircctor Indemnification_Agreement (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 w the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, tiled on
October 31, 2018, File No. 333-218485, and incorporated herein by reference),

Preferability T erter on Change in Accounting Principle
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21.01 Subsidiaries of Linde ple

23.01 Consent of Indenendent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

31.01 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification

31.02 Rule 134-14¢a) Cemification

32.01 Section 1350 Certification {such certifications are furmished for the information of the Commission and shall nut be deemed incorporated

by reference into any_ filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange o).

32.02 Section 1350 Cenitication (such cerifications are furnished fur the information of the Commission and shall not be deemed incorporated
by_retereace into any (iling undec the Securities Aot or the Exchange Ac),
101.INS XBRY, Instance Document: The XBRL Instance Document does not appear in the Interactive Data File hecause its XBRL tags are

embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.8CH XBR1 Taxonomy Extension Schema

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
101.LAD XBRL Taxenomy Exiension Label Linkbase
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presemation Linkbase
101.DEF XBRL Taxcnomy Extension Definition Linkbase

Copies of exhibits incorporated by reference can be vbtained from the SEC and are located in SEC File No. 1-11037.
* Indicales a management contract Or cOmpensatory plan or arrangemeat.

Certain schedules or similar artachments have been omited pursuant (o Iem 601(h)(2) of Regulation §-K. The Registrant agrees to furnish supplemental copies of
any of the omitted schedules or attathments upon request by the SEC.
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None.
142

THIS LABEL HAS BEEN ADDED TO
ENABLE THE PAGE TO BE SCANNED



Lable of Conignts

SIGNATURES
Linde pic and Subsidiaries

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunte duly authorized.

Linde plc
(Registrant)
Date: March 2, 2020 By fs{ KELCEY F.HOYT
Kelcey E. Hoyt
Chief Accounting Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacitics indicated on March 2, 2020.

/s/ PROF, DR. WOLFGANG REITZLE s/ STEPHEN k. ANGEL /5* MATTHEW J. WHITE
wolfgang Reitzle Stephen F. Angel Matthew J. White
Chairman Chief Executive Officer and Director Chief Financial Officer
/s¢ PROF, DDR. ANN-KRISTIN ACHLIETNER /s/  DR. CLEMENS BORSIG /5! DR, NANCE K. DICCIAN!
Ann-Kristin Achleitrer Clemens Borsig Nance K. Dicciani
Direcior Director Director

'y DR, THOMAS ENDERS

‘st FRANZ FEHRENBACH

st EDWARD G GALANTE

Thomas Enders
Director

/st LARRY D. MCVAY

Franz Fehrenbach
Director

/s/ DR, VICTORIA OSSADNIK

Edward G. Galante
Director

/s/ PROF. DR, MARTIN H. RICHENHAGEN

Larry Ih. McVay
Director

s/ ROBERT L, WwOOD

Robert L. Wood
Director

Victoria Ossadnik
Director
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Juan Pelaez

Vice President Investor Relations
Juan.Pefaez@linde.com

+1 203 837-2213

General Inquiries
Investor.Relations@linde.com
+1 203 837-2210

Ordinary Shares Listing (Symbol: LIN)
New York Stock Exchange

Frankfurt Stock Exchange

CUSIP: 65494 103

ISIN: IEDDBZ¥2WPR2

stock Transfer Agent and Stock Record
Keeping

Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
(“Computershare”} is Linde’s stock transfer
agent and registrar, and administers all
matters for shareholders of record.

For information about account records, stock
certificates, change of address and dividend
payments, contact: +1 866 201-5090 Toll Free
and +1 781 575-2553 outside the Uniled States
or web.queries@computershare.com.

website address:
www.computershare.com/investor

By mail, address sharehaolder inquiries to:
Computershare Investor Services

462 South 4th Stieet

Suite 1600

Louisvitle, KY, 40202

United States of America

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

Linde provides investors a convenient,
low-cost program that allows dividends
to be automatically reinvested into
additional shares of Linde ordinary shares.
Contact Computershare for full details.

Tor mose information visit us online
at www.linde.com




tinde plc
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